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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of
historical fact included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements give our current expectations and
projections relating to our financial condition, results of operations, plans, objectives, future performance and business. You can identify forward-looking
statements by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. These statements may include words such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,”
“project,” “plan,” “intend,” “believe,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “can have,” “likely” and other words and terms of similar meaning in connection with any discussion of
the timing or nature of future operating or financial performance or other events. These forward-looking statements are not historical facts, and are based on
current expectations, estimates and projections about the Company and the Company’s industry, management’s beliefs and certain assumptions made by
management, many of which, by their nature, are inherently uncertain and beyond the Company’s control. Accordingly, readers are cautioned that any such
forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict.
Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable as of the date made, results may prove to be
materially different. Unless otherwise required by law, the Company disclaims any obligation to update its view of any such risks or uncertainties or to announce
publicly the result of any revisions to the forward-looking statements made in this report.

Factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those indicated in our forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, the
following:

• our ability to obtain future financings on favorable terms, or at all;

• our ability to receive distributions from policy proceeds from life insurance policies pledged as collateral under our revolving credit facilities;

• our ability to meet our debt service obligations;

• delays in the receipt of death benefits from our portfolio of life insurance policies;

• costs related to obtaining death benefits from our portfolio of life insurance policies;

• our ability to continue to comply with the covenants and other obligations, including the conditions precedent for additional fundings under our revolving
credit facilities;

• increases in premiums on, or the cost of insurance of, life insurance policies that we own;

• changes to actuarial life expectancy tables;

• changes in general economic conditions, including inflation, changes in interest or tax rates;

• our results of operations;

• our ability to continue to make premium payments on the life insurance policies that we own;

• continuing costs associated with an investigation by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) (the “SEC Investigation”) and an investigation
by the Internal Revenue Services (“IRS”) (the “IRS Investigation”);

• adverse developments, including financial ones, associated with the SEC Investigation and the IRS Investigation, other litigation and judicial actions or
similar matters;

• inaccurate estimates regarding the likelihood and magnitude of death benefits related to life insurance policies that we own;

• lack of mortalities of insureds of the life insurance policies that we own;

• increases to the discount rates used to value the life insurance policies that we own;

• changes in mortality rates and inaccurate assumptions about life expectancies;

• changes in life expectancy calculation methodologies by third party medical underwriters;

• the effect on our financial condition as a result of any lapse of life insurance policies;

• our ability to sell the life insurance policies we own at favorable prices, if at all;

• adverse developments in capital markets;

• deterioration of the market for life insurance policies and life settlements;
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• increased carrier challenges to the validity of our life insurance policies;

• adverse court decisions regarding insurable interest and the obligation of a life insurance carrier to pay death benefits or return premiums upon a
successful rescission or contest;

• challenges to the ownership of the policies in our portfolio;

• changes in laws and regulations;

• deterioration in the credit worthiness of the life insurance companies that issue the policies included in our portfolio;

• regulation of life settlement transactions as securities;

• liabilities associated with our legacy structured settlement business;

• our failure to maintain the security of personally identifiable information pertaining to insureds and counterparties;

• disruption of our information technology systems;

• loss of the services of any of our executive officers; and

• the effects of United States involvement in hostilities with other countries and large-scale acts of terrorism, or the threat of hostilities or terrorist acts. 

See “Risk Factors” for more information. All written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to the Company, or persons acting on its behalf, are
expressly qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements. You should evaluate all forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
in the context of these risks and uncertainties. The Company cautions you that the important factors referenced above may not contain all of the factors that are
important to you.

All statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to “Emergent Capital,” “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our” refer to Emergent Capital, Inc. and its consolidated
subsidiaries unless the context suggests otherwise.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Overview

Founded in December 2006 as a Florida limited liability company, Imperial Holdings, LLC, converted into Imperial Holdings, Inc. on February 3, 2011, in
connection with the Company’s initial public offering. Effective September 1, 2015, the Company changed its name to Emergent Capital, Inc.

Incorporated in Florida, Emergent Capital, through its subsidiary companies, owns a portfolio of 632 life insurance policies, also referred to as life
settlements, with a fair value of $461.9 million and an aggregate death benefit of approximately $3.0 billion at December 31, 2015. We primarily earn income on
these policies from changes in their fair value and through death benefits.

Life Settlements Portfolio & Portfolio Management

The life insurance policies in Emergent Capital’s portfolio were acquired through a combination of direct policy purchases from the original policy owners
(the secondary market), purchases of policies owned by other institutional investors (the tertiary market) and from policy surrenders or foreclosures in satisfaction
of loans issued under the Company’s legacy premium finance business. Emergent Capital uses a probabilistic method of valuing life insurance policies, meaning
the individual insured’s probability of survival and probability of death are applied to the required premiums and net death benefit of the policy to extrapolate the
likely cash flows over the life expectancy of the insured. These likely cash flows are then discounted using a net present value formula. Management believes
this to be the preferred valuation method in the industry at the present time.

Until a policy matures, the Company must pay ongoing premiums to keep that policy in force and to prevent it from lapsing. Upon a policy lapse, the
Company would suffer a complete loss on its investment in that policy. Accordingly, the Company must proactively manage its cash in order to effectively run its
business, maintain liquidity and continue to pay premiums in order to maintain the policies in its portfolio. 437 of the policies in the Company’s portfolio, with an
aggregate death benefit of approximately $2.2 billion and a fair value of $ 331.3 million at December 31, 2015 are pledged under a $250.0 million revolving credit
agreement (the “White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility”) entered into by the Company’s indirect subsidiary, White Eagle Asset Portfolio, LP (“White Eagle”).
Additionally, 156 policies, with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $603.9 million and a fair value of $118.6 million at December 31, 2015 are pledged
as collateral under a $110.0 million, revolving credit agreement (the “Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility” and, together with the White Eagle Revolving Credit
Facility, the “Revolving Credit Facilities”) entered into by Red Falcon Trust (“Red Falcon”), a Delaware statutory trust formed by a wholly-owned Irish subsidiary of
the Company. Additionally, at December 31, 2015, we owned 39 policies with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $185.6 million and an estimated fair
value of approximately $11.9 million, which are not pledged under the Revolving Credit Facilities.

Recent Developments - USAO

On December 31, 2015, the Company received a letter from the United States Attorney’s Office for the District of New Hampshire (the “USAO”) in
connection with an investigation related to the Company’s now legacy premium finance business (the “USAO Investigation”) indicating that the USAO
Investigation formally concluded, that the Company fully complied with all of its obligations under the Non-Prosecution Agreement executed on April 30, 2012 in
connection with the USAO Investigation (the “Non-Prosecution Agreement”) and that the Company was released from any further obligations under the Non-
Prosecution Agreement.

While the Non-Prosecution Agreement effectively resolved the USAO Investigation as it pertained to the Company in 2012, the Company had continuing
cooperation obligations to the USAO and, since entering the Non-Prosecution Agreement, the USAO had been continuing to investigate certain individuals and
entities formerly associated with the Company’s legacy premium finance business. Settlements of certain civil litigation with the Company’s director and officer
liability insurance carriers related to the USAO Investigation and other contractual obligations had required the Company to advance legal fees to those
individuals and entities.  On December 31, 2015, the USAO filed civil forfeiture complaints with respect to compensation received by three former employees of
the Company in the United States District Court for the District of New Hampshire. In each case, the former employees resolved the civil forfeiture actions without
admitting any of the allegations in the complaints. In connection with the foregoing, on December 31, 2015, the Company made a $6.5 million payment pursuant
to the Company’s indemnification obligations. Inclusive of this amount, as of December 31, 2015, the Company had incurred an
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aggregate of approximately $56.6 million in legal and related fees with respect to the USAO Investigation. The Company does not expect to indemnify any further
amounts in connection with the USAO Investigation.

Regulation

The sale and solicitation of life insurance in the secondary market is highly regulated by the laws and regulations of individual states and other applicable
jurisdictions. The purchase of a policy directly from a policy owner is referred to as a life settlement and is regulated on a state-by-state basis.

At December 31, 2015, the Company, through its subsidiary Imperial Life Settlements, LLC, maintained licenses to transact life settlements as a provider in
28 of the states that currently require a license and could conduct business in 36 states, and the District of Columbia.

The primary regulator for Imperial Life Settlements, LLC when purchasing life settlements in the secondary market is the Florida Office of Insurance
Regulation. A majority of the state laws and regulations concerning life settlements relate to: (i) provider and broker licensing requirements; (ii) reporting
requirements; (iii) required contract provisions and disclosures; (iv) privacy requirements; (v) fraud prevention measures; (vi) criminal and civil remedies;
(vii) marketing requirements; (viii) the time period in which policies cannot be sold in life settlement transactions; and (ix) other rules governing the relationship
between policy owners, insured persons, insurer, and others.

Competition

Competition is primarily through two channels: life settlement providers and institutional investors. In order to be a life settlement provider and transact with
the original holder of a life insurance policy, in most instances, a license on a state-by-state basis is required. The life settlement business is highly fragmented
and, therefore, competition is diverse. Often, life settlement providers are originating life settlements on behalf of institutional investors who do not maintain the
necessary licenses to transact in the secondary market for life insurance. These investors may have significantly more resources than the Company and can
generally also transact directly in the tertiary market.

Employees

At December 31, 2015, we employed 32 full-time employees and no part-time employees. None of our employees is subject to any collective bargaining
agreement. We believe that our employee relations are good.

Company Website Access and SEC Filings

Our website may be accessed at www.emergentcapital.com. All of our filings with the SEC can be accessed free of charge through our website promptly
after filing; however, in the event that the website is inaccessible, we will provide paper copies of our most recent annual report on Form 10-K, the most recent
quarterly report on Form 10-Q, current reports filed or furnished on Form 8-K, and all related amendments, excluding exhibits, free of charge upon request. These
filings are also accessible on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. Information on our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-
K.

General Information

Our registrar and stock transfer agent is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC. Our transfer agent is responsible for maintaining all records of
shareholders, canceling or issuing stock certificates and resolving problems related to lost, destroyed or stolen certificates. For more information, please contact:
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company at 6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, NY 11219 Phone: 800-937-5449.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness & Organizational Structure

We may not have sufficient funds to pay our debt and other obligations.

Our cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and operating cash flows may be inadequate to meet our obligations under our outstanding
indebtedness and our other obligations. At December 31, 2015, 593 of the policies we owned were pledged as collateral under our Revolving Credit Facilities.
When those policies mature, distributions will be made pursuant to
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“waterfall” payment structures and any amounts available to us will vary based on the respective then current loan to value ratio under each facility. Proceeds
from the policies pledged as collateral under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility are distributed with 5% of policy proceeds first directed to the lenders.
Thereafter, both Revolving Credit Facilities contemplate that proceeds will be directed to pay fees to service providers and premiums with any remaining
proceeds directed to pay outstanding interest and, in the case of the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility only, required amortization of 8% per annum on the
greater of the then-outstanding balance of the loan or the initial advance. Under both Revolving Credit Facilities, to the extent there are not sufficient remaining
proceeds in the waterfall to satisfy the amount of required interest and, in the case of the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility, amortization then due, Red Falcon
and White Eagle will pay any such shortfall amount.

Under both Revolving Credit Facilities, after payment of interest and, in the case of the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility, required amortization, a
percentage of the collections from policy proceeds are to be paid to the lenders, which will vary depending on the then loan-to-value ratio (“LTV”) as follows: (1) if
the LTV is equal to or greater than 50%, all remaining proceeds will be directed to the lenders to repay the then outstanding principal balance; (2) if the LTV is
less than 50% but greater than or equal to 25%, 65% of the remaining proceeds will be directed to the lenders to repay the then outstanding principal balance; or
(3) if the LTV is less than 25%, 35% of the remaining proceeds will be directed to the lenders to repay the then outstanding principal balance, in each case, with
remaining proceeds (“Excess LTV Payments”) directed to Red Falcon or White Eagle, as the case may be. Under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, the
Excess LTV Payments will generally cease after White Eagle has received $76.1 million and, once the debt under the facility is repaid, 50% of the remaining
proceeds will generally be directed to the lenders with the remainder paid to White Eagle. See Note 8, “White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility” and Note 9, “Red
Falcon Revolving Credit Facility” to our consolidated financial statements.

Accordingly, there can be no assurance as to when proceeds or the amounts from maturities of the policies pledged as collateral under the Revolving
Credit Facilities will be distributed to us. In addition, we are not able to borrow money under our Revolving Credit Facilities to pay interest or principal under the
facilities or any other indebtedness. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow or otherwise obtain funds necessary to make required payments on any of
our indebtedness, we will be in default, which could cause defaults under any other of our indebtedness then outstanding. Any such default would have a material
adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results. Additionally, upon an event of default of either of the Revolving Credit
Facilities, absent a waiver, in addition to principal and interest, the lenders’ rights to proceeds from collections under the Revolving Credit Facilities will become
due. If these obligations cannot be satisfied, the lenders, or their agent, may dispose of, release, or foreclose on (including by means of strict foreclosure on all or
any of the policies or on our interests in White Eagle or Red Falcon, which might be exercised in a manner intended to impair our rights to excess proceeds of
any liquidation of foreclosed assets), or take other actions with respect to the policies pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facilities that we or our
shareholders may disagree with or that may be contrary to the interests of our shareholders.

Our substantial leverage and significant debt service obligations could adversely affect our ability to fulfill our obligations and make it more
difficult for us to fund our operations.

As of December 31, 2015, we had $298.2 million in outstanding long-term debt (without giving effect to the fair value of such indebtedness) consisting of
borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facilities and our 8.50% senior unsecured convertible notes (the “Convertible Notes”). Our substantial level of
indebtedness could have important negative consequences to you and us, including:

• we may have difficulty satisfying our debt obligations;

• we may have difficulty refinancing our existing indebtedness or obtaining financing in the future for working capital, premium payments, portfolio lending,
acquisitions or other purposes;

• we will need to use a substantial portion of our available cash flow to pay interest and principal on our debt, which will reduce the amount of money
available to finance our operations and other business activities;

• our debt level increases our vulnerability to general economic downturns and adverse industry conditions;

• our debt level could limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and in our industry in general; and

• our leverage could place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt.

While the terms of the financing arrangements governing our debt contain restrictions on our ability to incur additional indebtedness, these restrictions are
subject to a number of important qualifications and exceptions, and the indebtedness
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incurred in compliance with these restrictions could be substantial. Accordingly, we could incur significant additional indebtedness in the future; the more we
become leveraged, the more we become exposed to the risks described above.

We may require additional capital and there can be no assurance that we will be able to raise additional capital in a timely manner, at the level
sought, or on favorable terms or at all.

Subject to borrowing base limitations and other conditions to funding, White Eagle and Red Falcon may borrow proceeds to pay premiums on all of the life
insurance policies pledged as collateral under their respective Revolving Credit Facilities at December 31, 2015. However, we estimate that, in addition to general
overhead expenses, we will need to pay approximately $4.1 million in premiums to keep our remaining 39 life insurance policies that have not been pledged as
collateral under the Revolving Credit Facilities in force through December 31, 2016. As of December 31, 2015, we had approximately $20.3 million of cash and
cash equivalents; of this amount, approximately $12.9 million is available to pay premiums on the 39 unencumbered policies and other overhead expenses, with
approximately $7.4 million being restricted to the Revolving Credit Facilities. Accordingly, we must proactively manage our cash and may need to raise additional
capital in order to effectively run our businesses, maintain the policies that have not been pledged under the Revolving Credit Facilities, pay interest expense on
our debt and opportunistically grow our assets. There can be no assurance, however, that we will, if needed, be able to raise additional or sufficient capital on
favorable terms or at all.

As part of our cash management and business strategy, we may, subject to the covenants in our debt arrangements, determine to sell all or a portion of our
portfolio, but there can be no assurance that we can consummate any sales or that, if consummated, sales of policies will be at or above their carrying values.
We may also, subject to the covenants in our debt arrangements, determine to lapse certain of these policies that have a low return profile or as our portfolio
management needs dictate. The lapsing of policies, if any, could result in an event of default under our debt arrangements and would create losses as the
policies would be written down to zero.

We may have exposure to greater than anticipated tax liabilities.

Our income tax obligations are based in part on our corporate operating structure and intercompany arrangements, including the manner that we own our
life settlements and the valuations of our intercompany transactions. The tax laws applicable to our business, including the laws of the United States, Ireland and
other jurisdictions, are subject to interpretation and certain jurisdictions are aggressively interpreting their laws in new ways in an effort to raise additional tax
proceeds from companies. The taxing authorities of the jurisdictions in which we operate may challenge our methodologies for intercompany arrangements and
ownership of life settlements, which could increase our effective tax rate and harm our financial position and results of operations. We are subject to regular
review and audit by U.S. federal and state authorities and from 2014 on, foreign tax authorities. Tax authorities may disagree with certain positions we have taken
and any adverse outcome of such a review or audit could have a material negative effect on our financial position and results of operations. In addition, the
determination of our provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities requires significant judgment by management, and there are many transactions where the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Although we believe that our estimates are reasonable, the ultimate tax outcome may differ from the amounts recorded in
our financial statements and may materially affect our financial results in the period or periods for which such determination is made. In addition, our future
income taxes could be adversely affected by changes in tax laws, regulations, or accounting principles.

Changes in tax laws or tax rulings could materially affect our financial position and results of operations.

Changes in tax laws or tax rulings could materially affect our financial position and results of operations. The U.S., Ireland and many countries in the
European Union, are actively considering changes to existing tax laws. Certain proposals, including proposals with retroactive effect, could include
recommendations that would significantly increase our tax obligations where we do business or where our subsidiaries own life insurance policies. Any changes
in the taxation of either international business activities or ownership of life settlements may increase our effective tax rate and harm our financial position and
results of operations and, under certain circumstances, may constitute an event of default under the Revolving Credit Facilities.

We may not be able to refinance the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility.

The White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility contains covenants that may significantly limit our ability to refinance. In addition, the lender under the White
Eagle Revolving Credit Facility has a substantial interest in and priority rights to distributions of certain proceeds of policies pledged by White Eagle. Such
covenants and such interest in and rights to distributions may significantly reduce our ability to attract replacement financing were we to seek to refinance the
credit facility as a means of limiting adverse actions by the lenders in the exercise of their remedies in relation to any event of default.
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We may be unable to deduct interest payments on debt that is attributed to policies that we own, which would reduce any future income and
cash flows.

Generally, under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), interest paid or accrued on debt obligations is deductible in computing a
taxpayer’s federal income tax liability. However, when the proceeds of indebtedness are used to pay premiums on life insurance policies that are owned by the
entity incurring the debt or otherwise used to support the purchase or ownership of life insurance policies, the interest in respect of such proceeds may not be
deductible. Accordingly, so long as we use a portion of debt financing to pay the premiums on policies owned by us or to support the continued ownership of life
insurance policies by us, the interest paid or accrued on that portion of the debt may not be currently deductible by us for federal income tax purposes. Although
we have net operating losses that we may be able to use to reduce a portion of our future taxable income, the inability to currently deduct interest accrued on debt
could have a material adverse effect on our future earnings and cash flows available for the payment of interest.

We may not have the cash necessary to repurchase the Convertible Notes.

We have issued $70.7 million in aggregate principal amount of Convertible Notes. Holders of the Convertible Notes will have the right to require us to
repurchase the Convertible Notes upon the occurrence of a fundamental change at 100% of their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. A
fundamental change under the Convertible Notes is deemed to occur whenever any of the following occurs: (a) our common stock ceases to be listed or quoted
on a national securities exchange in the United States, (b) our shareholders approve any plans for liquidation or dissolution, or (c) we experience a change in
control represented by: (1) a majority of the members of our board of directors no longer being considered continuing directors, (ii) a transaction whereby our
shareholders own less than 50% of the surviving company after the transaction, or (iii) a person or group obtaining more than 50% of the voting power of the
common stock.

However, we may not have enough available cash to make a required repurchase of the Convertible Notes at the applicable time and, in such
circumstances, may not be able to obtain the necessary financing on favorable terms. In addition, our ability to repurchase the Convertible Notes may be limited
by law or by the agreements governing our other indebtedness that exist at the time of the repurchase, as the case may be. Our failure to repurchase of the
Convertible Notes when required by their indenture would constitute a default, which could also lead to a default under the agreements governing our other
indebtedness. If the repayment of the related indebtedness were to be accelerated after any applicable notice or grace periods, we may not have sufficient funds
to repay the indebtedness and to repurchase the Convertible Notes.

Risks Related to Our Business

Our success in operating our life finance business is dependent on making accurate assumptions about life expectancies and maintaining
adequate cash balances to pay premiums.

We are responsible for paying all premiums necessary to keep the policies in our portfolio in force and prevent them from lapsing. We estimate that we will
need to pay $4.1 million in premiums to keep our current portfolio of life insurance policies that are not pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facilities
in force through 2016. As of December 31, 2015, we had approximately $20.3 million of cash and cash equivalents; of this amount, approximately $12.9 million is
available to pay premiums on the 39 unencumbered policies and general expenses, with approximately $7.4 million being restricted to the Revolving Credit
Facilities. By using cash reserves to pay premiums for retained life insurance policies, we will have less cash available for other business purposes, including
purchasing additional life insurance policies. Therefore, our cash flows and the required amount of our cash reserves to pay premiums is dependent on our
assumptions about life expectancies being accurate.

Life expectancies are estimates of the expected longevity or mortality of an insured and are inherently uncertain. A life expectancy obtained on an insured
for a life insurance policy may not be predictive of the future longevity or mortality of the insured. Inaccurate forecasting of an insured’s life expectancy could
result from, among other things: (i) advances in medical treatment (e.g., new cancer treatments) resulting in deaths occurring later than forecasted; (ii) inaccurate
diagnosis or prognosis; (iii) changes to life style habits or the individual’s ability to fight disease, resulting in improved health; (iv) reliance on outdated or
incomplete age or health information about the insured, or on information that is inaccurate (whether or not due to fraud or misrepresentation by the insured); or
(v) improper or flawed methodology or assumptions in terms of modeling or crediting of medical conditions.

In forecasting estimated life expectancies, we utilize third party medical underwriters to evaluate the medical condition and life expectancy of each insured.
The firms that provide health assessments and life expectancy information may depend on, among other things, actuarial tables and model inputs for insureds
and third-party information from independent physicians who, in turn, may not have personally performed a physical examination of any of the insureds and may
have relied solely on reports provided to them by attending physicians or other health care providers with whom they were authorized to
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communicate. The accuracy of this information has not been and will not be independently verified by us or our service providers.

If life expectancy valuations underestimate the longevity of the insureds, the actual maturity date of the life insurance policies may be farther in the future
than projected. Consequently, we may not have sufficient cash for payment of insurance premiums or to service our indebtedness. The extension of time to
receive a return on our policies could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

When we receive life expectancy reports, we apply them to a modified version of the 2008 Valuation Basic Table (“2008 VBT”), a mortality table developed
by the U.S. Society of Actuaries (the “SOA”) to calculate a mortality factor that assists in generating the best estimate probabilistic cash flow stream by calculating
a mortality curve that projects the probability of mortality for each period based on the calculated mortality factors and the death rates from the 2008 VBT. We
modify the table by incorporating future mortality improvements to better reflect the curves used by life expectancy providers. During the quarter ended
September 30, 2015, the SOA released tables for a new Valuation Basic Table (the “2015 VBT”). We have not adopted the 2015 VBT although we may do so in
the future and are continuing to monitor the market reaction to the 2015 VBT as well as our portfolio’s mortality experience to determine whether future adoption of
the 2015 VBT would be an appropriate change to our valuation technique. However, the 2015 VBT would suggest a reduced probabilistic cash flow stream for us
over the next several years. Any actual reduction in cash flows would reduce our ability to service our indebtedness. Future changes in life expectancies or
actuarial tables could have a material adverse effect on the fair value of our life settlements, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Recent and future increases to the premiums due on life insurance policies that we own will adversely affect the fair value and our returns on
such life insurance policies.

To keep the life insurance policies that we own in force, insurance premiums must be timely paid. Projected premium payments are a critical component of
our fair value estimates, and any increase in expected premiums will likely decrease the fair value of a given life insurance policy and adversely affect the return
on that policy. Beginning in 2015 and continuing into 2016, certain insurance companies announced that they were increasing the cost of insurance on certain
types of their issued policies, which will result in increases to the premium payments necessary to keep the affected policies in force. At December 31, 2015, 21
policies that we own were subject to the cost of insurance increases. These increases caused the fair value of these 21 policies to decrease during the quarter
ending December 31, 2015 by approximately $5.0 million and will require us to incur additional costs to maintain these policies. Further cost of insurance
increases may cause our required premium outlay to increase significantly, adversely affect the loan to value ratios under the Revolving Credit Facilities and
could otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and the value of any affected policies.

Investigations by the SEC and IRS could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

On February 17, 2012, we first received a subpoena issued by the staff of the SEC seeking documents dating back to 2007, generally related to our
premium finance business and corresponding financial reporting. The SEC is investigating whether any violations of federal securities laws have occurred, and we
have been cooperating with the SEC regarding this matter. We are unable to predict what action, if any, the SEC or its staff might take in the future as a result of
the matters that are the subject to its investigation. We have not established any provision for losses in respect of this matter. No assurance can be given that the
ultimate outcome of the SEC Investigation will not result in administrative, civil or other proceedings or sanctions against us or our employees by the SEC or any
other state or federal regulatory agencies. Such proceedings may result in the imposition of fines and penalties, actions against us or our employees,
modifications to business practices and compliance programs or the imposition of sanctions against us. Protracted investigations could also impose substantial
costs and distractions, regardless of their outcomes. There can be no assurance that any final resolution of this and any similar matters will not have a material
and adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, certain contractual obligations require that we indemnify and advance the
legal costs incurred by certain individuals, if any, in connection with the SEC Investigation. The obligation to advance expenses on behalf of these individuals and
indemnify them, while currently unquantifiable, could be substantial, strain our liquidity position and could have a material adverse effect on our financial position
and results of operations.

On February 19, 2014, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries received summonses from the IRS Criminal Investigation Division requiring us to
produce information about us in connection with our legacy structured settlements business. We are cooperating with the IRS Investigation, but are unable to
predict what action, if any, the IRS might take in the future as a result of the matters that are the subject of the summonses or what impact, if any, the cost of
providing further
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information and documents might have on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. In addition, if the IRS Investigation results in a determination
by the IRS that we have failed to comply with any of our obligations under the Internal Revenue Code or regulations thereunder, we could incur additional tax
liability, restitution payment obligations, penalties, fines, interest payments or other liabilities, including criminal penalties and fines and a reduction in our net
operating losses, that could have a material adverse effect on us, our personnel, our financial condition, our results of operations and/or our cash flows.

The premiums necessary to maintain our life finance assets are expected to increase as we continue to acquire additional policies.

As our portfolio grows, so do the premiums necessary to keep our policies in force. Assuming no maturities in 2016, we would need to pay $4.2 million in
premiums in 2016 to maintain the policies owned as of December 31, 2015 that are not pledged under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility and the Red
Falcon Revolving Credit Facility. For the 437 policies pledged as collateral under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, White Eagle is eligible to borrow
under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility to pay the estimated $51.9 million in premiums for 2016 (assuming no maturities) and Red Falcon is eligible to
borrow the estimated $15.4 million in premiums for 2016 for the 156 policies pledged as collateral under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility (assuming no
maturities), in each case, so long as the applicable borrower maintains compliance with the borrowing base formula determined by the lender. If either White
Eagle or Red Falcon is unable to draw under the Revolving Credit Facilities, it may not be able to sustain the policies they own, which could lead to lapses or an
event of default under the Revolving Credit Facilities.See Item 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—
Liquidity and Capital Resources.

Contractions in the market for life insurance policies could make it more difficult for us to opportunistically sell policies that we own and may
make it more difficult to borrow under the Revolving Credit Facilities.

A potential sale of a life insurance policy owned by us depends significantly on the market for life insurance, which may contract or disappear depending on
the impact of potential government regulation, future economic conditions and/or other market variables. For example, the secondary and tertiary markets for life
insurance policies incurred a significant slowdown in 2008, which lasted several years. Historically, many investors who invest in life insurance policies are
foreign investors who are attracted by potential investment returns from life insurance policies issued by United States life insurers with high ratings and financial
strength, as well as by the view that such investments are non-correlated assets—meaning changes in the equity or debt markets should not affect returns on
such investments. Changes in the value of the United States dollar and corresponding exchange rates, as well as changes to the ratings of United States life
insurers can cause foreign investors to suffer a reduction in the value of their United States dollar denominated investments and reduce their demand for such
products, which could make it more difficult for us to opportunistically sell our life insurance policies.

The ability of White Eagle and Red Falcon to continue to draw borrowings under their respective Revolving Credit Facilities is, in each case, controlled by a
borrowing base formula. To the extent the above noted and other factors result in market contractions, they will likely also negatively impact the value of the
policies owned by White Eagle and Red Falcon, which could decrease the respective borrowing base under the facilities. If either White Eagle or Red Falcon is
unable to draw under the Revolving Credit Facilities, it may not be able to sustain the policies they own, which could lead to lapses or an event of default under
the Revolving Credit Facilities.

Our fair value assumptions are inherently subjective and, if the fair value of our life insurance policies decreases, we will report losses with
respect to these policies we own.

When we obtain ownership of a life insurance policy, we record the policy as an investment in life settlements at the transaction price as of the date of
acquisition. At the end of each reporting period, we re-value the life insurance policies we own. To the extent that the calculation results in an adjustment to the
fair value of the policy, we record this as a change in fair value of our life insurance policies. This evaluation of the fair value of life insurance policies is inherently
subjective as it requires estimates and assumptions that are susceptible to significant revision as more information becomes available. Using our valuation model,
we determine the fair value of life insurance policies on a discounted cash flow basis. The most significant assumptions that we estimate are the life expectancy
of the insured, expected premium payments and the discount rate. The discount rate is based upon current information about market interest rates, the credit
exposure to the insurance company that issued the life insurance policy and our estimate of the risk margin an investor in the policy would require. Third party life
expectancy providers review and analyze the medical records of an insured and provide us with a life expectancy estimate based on the insured’s health. We
then calculate a mortality impairment factor for the insured as that factor which, when applied to our mortality table, reproduces the same life expectancy provided
for that insured. We use the resulting mortality impairment factor to generate a series of probabilistic future cash flows for the policy, which we then discount and
aggregate to arrive at the fair value of the policy. If we are unable to accurately estimate any of these factors, we may have to write down the
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fair value of our life settlements, which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations and our financial condition. Adopting the 2015 VBT may also
result in a decrease in the estimated fair value of our policies. See —“Our success in operating our life finance business is dependent on making accurate
assumptions about life expectancies and maintaining adequate cash balances to pay premiums.”

Insurable interest concerns regarding a life insurance policy can also adversely impact its fair value. A claim or the perceived potential for a claim for
rescission or a challenge to insurable interest by an insurance company or by persons with an insurable interest in the insured of a portion of or all of the policy
death benefit can negatively impact the fair value of a life insurance policy. If the SEC Investigation or, IRS Investigation cause us to experience more challenges
to the life insurance policies that we own than we otherwise would experience, those challenges could negatively impact the fair value of such life insurance
policies. See “Litigation” under Note 14, “Commitments and Contingencies” to our consolidated financial statements.

If the calculation of fair value results in a decrease in value, we record this reduction as a loss. If we determine that it is appropriate to increase the discount
rate or adjust other inputs to our fair value model, if we are otherwise unable to accurately estimate the assumptions in our valuation model, or if other factors
cause the fair value of our life insurance policies to decrease, the carrying value of our assets may be materially adversely affected and may materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The life insurance policies that we own may be subject to contest, rescission and/or non-cooperation by the issuing life insurance company,
which may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

All states require that the initial purchaser of a new life insurance policy insuring the life of an individual have an “insurable interest,” meaning a stake in the
insured’s health and wellbeing, rather than the insured’s death, in such individual’s life at the time of original issuance of the policy. Whether an insurable interest
exists in the context of the purchase of a life insurance policy is critical because, in the absence of a valid insurable interest, life insurance policies are
unenforceable under most states’ laws. Where a life insurance policy has been issued to a policyholder without an insurable interest in the life of the individual
who is insured, the life insurance company may be able to void or rescind the policy. Even if the insurance company cannot void or rescind the policy, the
insurable interest laws of a number of states provide that persons with an insurable interest on the life of the insured may have the right to recover a portion or all
of the death benefit payable under a policy from a person who has no insurable interest on the life of the insured. These claims can generally only be brought if
the policy was originally issued to a person without an insurable interest in the life of the insured.

Many states have enacted statutes prohibiting stranger-originated life insurance, or STOLI, in which an individual purchases a life insurance policy with the
intention of selling it to a third-party investor, who lacks an insurable interest in the insured’s life. Some insurance carriers have contested policies as STOLI
arrangements, specifically citing the existence of certain nonrecourse premium financing arrangements as a basis to challenge the validity of the policies used to
collateralize the financing. Additionally, if an insurance carrier alleges that there were misrepresentations or fraud in the application process for an insurance
policy, they may sue us or others to contest or rescind that policy. If a policy that we own is subject to a successful contest or rescission, the fair value of the
policy could be reduced to zero, negatively impacting the discount rates used to value our portfolio generally and our ability to sell policies. Generally, life
insurance policies may only be rescinded by the issuing life insurance company within the contestability period, which, in most states is two years. Lack of
insurable interest can in some instances form the basis of loss of right to payment under a life insurance policy for many years beyond the contestability period
and insurance carriers have been known to challenge claims for death benefits for more than five years from issuance of the policy.

From time to time, insurance carriers have challenged the validity of policies owned by us or that once served as the underlying collateral for a premium
finance loan made by us. See “Litigation” under Note 14, “Commitments and Contingencies” to our consolidated financial statements. We believe the USAO
Investigation and the SEC Investigation and have caused us to experience more challenges to policies by insurers attempting to use such investigations and the
Non-Prosecution Agreement as grounds for rescinding or contesting a policy. Any such future challenges may result in a cloud over title and collectability,
increased costs, delays in payment of life insurance proceeds or even the voiding of a policy, and could have a material adverse effect on the ability to comply
with the covenants in the agreements governing our indebtedness, our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Additionally, if an insurance company successfully rescinds or contests a policy, the insurance company may not be required to refund all or, in some
cases, any of the insurance premiums paid for the policy. While defending an action to contest or rescind a policy, premium payments may have to continue to be
made to the life insurance company. Hence, in the case of a
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contest or rescission, premiums paid to the carrier (including those paid during the pendency of a contest or rescission action) may not be refunded. If they are
not, we may suffer a complete loss with respect to a policy, which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Premium financed life insurance policies are susceptible to a higher risk of fraud and misrepresentation on life insurance applications, which
increases the risk of contest, rescission or non-cooperation by issuing life insurance carriers.

While fraud and misrepresentation by applicants and potential insureds in completing life insurance applications exist generally in the life insurance industry
(especially with respect to the health and medical history and condition of the potential insured as well as the applicant’s net worth), such risk of fraud and
misrepresentation may be heightened in connection with life insurance policies for which the premiums are financed through premium finance loans. In particular,
there is a risk that applicants and potential insureds may not have truthfully or completely answered questions related to whether the life insurance policy
premiums would be financed through a premium finance loan or otherwise, the applicants’ purpose for purchasing the policy or the applicants’ intention regarding
the future sale or transfer of life insurance policies. Such risk may be further increased to the extent life insurance agents communicated to applicants and
potential insureds regarding potential premium finance arrangements or transfers of life insurance policies through payment defaults under premium finance
loans. In the ordinary course of our legacy premium finance business, our sales team received inquiries from life insurance agents and brokers regarding the
availability of premium finance loans for their clients. However, any communication between the life insurance agent and the potential policyholder or insured is
beyond our control and we may not know whether a life insurance agent discussed with the potential policyholder or the insured the possibility of a premium
finance loan by us or the subsequent transfer of the life insurance policy. Consequently, notwithstanding the representations and certifications obtained from the
policyholders, insureds and the life insurance agents, there is a risk that insurance carriers, the estates or heirs of insureds, or others could contest policies we
acquired through foreclosures of premium finance loans based on fraud or misrepresentation as to any information provided to the life insurance company,
including the life insurance application. See “Litigation” under Note 14, “Commitments and Contingencies” to our consolidated financial statements.

Misrepresentations, fraud, omissions or lack of insurable interest can also, in some instances, form the basis of loss of right to payment under a life
insurance policy. Based on statements made in the Non-Prosecution Agreement, there is a risk that policies that we own may increasingly be challenged by
insurance carriers and the estates or heirs of insureds. Any such challenges to the policies may result in increased costs, delays in payment of life insurance
proceeds or even the voiding of a policy, a reduction in the fair value of a policy and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

As of December 31, 2015, of the 632 policies in our life settlement portfolio, 544 policies were previously premium financed.

Delays in payment and non-payment of life insurance policy proceeds can occur for many reasons and any such delays may have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

A number of arguments may be made by former beneficiaries (including but not limited to spouses, ex-spouses and descendants of the insured) under a life
insurance policy, by the beneficiaries of the trust that once held the policy, by the estate or legal heirs of the insured or by the insurance company issuing such
policy, to deny or delay payment of proceeds following the death of an insured, including arguments related to lack of mental capacity of the insured, usury,
contestability or suicide provisions in a policy. The statements in the Non-Prosecution Agreement may make such delays more likely and may increase
challenges by carriers to paying out death claims or challenges by families of insureds to policy proceeds. Furthermore, if the death of an insured cannot be
verified and no death certificate can be produced, the related insurance company may not pay the proceeds of the life insurance policy until the passage of a
statutory period (usually five to seven years) for the presumption of death without proof. Such delays in payment or non-payment of policy proceeds may have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We compete with a number of other finance companies and investors and may encounter additional competition.

There are a number of finance companies and investors that compete with us in the life finance industry. Many are significantly larger and possess
considerably greater financial, marketing, management and other resources than we do. The life finance business could also prove attractive to new entrants. As
a consequence, competition in this sector may increase. Increased competition could result in increased acquisition costs, changes to discount rates, margin
compression and/or less favorable financing terms, each of which could materially adversely affect our income, which would have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

9

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



If a regulator or court decides that trusts that were formed to own the life insurance policies that once served as collateral for our premium
finance loans do not have an insurable interest in the life of the insured, such determination could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Generally, there are two forms of insurable interests in the life of an individual, familial and financial. Additionally, an individual is deemed to have an
insurable interest in his or her own life. It is also a common practice for an individual, as a grantor or settlor, to form an irrevocable trust to purchase and own a life
insurance policy insuring the life of the grantor or settlor, where the beneficiaries of the trust are persons who themselves, by virtue of certain familial
relationships with the grantor or settlor, also have an insurable interest in the life of the insured. In the event of a payment default on our premium finance loan,
we generally acquired life insurance policies owned by trusts (or the beneficial interests in the trust itself) that we believe had an insurable interest in the life of the
related insureds. However, a state insurance regulatory authority or a court may determine that the trust or policy owner did not have an insurable interest in the
life of the insured or that we, as lender, only have a limited insurable interest. Any such determination could result in our being unable to receive the proceeds of
the life insurance policy, which could lead to a total loss on our investment in life settlements. Any such loss or losses could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are dependent on the creditworthiness of the life insurance companies that issued the policies in comprising our portfolio. If a life insurance
company defaults on its obligation to pay death benefits on a policy we own, we would experience a loss of our investment, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are dependent on the creditworthiness of the life insurance companies that issued the policies that we own. We assume the credit risk associated with
life insurance policies issued by various life insurance companies. The failure or bankruptcy of any such life insurance or annuity company could have a material
adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operation. A life insurance company’s business tends to track general economic and market conditions
that are beyond its control, including extended economic recessions or interest rate changes. Changes in investor perceptions regarding the strength of insurers
generally and the policies or annuities they offer can adversely affect our ability to sell or finance our assets. Adverse economic factors and volatility in the
financial markets may have a material adverse effect on a life insurance company’s business and credit rating, financial condition and operating results, and an
issuing life insurance company may default on its obligation to pay death benefits on the life insurance policies that we own. In such event, we would experience
a loss of our investment in such life insurance policies, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we are unable to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports and the trading price of our common stock may be negatively affected.

We are subject to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX), which requires us to maintain internal controls over financial reporting and to report any
material weaknesses in such internal controls. We have consumed and will continue to consume management resources and incur expenses for SOX compliance
on an ongoing basis. In addition, as we have reduced the number of our employees and moved certain of our operations to foreign subsidiaries, we have
increased our reliance on third parties for various aspects of our internal controls. If we identify material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting,
or if we are unable to comply with the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner or are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is
effective, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the trading price of our common stock could be negatively
affected, and we could become subject to investigations by the SEC, or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and management
resources.

Changes to statutory, licensing and regulatory regimes governing life settlements could have a material adverse effect on our activities and
income.

Changes to statutory, licensing and regulatory regimes could result in the enforcement of stricter compliance measures or adoption of additional measures
on us or on the insurance companies that stand behind the insurance policies that we own, which could have a material adverse impact on our business activities
and income. The SEC issued a task force report in July 2010 recommending that sales of life insurance policies in life settlement transactions be regulated as
securities for purposes of the federal securities laws. To date, the SEC has not made such a recommendation to Congress. However, if the statutory definitions of
“security” were amended to encompass life settlements, we could become subject to additional extensive regulatory requirements under the federal securities
laws, including the obligation to register sales and offerings of life settlements with the SEC as public offerings under the Securities Act of 1933 and, potentially,
the obligation to register as an “investment company” pursuant to the Investment Company Act of 1940. Any legislation implementing such regulatory change or
a change in the transactions that are characterized as life settlement transactions could lead to significantly increased
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compliance costs, increased liability risk and adversely affect our ability to acquire or sell life insurance policies in the future, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our former structured settlements business may expose us to future claims or contingent liabilities.

Pursuant to the terms of the asset purchase agreement we entered into in connection with the sale of our structured settlements business, we sold
substantially all of that business’ operating assets while retaining substantially all of its liabilities. In addition, we agreed to indemnify the purchaser for certain
breaches of representations and warranties regarding us and various aspects of that business. Many of our indemnification obligations are subject to time and
maximum liability limitations, however, in some instances our indemnification obligations are not subject to any limitations. Significant indemnification claims by
the purchaser or other claims or contingent liability related to our former structured settlement business could materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Failure to maintain the security of personally identifiable and other information, non-compliance with our contractual or other legal obligations
regarding such information, or a violation of our privacy and security policies with respect to such information, could adversely affect us.

In connection with our business, we collect and retain significant volumes of certain types of personally identifiable and other information pertaining to
insureds and counterparties. The legal, regulatory and contractual environment surrounding information security and privacy is constantly evolving. A significant
actual or potential theft, loss, fraudulent use or misuse of customer, counterparty, employee or our data by cybercrime or otherwise, non-compliance with our
contractual or other legal obligations regarding such data or a violation of our privacy and security policies with respect to such data could adversely impact our
reputation and could result in significant costs, fines, litigation or regulatory action.

Disasters, disruptions and other impairment of our information technologies and systems could adversely affect our business.

Our businesses depend upon the use of sophisticated information technologies and systems, including third party hosted services and data facilities that we
do not control. While we have developed certain disaster recovery plans and backup systems, these plans and systems are not fully redundant. A system
disruption caused by a natural disaster, cybercrime or other impairment could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and may cause delays,
loss of critical data and reputational harm, and could otherwise prevent us from servicing our portfolio of life insurance policies.

The loss of any of our key personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the continuing contributions of our key executive officers, including Antony Mitchell, our chief executive
officer. Mr. Mitchell has significant experience operating specialty finance businesses, which are highly regulated. If we should lose Mr. Mitchell, such loss could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, we do not maintain key man life insurance with respect to
any of our executives other than Mr. Mitchell.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Provisions in our executive officers’ employment agreements could impede an attempt to replace or remove our directors or otherwise effect a
change of control, which could diminish the price of our common stock.

We have entered into employment agreements with certain of our executive officers. These agreements provide for substantial payments upon the
occurrence of certain triggering events, including a material diminution of base salaries or responsibilities. These payments may deter any transaction that would
result in a change in control, which could diminish the price of our common stock.

Provisions in our articles of incorporation and bylaws could impede an attempt to replace or remove our directors or otherwise effect a change
of control, which could diminish the price of our common stock.

Our articles of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that may entrench directors and make it more difficult for shareholders to replace directors even if
the shareholders consider it beneficial to do so. In particular, shareholders are required to provide us with advance notice of shareholder nominations and
proposals to be brought before any annual meeting of shareholders, which could discourage or deter a third party from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect
its own slate of directors or to introduce a proposal. In addition, our articles of incorporation eliminate our shareholders’ ability to act without a
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meeting and require the holders of not less than 50% of the voting power of our common stock to call a special meeting of shareholders.

These provisions could delay or prevent a change of control that a shareholder might consider favorable. For example, these provisions may prevent a
shareholder from receiving the benefit from any premium over the market price of our common stock offered by a bidder in a potential takeover. Even in the
absence of an attempt to effect a change in management or a takeover attempt, these provisions may adversely affect the prevailing market price of our common
stock if they are viewed as discouraging changes in management and takeover attempts in the future. Furthermore, our articles of incorporation and our bylaws
provide that the number of directors shall be fixed from time to time by our board of directors, provided that the board shall consist of at least three and no more
than fifteen members.

The market price of our stock has been highly volatile.

The market price of our common stock has fluctuated and could fluctuate substantially in the future. This volatility may subject our stock price to material
fluctuations due to the factors discussed in this “Risk Factors” section, and other factors including market reaction to the estimated fair value of our portfolio;
rumors or dissemination of false information; changes in coverage or earnings estimates by analysts; our ability to meet analysts’ or market expectations; and
sales of common stock by existing shareholders.

The conversion rate for the Convertible Notes will be adjusted in connection with a make-whole fundamental change.

If a make-whole fundamental change occurs prior to maturity, under certain circumstances, we will increase the conversion rate by a number of additional
shares of common stock for the Convertible Notes converted in connection with such make-whole fundamental change. The increase in the conversion rate will
be determined based on the date on which the make-whole fundamental change occurs or becomes effective and the price paid (or deemed paid) per share of
common stock in such fundamental change. A make-whole fundamental change general means a fundamental change or redemption by us of the Convertible
Notes. Such increase in the conversion rate will dilute the ownership interest of our common stock shareholders.

Certain laws of the State of Florida could impede a change of control, which could diminish the price of our common stock.

As a Florida corporation, we are subject to the Florida Business Corporation Act, which provides that a person who acquires shares in an “issuing public
corporation,” as defined in the statute, in excess of certain specified thresholds generally will not have any voting rights with respect to such shares, unless such
voting rights are approved by the holders of a majority of the votes of each class of securities entitled to vote separately, excluding shares held or controlled by
the acquiring person. The Florida Business Corporation Act also contains a statute which provides that an affiliated transaction with an interested shareholder
generally must be approved by (i) the affirmative vote of the holders of two thirds of our voting shares, other than the shares beneficially owned by the interested
shareholder, or (ii) a majority of the disinterested directors.

One of our subsidiaries, Imperial Life Settlements, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, is licensed as a viatical settlement provider and is regulated by
the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation. As a Florida viatical settlement provider, Imperial Life Settlements, LLC is subject to regulation as a specialty insurer
under certain provisions of the Florida Insurance Code. Under applicable Florida law, no person can finally acquire, directly or indirectly, 10% or more of the
voting securities of a viatical settlement provider or its controlling company without the written approval of the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation. Accordingly,
any person who acquires beneficial ownership of 10% or more of our voting securities will be required by law to notify the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation
no later than five days after any form of tender offer or exchange offer is proposed, or no later than five days after the acquisition of securities or ownership
interest if no tender offer or exchange offer is involved. Such person will also be required to file with the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation an application for
approval of the acquisition no later than 30 days after the same date that triggers the 5-day notice requirement.

The Florida Office of Insurance Regulation may disapprove the acquisition of 10% or more of our voting securities by any person who refuses to apply for
and obtain regulatory approval of such acquisition. In addition, if the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation determines that any person has acquired 10% or more
of our voting securities without obtaining its regulatory approval, it may order that person to cease the acquisition and divest itself of any shares of our voting
securities that may have been acquired in violation of the applicable Florida law. Due to the requirement to file an application with and obtain approval from the
Florida Office of Insurance Regulation, purchasers of 10% or more of our voting securities may incur additional expenses in connection with preparing, filing and
obtaining approval of the application, and the effectiveness of the acquisition will be delayed pending receipt of approval from the Florida Office of Insurance
Regulation.
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The Florida Office of Insurance Regulation may also take disciplinary action against Imperial Life Settlements, LLC’s license if it finds that an acquisition of
our voting securities is made in violation of the applicable Florida law and would render the further transaction of business hazardous to our counterparties,
creditors, shareholders or the public.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our offices are located at 5355 Town Center Road, Suite 701, Boca Raton, Florida 33486 and consist of approximately 11,000 square feet of leased office
space. We consider our facilities to be adequate for our current operations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

For a description of legal proceedings, see “Litigation” under Note 14, “Commitments and Contingencies” to our consolidated financial statements.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Shares of our common stock trade on the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE, under the symbol “EMG.”

The following table shows the high and low sales prices for our common stock for the periods indicated, as reported by the NYSE:

 2015

 High  Low

1st Quarter $ 7.52  $ 5.86
2nd Quarter $ 7.06  $ 5.68
3rd Quarter $ 6.06  $ 4.85
4th Quarter $ 5.44  $ 3.65

 2014

 High  Low

1st Quarter $ 6.59  $ 4.71
2nd Quarter $ 7.13  $ 5.67
3rd Quarter $ 7.21  $ 6.34
4th Quarter $ 6.70  $ 6.00

As of March 11, 2016, we had 8 holders of record of our common stock.

Stock Performance Graph

The line graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return in our common stock between February 8, 2011 (the day shares of our common
stock began trading on the NYSE) and December 31, 2015, with cumulative total return on the Russell MicroCap Index and the Nasdaq Financial Index. This
graph assumes a $100 investment in each of Emergent Capital, Inc., the Russell Microcap Index and the Nasdaq Financial Index at the close of trading on
February 8, 2011. We selected these indices because they include companies with similar market capitalizations to ours. We believe these are the most
appropriate comparisons since we have no comparable publicly traded industry “peer” group operating in the life settlement industry.

The comparisons shown in the graph below are based upon historical data. We caution that the stock price performance shown in the graph below is not
necessarily indicative of, nor is it intended to forecast, the potential future performance of our common stock.
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 Comparison of Cumulative Total Return

 02/08/11  12/31/11  12/31/12  12/31/13  12/31/14  12/31/15

Emergent Capital, Inc. $ 100.00  $ 17.39  $ 41.17  $ 60.50  $ 60.31  $ 34.14
Russell Microcap Index $ 100.00  $ 88.09  $ 105.03  $ 150.96  $ 155.15  $ 146.38
Nasdaq Financial Index $ 100.00  $ 86.00  $ 97.76  $ 135.20  $ 138.36  $ 142.74

The performance graph above is being furnished solely to accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to Item 201(e) of Regulation S-K, is not
being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not to be incorporated by reference into any of our filings,
whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.

Dividend Policy

We have never paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not expect to pay any cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable
future. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance our operations. Any future determination to pay cash dividends on our common stock will be at
the discretion of our board of directors and will be dependent on our earnings, financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, any contractual,
regulatory and other restrictions on the payment of dividends by us or by our subsidiaries to us, and other factors that our board of directors deems relevant.

We are a holding company and have no direct operations. Our ability to pay dividends in the future depends on the ability of our operating subsidiaries to pay
dividends to us. Certain of our debt arrangements, including the Revolving Credit Facilities, restrict the ability of certain of our special purpose subsidiaries to pay
dividends. In addition, future debt arrangements may contain prohibitions or limitations on the payment of dividends.

Equity Compensation Plans

On May 28, 2015, the shareholders of the Company voted to amend and restate, and the Company amended and restated, the Company's 2010 Omnibus
Incentive Plan (as amended and restated, the “Omnibus Plan”). The purpose of the Omnibus Plan is to attract, retain and motivate participating employees and to
attract and retain well-qualified individuals to serve as members of the board of directors, consultants and advisors through the use of incentives based upon the
value of our common stock. Awards under the Omnibus Plan may consist of incentive awards, stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance shares,
performance units, and shares of common stock, restricted stock, restricted stock units or other stock-based awards as determined by the compensation
committee. The Omnibus Plan provides that an aggregate of 2,700,000 shares of common
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stock are reserved for issuance under the Omnibus Plan, subject to adjustment as provided in the Omnibus Plan. See Item 12— Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters for additional information.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

There are no recent sales of unregistered securities that have not been previously included in a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or in a Current Report on
Form 8-K.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

The following table shows the purchases of shares of our common stock made by or on behalf of the Company during the quarter ended December 31,
2015:

Period
Total Number of Shares

Purchased (1)
Average Price Paid per

share

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of
Publicly Announced
Plans or Programs

Maximum Number (or
Dollar Value) of Shares

Remaining to be
Purchased Under the
Plans or Programs

    (In thousands)
October 1 through October 31 23,100 $ 5.20 88,721 $ 9,532
November 1 through November
30 25,700 $ 4.88 114,421 $ 9,407
December 1 through December
31 493,579 $ 3.93 608,000 $ 7,466

Total 542,379 $ 4.03 608,000 $ 7,466

(1)     On September 1, 2015, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized a $10.0 million share and note repurchase program. The program
has a two-year expiration date, and authorizes the Company to repurchase up to $10.0 million of its common stock and/or its Convertible Notes. For the year
ended December 31, 2015, the Company purchased 608,000 shares of common stock for a total cost of approximately $2.5 million, which is an average cost of
$4.17 per share including transaction fees. As of December 31, 2015, the Company may purchase up to approximately $7.5 million of additional common stock
or Convertible Notes under its board authorized plan.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth our selected historical consolidated financial and operating data as of such dates and for such periods indicated below. These
selected historical consolidated results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in any future period. You should read the following financial
information together with the other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and the financial statements and related notes.

The selected historical statement of operations data and balance sheet data for the last five years were derived from our audited consolidated financial
statements and reflect the retroactive revision to reflect the classification of our structured settlement business as discontinued operations.

16

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 Historical

 Years Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013  2012  2011

 (in thousands, except share and per share data)

Income          
Agency fee income $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 6,470

Interest income 22  29  28  1,685  7,750

Interest and dividends on investment securities available for sale —  —  14  391  640

Origination fee income —  —  —  500  6,480

Gain on forgiveness of debt —  —  —  —  5,023

(Loss) gain on life settlements, net (41)  (426)  (1,990)  151  5

Change in fair value of life settlements 46,717  44,128  88,686  (5,660)  570

Servicing fee income —  —  310  1,183  1,814

Gain on maturities of life settlements with subrogation rights, net —  —  —  6,090  3,188

Other income 193  85  2,030  748  341

Total income 46,891  43,816  89,078  5,088  32,281

Expenses          
Interest expense 27,286  16,245  13,657  1,255  8,524

Change in fair value of Revolving Credit Facilities 12,197  (5,472)  (9,373)  —  —

Loss on extinguishment of Secured Notes 8,782 — — — —

Loss on extinguishment of Bridge Facility —  —  3,991  —  —

Change in fair value of conversion derivative liability —  6,759  —  —  —

Provision for losses on loans receivable —  —  —  515  7,589

(Gain) loss on loan payoffs and settlements, net —  —  (65)  125  3,837

Amortization of deferred costs —  —  7  1,867  6,076

Personnel costs 6,384  8,763  8,177  9,452  12,906

Department of Justice —  —  —  —  8,000

Legal fees 20,739  13,620  11,701  23,974  9,855

Professional fees 7,133  5,254  5,281  5,262  4,373

Insurance 1,275  1,667  1,953  2,330  756

Other selling, general and administrative expenses 2,194  2,006  1,887  2,366  4,139

Total expenses 85,990  48,842  37,216  47,146  66,055

(Loss) income from continuing operations before income taxes (39,099)  (5,026)  51,862  (42,058)  (33,774)

(Benefit) provision for income taxes (8,719)  125  39  (39)  —

Net (loss) income from continuing operations $ (30,380)  $ (5,151)  $ 51,823  $ (42,019)  $ (33,774)

Discontinued Operations:          
(Loss) Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes (644)  (601)  2,198  (2,615)  (5,424)

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes —  —  11,311  —  —

Benefit for income taxes —  232  —  —  —

Net (loss) income from discontinued operations (644)  (369)  13,509  (2,615)  (5,424)

Net (loss) income $ (31,024)  $ (5,520)  $ 65,332  $ (44,634)  $ (39,198)

(Loss) earnings per share:          
Basic (loss) earnings per common share          

Continuing operations $ (1.22)  $ (0.24)  $ 2.44  $ (1.98)  $ (1.75)

Discontinued operations $ (0.03)  $ (0.02)  $ 0.64  $ (0.12)  $ (0.28)

Net (loss) income $ (1.25)  $ (0.26)  $ 3.08  $ (2.10)  $ (2.03)

Diluted (loss) earnings per common share          
Continuing operations $ (1.22)  $ (0.24)  $ 2.44  $ (1.98)  $ (1.75)

Discontinued operations $ (0.03)  $ (0.02)  $ 0.64  $ (0.12)  $ (0.28)

Net (loss) income $ (1.25)  $ (0.26)  $ 3.08  $ (2.10)  $ (2.03)

Weighted average shares outstanding:          
Basic(1) 24,851,178  21,354,567  21,216,487  21,205,747  19,352,063

Diluted(1) 24,851,178  21,354,567  21,218,938  21,205,747  19,352,063

(1) As of February 3, 2011, the Company had 3,600,000 shares of common stock outstanding. As of December 31, 2015, there were 28,130,508 issued and outstanding shares and 608,000 shares of
treasury stock.
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 Historical

 December 31,

 2015  2014  2013  2012  2011

 (In thousands except share data)

ASSETS          
Assets          

Cash and cash equivalents $ 12,946  $ 51,166  $ 14,722  $ 7,001  $ 16,255

Cash and cash equivalents (VIE) 7,395  3,751  7,977  —  —

Restricted cash —  —  13,506  1,162  691

Certificate of deposit 2,501  —  —  —  891

Investment securities available for sale, at estimated fair value —  —  —  12,147  57,242

Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,017  1,502  1,331  14,165  3,277

Deposits—other 1,347  1,340  1,597  2,855  761

Deposits on purchases of life settlements —  1,630  —  —  —

Interest receivable, net —  —  —  822  5,758

Loans receivable, net —  —  —  3,044  29,376

Structured settlement receivables at estimated fair value, net —  384  660  1,680  12,376

Structured settlement receivables at cost, net —  597  797  1,574  1,553

Investment in life settlements, at estimated fair value 11,946  82,575  48,442  113,441  90,917

Investment in life settlements, at estimated fair value (VIE) 449,979  306,311  254,519  —  —

Receivable for maturity of life settlements (VIE) 18,223  4,000  2,100  —  —

Fixed assets, net 322  355  74  217  555

Investment in affiliates 2,384  2,384  2,378  2,212  1,043

Assets of segment held for sale —  —  —  15  30

Deferred costs, net 1,797  3,936  —  7  1,874

Total assets $ 509,857  $ 459,931  $ 348,103  $ 160,342  $ 222,599

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY          
Liabilities          

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 3,051  6,140  2,977  6,606  16,336

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (VIE) 419  423  341  —  —

Other liabilities 360  1,256  21,221  20,796  4,279

Interest payable—senior unsecured convertible notes 2,272  2,272  —  —  —

Senior unsecured convertible notes, net of discount 58,609  55,881  —  —  —

Interest payable—senior secured notes —  261  —  —  —

Senior secured notes —  24,036  —  —  —

White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, at estimated fair value (VIE) 169,131  145,831  123,847  —  —

Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility, at estimated fair value (VIE) 55,658  —  —  —  —

Interest payable —  —  —  —  5,505

Notes payable and debenture payable, net of discount —  —  —  —  19,277

Income taxes payable —  —  6,295  6,295  6,295

Deferred tax liability —  8,728  —  —  —

Total liabilities 289,500  244,828  154,681  33,697  51,692

Stockholders’ Equity          
Common stock, $0.01 par value (80,000,000 authorized; 28,130,508, 21,402,990, 21,237,166,
21,206,121 and 21,202,614 issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2015, 2014, 2013, 2012
and 2011, respectively) 281  214  212  212  212

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value (40,000,000 authorized; 0 issued and outstanding as of December
31, 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011) —  —  —  —  —

Treasury stock (608,000 shares as of December 31, 2015 and 0 shares as of December 31, 2014,
2013, 2012 and 2011) (2,534)  —  —  —  —

Additional paid-in-capital 305,450  266,705  239,506  238,064  237,755

Accumulated other comprehensive loss —  —  —  (3)  (66)

Accumulated deficit (82,840)  (51,816)  (46,296)  (111,628)  (66,994)

Total stockholders’ equity 220,357  215,103  193,422  126,645  170,907

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 509,857  $ 459,931  $ 348,103  $ 160,342  $ 222,599
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Selected Operating Data (dollars in thousands):

 For the Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013

Period Acquisitions—Policies Owned      
Number of policies acquired 43  16  432
Average age of insured at acquisition 85.0  85.2  77.7
Average life expectancy—Calculated LE (Years) 5.4  5.9  12.7
Average death benefit $ 2,811  $ 4,444  $ 4,749
Aggregate purchase price $ 30,695  $ 16,296  $ 58,645
End of Period—Policies Owned      
Number of policies owned 632  607  612
Average life expectancy—Calculated LE (Years) 9.9  10.7  11.6
Aggregate death benefit $ 2,979,352  $ 2,931,066  $ 2,954,890
Aggregate fair value $ 461,925  $ 388,886  $ 302,961
Monthly premium—average per policy $ 9.1  $ 7.8  $ 7.5

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes and the information contained
in other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, particularly under the headings “Risk Factors,” “Selected Financial Data” and “Business.” This discussion
and analysis is based on the beliefs of our management, as well as assumptions made by, and information currently available to, our management. The
statements in this discussion and analysis concerning expectations regarding our future performance, liquidity and capital resources, as well as other non-
historical statements in this discussion and analysis, are forward-looking statements. See “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” These
forward-looking statements are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including those described under “Risk Factors.” Our actual results could differ
materially from those suggested or implied by any forward-looking statements.

Business Overview

Incorporated in Florida, Emergent Capital owns a portfolio of 632 life insurance policies, also referred to as life settlements, with a fair value of $461.9
million and an aggregate death benefit of approximately $3.0 billion at December 31, 2015. The Company primarily earns income on these policies from changes
in their fair value and through death benefits.

Our indirect subsidiary, White Eagle, is the owner of 437 of these life insurance policies with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $2.2 billion and an
estimated fair value of approximately $331.3 million at December 31, 2015. White Eagle pledged its policies as collateral to secure borrowings made under the
White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, which is used, among other things, to pay premiums on the life insurance policies owned by White Eagle. Additionally, 156
policies, with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $603.9 million and an estimated fair value of approximately $118.6 million at December 31, 2015 were
pledged as collateral under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility entered into by Red Falcon, a Delaware statutory trust formed by a wholly-owned Irish
subsidiary of the Company. Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facilities fund the payment of premiums on the life insurance policies that have been pledged
as collateral for the respective facilities. See Item 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and
Capital Resources.

During the year ended December 31, 2015, 43 life settlements were acquired with face amounts of $ 120.9 million that resulted in a gain of $6.0 million.
17 life insurance policies with face amounts totaling $ 67.4 million matured. The net gain on these maturities was $47.9 million. The gains related to acquisitions
and maturities are included in income from changes in fair value of life settlement in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31,
2015. Of these maturities, three served as collateral under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility and 13 served as collateral under the White Eagle Revolving
Credit Facility. Proceeds from maturities totaling $53.5 million were received during the year ended December 31, 2015. Of this amount, approximately $43.2
million and $4.6 million, were utilized to repay borrowings, interest and expenses under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility and the Red Falcon Revolving
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Credit facility, respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2015. The gains related to acquisitions and maturities are included in income from changes in
the fair value of life settlements in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2015. The Company sold one policy resulting in a
loss of approximately $41,000 on net proceeds received of $2.2 million. The loss is included in loss on life settlements in the consolidated statement of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2015. We continue to believe that there are accretive opportunities to grow our existing portfolio of life settlements
and intend, subject to our liquidity needs and available cash, to selectively deploy capital in both the secondary and tertiary life settlement markets. As we acquire
more policies and available cash, our premium payments will increase. Assuming we recognize no policy maturities, our estimated premiums for 2016 would be
$71.5 million. White Eagle and Red Falcon would be eligible to borrow approximately $67.3 million of this amount under the Revolving Credit Facilities to pay
premiums on policies secured by the Revolving Credit Facilities with approximately $4.2 million in estimated premiums required to maintain the policies not
pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facilities as of December 31, 2015.

Significant & Recent Events

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company executed on a strategy to (1) selectively grow its portfolio of life insurance policies while ensuring
the availability of funds to pay premiums on its policies, and (2) improve its cash flow profile. Building on an acquisition strategy that began in the fourth quarter of
2014, the Company acquired 38 policies during the first half of 2015 with an aggregate face value of $100.8 million, a weighted average life expectancy at the
time of acquisition of 5.4 years and a weighted average age of 85 years. These policies were acquired with the intention of re-shaping and otherwise improving
the projected cash flow characteristics of the policies that had not been pledged as collateral under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, and to make that
portfolio a more attractive candidate for longer-term premium financing at a lower cost of capital. As part of our overall strategy, on July 16, 2015, we entered into
the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility, which is secured by these policies, and the proceeds of the initial draw were used to redeem all $50.0 million in
aggregate principal amount of outstanding 12.875% Senior Secured Notes issued by the Company (the “Secured Notes”). The redemption of the Secured Notes
resulted in an $8.8 million expense related to the early extinguishment of debt and we incurred closing costs associated with the Red Falcon  Revolving Credit
Facility of $3.3 million that could not be amortized as the debt under the facility is being recorded at fair value. See Note 9, “Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility”
and Note 11, “12.87% Secured Notes” to our consolidated financial statements.

As originally executed, the waterfall in the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility did not provide for White Eagle to receive any distributions from policy
proceeds prior to the payment of all outstanding debt under the facility. As amended on November 9, 2015, the waterfall provisions in the White Eagle Revolving
Credit Facility now contemplate that a portion of the policy proceeds may be made available to White Eagle prior to the payment of outstanding debt based on the
then current loan to value ratio of the facility. Similar provisions are provided for in the Red Falcon Credit Facility and the Company expects that these provisions
will allow White Eagle and Red Falcon to make distributions to the Company that will meaningfully improve its cash position in future periods. See Note 8, “White
Eagle Revolving Credit Facility” to our consolidated financial statements.

Beginning in 2015 and continuing into 2016, certain insurance companies announced that they were increasing the cost of insurance on certain types of their
issued policies, which will result in increases to the premium payments necessary to keep the affected policies in force. At December 31, 2015, 21 policies that
we own were subject to these cost of insurance increases. These increases caused the fair value of these 21 policies to decrease during the quarter ending
December 31, 2015 by approximately $5.0 million and will require us to incur additional costs to maintain these policies. Further cost of insurance increases may
cause our projected premium payments to significantly increase, adversely affect the loan to value ratios under the Revolving Credit Facilities and otherwise
could have adverse material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and the value of any affected policies.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2015, the U.S. Society of Actuaries released tables for a new Valuation Basic Table, the 2015 VBT. We have not
adopted the 2015 VBT although we may do so in the future and are continuing to monitor the market reaction to the 2015 VBT as well as our portfolio’s mortality
experience to determine whether future adoption of the 2015 VBT would be an appropriate change to our valuation technique. However, the 2015 VBT would
suggest a reduced probabilistic cash flow stream for us over the next several years. Any actual reduction in cash flows would reduce funds available to us from
policy proceeds, including from White Eagle and Red Falcon, and would adversely effect our ability to service our indebtedness. Future changes in life
expectancies or actuarial tables could have a material adverse effect on the fair value of our life settlements, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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On December 31, 2015, the Company received a letter from the USAO indicating that the USAO Investigation formally concluded, that the Company fully
complied with all of its obligations under the Non-Prosecution Agreement and that the Company was released from any further obligations under the Non-
Prosecution Agreement. Since learning of the USAO Investigation in 2011, the Company has spent an aggregate of $56.6 million on legal and related fees,
including contractually obligated advancement and indemnification expenses. With the conclusion of the USAO Investigation, the Company expects that it will no
longer incur indemnification and advancement expenses or any material expenses in connection with the matter.

On March 11, 2016, we entered into an indenture with Wilmington Trust, National Association, as indenture trustee, and in connection therewith issued
approximately $21.2 million in aggregate principal amount of 15.0% senior secured notes due 2018. The indenture permits us to issue up to $30 million in
aggregate principal amount of these notes. Please see Note 19, “Subsequent Events,” of the notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Critical Accounting Policies

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires us to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. We base our judgments,
estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could
differ materially from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions. We evaluate our judgments, estimates and assumptions on a regular basis and
make changes accordingly. We believe that the judgments, estimates and assumptions involved in the accounting for income taxes, the valuation of life
settlements, the valuation of the debt owing under the Revolving Credit Facilities and the valuation of our conversion derivative liability formerly embedded within
the Convertible Notes have the greatest potential impact on our financial statements and accordingly believe these to be our critical accounting estimates.

Fair Value Measurement Guidance

We follow ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures , which defines fair value as an exit price representing the amount that would be received if
an asset were sold or that would be paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. As such, fair value
is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for
considering such assumptions, the guidance establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. Level 1 relates to
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 relates to observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1. Level 3 relates
to unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. Our investments in life
insurance policies, structured settlements and Revolving Credit Facility debt are considered Level 3 as there is currently no active market where we are able to
observe quoted prices for identical assets/liabilities and our valuation model incorporates significant inputs that are not observable. See Note 12, “Fair Value
Measurements” of the notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of our fair value measurement.

Fair Value Option

We have elected to account for the debt under the Revolving Credit Facilities, which includes the interest in policy proceeds to the lender, using the fair
value method. The fair value of the debt is the estimated amount that would have to be paid to transfer the debt to a market participant in an orderly transaction.
We calculated the fair value of the debt using a discounted cash flow model taking into account the stated interest rate of the credit facilities and probabilistic
cash flows from the pledged policies. Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, our
estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that we, or holders of the instruments, could realize in a current market exchange. The most significant
assumptions are the estimates of life expectancy of the insured and the discount rate. The use of assumptions and/or estimation methodologies could have a
material effect on the estimated fair values.

The Company determined that an embedded conversion option existed in the Convertible Notes, prior to June 5, 2014, that was required to be separately
accounted for as a derivative under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 815, Derivatives and Hedging. On June 5, 2014, the Company obtained
shareholder approval to issue shares of common stock upon conversion of the Convertible Notes in an amount that exceeded the New York Stock Exchange
limits for issuances without shareholder approval. In accordance with ASC 815, the Company reclassified the conversion derivative liability to
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stockholders’ equity along with unamortized transaction costs proportionate to the allocation of the initial debt discount and the principal amount of the
Convertible Notes. In subsequent reporting periods, the Convertible Notes will continue to be recorded at accreted value up to the par value of the Convertible
Notes at maturity. The debt discount will be amortized into interest expense using the interest method, in an aggregate amount equal to the amount of the
conversion derivative liability reclassified into equity along with any unamortized transaction costs. See Note 10, “8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes.”

Income Recognition

Our primary sources of income are in the form of changes in fair value of life settlements and gains on life settlements, net. Our income recognition policies
for this source of income is as follows:

• Changes in Fair Value of Life Settlements —When the Company acquires certain life insurance policies we initially record these investments at the
transaction price, which is the fair value of the policy for those acquired upon relinquishment or the amount paid for policies acquired for cash. The fair
value of the investment in insurance policies is evaluated at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the fair value of the investment based on
evaluations are recorded as changes in fair value of life settlements in our consolidated statement of operations. The fair value is determined on a
discounted cash flow basis that incorporates current life expectancy assumptions. The discount rate incorporates current information about market
interest rates, the credit exposure to the insurance company that issued the life insurance policy and our estimate of the risk premium an investor in the
policy would require. The Company recognizes income from life settlement maturities upon receipt of death notice or verified obituary of the insured. This
income is the difference between the death benefits and fair values of the policy at the time of maturity.

• Gains on Life Settlements, Net—The Company recognizes gains from life settlement contracts that the Company owns upon the signed sale agreement
and/or filing of ownership forms and funds transferred to escrow.

Deferred Debt Costs

Deferred debt costs include costs incurred in connection with acquiring and maintaining debt arrangements. These costs are amortized over the life of the
related loan using the effective interest method and are classified as interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. These deferred
costs are related to the Company’s notes. The Company did not recognize any deferred debt costs on its Revolving Credit Facilities given all costs were
expensed due to electing the fair value option in valuing the Revolving Credit Facilities.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes. Under ASC 740, deferred income taxes are determined based on the estimated
future tax effects of differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities given the provisions of enacted tax laws. Deferred income
tax provisions and benefits are based on changes to the assets or liabilities from year to year. In providing for deferred taxes, we consider tax regulations of the
jurisdictions in which we operate, estimates of future taxable income and available tax planning strategies. If tax regulations, operating results or the ability to
implement tax-planning strategies varies, adjustments to the carrying value of the deferred tax assets and liabilities may be required. Valuation allowances are
based on the “more likely than not” criteria of ASC 740.

Our provision for income taxes results in an annual effective tax rate of 22.30% in 2015 compared to (2.50)% in 2014.

The accounting for uncertain tax positions guidance under ASC 740 requires that we recognize the financial statement benefit of a tax position only after
determining that the relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the position following an audit. For tax positions meeting the more-likely-than-not
threshold, the amount recognized in the financial statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate
settlement with the relevant tax authority. We recognize interest and penalties (if any) on uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense.

In March of 2014, the Company was notified by the IRS of its intention to examine the Company’s tax returns for the years ended December 31, 2012 and
2013. See also “IRS Investigation” in Note 14, Contingencies and Commitments regarding the IRS Investigation.

The Company recorded a liability for the conversion derivative liability attributed to the issuance of the Convertible Notes, the Company recorded a deferred
tax asset of $6.5 million for the conversion derivative liability and a deferred tax liability of $6.5 million for the corresponding debt discount. As the changes in the
fair value of the conversion derivative liability were included in earnings, the Company recorded additions to the deferred tax asset. At June 5, 2014, when the
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Company received shareholder approval to issue shares of common stock upon conversion of the Convertible Notes, the deferred tax asset attributed to the
conversion derivative liability (net of allocated unamortized transaction costs) was $8.8 million. In accordance with ASC 815, the Company reclassified the
deferred tax asset attributed to the conversion derivative liability (net of allocated unamortized transaction costs) to shareholders’ equity. See Note 10, 8.50%
Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes.

Stock-Based Compensation

We have adopted ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation. ASC 718 addresses accounting for share-based awards, including stock options,
restricted stock, performance shares and warrants, with compensation expense measured using fair value and recorded over the requisite service or
performance period of the award. The fair value of equity instruments will be determined based on a valuation using an option pricing model that takes into
account various assumptions that are subjective. Key assumptions used in the valuation will include the expected term of the equity award taking into account
both the contractual term of the award, the effects of expected exercise and post-vesting termination behavior, expected volatility, expected dividends and the
risk-free interest rate for the expected term of the award. Compensation expense associated with performance shares is only recognized to the extent that it is
probable the performance measurement will be met.

Held-for-sale and discontinued operations

The Company reports a business as held-for-sale when management has approved or received approval to sell the business and is committed to a formal
plan, the business is available for immediate sale, the business is being actively marketed, the sale is anticipated to occur during the ensuing year and certain
other specified criteria are met. A business classified as held-for-sale is recorded at the lower of its carrying amount or estimated fair value less cost to sell. If the
carrying amount of the business exceeds its estimated fair value, a loss is recognized. Depreciation is not recorded on assets of a business classified as held-for-
sale. Assets and liabilities related to a business classified as held-for-sale are segregated in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and major classes are separately
disclosed in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements commencing in the period in which the business is classified as held-for-sale. The Company
reports the results of operations of a business as discontinued operations if the business is classified as held-for-sale, the operations and cash flows of the
business have been or will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the Company as a result of a disposal transaction and the Company will not have any
significant continuing involvement in the operations of the business after the disposal transaction. The results of discontinued operations are reported in
Discontinued Operations in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for current and prior periods commencing in the period in which the business meets the
criteria of a discontinued operation, and include any gain or loss recognized on closing or adjustment of the carrying amount to fair value less cost to sell. During
the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company sold substantially all of its structured settlements business. As a result, the Company has classified its structured
settlement operating results as discontinued operations.

Foreign Currency

The Company owns certain foreign subsidiaries formed under the laws of Ireland and Bermuda. These foreign subsidiaries utilize the U.S. dollar as their
functional currency. The foreign subsidiaries’ financial statements are denominated in U.S. dollars and therefore, there are no translation gains and losses
resulting from converting the financial statements at exchange rates other than the functional currency. Any gains and losses resulting from foreign currency
transactions (transactions denominated in a currency other than the subsidiaries’ functional currency) are included in income. These gains and losses are
immaterial to the Company’s financial statements.

Accounting Changes

Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements discusses accounting standards adopted in 2015,
as well as accounting standards recently issued but not yet required to be adopted and the expected impact of these changes in accounting standards. Any
material impact of adoption is discussed in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Results of Operations

Results of Continuing Operations

2015 Compared to 2014

Net loss from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $30.4 million as compared to a loss of $5.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2014, an increase in net loss of $25.2 million. Total income from continuing operations was $46.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2015,
an increase of $3.1 million as compared to income from continuing operations of $43.8 million during the same period in 2014. Total expenses from continuing
operations were $86.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to total expenses from continuing operations of $48.8 million incurred during the
same period in 2014, an increase of $37.1 million, primarily as a result of interest expense, the change in fair value of the Revolving Credit Facilities,
extinguishment of the Secured Notes and indemnification payment related to the USAO Investigation.

Our net loss for the year ended December 31, 2015 includes approximately $6.5 million in payments relating to the Company's indemnification obligations
for the conclusion of the USAO Investigation, $8.8 million related to the extinguishment of our Secured Notes, and an income tax benefit of approximately $8.7
million. See Item 1. “Business”, Note 11, “12.875% Senior Secured Notes” and Note 18, “Income Taxes” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Change in fair value of life settlements . Change in fair value of life settlements was a gain of approximately $46.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2015 compared to a gain of $44.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, an increase of $2.6 million. The gain for both years was primarily a result of
maturities and increased life settlement values.

During the year ended December 31, 2015, 17 life insurance policies with face amounts totaling $67.4 million matured compared to seven policies with face
amounts of $25.5 million for the same period in 2014. The net gain of these maturities was $47.9 million and $16.4 million for 2015 and 2014, respectively, and is
recorded as a change in fair value of life settlements in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. Of these
maturities, three served as collateral under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility and 13 served as collateral under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility.
Proceeds from maturities totaling $53.5 million were received during the year ended December 31, 2015. Of this amount, approximately $43.2 million and $4.6
million, were utilized to repay borrowings, interest and credit facility expenses under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility and the Red Falcon Revolving
Credit facility, respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2015. The Company also recorded a $18.2 million receivable for maturity of life settlements at
December 31, 2015 relating to the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility.

As of December 31, 2015, we owned 632 policies with an estimated fair value of $461.9 million compared to 607 policies with a fair value of $388.9 million
at December 31, 2014, an increase of $73.0 million or 19%. Of the 632 policies, 437 policies were pledged to the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility and 156
policies were pledged to the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility. During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company acquired 43 life insurance policies
that resulted in a gain of approximately $6.0 million compared to 16 policies during the same period in 2014 for a gain of $5.9 million. The gain related to
acquisitions is included in income from changes in fair value of life settlement in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31,
2015. As of December 31, 2015, the aggregate death benefit of our life settlements was $3.0 billion.

Of these 632 policies owned as of December 31, 2015, 544 were previously premium financed and are valued using discount rates that range from 16.00%
– 24.50%. The remaining 88 policies are valued using discount rates that range from 15.00% – 21.00%. See Note 12, “Fair Value Measurements,” to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Loss on life settlements, net. Loss on life settlements, net was approximately $41,000 for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to a loss of
$426,000 for the year ended December 31, 2014, a reduction of $385,000. During the year ended December 31, 2015, one policy was sold resulting in a
$41,000 loss on net proceeds received of $2.2 million compared to 14 policies sold and a loss of $426,000 on net proceeds of $4.0 million for the same period in
2014.

Expenses

Interest expense. Interest expense increased to $27.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2015, compared to $16.2 million during the same period
in 2014, an increase of $11.1 million, as the Company's outstanding debt increased to $298.2 million. Outstanding debt included $172.0 million of outstanding
principal on the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, $55.4 million on the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility and $70.7 million of Convertible Notes. During
the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company redeemed all outstanding Secured Notes.
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Of the interest expense of $27.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, approximately $9.2 million represents interest paid on the White Eagle
Revolving Credit Facility and approximately $4.9 million was attributable to the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility, which includes $3.3 million relating to the
debt issuance cost which was not capitalized as a result of electing the fair value option for valuing this debt and an additional $1.6 million related to interest
payments paid during the year ended December 31, 2015.

Interest expense on the Convertible Notes totaled $9.1 million, including $6.0 million, $2.7 million and $404,000 representing interest, amortization of debt
discount and issuance costs, respectively. We recorded $4.0 million of interest expense on the Secured Notes, including $3.2 million, $265,000, $264,000 and
$277,000 from interest, unused fees, amortizing debt discounts and issuance costs, respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2015.

Of the interest expense of $16.2 million for year ended December 31, 2014, approximately $8.0 million represents interest paid on the White Eagle
Revolving Credit Facility. Interest expense on the Convertible Notes totaled $7.5 million including $5.2 million, $2.0 million and $332,000 representing interest,
amortization of debt discount and issuance costs, respectively. The Company recorded $694,000 of interest expense on the Secured Notes, including $592,000,
$36,000, and $66,000 from interest, amortizing debt discounts and issuance costs, respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2014.

See Notes 8, “White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility,” 9,“Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility,” 10,“8.5% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes,” and
11,“12.875% Secured Notes,'' to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Extinguishment of Secured Notes. During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company redeemed all of the outstanding Secured Notes and
discharged the related Secured Note indenture. The Secured Notes were redeemed at 106% of their principal amount plus interest up to but excluding November
10, 2015. Approximately $8.8 million was expensed as extinguishment related to the early repayment of the Secured Notes for the year ended December 31,
2015. This includes $5.2 million, $171,000, $1.7 million and $1.7 million related to interest and prepayment penalties, unused fees, write off of debt discount and
write off of issuance cost.

Change in fair value of the Revolving Credit Facilities . Change in fair value of the Revolving Credit Facilities was a  loss of $12.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015 compared to a gain of $5.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Approximately $11.9 million of this loss is attributable to the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, which is due to a reduction in the discount rate after
amending the facility along with projected earlier repayments due to maturities. These were offset by increased borrowings, lengthening of life expectancies of
certain insureds underlying polices pledged as collateral in the facilities and projected cost of insurance increase. The $5.5 million gain for 2014 resulted from
increased borrowings and an increase in the discount rate used to value the facility. These were offset by projected early repayment of the White Eagle Revolving
Credit Facility given earlier than projected maturities. The White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility is valued at December 31, 2015 using a discount rate of 20.55%
compared to 23.89% at December 31, 2014.

Change in fair value of Revolving Credit Facilities also includes a loss of $270,000 attributable to the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility for the year
ended December 31, 2015. This change is associated with the election of the fair value option in accounting for the facility and a reduction in the discount rate
since inception. These were offset by increased borrowings and projected cost of insurance increase. The Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility is valued at
December 31, 2015 using a discount rate of 11.65%.

See Note 12, “Fair Value Measurements,” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Change in fair value of conversion derivative liability.  Change in fair value of conversion derivative liability embedded in the Convertible Notes was zero for
the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $6.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, required the Company
to bifurcate the embedded conversion option that was valued on February 21, 2014 and June 5, 2014, which resulted in a fair value loss of approximately $6.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2014. During that year, the conversion derivative liability was reclassified to additional-paid-in-capital, accordingly there
will be no further adjustment to the fair value of this derivative liability reflected in the Company’s financial statements. See Note 10, “8.50% Senior Unsecured
Convertible Notes,” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Selling, general and administrative expenses . SG&A expenses were $37.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $31.3 million for the
same period in 2014. This was primarily a result of an increase in legal expense of $7.1
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million, an increase in professional fees of $1.9 million, and a $188,000 increase in other SG&A expenses. These increases were offset by a reduction in
personnel costs of $2.4 million and a $392,000 decrease in insurance costs.

Legal expenses for the year ended December 31, 2015 were $20.7 million compared to $13.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. Of the legal
expense, approximately $17.0 million is associated with the USAO Investigation, IRS Investigation and related matters for the year ended December 31, 2015,
compared to $5.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. These expenses were significantly impacted by a $6.5 million payment relating to the
Company's indemnification obligations for the conclusion of the USAO Investigation at December 31, 2015.

See Note 14, “Commitments and Contingencies,” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

2014 Compared to 2013

Net loss from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $5.2 million as compared to net income of $51.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013, a reduction of $57.0 million. Total income from continuing operations was $43.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, a reduction
of $45.3 million over total income from continuing operations of $89.1 million during the same period in 2013, which was primarily driven by the acquisition in
2013 of 432 policies that impacted the change in fair value of investment in life settlements in 2013. Total expenses from continuing operations were $48.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to total expenses from continuing operations of $37.2 million incurred during the same period in 2013,
an increase of $11.6 million, or 31%.

Our net loss for the year ended December 31, 2014 included income tax expense of approximately $3.7 million, which resulted from the adoption of ASU
No. 2013-11. See Note 18 “Income Taxes,” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Change in Fair Value of Life Settlements . Change in fair value of life settlements was a gain of approximately $44.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2014 compared to a gain of $88.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, a reduction of $44.6 million. The gain for 2013 was primarily
driven by the fair value associated with the acquisition of 432 life insurance policies during the year ended December 31, 2013. The gain for 2014 was primarily a
result of increased life settlement values.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, seven life insurance policies with face amounts totaling $25.5 million matured compared to four policies with
face amount of $14.1 million for the same period in 2013. The net gain on these maturities was $16.4 million and $9.2 million for 2014 and 2013, respectively,
and is recorded as a change in fair value of life settlements in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.
Proceeds from maturities totaling $23.6 million were received during the year ended December 31, 2014, which includes $21.5 million associated with maturities
occurring in 2014 and $2.1 million that was accounted for as a receivable as of December 31, 2013. All seven maturities for 2014 occurred on policies that served
as collateral under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility and amounts totaling $23.6 million were utilized to repay borrowings under the facility. The Company
also recorded a $4.0 million receivable for maturity of life settlements at December 31, 2014.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company owned 607 policies with an estimated fair value of $388.9 million compared to 612 policies with a fair value of
$303.0 million at December 31, 2013, an increase of $85.9 million or 28%. Of the 607 policies, 450 policies were pledged to the White Eagle Revolving Credit
Facility. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company acquired 432 life insurance policies, 16 of which were a result of certain of the Company’s
borrowers defaulting on premium finance loans and relinquishing the underlying policies to the Company. Of the remaining 416 policies, 323 policies were
previously considered contingent assets held off balance sheet and known as life settlements with subrogation rights, net with the remaining 93 acquired through
the Company’s acquisition of CTL Holdings, LLC. As of December 31, 2014, the aggregate death benefit of the Company’s investment in life settlements was
$2.9 billion.

Of these 607 policies owned as of December 31, 2014, 553 were premium financed and are valued using discount rates that range from 16.05% – 25.80%.
The remaining 54 policies are valued using discount rates that range from 14.80% – 20.80%. See Note 12, “Fair Value Measurements,” to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Loss on life settlements, net.  Loss on life settlements, net was approximately $426,000 for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to a loss of $2.0
million as of December 31, 2013 a reduction of $1.6 million. During the year ended December 31, 2014, 14 policies were sold resulting in a loss of approximately
$426,000 on net proceeds of $4.0 million. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company sold eight policies that resulted in a loss of approximately
$922,000 on net proceeds of $5.8 million.
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Also during the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company surrendered two policies resulting in a gain of approximately $255,000 and received cash
surrender value proceeds of $1.0 million, and lapsed 20 policies resulting in a loss of $1.3 million. The net effect of these surrenders and lapses was a loss of
$1.1 million. There were no policies surrendered or lapsed for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Servicing Fee Income. Servicing income was zero for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to $310,000 in 2013. Servicing fee income was earned
in providing asset servicing for third parties, which we began providing during 2010. This decrease was due to the Company ceasing to service assets for
unaffiliated third parties on April 30, 2013.

Other Income. Other income was $85,000 for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to $2.0 million in 2013, a decrease of $1.9 million. The amount
for 2013 is attributable to a write off of liabilities that were payable to a third party.

Expenses

Interest expense. Interest expense increased to $16.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to $13.7 during the same period in
2013, an increase of $2.6 million, as the principal on the Company’s outstanding debt increased by $123.2 to $256.4 million as of December 31, 2014.
Outstanding debt includes $160.7 million of outstanding principal on the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, $70.7 million of Convertible Notes and $25.0
million of Secured Notes.

Of the interest expense of $16.2 million, approximately $8.0 million represents interest paid on the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility. Interest expense
on the Convertible Notes totaled $7.5 million including $5.2 million, $2.0 million and $332,000 representing interest, amortization of debt discount and issuance
costs, respectively. The Company recorded $694,000 of interest expense on the Secured Notes, including $592,000, $36,000, and $66,000 from interest,
amortizing debt discounts and issuance costs, respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2014. Of the interest expense of $13.7 million for 2013, $2.8
million represents interest paid and approximately $10.3 million represents loan origination cost incurred under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, which
was not capitalized as a result of electing the fair value option for valuing the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility. The Company borrowed $45.0 million under a
bridge facility in March 2013 and fully prepaid this facility in the subsequent year ended June 30, 2013. Interest expense of $550,000 is associated with this
facility for the year ended December 31, 2013. See Note 8, “White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility,” Note 10, “8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes,” and
Note 11, “12.857% Senior Secured Notes,” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Change in fair value of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility . Change in fair value of the debt under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility was a
gain of approximately $5.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to a gain of approximately $9.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2013. This change is associated with the lengthening of life expectancy estimates for the policies pledged under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility offset
by a reduction in the discount rate. The White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility is valued at December 31, 2014 using a discount rate of 23.89%. See Note 12,
“Fair Value Measurements,” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Loss on extinguishment of Bridge Facility. Loss on extinguishment of a bridge facility was approximately $4.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2013. This amount is related to a bridge facility issued during the year ended March 31, 2013 that was fully repaid during the year ended December 31, 2013.
The bridge facility had a face value of $45.0 million, with a funding discount of $3.6 million and deferred financing cost of approximately $400,000. All amounts
were expensed during the year ended December 31, 2013 as a result of repayment of the facility.

Change in fair value of conversion derivative liability.  Change in fair value of conversion derivative liability embedded in the Convertible Notes was a loss of
approximately $6.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to zero for the year ended December 31, 2013. ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging,
required the Company to bifurcate the embedded conversion option that was valued on February 21, 2014 and June 5, 2014, which resulted in a fair value loss of
approximately $6.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the conversion derivative liability was reclassified
to additional-paid-in-capital, accordingly there will be no further adjustment to the fair value of this derivative liability reflected in the Company’s financial
statements. See Note 10, “8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes,” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses . SG&A expenses were $31.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to $29.0 million in
2013, an increase of approximately $2.3 million. This increase was primarily a result of a $1.9 million increase in legal fees, a $586,000 increase in personnel
costs, and a $119,000 increase in other SG&A expenses. These increases were offset by a reduction in insurance costs of $286,000 and a $27,000 reduction in
professional fees.
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Legal expenses for the year ended December 31, 2014 were $13.6 million compared to $11.7 million for 2013. Of the legal expense, approximately $5.0
million is mainly associated with the USAO Investigation for 2015, compared to $4.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. Legal expense also includes
approximately $2.3 million associated with the warrants for the class action litigation for the year ended December 31, 2013. See Note 14, “Commitments and
Contingencies,” to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Results of Discontinued Operations

2015 Compared to 2014

Net loss from our discontinued structured settlement operations for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $644,400 as compared to a net loss of
$369,000 for the year ended December 31, 2014. Total income from our discontinued structured settlement operations was $81,300 for the year ended
December 31, 2015 compared to $192,000 for 2014.

During the year ended December 31, 2015, our discontinued structured settlement operations sold 43 structured settlements for a loss of approximately
$31,700 and received proceeds of approximately $920,000, compared to 8 structured settlements for a gain of $18,000 during the year ended December 31,
2014.

Unrealized change in fair value of structured settlements receivable was $20,000 and $32,000 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively.

Total expenses from our discontinued structured settlement operations were $725,700 for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $793,000
incurred during the same period in 2014. This decrease was attributable to a $42,000 decrease in legal fees.

2014 Compared to 2013

Net loss from our discontinued structured settlement operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $369,000 as compared to income of $13.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2013. Total income from our discontinued structured settlement operations was $192,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2014 compared to $22.6 million in 2013. This reduction is mainly associated with the sale of the structured settlement operations in October 2013.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, our discontinued structured settlement operations sold 8 structured settlements for a gain of $18,000, compared
to the sale of 529 structured settlements for a gain of $9.6 million.

Unrealized change in fair value of structured settlements receivable was $32,000 for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to $1.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2013.

Total expenses from our discontinued structured settlement operations were $793,000 for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to $9.1 million
incurred during the same period in 2013. This reduction is mainly associated with the sale of the structured settlement operations in October 2013; including a
$4.2 million decrease in personnel cost, $2.0 million decrease in marketing cost, $1.1 million decrease in professional fees, $946,000 decrease in other SG&A
expenses and $218,000 decrease in legal fees.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course, as well
as continued compliance with the covenants contained in the Revolving Credit Facilities, the indenture governing our Convertible Notes and other financing
arrangements.

At December 31, 2015, we had approximately $20.3 million of cash and cash equivalents; of this amount, approximately $12.9 million was available to pay
premiums on the 39 unencumbered policies and other overhead expenses, with approximately $7.4 million restricted to the Revolving Credit Facilities. We expect
to meet our liquidity needs for the foreseeable future primarily through a combination of the receipt of death benefits from life insurance policy
maturities, borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facilities, strategic capital market raises, policy sales (subject to the asset sale restrictions in our debt
arrangements) and cash on hand.

28

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



Table of Contents

For the year ended December 31, 2015, we paid $64.9 million in premiums to maintain our policies in force. Of this amount, $47.0 million was paid by
White Eagle through its borrowings and $6.5 million was paid by Red Falcon through its borrowings. While the liquidity risk associated with the policies that have
been pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facilities has been mitigated, any distributions from available proceeds under the Revolving Credit
Facilities will vary based on the respective then current loan to value ratio. Accordingly, there can be no assurance as to when the proceeds from maturities of
the policies pledged as collateral under the Revolving Credit Facilities will be distributed to the Company. Additionally, White Eagle and Red Falcon may not
borrow under their respective facilities to pay interest and the Red Falcon Credit Facility requires mandatory amortization of the debt under the facility of 8% per
annum. To the extent there are insufficient collections from policy proceeds to cover these amounts, these required payments will put further stress on our
available cash. As we continue to acquire additional life settlement assets, we expect our premium obligations to increase. Assuming no policy maturities, as of
December 31, 2015, we expect to pay 4.2 million in premiums during 2016 on the 39 policies that have not been pledged under the Revolving Credit Facilities;
however, any future cost of insurance increases may cause our projected premium payments to significantly increase and adversely affect the loan to value
ratios under the Revolving Credit Facilities. Additionally, at December 31, 2015, $70.7 million in aggregate principal amount of Convertible Notes was
outstanding, which accrued interest at 8.50%. Interest on the Convertible Notes is due semi-annually.

As of December 31, 2015, the Company’s cumulative legal and related fees in respect of the USAO Investigation (including indemnification obligations), the
SEC Investigation, the IRS Investigation and related matters were $57.7 million, including $17.3 million and $5.7 million incurred during the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Of the $57.7 million, approximately $56.6 million was related to expenses incurred in connection with the USAO
Investigation. We do not expect to incur material expense related to the USAO matter in the future. However, we may continue to incur significant expense on the
SEC Investigation and IRS Investigation in future periods, in addition to expenses for general litigation and judicial proceedings over the next year, and possibly
beyond. These amounts, while currently unquantifiable, may be substantial and could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position and
results of operations.

Accordingly, the Company must pro-actively manage its cash in order to effectively run its businesses, service its debt and opportunistically grow its assets.
To do so, the Company may in the future determine, subject to the covenants and restrictions in its debt arrangements, to sell or, under certain circumstances,
lapse certain of its policies as its portfolio management strategy and liquidity needs dictate. The lapsing of policies, if any, could result in events of default under
the Revolving Credit Facilities and would create losses as such assets would be written down to zero.

Financing Arrangements Summary

Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility
Effective July 16, 2015, Red Falcon, as borrower, entered into a $110.0 million 7-year credit facility that provides for five years of revolving credit borrowing

with LNV Corporation, as initial lender, the other lenders party thereto from time to time, Imperial Finance & Trading, LLC, as guarantor, Blue Heron as portfolio
administrator and CLMG Corp., as administrative agent.

Borrowing availability under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility is subject to a borrowing base, which among other items is capped at 60% of the
valuation of the policies pledged as collateral. This loan to value calculation is determined by the lenders with a high degree of discretion. At December 31, 2015,
$54.6 million was undrawn and $1.7 million was available to borrow under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility. For a description of the facility see Note 9,
“Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility,” of the notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

At December 31, 2015, the fair value of the debt under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility $55.7 million. As of December 31, 2015, the borrowing
base was approximately $57.1 million, including $55.4 million in outstanding principal. Outstanding interest at 5.5% per annum and required amortization at 8%
per annum on the greater of the then outstanding balance of the loan or the initial advance are due monthly. During the year ended December 31, 2015, required
amortization paid was $4.4 million, which included $916,600 paid directly by Red Falcon and $3.5 million from policy proceeds. Interest totaling $1.6 million was
paid during 2015 which included $502,700 paid directly by Red Falcon and $1.1 million from policy proceeds.
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White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility

As amended on November 9, 2015, White Eagle is the borrower under a $250.0 million revolving credit facility, with Imperial Finance and Trading, LLC, as
the initial servicer, the initial portfolio manager and guarantor, Lamington Road Bermuda Ltd., as portfolio manager, LNV Corporation, as initial lender, the other
financial institutions party thereto as lenders, and CLMG Corp., as administrative agent for the lenders.

Borrowing availability under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility is subject to a borrowing base, which, among other items, is capped at 75% of the
valuation of the policies pledged as collateral. This loan to value calculation is determined by the lenders with a high degree of discretion. At December 31, 2015,
$78.0 million was undrawn and $383,200 was available to borrow under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility. For a description of the facility see Note 8,
“White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility,” of the notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

At December 31, 2015, the fair value of the debt under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility was $169.1 million. As of December 31, 2015, the
borrowing base was approximately $172.4 million including $172.0 million in outstanding principal. There are no scheduled repayments of principal. Payments
are due upon receipt of death benefits and distributed pursuant to the waterfall described in Note 8, “White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility,” of the notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes

At December 31, 2015, there was $70.7 million in aggregate principal amount of the Company’s 8.50% senior unsecured convertible notes due 2019
outstanding. For a description of the Convertible Notes see Note 10, “8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes,” of the notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows, which includes both continuing and discontinued operations, from operating, investing and financing
activities for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013

Statement of Cash Flows Data:      
Total cash (used in) provided by:      
Operating activities $ (54,348)  $ (32,899)  $ (24,431)
Investing activities (40,954)  (46,017)  (29,044)
Financing activities 60,726  111,134  69,173
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents $ (34,576)  $ 32,218  $ 15,698

Operating Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2015, operating activities used cash of $54.3 million. Our net loss of $31.0 million was adjusted for the following:
Revolving Credit Facilities financing costs and fees of $7.5 million, which represent interest expense and other fees associated with the White Eagle Revolving
Credit Facility withheld by the lender and added to the outstanding loan balance; change in fair value of life settlement gains of $46.7 million that is mainly
attributable to the maturities of 17 policies; change in fair value of Revolving Credit Facilities loss of $12.2 million mainly attributable to a reduction in the discount
rate along with projected earlier repayments due to maturities. These were offset by increased borrowings and the lengthening of life expectancies of certain
insureds underlying policies pledged as collateral in the facility and cost of insurance increase. Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility origination cost was $3.3
million relating to the debt issuance cost which was not capitalized as a result of electing the fair value option for valuing this debt. Extinguishment of Secured
Notes was $8.8 million, which represents redemption at 106% of their principal amount plus interest; deferred income tax benefit of $8.7 million and a net
negative change in the components of operating assets and liabilities of $3.9 million. This $3.9 million change in operating assets and liabilities is partially
attributable to a $3.1 million decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses, a $860,000 decrease in other liabilities, and a $654,000 increase in deposits.
These were offset by a $1.1 million decrease in structured settlement receivables associated with the sale during the year.
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During the year ended December 31, 2014, operating activities used cash of $32.9 million. Our net loss of $5.5 million was adjusted for the following: White
Eagle Revolving Credit Facility financing costs and fees of $6.7 million, which represent interest expense and other fees associated with the White Eagle
Revolving Credit Facility withheld by the lender and added to the outstanding loan balance; change in fair value of life settlement gains of $44.1 million that was
mainly attributable to the maturities of seven policies; change in fair value of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility gain of $5.5 million that resulted from
increased borrowings and an increase in the discount rate used to value the facility. These were offset by projected early repayment of the White Eagle Revolving
Credit Facility given earlier than projected maturities; change in fair value of conversion derivative liability loss of $6.8 million resulted from an increase in the fair
value of the embedded derivative included in the Convertible Notes, deferred income tax benefit of $107,000, and a net positive change in the components of
operating assets and liabilities of $5.1 million. This $5.1 million change in operating assets and liabilities is partially attributable to a $14.2 million decrease in
other liabilities, offset by a $13.5 million decrease in restricted cash, both associated with the settlement of the class action and derivative litigation. This reduction
was offset by a $3.2 million increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $41.0 million and includes proceeds of $53.5 million from maturity of 17 life
settlements and $2.2 million from sale of one life settlement. These were offset by $64.9 million for premiums paid on life settlements, $29.1 million for purchases
of life settlements and a $2.5 million for purchase of certificate of deposit.

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $46.0 million and includes $4.0 million from sale of life settlements that
were associated with the sale of 14 policies during the period and proceeds of $23.6 million from maturity of seven life settlements. This was offset by $55.5
million for premiums paid on life settlements and $16.3 million for purchase of life settlements.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $60.7 million and includes $38.3 million of net proceeds from the rights
offering completed in the second quarter of 2015, $23.8 million of net proceeds from the Secured Notes, $47.1 million of borrowings from the White Eagle
Revolving Credit Facility and $5.7 million of borrowings from the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility. These were offset by $43.2 million in repayment of
borrowings under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, $4.4 million in repayment of borrowings under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility, $3.6 million
for the extinguishment of the Secured Notes and $2.5 million for purchase of treasury stock.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $111.1 million and includes $67.9 million in net proceeds from the
Convertible Notes and $50.5 million of borrowings from the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility. These were offset by $29.8 million in repayment of borrowings
under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2015 (in thousands):

 Total  Due in Less than 1 Year  Due 1-3 Years  Due 3-5 Years  More than 5 Years

Operating leases $ 1,174  $ 234  $ 489  $ 451  $ —
Finance lease obligation $ 63  $ 38  $ 25  $ —  $ —
White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility (1) $ 172,050  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 172,050
Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility (2) $ 55,388  $ 4,320  $ 8,640  $ 8,640  $ 33,788
Interest payable (3) $ 4,384  $ 4,384  $ —  $ —  $ —
Senior unsecured convertible notes $ 70,743  $ —  $ —  $ 70,743  $ —

 $ 303,802  $ 8,976  $ 9,154  $ 79,834  $ 205,838

(1) Please see Note 8, “White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility,” to our consolidated financial statements .
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(2) Required amortization is the greater of outstanding principal or amount drawn at origination due monthly, amount included is estimated based on amount
drawn at origination. Please see Note 9, “Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility,” to our consolidated financial statements.

(3) Includes $2.1 million related to outstanding interest due for the Revolving Credit Facilities.

Inflation

Our assets and liabilities are, and will be in the future, interest-rate sensitive in nature. As a result, interest rates may influence our performance far more
than inflation. Changes in interest rates do not necessarily correlate with inflation or changes in inflation rates. We do not believe that inflation had any material
impact on our results of operations in the periods presented in our financial statements presented in this report.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

At December 31, 2015, there were no off-balance sheet arrangements between us and any other entity that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current
or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenue or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital
resources that is material to shareholders.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of potential economic loss principally arising from adverse changes in the fair value of financial instruments. The major components of
market risk are credit risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. As of December 31, 2015, we did not hold material amount of financial instruments for
trading purposes.

Credit Risk

Credit risk consists primarily of the potential loss arising from adverse changes in the financial condition of the issuers of the life insurance policies that we
own. Historically, we managed our credit risk related to these life insurance policy issuers by generally only funding premium finance loans for policies issued by
companies that had a credit rating of at least “A” by Standard & Poor’s, at least “A2” by Moody’s, at least “A” by A.M. Best Company or at least “A-” by Fitch. At
December 31, 2015, we had no outstanding loans. Although we may purchase life settlements from carriers rated below investment grade, to limit our credit risk,
we generally only purchase life settlements from companies that are investment grade.

The following table provides information about the life insurance issuer concentrations that exceed 10% of total death benefit and 10% of total fair value of
our life settlements as of December 31, 2015:

Carrier
Percentage of Total Fair

Value  
Percentage of Total

Death Benefit  Moody’s Rating  S&P Rating

Lincoln National Life Insurance Company 22.5%  19.7%  A1  AA-
Transamerica Life Insurance Company 20.2%  20.6%  A1  AA-

Interest Rate Risk

At December 31, 2015, fluctuations in interest rates did not impact interest expense in the life finance business. Both Revolving Credit Facilities accrue
interest at LIBOR plus an applicable margin. LIBOR under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility is subject to a floor of 1.5% and LIBOR under the Red Falcon
Revolving Credit Facility is subject to a floor of 1.0%; the Company does not expect a fluctuation in interest rates to have a meaningful impact on the
Company’s interest expense in the short term. Increases in LIBOR above the floors provided in the Revolving Credit Facilities, however, would likely affect the
calculation of the fair value of the debt under the Revolving Credit Facilities. Additional increases in interest rates may impact the rates at which we are able to
obtain financing in the future. Holding other variables constant, a hypothetical 1% increase in LIBOR would not be expected to have a material impact of interest
expense for fiscal year 2015.

We earn income on the changes in fair value of the life insurance policies we own. However, if the fair value of the life insurance policies we own
decreases, we record this reduction as a loss.
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As of December 31, 2015, we owned life settlements with a fair value of $461.9 million. A rise in interest rates could potentially have an adverse impact on
the sale price if we were to sell some or all of these assets, which could also decrease the borrowing base available to White Eagle and Red Falcon under the
applicable Revolving Credit Facilities. There are several factors that affect the market value of life settlements, including the age and health of the insured,
investors’ demand, available liquidity in the marketplace, duration and longevity of the policy, and interest rates. We currently do not view the risk of a decline in
the sale price of life settlements due to normal changes in interest rates as a material risk.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

Changes in the exchange rate between transactions denominated in a currency other than our foreign subsidiaries’ functional currency are immaterial to our
operating results. Exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk may increase over time as our business evolves.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements required by this Item are included in Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are presented beginning on page F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not Applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and
procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Based on
this evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the
period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2015 that materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management’s report set forth on page F-2 is incorporated herein by reference.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, has been audited by Grant Thornton LLP, an independent
registered certified public accounting firm, as stated in their attestation report, which appears on page F-3 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9B. Other Information

Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

On March 11, 2016, we entered into an indenture with Wilmington Trust, National Association, and in connection therewith issued approximately $21.2
million in aggregate principal amount of 15.0% senior secured notes due 2018. Please see Note 19, “Subsequent Events,” of the notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, which is incorporated herein by reference. The forgoing summary does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the form of note
purchase agreement and the indenture for the notes, which are filed as an Exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

Creation of a Direct Financial Obligation or an Obligation under an Off-Balance Sheet Arrangement of a Registrant.
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The information set forth above under “Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement” is incorporated herein by reference.

Departure of Directors or Certain Officers; Election of Directors; Appointment of Certain Officers; Compensatory Arrangements of Certain Officers.

(b)

On March 9, 2016, Richard Dayan, a director of the Company and member of the Audit Committee of the board of directors, informed the Corporate
Governance & Nominating Committee of the board of directors of his decision to not stand for re-election at the Company's upcoming annual meeting of
shareholders. Mr. Dayan's decision not to stand for re-election was not due to any disagreement with the Company.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information relating to the directors and officers of the Company, information regarding compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act and
information regarding the audit committee and audit committee financial expert is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement for the
2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”) to be filed within 120 days after December 31, 2015.

All of the Company’s directors, officers and employees must act in accordance with our Code of Ethics. A copy of the Code of Ethics is available on the
Company’s website at www.emergentcapital.com in the “Investor Relations” section, under the Corporate Governance tab. The Company intends to satisfy the
disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding disclosure of an amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of this Code of Ethics with respect to
its principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or persons performing similar functions, by posting such information on the
Company’s website discussed above, unless a Form 8-K is otherwise required by law or applicable listing rules.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information regarding executive compensation is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days after
December 31, 2015.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information setting forth the security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is hereby incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement to
be filed within 120 days after December 31, 2015.

Shown below is certain information as of December 31, 2015 regarding equity compensation plans:

Plan category

Number of securities to be issued
upon exercise of outstanding
options, warrants and rights  

Weighted- average exercise price of
outstanding options, warrants and

rights  

Number of securities remaining
available for future issuance under

equity compensation plans
(excluding securities reflected in

other column)

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 774,394  $ 8.50  $ 1,808,735
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders N/A  N/A  N/A
Total 774,394  $ 8.50  $ 1,808,735

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information relating to certain relationships and related transactions and director independence is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy
Statement to be filed within 120 days after December 31, 2015.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information relating to the principal accountant fees and expenses is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement to be filed within 120 days
after December 31, 2015.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)(1) Financial Statements:

Our consolidated financial statements identified in the accompanying Index to Financial Statements at page F-1 herein are filed as part of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules: The schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(a)(3) Exhibits:

The accompanying Exhibit Index on page E-1 sets forth the exhibits that are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

  

EMERGENT CAPITAL, INC.
  

By: /S/    ANTONY MITCHELL

Name: Antony Mitchell
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 14, 2016

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

     

Signature  Title  Date

     

/S/    ANTONY MITCHELL  
Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive Officer)

 
March 14, 2016

Antony Mitchell   
     

/S/    RICHARD O’CONNELL, JR.  Chief Financial Officer and Chief Credit Officer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)

 
March 14, 2016

Richard O’Connell, Jr.   
     

/S/    JAMES CHADWICK  
Director

 
March 14, 2016

James Chadwick   
     

/S/    MICHAEL A. CROW  
Director

 
March 14, 2016

Michael A. Crow   
     

/S/    ANDREW DAKOS  
Director

 
March 14, 2016

Andrew Dakos   
     

/S/    RICHARD DAYAN  
Director

 
March 14, 2016

Richard Dayan   
     

/S/    PHILLIP GOLDSTEIN  
Chairman of the Board of Directors

 
March 14, 2016

Phillip Goldstein   
     

/S/    GERALD HELLERMAN  
Director

 
March 14, 2016

Gerald Hellerman   
     

/S/    GILBERT NATHAN  
Director

 
March 14, 2016

Gilbert Nathan   
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(f)
in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of
the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements prepared for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Because of its inherent limitations, internal
control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer, the
Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in 2013 Internal Control
—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on the Company’s evaluation under the
framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework, management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2015.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 has been audited by Grant Thornton LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Emergent Capital, Inc.

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Emergent Capital, Inc. (a Florida corporation) and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control-Integrated Framework  issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria
established in the 2013 Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated financial
statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015, and our report dated March 14, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
financial statements.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

Fort Lauderdale, Florida
March 14, 2016
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Emergent Capital, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Emergent Capital, Inc. (a Florida corporation) and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Emergent Capital, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2015 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 14, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

Fort Lauderdale, Florida
March 14, 2016
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Emergent Capital, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

 2015  2014

 (In thousands except share data)

ASSETS    
Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 12,946  $ 51,166

Cash and cash equivalents (VIE Note 3) 7,395  3,751

Certificate of deposit 2,501  —

Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,017  1,502

Deposits - other 1,347  1,340

Deposits on purchases of life settlements —  1,630

Structured settlement receivables, at estimated fair value —  384

Structured settlement receivables at cost, net —  597

Life settlements, at estimated fair value 11,946  82,575

Life settlements, at estimated fair value (VIE Note 3) 449,979  306,311

Receivable for maturity of life settlements (VIE Note 3) 18,223  4,000

Fixed assets, net 322  355

Investment in affiliates 2,384  2,384

Deferred debt costs, net 1,797  3,936

Total assets $ 509,857  $ 459,931

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Liabilities    

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 3,051  $ 6,140

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (VIE Note 3) 419  423

Other liabilities 360  1,256

Interest payable - Convertible Notes (Note 10) 2,272  2,272

Convertible Notes, net of discount (Note 10) 58,609  55,881

Interest payable - Secured Notes (Note 11) —  261

Secured Notes, net of discount (Note 11) —  24,036

White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, at estimated fair value (VIE Note 3) 169,131  145,831

Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility, at estimated fair value (VIE Note 3) 55,658  —

Deferred tax liability —  8,728

Total liabilities 289,500  244,828

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 14)  
Stockholders’ Equity    

Common stock (par value $0.01 per share, 80,000,000 authorized; 28,130,508 and 21,402,990 issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively) 281  214

Preferred stock (par value $0.01 per share, 40,000,000 authorized; 0 issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2015 and
2014) —  —

Treasury stock (608,000 and 0 shares as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively) (2,534)  —

Additional paid-in-capital 305,450  266,705

Accumulated deficit (82,840)  (51,816)

Total stockholders’ equity 220,357  215,103

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 509,857  $ 459,931

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Emergent Capital, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013

 (in thousands, except share and per share data)

Income  
Interest income 22  29  28

Interest and dividends on investment securities available for sale —  —  14

Loss on life settlements, net (41)  (426)  (1,990)

Change in fair value of life settlements (Notes 7 & 12) 46,717  44,128  88,686

Servicing fee income —  —  310

Other income 193  85  2,030

Total income 46,891  43,816  89,078

Expenses      
Interest expense 27,286  16,245  13,657

Change in fair value of Revolving Credit Facilities (Notes 8, 9 & 12) 12,197  (5,472)  (9,373)

Loss on extinguishment of Secured Notes 8,782  —  —

Loss on extinguishment of Bridge Facility —  —  3,991

Change in fair value of conversion derivative liability (Notes 10 & 12) —  6,759  —

Gain on loan payoffs and settlements, net —  —  (65)

Amortization of deferred costs —  —  7

Personnel costs 6,384  8,763  8,177

Legal fees 20,739  13,620  11,701

Professional fees 7,133  5,254  5,281

Insurance 1,275  1,667  1,953

Other selling, general and administrative expenses 2,194  2,006  1,887

Total expenses 85,990  48,842  37,216

(Loss) income from continuing operations before income taxes (39,099)  (5,026)  51,862

(Benefit) provision for income taxes (8,719)  125  39

Net (loss) income from continuing operations $ (30,380)  $ (5,151)  $ 51,823

Discontinued Operations:      
 (Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes (644)  (601)  2,198

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes —  —  11,311

Benefit for income taxes —  232 —

Net (loss) income from discontinued operations (644)  (369)  13,509

Net (loss) income $ (31,024)  $ (5,520)  $ 65,332

(Loss) earnings per share:      
Basic (loss) earnings per common share      

Continuing operations $ (1.22)  $ (0.24)  $ 2.44

Discontinued operations $ (0.03)  $ (0.02)  $ 0.64

Net (loss) income $ (1.25)  $ (0.26)  $ 3.08

Diluted (loss) earnings per common share      
Continuing operations $ (1.22)  $ (0.24)  $ 2.44

Discontinued operations $ (0.03)  $ (0.02)  $ 0.64

Net (loss) income $ (1.25)  $ (0.26)  $ 3.08

Weighted average shares outstanding:      
Basic 24,851,178  21,354,567  21,216,487

Diluted 24,851,178  21,354,567  21,218,938

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Emergent Capital, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

For the Years Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013

 (In thousands)

Net (loss) income $ (31,024)  $ (5,520)  $ 65,332
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:      
      

Reclassification adjustment for gains included in net income —  —  3
Comprehensive (loss) income $ (31,024)  $ (5,520)  $ 65,335

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Emergent Capital, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

For the Years Ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013

 Common Stock  Treasury Stock  
Additional Paid-

in Capital  
Accumulated

Deficit  

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income

(Loss)  Total Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  
 (in thousands, except share data)

Balance, January 1, 2013 21,206,121  $ 212  —  $ —  238,064  $ (111,628)  $ (3)  $ 126,645

Comprehensive income —  —  —  —  —  65,332  3  65,335

Stock-based compensation —  —  —  —  1,316  —  —  1,316

Restricted stock issued 17,286  —  —  —  69  —  —  69

Issuance of common stock 13,759        57      57

Balance, December 31, 2013 21,237,166  $ 212  —  $ —  239,506  $ (46,296)  —  $ 193,422

Comprehensive loss —  —  —  —  —  (5,520)  —  (5,520)

Stock-based compensation 41,060  1  —  —  955  —  —  956

Issuance of common stock 125,628  1  —  —  499  —  —  500

Retirement of common stock (864)  —  —  —  —  —  —  —

Reclassification of derivative liability, net
of tax —  —  —  —  14,069  —  —  14,069

Issuance of warrants —  —  —  —  5,381  —  —  5,381

Pre-conversion tax adjustment —  —  —  —  6,295  —  —  6,295

Balance, December 31, 2014 21,402,990  $ 214  —  $ —  266,705  $ (51,816)  $ —  215,103

Comprehensive loss —  —  —  —  —  (31,024)  —  (31,024)

Stock-based compensation 41,259  —  —  —  490  —  —  490

Purchase of treasury stock, net of costs  —  608,000  (2,534)  —  —  —  (2,534)

Common stock issued for rights offering,
net of costs 6,688,433  67  —  —  38,267  —  —  38,334

Retirement of common stock (2,174)  —  —  —  (12)  —  —  (12)

Balance, December 31, 2015 28,130,508  $ 281  608,000  $ (2,534)  $ 305,450  $ (82,840)  $ —  $ 220,357

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Emergent Capital, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013

 (In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities      
Net (loss) income $ (31,024)  $ (5,520)  $ 65,332
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash used in operating activities:      

Depreciation and amortization 113  88  183
Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility origination cost 3,329  —  —
White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility origination cost —  —  10,340
Revolving Credit Facilities financing cost and fees 7,493  6,716  2,028
Amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts on available for sale securities sale
securities —  —  21
Amortization of discount and deferred cost for Convertible Notes 3,132  2,371  —
Amortization of discount and deferred costs for Secured Notes 541  102  —
Stock-based compensation 490  956  1,442
(Gain) loss on loan payoffs and settlements, net —  —  (65)
Change in fair value of life settlements (46,717)  (44,128)  (88,686)
Unrealized change in fair value of structured settlements (20)  (32)  (1,230)
Change in fair value of Revolving Credit Facilities 12,197  (5,472)  (9,373)
Loss on life settlements 41  426  1,990
Interest income (87)  (136)  (258)
Amortization of deferred costs —  —  7
Extinguishment of Secured Notes 8,782  —  —
Extinguishment of Bridge Facility —  —  3,991
Gain on sale and prepayment of investment securities available for sale —  —  (22)
Net gain from business dispositions —  —  (11,311)
Change in value of warrants to be issued —  —  2,299
Change in fair value of conversion derivative liability —  6,759  —
Deferred income tax (8,729)  (107)  39
Change in assets and liabilities: —  —  —

Restricted cash —  13,506  (13,506)
Deposits—other (654)  257  1,258
Investment in affiliates —  (6)  (165)
Structured settlement receivables 1,065  614  3,124
Prepaid expenses and other assets (74)  (153)  12,848
Deferred costs —  (739)  —
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (3,105)  3,244  (2,938)
Other liabilities (860)  (14,178)  (1,874)
Interest receivable —  —  95
Interest payable- Convertible Notes —  2,533  —
Interest payable- Secured Notes (261)  —  —

Net cash used in operating activities (54,348)  (32,899)  (24,431)
Cash flows from investing activities      

Purchase of fixed assets, net of disposals (69)  (256)  (15)
Capital lease asset —  (8)  —
Certificate of deposit (2,501)  —  —
Proceeds from sale and prepayments of investment securities available for sale —  —  12,111
Premiums paid on life settlements (64,923)  (55,458)  (65,121)
Purchases of life settlements (29,065)  (16,296)  (7,000)
Proceeds from sale of life settlements, net 2,150  4,031  5,780
Proceeds from maturity of life settlements 53,454  23,600  12,039
Proceeds from surrender of life settlement —  —  1,049
Proceeds from loan payoffs and lender protection insurance claims received in advance —  —  691
Deposit on purchase of life settlement —  (1,630)  —
Net proceeds associated with business disposition —  —  11,422

Net cash used in investing activities (40,954)  (46,017)  (29,044)
Cash flows from financing activities      

Revolving Credit and Bridge Facility origination cost —  —  (6,731)
Repayment of borrowings under White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility (43,241)  (29,777)  —
Repayment of borrowings under Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility (4,378)  —  —
Restricted cash —  —  1,162
Repayment of borrowings under Bridge Facility —  —  (45,000)
Borrowings from White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility 47,146  50,518  78,342
Borrowings from Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility 5,741  —  —
Borrowings from Bridge Facility —  —  41,400
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Proceeds from Convertible Notes, net —  67,893  —
Proceeds from rights offering, net 38,334  —  —
Proceeds from Secured Notes, net 23,750  22,500  —
Purchase of treasury shares (2,534)  —  —
Payment under finance lease obligations (34)  —  —
Extinguishment of Secured Notes (3,570)  —  —
Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility origination costs (483)  —  —
Secured Notes deferred cost (5)  —  —

Net cash provided by financing activities 60,726  111,134  69,173
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (34,576)  32,218  15,698
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of the year 54,917  22,699  7,001
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of the year $ 20,341  $ 54,917  $ 22,699

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:      
Cash paid for interest during the period $ 13,802  $ 5,414  $ 1,270

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing activities:      
Life settlements acquired in foreclosure $ —  $ —  $ 3,168

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash financing activities:      
Purchase of policies through release of subrogation claim paid by lender $ —  $ —  $ 48,500

White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility origination costs paid to lender $ —  $ —  $ 4,000

Interest payment and fees withheld from borrowings by lender $ 7,493  $ 6,716  $ 2,378
Reclassification of derivative liability, net of tax $ —  $ 14,069  $ —

Issuance of warrants and common stock in connection with settlement of class action
litigation $ —  $ 5,881  $ —

Pre-conversion tax adjustment $ —  $ 6,295  $ —

Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility origination cost paid to lender $ 2,200  $ —  $ —

Repayment of Secured Notes by lender of Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility $ 51,800  $ —  $ —

Borrowings under Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility $ 54,000  $ —  $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Emergent Capital, Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2015

NOTE 1—ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

Founded in December 2006 as a Florida limited liability company, Imperial Holdings, LLC, converted into Imperial Holdings, Inc. on February 3, 2011, in
connection with the Company’s initial public offering. Effective September 1, 2015, the Company changed its name to Emergent Capital, Inc. (with its subsidiary
companies, the “Company” or “Emergent Capital”).

Incorporated in Florida, Emergent Capital, through its subsidiary companies, owns a portfolio of 632 life insurance policies, also referred to as life
settlements, with a fair value of $461.9 million and an aggregate death benefit of approximately $3.0 billion at December 31, 2015. The Company primarily earns
income on these policies from changes in their fair value and through death benefits. 437 of these policies, with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $2.2
billion and a fair value of $331.3 million at December 31, 2015 are pledged under a $250.0 million, revolving credit agreement (the “White Eagle Revolving Credit
Facility”) entered into by the Company’s indirect subsidiary, White Eagle Asset Portfolio, LP (“White Eagle”). Additionally, 156 policies, with an aggregate death
benefit of approximately $603.9 million and a fair value of $118.6 million at December 31, 2015 were pledged as collateral under a $110.0 million, revolving credit
agreement (the “Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility” and, together with the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, the “Revolving Credit Facilities”) entered into
by Red Falcon Trust (“Red Falcon”), a Delaware statutory trust formed by a wholly-owned Irish subsidiary of the Company. At December 31, 2015, 39 policies
owned by the Company, with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $185.6 million and a fair value of $11.9 million were not pledged as collateral under
either of the Revolving Credit Facilities.

NOTE 2—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, all of its wholly-owned subsidiary companies and its special
purpose entities, with the exception of Imperial Settlements Financing 2010, LLC (“ISF 2010”), an unconsolidated special purpose entity which is accounted for
using the cost method of accounting. The special purpose entity has been created to fulfill specific objectives. All significant intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation, including income from services performed by subsidiary companies in connection with the Revolving Credit
Facilities. Notwithstanding consolidation, as referenced above, White Eagle is the owner of 437 policies, with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $2.2
billion and an estimated fair value of approximately $331.3 million and Red Falcon is the owner of 156 policies with an aggregate death benefit of approximately
$603.9 million and an estimated fair value of approximately $118.6 million, in each case, at December 31, 2015.

Discontinued Operations

On October 25, 2013, the Company sold substantially all of the assets comprising its structured settlement business for $12.0 million. As a result, the
Company has discontinued segment reporting and classified its operating results of the structured settlement business, net of income taxes, as discontinued
operations. The accompanying consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related consolidated statements of
operations for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements have been
retrospectively revised to reflect the classification of our structured settlement business operating results, net of tax, as discontinued operations. See Note 6,
“Discontinued Operations,” for further information. Unless otherwise noted, the following notes refer to the Company’s continuing operations.
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Ownership of Life Insurance Policies

In the ordinary course of our legacy premium finance business, a large portion of our borrowers defaulted by not paying off their loans and relinquished
ownership of their life insurance policies to us in exchange for our release of the obligation to pay amounts due. We also buy life insurance policies in the
secondary and tertiary markets. We account for life insurance policies that we own as life settlements (life insurance policies) in accordance with ASC 325-30,
Investments in Insurance Contracts , which requires us to either elect the investment method or the fair value method. The election is made on an instrument-by-
instrument basis and is irrevocable. We have elected to account for these life insurance policies as investments using the fair value method.

We initially record life settlements at the transaction price. For policies acquired upon relinquishment by our borrowers, we determined the transaction price
based on fair value of the acquired policies at the date of relinquishment. The difference between the net carrying value of the loan and the transaction price is
recorded as a gain (loss) on loan payoffs and settlement. For policies acquired for cash, the transaction price is the amount paid.

Valuation of Insurance Policies

Our valuation of insurance policies is a critical component of our estimate of the fair value of our life settlements (life insurance policies). We currently use a
probabilistic method of valuing life insurance policies, which we believe to be the preferred valuation method in the industry. The most significant assumptions are
the Company’s estimate of the life expectancy of the insured and the discount rate. See Note 12, “Fair Value Measurements.”

Fair Value Measurement Guidance

We follow ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures , which defines fair value as an exit price representing the amount that would be received if
an asset were sold or that would be paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. As such, fair value
is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for
considering such assumptions, the guidance establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. Level 1 relates to
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 relates to observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1. Level 3 relates
to unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. Our investments in life
insurance policies, structured settlements and debt under the Revolving Credit Facilities are considered Level 3 as there is currently no active market where we
are able to observe quoted prices for identical assets/liabilities and our valuation model incorporates significant inputs that are not observable. See Note 12, “Fair
Value Measurements.”

Fair Value Option

We have elected to account for life settlements using the fair value method. The fair value of the asset is the estimated amount that would be received to
sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. We calculate the fair value of the asset using a present value
technique to estimate the fair value of its life settlements. The Company currently uses a probabilistic method of valuing life insurance policies, which the
Company believes to be the preferred valuation method in the industry. The most significant assumptions are the estimates of life expectancy of the insured and
the discount rate. See Note 7, “Life Settlements (Life Insurance Policies)” and Note 12, “Fair Value Measurements.”

We have elected to account for the debt under the Revolving Credit Facilities, which includes the interests in policy proceeds to the lender, using the fair
value method. The fair value of the debt is the estimated amount that would have to be paid to transfer the debt to a market participant in an orderly transaction.
We calculated the fair value of the debt using a discounted cash flow model taking into account the stated interest rate of the applicable credit facility and
probabilistic cash flows from the pledged policies. Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair value.
Accordingly, our estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that we, or holders of the instruments, could realize in a current market exchange. The
most significant assumptions are the estimates of life expectancy of the insured and the discount rate. The use of assumptions and/or estimation methodologies
could have a material effect on estimated fair values.

In February 2014, the Company issued and sold $70.7 million in aggregate principal amount of 8.50% senior unsecured convertible notes due 2019 (the
“Convertible Notes”). Prior to shareholder approval on June 5, 2014 to issue shares of common stock upon conversion of the Convertible Notes in excess of New
York Stock Exchange limits for share issuances without shareholder approval, the Convertible Notes contained an embedded derivative feature.  In accordance
with Accounting
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Standards Codification (“ASC”) 815, Derivatives and Hedging, derivative instruments are recognized as either assets or liabilities on the Company’s balance
sheet and are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognized in earnings. Embedded derivatives that are not clearly and closely related to the host
contract, such as the Convertible Notes, are bifurcated and recognized at fair value with changes in fair value recognized as either a gain or loss in earnings if
they can be reliably measured. The Company determined the fair value of its embedded derivative based upon available market data and unobservable inputs
using a Black Scholes pricing model. In accordance with ASC 815, upon receipt of shareholder approval on June 5, 2014, the Company reclassified the
embedded derivative to equity along with unamortized transaction costs proportionate to the allocation of the initial debt discount and the principal amount of the
Convertible Notes. The Convertible Notes are recorded at accreted value and will continue to be accreted up to the par value of the Convertible Notes at maturity.
See Note 10, “8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes.”

Income Recognition from Continuing Operations

Our primary sources of income from continuing operations are in the form of changes in fair value and gains on life settlements, net. Our income
recognition policies for this source of income is as follows:

• Changes in Fair Value of Life Settlements —When the Company acquires certain life insurance policies we initially record these investments at the
transaction price, which is the fair value of the policy for those acquired upon relinquishment or the amount paid for policies acquired for cash. The fair
value of the investment in insurance policies is evaluated at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the fair value of the investment are recorded as
changes in fair value of life settlements in our consolidated statement of operations. The fair value is determined on a discounted cash flow basis that
incorporates current life expectancy assumptions. The discount rate incorporates current information about market interest rates, the credit exposure to
the insurance company that issued the life insurance policy and our estimate of the risk premium an investor in the policy would require. The Company
recognizes income from life settlement maturities upon receipt of a death notice or verified obituary of the insured. This income is the difference between
the death benefit and fair value of the policy at the time of maturity.

• Gain/ (Loss) on Life Settlements, Net —The Company recognizes gains from the sale of life settlement contracts that the Company owns upon the signed
sale agreement and/or filing of ownership forms and funds transferred to escrow.

Income Taxes

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013-11, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss
Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists (“ASU 2013-11”). ASU 2013-11 requires, unless certain conditions exists, an unrecognized
tax benefit, or a portion of an unrecognized tax benefit, to be presented in the financial statements as a reduction to a deferred tax asset for a net operating loss
carryforward, similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward. ASU 2013-11 is effective prospectively for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2013, with
early adoption permitted. Retrospective application is permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2013-11 effective on January 1, 2014, which required the Company
to reclassify a $6.3 million current liability for unrecognized tax benefits to deferred taxes. Adoption of this guidance resulted in the recognition of a $3.7 million tax
expense in the Company’s consolidated financial statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2014, a $2.6 million reduction in the valuation
allowance and an increase to additional paid-in-capital of $6.3 million on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement of stockholders’
equity as of December 31, 2014.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and all highly liquid instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less. The Company
maintains the majority of its cash in several operating accounts with two commercial banks. Balances on deposit are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (“FDIC”). However, from time to time, the Company’s balances may exceed the FDIC insurable amount at its banks.

Certificate of Deposit

The Company maintains a portion of its operating funds in a certificate of deposit. At December 31, 2015, the carrying amount of the certificate of deposit is
$2.5 million, which approximates fair value. The certificate of deposit matures on September 22, 2016, and bears interest at a rate of 0.2%.
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Deferred Debt Costs

Deferred debt costs include costs incurred in connection with acquiring and maintaining debt arrangements. These costs are amortized over the life of the
related debt instrument using the effective interest method and are classified as interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.
These deferred costs are related to the Company’s Convertible Notes and 12.875% Secured Notes that were issued by the Company during 2014 and repaid
during 2015 (the “Secured Notes”). The Company did not recognize any deferred costs on its Revolving Credit Facilities given all costs were expensed due to
electing the fair value option in valuing the Revolving Credit Facilities.

Treasury Stock
The Company accounts for its treasury stock using the treasury stock method as set forth in ASC 505-30, Treasury Stock.  Under the treasury stock

method, the total amount paid to acquire the stock is recorded and no gain or loss is recognized at the time of purchase. Gains and losses are recognized at the
time the treasury stock is reinstated or retired and are recorded in additional paid in capital or retained earnings.  At December 31, 2015, the Company owned
608,000 shares of treasury stock. 

Stock-Based Compensation

We have adopted ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation. ASC 718 addresses accounting for share-based awards, including stock options,
restricted stock, performance shares and warrants, with compensation expense measured using fair value and recorded over the requisite service or
performance period of the award. The fair value of equity instruments awarded will be determined based on a valuation using an option pricing model that takes
into account various assumptions that are subjective. Key assumptions used in the valuation will include the expected term of the equity award taking into
account both the contractual term of the award, the effects of expected exercise and post-vesting termination behavior, expected volatility, expected dividends
and the risk-free interest rate for the expected term of the award. Compensation expense associated with performance shares is only recognized to the extent
that it is probable the performance measurement will be met.

Earnings Per Share

The Company computes net income per share in accordance with ASC 260, Earnings Per Share . Under the provisions of ASC 260, basic net income per
share is computed by dividing the net income available to common shareholders by the weighted average common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted
net income per share adjusts basic net income per share for the effects of stock options, warrants and restricted stock awards only in periods in which such effect
is dilutive. ASC 260 also requires the Company to present basic and diluted earnings per share information separately for each class of equity instruments that
participate in any income distribution with primary equity instruments.

Held-for-sale and discontinued operations

We report a business as held-for-sale when management has approved or received approval to sell the business and is committed to a formal plan, the
business is available for immediate sale, the business is being actively marketed, the sale is anticipated to occur during the ensuing year and certain other
specified criteria are met. A business classified as held-for-sale is recorded at the lower of its carrying amount or estimated fair value less cost to sell. If the
carrying amount of the business exceeds its estimated fair value, a loss is recognized. Depreciation is not recorded on assets of a business classified as held-for-
sale. Assets and liabilities related to a business classified as held-for-sale are segregated in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and major classes are separately
disclosed in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements commencing in the period in which the business is classified as held-for-sale. We report the
results of operations of a business as discontinued operations if the business is classified as held-for-sale, the operations and cash flows of the business have
been or will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the Company as a result of a disposal transaction and we will not have any significant continuing
involvement in the operations of the business after the disposal transaction. The results of discontinued operations are reported in Discontinued Operations in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations for current and prior periods commencing in the period in which the business meets the criteria of a discontinued
operation, and include any gain or loss recognized on closing or adjustment of the carrying amount to fair value less cost to sell. During the fourth quarter of
2013, we sold substantially all of our structured settlements business. As a result, we have classified our structured settlement operating results as discontinued
operations.

Foreign Currency
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We own certain foreign subsidiary companies formed under the laws of Ireland, Bahamas and Bermuda. These foreign subsidiary companies utilize the
U.S. dollar as their functional currency. The foreign subsidiary companies financial statements are denominated in U.S. dollars and therefore, there are no
translation gains and losses resulting from converting the financial statements at exchange rates other than the functional currency. Any gains and losses
resulting from foreign currency transactions (transactions denominated in a currency other than the subsidiary companies functional currency) are included in
income. These gains and losses are immaterial to our financial statements.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America
(“GAAP”), requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from these estimates and such differences
could be material. Significant estimates made by management include income taxes, the valuation of life settlements, the valuation of the debt owing under the
Revolving Credit Facilities, the valuation of equity awards and the valuation of the conversion derivative liability formerly embedded within the Company’s
Convertible Notes.

Risks and Uncertainties

In the normal course of business, the Company encounters economic, legal and longevity risk. There are two main components of economic risk that could
potentially impact the Company: market risk and concentration of credit risk. Market risk for the Company includes interest rate risk. Market risk also reflects the
risk of declines in valuation of the Company’s life settlements, including declines caused by the selection of increased discount rates associated with the
Company’s fair value model for life settlements. It is reasonably possible that future changes to estimates involved in valuing life settlements could change and
result in material effects to the future financial statements. Concentration of credit risk includes the risk that an insurance carrier who has issued life insurance
policies held by the Company in its portfolio, does not remit the amount due under those policies due to the deteriorating financial condition of the carrier or
otherwise. Legal risk includes the risk that statutes define or courts interpret insurable interest in a manner adverse to the Company’s ownership rights in its
portfolio of life insurance policies and the risk that courts allow insurance carriers to retain premiums paid by the Company in respect of insurance policies that
have been successfully rescinded or contested. Longevity risk refers to the risk that the Company does not experience the mortalities of insureds in its portfolio of
life insurance policies that are anticipated to occur on an actuarial basis in a timely manner, which would result in the Company expending additional amounts for
the payment of premiums.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers,” which converges the FASB and the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) standard on revenue recognition. Areas of revenue
recognition that will be affected include, but are not limited to, transfer of control, variable consideration, allocation of transfer pricing, licenses, time value of
money, contract costs and disclosures. In April 2015, the FASB voted to defer the effective date of the new revenue recognition standard by one year. As a result,
the provisions of this ASU are now effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017. The Company does not expect that this guidance
will have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, “Disclosures of Uncertainties About an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern.” The standard
provides guidance around management’s responsibility to evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to provide related footnote disclosures. The standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15,
2016. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not expect that this guidance will have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations or
cash flows.

In February 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-02, “Consolidation (Topic 810): Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis.” This guidance focuses on a
reporting company’s consolidation evaluation to determine whether they should consolidate certain legal entities. This guidance is effective for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. The Company does not expect that this guidance will
have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, “Interest—Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30).” This standard provides guidance on the balance
sheet presentation for debt issuance costs and debt discounts and debt premiums. To simplify the presentation of debt issuance costs, this standard requires that
debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability.
This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015. The Company does not expect that this guidance will have a material impact on its
consolidated financial statements.

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classifications of Deferred Taxes,” which aligns the
FASB and the IASB standard for financial statement presentation of deferred income taxes. To simplify the presentation of deferred income taxes, this standard
requires that deferred tax assets and liabilities be presented as noncurrent on the balance sheet. This ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual periods. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. The Company does not
expect that this guidance will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 3—CONSOLIDATION OF VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

The Company evaluates its interests in variable interest entities (“VIEs”) on an ongoing basis and consolidates those VIEs in which it has a controlling
financial interest and is thus deemed to be the primary beneficiary. A controlling financial interest has both of the following characteristics: (i) the power to direct
the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact its economic performance; and (ii) the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE that could potentially be
significant to it or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could be significant to the VIE.

The following table presents the consolidated assets and consolidated liabilities of VIEs for which the Company has concluded that it is the primary
beneficiary and which are consolidated in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, as well as non-consolidated VIEs
for which the Company has determined it is not the primary beneficiary (in thousands):

 Primary Beneficiary  Not Primary Beneficiary

 Consolidated VIEs  Non-consolidated VIEs

 Assets  Liabilities  Total Assets  
Maximum Exposure To

Loss

December 31, 2015 $ 475,597  $ 225,208  $ 2,384  $ 2,384
December 31, 2014 $ 314,062  $ 146,254  $ 2,384  $ 2,384

As of December 31, 2015, 437 life insurance policies owned by White Eagle with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $2.2 billion and an estimated
fair value of approximately $331.3 million were pledged as collateral under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility. In accordance with ASC 810, Consolidation,
the Company consolidated White Eagle in its financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.

As of December 31, 2015, 156 life insurance policies owned by Red Falcon with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $603.9 million and an
estimated fair value of approximately $118.6 million were pledged as collateral under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility. In accordance with ASC 810,
Consolidation, the Company consolidated Red Falcon in its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015.

NOTE 4—EARNINGS PER SHARE

As of December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, there were 28,130,508, 21,402,990 and 21,237,166 issued and outstanding shares, respectively.

Basic net income per share is computed by dividing the net earnings attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period.

Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding, increased to include the number of additional common shares that would have been outstanding if the dilutive potential common shares had been
issued. Conversion or exercise of the potential common
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shares is not reflected in diluted earnings per share unless the effect is dilutive. The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding common share equivalents is reflected in
diluted earnings per share by application of the treasury stock method, as applicable.

The following tables reconcile actual basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands except per
share data).

 2015  2014  2013

 (1)  (2)  (3)

Loss per share:      
Numerator:      

Net (loss) income from continuing operations $ (30,380)  $ (5,151)  $ 51,823
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations (644)  (369)  13,509
Net (loss) income $ (31,024)  $ (5,520)  $ 65,332

Basic (loss) income per common share:      
Basic (loss) income per share from continuing operations $ (1.22)  $ (0.24)  $ 2.44
Basic (loss) income per share from discontinued operations $ (0.03)  $ (0.02)  0.64
Basic (loss) income per share available to common shareholders $ (1.25)  $ (0.26)  $ 3.08

Diluted (loss) income per common share:      
Diluted (loss) income per share from continuing operations $ (1.22)  $ (0.24)  $ 2.44
Diluted (loss) income per share from discontinued operations (0.03)  (0.02)  0.64
Diluted (loss) income per share available to common shareholders $ (1.25)  $ (0.26)  $ 3.08

Denominator:      
Basic 24,851,178  21,354,567  21,216,487

Add: Restricted stock —  —  2,451
Diluted 24,851,178  21,354,567  21,218,938

(1) The computation of diluted EPS did not include 774,394 options, 6,240,521 warrants, 41,259 shares of restricted stock, up to 10,738,165 shares of
underlying common stock issuable upon conversion of the Convertible Notes and 319,500 performance shares for the year ended December 31, 2015, as
the effect of their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

(2) The computation of diluted EPS did not include 807,949 options, 6,240,521 warrants, 41,060 shares of restricted stock, up to 10,464,941 shares of
underlying common stock issuable upon conversion of the Convertible Notes and 323,500 performance shares for the year ended December 31, 2014, as
the effect of their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

(3) The computation of diluted EPS did not include 831,282 options and 4,240,521 warrants for the year ended December 31, 2013, as the effect of their
inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. The computation of diluted EPS included 2,451 incremental shares of the 17,286 unvested restricted stock
outstanding as of December 31, 2013.

NOTE 5—STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

On May 28, 2015, the Company amended and restated its 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Omnibus Plan”). Awards under the Omnibus Plan may
consist of incentive awards, stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance shares, performance units, and shares of common stock, restricted stock,
restricted stock units or other stock-based awards as determined by the compensation committee. The Omnibus Plan provides for an aggregate of
2,700,000 shares of common stock to be reserved for issuance under the Omnibus Plan, subject to adjustment as provided in the Omnibus Plan.

The Company recognized approximately $238,000 and $765,000 in stock-based compensation expense relating to stock options it granted under the
Omnibus Plan during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The Company incurred additional stock-based compensation expense of
approximately $252,000 and $191,000 relating to restricted stock granted to its board of directors during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. During 2014, the Company awarded 323,500 target performance shares for restricted common stock to its directors and certain employees, of which
150,000 shares were subject to shareholder approval of the Omnibus Plan at the Company’s 2015 annual meeting, which was obtained on May 28, 2015. The
issuance of the performance shares is contingent on the Company’s financial performance, as well as the performance of the Company’s common stock through
June 30, 2016, with the actual shares to be issued ranging between 0 –150% of the target performance shares. During the year ended December 31, 2015,
4,000 of the performance shares were forfeited. The Company evaluates on a quarterly basis whether it is probable that the Company’s financial performance
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conditions will be achieved. At December 31, 2015, the Company determined that it was not probable that the performance conditions would be achieved and as
a result, no related expense was recognized for the year ended December 31, 2015. Once issued, the performance shares will be subject to a one year vesting
period from the date of issuance.

Options

As of December 31, 2015, options to purchase 774,394 shares of common stock were outstanding and unexercised under the Omnibus Plan at a weighted
average exercise price of $8.50 per share. The Company has used the Black-Scholes model to calculate fair values of options awarded. This model requires
assumptions as to expected volatility, dividends, terms, and risk free rates.

The following table presents the activity of the Company’s outstanding stock options of common stock for the year ended December 31, 2015:

Common Stock Options Number of Shares  
Weighted Average Price

per Share  

Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual

Term  Aggregate Intrinsic Value

Options outstanding, January 1, 2015 807,949  $ 8.50  4.48  $ —
Options granted —  —  —  
Options exercised —  —  —  
Options forfeited (33,555)  8.50  —  
Options expired —  —  —  
Options outstanding, December 31, 2015 774,394  $ 8.50  3.47  $ —
Exercisable at December 31, 2015 774,394  8.50  3.47  
Unvested at December 31, 2015 —  $ —  —  $ —

As of December 31, 2015, all outstanding stock options had an exercise price above the fair market value of the common stock on that date.

During the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company recognized expense of $238,000 and $765,000, respectively related to these options.
There are no remaining unamortized amounts to be recognized on these options.

Restricted Stock

17,286 shares of restricted stock granted to our directors under the Omnibus Plan vested during the year ended December 31, 2014. The fair value of the
vested restricted stock was valued at $120,138 based on the closing price of the Company’s shares on the grant date. The Company expensed approximately
$52,000 in stock based compensation related to the 17,286 shares of restricted stock during the year ended December 31, 2014.

Under the Omnibus Plan, 41,060 shares of restricted stock granted to the Company's directors vested during the year ended December 31, 2015. The fair
value of the vested restricted stock was valued at approximately $255,000 based on the closing price of the Company's shares on the day prior to the grant date.
The Company incurred additional stock-based compensation expense of approximately $108,000 and $139,000 related to these 41,060 shares of restricted stock
during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company granted 41,259 shares of restricted stock to its directors under the Omnibus Plan subject to a one year
vesting schedule that commenced on the date of grant. The fair value of the unvested restricted stock was valued at $255,000 based on the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the day prior to the grant date. The Company incurred additional stock-based compensation expense of approximately $144,000 related to
these 41,259 shares of restricted stock during the year ended December 31, 2015.

The following table presents the activity of the Company’s unvested restricted stock common shares for the year ended December 31, 2015:
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Common Unvested Shares Number of Shares

Outstanding January 1, 2015 41,060
Granted 41,259
Vested (41,060)
Forfeited —
Outstanding December 31, 2015 41,259

The aggregate intrinsic value of these awards is $152,000 and the remaining weighted average life of these awards is 0.4 years as of December 31, 2015.

Performance Shares

During 2014, the Company awarded 323,500 target performance shares for restricted common stock to its directors and certain employees, of which
150,000 shares were subject to shareholder approval of an amendment to the Omnibus Plan, which was obtained on May 28, 2015 at the Company’s 2015
annual meeting. The issuance of the performance shares is contingent on the Company’s financial performance, as well as the performance of the Company’s
common stock through June 30, 2016, with the actual shares to be issued ranging between 0 – 150% of the target performance shares. During the year ended
December 31, 2015, 4,000 of the performance shares were forfeited. At December 31, 2015, the Company determined that it was not probable that the
performance conditions would be achieved and no related expense was recognized for the year ended December 31, 2015. If issued, the performance shares
will be subject to a one year vesting period from the date of issuance.

The following table presents the activity of the Company’s performance share awards for the year ended December 31, 2015:

Performance Shares Number of Shares

Outstanding January 1, 2014 323,500
Awarded —
Vested —
Forfeited (4,000)
Outstanding December 31, 2015 319,500

Warrants

On February 11, 2011, three shareholders received warrants that may be exercised for up to a total of 4,240,521 shares of the Company’s common stock at
a weighted average exercise price of $14.51 per share. The warrants will expire seven years after the date of issuance and are exercisable as they are fully
vested. At December 31, 2015, all 4,240,521 warrants remained outstanding.

In connection with a settlement of class action litigation arising in connection with the investigation by the U.S. Attorney's Office for District of New
Hampshire ("USAO") into the Company's now legacy premium finance business (the "USAO Investigation"), the Company issued warrants to purchase two
million shares of the Company’s stock into an escrow account in April of 2014. The estimated fair value as of the measurement date of such warrants was $5.4
million, which is included in stockholders’ equity. The warrants were distributed in October 2014 and have a five-year term from the date they are distributed to
the class participants with an exercise price of $10.75. The Company is obligated to file a registration statement to register the shares underlying the warrants
with the SEC if shares of the Company’s common stock have an average daily trading closing price of at least $8.50 per share for a 45 day period. The warrants
will be exercisable upon effectiveness of the registration statement.

NOTE 6—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On October 25, 2013, the Company sold substantially all of the operating assets comprising its structured settlement business to Majestic Opco L.L.C for
gross proceeds of $12.0 million pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement. No structured settlement receivables were sold and no on-balance sheet liabilities
were transferred in connection with the sale. This sale resulted in the recognition of a gain of $11.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2013.
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As a result of the sale of its structured settlements business, the Company reclassified its structured settlement business operating results as discontinued
operations in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations for all periods presented.

Operating results related to the Company’s discontinued structured settlement business are as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013

 (in thousands)

Total income $ 81  $ 192  $ 11,331
Total expenses (725)  (793)  (9,133)
Income (loss) before income taxes (644)  (601)  2,198
Income tax benefit —  232  —
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes $ (644)  $ (369)  $ 2,198
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income taxes —  —  11,311
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations $ (644)  $ (369)  $ 13,509

NOTE 7—LIFE SETTLEMENTS (LIFE INSURANCE POLICIES)

The Company accounts for policies it acquires using the fair value method in accordance with ASC 325-30-50 Investments—Other—Investment in
Insurance Contracts. Under the fair value method, the Company recognizes the initial investment at the purchase price. For policies that were relinquished in
satisfaction of premium finance loans at maturity, the initial investment is the loan carrying value. For policies purchased in the secondary or tertiary markets, the
initial investment is the amount of cash outlay at the time of purchase. At each reporting period, the Company re-measures the investment at fair value in its
entirety and recognizes changes in fair value in the Statements of Operations in the period in which the changes occur.

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company owned 632 and 607 policies, respectively, with an aggregate estimated fair value of life settlements of
$461.9 million and $388.9 million, respectively.

The weighted average life expectancy calculated based on death benefit of insureds in the policies owned by the Company at December 31, 2015 was 9.9
years. The following table describes the Company’s life settlements as of December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands):

Remaining Life Expectancy (In Years)
Number of Life

Settlement Contracts  Fair Value  Face Value

0-1 —  $ —  $ —
1-2 12  28,873  42,988
2-3 17  47,272  84,497
3-4 18  24,450  58,154
4-5 31  42,304  124,720
Thereafter 554  319,026  2,668,993
Total 632  $ 461,925  $ 2,979,352

The weighted average life expectancy calculated based on death benefit of insureds in the policies owned by the Company at December 31, 2014 was
10.7 years. The following table describes the Company’s life settlements as of December 31, 2014 (dollars in thousands):
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Remaining Life Expectancy (In Years)
Number of Life

Settlement Contracts  Fair Value  Face Value

0-1 —  $ —  $ —
1-2 4  9,227  12,728
2-3 10  23,202  45,852
3-4 16  29,531  67,735
4-5 19  23,012  65,614
Thereafter 558  303,914  2,739,137
Total 607  $ 388,886  $ 2,931,066

Estimated premiums to be paid for each of the five succeeding fiscal years to keep the life insurance policies in force as of December 31, 2015, are as
follows (in thousands):

2016 $ 68,927
2017 76,405
2018 79,192
2019 86,153
2020 90,138

Thereafter 1,032,771

 $ 1,433,586

The amount of $1.43 billion noted above represents the estimated total future premium payments required to keep the life insurance policies in force during
the life expectancies of all the underlying insured lives and does not give effect to projected receipt of death benefits, however, gives effect to premium reduction
if there is a maturity. The estimated total future premium payments could increase or decrease significantly to the extent that actual mortalities of insureds differs
from the estimated life expectancies.

NOTE 8—WHITE EAGLE REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY

Effective April 29, 2013, White Eagle entered into a 15-year revolving credit agreement with LNV Corporation, as initial lender, Imperial Finance & Trading,
LLC, as servicer and portfolio manager and CLMG Corp., as administrative agent. Proceeds from the initial advance under the facility were used, in part, to retire
a bridge facility and to fund a payment to the lender protection insurance provider to release subrogation rights in certain of the policies pledged as collateral for
the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility. On May 16, 2014, White Eagle Asset Portfolio, LLC converted from a Delaware limited liability company to White Eagle
Asset Portfolio, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “Conversion”) and all of its ownership interests were transferred to an indirect, wholly-owned Irish
subsidiary of the Company. In connection with the Conversion, the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility was amended and restated among White Eagle, as
borrower, Imperial Finance and Trading, LLC, as the initial servicer, the initial portfolio manager and guarantor, Lamington Road Bermuda Ltd., as portfolio
manager, LNV Corporation, as initial lender, the other financial institutions party thereto as lenders, and CLMG Corp., as administrative agent for the lenders. On
November 9, 2015, the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility was amended. As amended, the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility may provide earlier
participation in the portfolio cash flows if certain loan to value ("LTV") ratios are achieved as more fully described below under "Amortization & Distributions."
Additionally, the maximum facility limit was reduced from $300.0 million to $250.0 million, and will generally be reduced annually by $25.0 million beginning on
April 29, 2019. Additionally, the interest rate under the facility was increased by 50 basis points.

General & Security. The White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility provides for an asset-based revolving credit facility backed by White Eagle’s portfolio of life
insurance policies with an aggregate lender commitment, as amended and restated, of up to $250.0 million, subject to borrowing base availability. 437 life
insurance policies with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $2.2 billion and an estimated fair value of approximately $331.3 million are pledged as
collateral under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility at December 31, 2015. In addition, the equity interests in White Eagle have been pledged under the
White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility.
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Borrowing Base. Borrowing availability under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility is subject to a borrowing base, which at any time is equal to the
lesser of (A) the sum of all of the following amounts that have been funded or are to be funded through the next distribution date (i) the initial advance and all
additional advances to acquire additional pledged policies or that are not for ongoing maintenance advances, plus (ii) 100% of the sum of the ongoing
maintenance costs, plus (iii) 100% of accrued and unpaid interest on borrowings (excluding the rate floor portion described below), plus (iv) 100% of any other
fees and expenses funded and to be funded as approved by the required lenders, less (v) any required payments of principal and interest previously distributed
and to be distributed through the next distribution date; (B) 75% of the valuation of the policies pledged as collateral as determined by the lenders; (C) 50% of the
aggregate face amount of the policies pledged as collateral (excluding certain specified life insurance policies); and (D) the then applicable facility limit. At
December 31, 2015, $78.0 million was undrawn and $383,200 was available to borrow under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility.

Amortization & Distributions. Proceeds from the maturity of the policies pledged as collateral under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility are distributed
pursuant to a waterfall. As amended, after premium payments, fees to service providers and payments of interest, a percentage of the collections from policy
proceeds are to be paid to the lenders, which will vary depending on the then LTV ratio as follows: (1) if the LTV is equal to or greater than 50%, all remaining
proceeds will be directed to the lenders to repay the then outstanding principal balance; (2) if the LTV is less than 50% but greater than or equal to 25%, 65% of
the remaining proceeds will be directed to the lenders to repay the then outstanding principal balance; or (3) if the LTV is less than 25%, 35% of the remaining
proceeds will be directed to the lenders to repay the then outstanding principal balance, in each case, with remaining proceeds ("Excess LTV Payments")
directed to White Eagle for so long as the "Net Total Investment Percentage" exceeds 15% and there are at least 75 policies pledged under the White Eagle
Revolving Credit Facility representing 75 distinct insureds with any such proceeds to White Eagle decreasing the $76.1 million preference amount (the
"preference amount") that would have been distributed to White Eagle prior to the amendment upon the pay down of outstanding indebtedness. Following the
satisfaction of the remaining preference payment, 50% of the remaining proceeds will generally be directed to the lenders with the remainder paid to White Eagle
and for any unpaid fees to service providers. As of any calculation date, the "Net Total Investment Percentage" will be determined by dividing the difference
between the preference amount and the aggregate Excess LTV Payments by the outstanding principal amount under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility.
With respect to approximately 25% of the face amount of policies pledged as collateral under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, White Eagle has agreed
that if policy proceeds that are otherwise due are not paid by an insurance carrier, the foregoing distributions will be altered such that the lenders will receive any
“catch-up” payments with respect to amounts that they would have received in the waterfall prior to distributions being made to White Eagle. During the
continuance of events of default or unmatured events of default, the amounts from collections of policy proceeds that might otherwise be paid to White Eagle will
instead be held in a designated account controlled by the lenders and may be applied to fund operating and third party expenses, interest and principal, “catch-
up” payments or percentage payments that would go to the lenders as described above.

Use of Proceeds. Generally, ongoing advances may be made for paying premiums on the life insurance policies pledged as collateral and to pay the fees of
service providers. Effective with the White Eagle Amendment on November 9, 2015, ongoing advances may no longer be used to pay interest, which will now be
paid by White Eagle if there is not otherwise sufficient amounts available from policy proceeds to be distributed to pay interest expense pursuant to the waterfall
described above in "Amortization and Distributions." Subsequent advances in respect of newly pledged policies are at the discretion of the lenders and the use of
proceeds from those advances are at the discretion of the lenders.

Interest. Borrowings under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility bear interest at a rate equal to LIBOR or, if LIBOR is unavailable, the base rate, in each
case plus an applicable margin of 4.50%, which was increased from 4.00%, and subject to a rate floor component equal to the greater of LIBOR (or the applicable
rate) and 1.5%. The base rate under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility equals the sum of (i) the weighted average of the interest rates on overnight
federal funds transactions or, if unavailable, the average of three federal funds quotations received by the Agent plus 0.75% and (ii) 0.5%. The effective rate at
December 31, 2015 was 6.00% compared to 5.50% at December 31, 2014.

Interest expense for the cash portion of interest paid during the period is recorded in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Accrued interest is
reflected as a component of the estimated fair value of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility debt. Total interest expense on the facility was $9.2 million,
which includes $6.7 million withheld from borrowings by the lender and $2.5 million paid by White Eagle, for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Total interest expense on the facility for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $8.0 million, which includes $5.8 million withheld from borrowings by the
lender and $2.2 million paid by White Eagle.

Maturity. The term of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility expires April 28, 2028, which is also the scheduled commitment termination date (though the
lenders’ commitments to fund borrowings may terminate earlier in an event of
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default). The lenders’ interests in and rights to a portion of the proceeds of the policies does not terminate with the repayment of the principal borrowed and
interest accrued thereon, the termination of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility or expiration of the lenders’ commitments.

Covenants/Events of Defaults. The White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility contains covenants and events of default that are customary for asset-based credit
agreements of this type, but also include cross defaults under the servicing, account control, contribution and pledge agreements entered into in connection with
the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility (including in relation to breaches by third parties thereunder), certain changes in law, changes in control of or
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company and relevant subsidiary companies and performance of certain obligations by certain relevant subsidiary companies,
White Eagle and third parties. The White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility does not contain any financial covenants, but does contain certain tests relating to asset
maintenance, performance and valuation, the satisfaction of which will be determined by the lenders with a high degree of discretion.

Remedies. The White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility and ancillary transaction documents afford the lenders a high degree of discretion in their selection
and implementation of remedies, including strict foreclosure, in relation to any event of default, including a high degree of discretion in determining whether to
foreclose upon and liquidate all or any pledged policies, the interests in White Eagle, and the manner of any such liquidation. White Eagle has limited ability to
cure events of default through the sale of policies or the procurement of replacement financing.

The Company elected to account for the debt under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, which includes the 50% interest in policy proceeds to the
lender, using the fair value method. The fair value of the debt is the amount the Company would have to pay to transfer the debt to a market participant in an
orderly transaction. The Company calculated the fair value of the debt using a discounted cash flow model taking into account the stated interest rate of the
credit facility and probabilistic cash flows from the pledged policies. Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair
value. Accordingly, the Company’s estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that the Company, or holders of the instruments, could realize in a
current market exchange. The most significant assumptions are the estimates of life expectancy of the insured and the discount rate. The use of different
assumptions and/or estimation methodologies could have a material effect on the estimated fair values.

At December 31, 2015, the fair value of the outstanding debt was $169.1 million and the borrowing base was approximately $172.4 million, including
$172.0 million in outstanding principal.

There are no scheduled repayments of principal prior to maturity. Payments are due upon receipt of death benefits and distributed pursuant to the waterfall
as described above.

NOTE 9—RED FALCON REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY

Effective July 16, 2015, Red Falcon Trust (“Red Falcon”), a Delaware statutory trust formed by Blue Heron Designated Activity Company (“Blue Heron”), a
wholly-owned Irish subsidiary of the Company, entered into a revolving loan and security agreement (together with its ancillary documents, the “Red Falcon
Revolving Credit Facility”) with LNV Corporation, as initial lender, the other lenders party thereto from time to time, Imperial Finance & Trading, LLC, as
guarantor, Blue Heron as portfolio administrator and CLMG Corp., as administrative agent (the “Agent”).

General & Security . The Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility provides for a revolving credit facility backed by Red Falcon’s portfolio of life insurance
policies with an initial aggregate lender commitment of up to $110.0 million, subject to borrowing base availability. As of December 31, 2015, 156 life insurance
policies owned by Red Falcon with an aggregate death benefit of approximately $603.9 million and an estimated fair value of approximately $118.6 million are
pledged as collateral under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility. In connection with the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility, the residual interests in Red
Falcon have also been pledged.

Borrowing Base & Availability . Revolving credit borrowings are permitted until July 16, 2020 with the loans under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility
maturing on July 15, 2022. Borrowing availability under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility is subject to a borrowing base, which at any time is equal to the
lesser of (A) the sum of all of the following amounts that have been funded or are to be funded through the next distribution date (i) the initial advance and all
additional advances in respect of newly pledged policies that are not for ongoing maintenance advances, plus (ii) 100% of the sum of the ongoing maintenance
costs, less (iii) any required amortization payments previously distributed and to be distributed through the next distribution date; (B) 60% of the valuation of the
policies pledged as collateral as determined by the lenders; (C) 45%
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of the aggregate face amount of the policies pledged as collateral; and (D) $110.0 million. At December 31, 2015, $54.6 million was undrawn and $1.7 million
was available to borrow under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility.

Amortization & Distributions. Proceeds from the policies pledged as collateral under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility are distributed pursuant to a
waterfall with, subject to yield maintenance provisions, 5% of policy proceeds directed to the lenders. Thereafter proceeds are directed to pay fees to service
providers and premiums with any remaining proceeds directed to pay outstanding interest and required amortization of 8% per annum on the greater of the then
outstanding balance of the loan or the initial advance. Generally, after payment of interest and required amortization, a percentage of the collections from policy
proceeds are to be paid to the lenders, which will vary depending on the then loan to value ratio (“LTV”) as follows: (1) if the LTV is equal to or greater than 50%,
all remaining proceeds will be directed to the lenders to repay the then outstanding principal balance; (2) if the LTV is less than 50% but greater than or equal to
25%, 65% of the remaining proceeds will be directed the lenders to repay the then outstanding principal balance; or (3) if the LTV is less than 25%, 35% of the
remaining proceeds will be directed to the lenders to repay the then outstanding principal balance, in each case, with remaining proceeds directed to Red Falcon.
To the extent there are not sufficient remaining proceeds in the waterfall to satisfy the amount of required interest and amortization then due, Red Falcon will pay
any such shortfall amount.

Initial Advance and Use of Proceeds.  Amounts advanced to Red Falcon following effectiveness of the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility were
approximately $54.0 million with certain of the proceeds used to pay transaction expenses and to purchase the policies pledged as collateral under the Red
Falcon Revolving Credit Facility from certain affiliates of the Company, who then made a distribution to the Company which was used to redeem the Company's
Secured Notes. Generally, ongoing advances may be made for paying premiums on the life insurance policies pledged as collateral, and to pay the fees of
service providers. Subsequent advances in respect of newly pledged policies are at the discretion of the lenders.

Interest. Borrowings under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility bear interest at a rate equal to LIBOR or, if LIBOR is unavailable, the base rate, in each
case plus an applicable margin of 4.50% and subject to a rate floor of 1.0%. The base rate under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility equals the sum of
(i) the weighted average of the interest rates on overnight federal funds transactions or, if unavailable, the average of three federal funds quotations received by
the Agent plus 0.75% and (ii) 0.5%. The effective interest rate at December 31, 2015 was 5.5%.

Interest expense for the cash portion of interest paid during the period is recorded in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Accrued interest is
reflected as a component of the estimated fair value of the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility. Interest expense on the facility was $4.9 million, which includes
$3.3 million relating to the debt issuance cost which was not capitalized as a result of electing the fair value option for valuing this debt, and $1.6 million relating to
interest payments paid by Red Falcon, for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Maturity. The term of the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility expires July 15, 2022.

Covenants/Events of Defaults. The Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility contains covenants and events of default, including those that are customary for
asset-based credit facilities of this type and including cross defaults under the servicing, portfolio management and sales agreements entered into in connection
with the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility, changes in control of or insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company and relevant subsidiary companies and
performance of certain obligations by certain relevant subsidiary companies, Red Falcon and third parties. The Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility does not
contain any financial covenants, but does contain certain tests relating to asset maintenance, performance and valuation with determinations as to the
satisfaction of such tests involving determinations made by the lenders with a high degree of discretion.

The Company elected to account for the debt under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility using the fair value method. The fair value of the debt is the
amount the Company would have to pay to transfer the debt to a market participant in an orderly transaction. The Company calculated the fair value of the debt
using a discounted cash flow model taking into account the stated interest rate of the credit facility and probabilistic cash flows from the pledged policies.
Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the Company’s estimates are not necessarily
indicative of the amounts that the Company, or holders of the instruments, could realize in a current market exchange. The most significant assumptions are the
estimates of life expectancy of the insured and the discount rate. The use of different assumptions and/or estimation methodologies could have a material effect
on the estimated fair values.

At December 31, 2015, the fair value of the outstanding debt was $55.7 million and the borrowing base was approximately $57.1 million, including $55.4
million in outstanding principal.
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NOTE 10—8.5% SENIOR UNSECURED CONVERTIBLE NOTES

In February 2014, the Company issued $70.7 million in an aggregate principal amount of 8.50% senior unsecured convertible notes due 2019. The
Convertible Notes were sold, in part, to certain accredited investors pursuant to Regulation D under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act")
and, in part, to an initial purchaser who then resold such Convertible Notes to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A of the Securities Act. The
Convertible Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture dated February 21, 2014, between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee. Two
members of our Board of Directors, Messrs. Dakos and Goldstein, are affiliated with Bulldog Investors, LLC, who purchased Convertible Notes in the aggregate
principal amount of $9.2 million in the offering.

The Convertible Notes are general senior unsecured obligations and rank equally in right of payment with all of our other existing and future senior
unsecured indebtedness. The Convertible Notes are effectively subordinate to all of our secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the assets
collateralizing such indebtedness. The Convertible Notes are not guaranteed by our subsidiaries.

The maturity date of the Convertible Notes is February 15, 2019. The Convertible Notes accrue interest at the rate of 8.50% per annum on the principal
amount of the Notes, payable semi-annually in arrears on August 15 and February 15 of each year.

The Convertible Notes are convertible into shares of common stock at any time prior to the close of business on the second scheduled trading day
immediately preceding the maturity date. Initially, the Convertible Notes were convertible into shares of common stock at a conversion rate of 147.9290 shares of
common stock per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Notes (equivalent to a conversion price of $6.76 per share of common stock). In the second quarter of
2015, the conversion rate was adjusted to 151.7912 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Notes (equivalent to a conversion price
of $6.59 per share of common stock) in connection with an anti-dilution adjustment triggered by a rights offering that resulted in the issuance of 6,688,433 shares
of the Company’s stock.

The Company may not redeem the Convertible Notes prior to February 15, 2017. On and after February 15, 2017, and prior to the maturity date, the
Company may redeem for cash all, but not less than all, of the Convertible Notes if the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock equals or
exceeds 130% of the applicable conversion price for at least 20 trading days during the 30 consecutive trading day period ending on the trading day immediately
prior to the date the Company delivers notice of the redemption. The redemption price will be equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Convertible Notes,
plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date. In addition, if the Company calls the Convertible Notes for redemption, a make-
whole fundamental charge will be deemed to occur. As a result, the Company will, in certain circumstances, increase the conversion rate by a number of
additional shares of common stock for holders who convert their notes prior to the redemption date.

Holders of the Convertible Notes will have the right to require the Company to repurchase the Convertible Notes upon the occurrence of a fundamental
change at 100% of their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. A fundamental change under the Convertible Notes is deemed to occur
whenever any of the following occurs: (a) the Company's common stock ceases to be listed or quoted on a national securities exchange in the United States,
(b) the Company's shareholders approve any plans for liquidation or dissolution, or (c) the Company experiences a change in control represented by: (i) a
majority of the members of its board of directors no longer being considered continuing directors, (ii) a transaction whereby its shareholders own less than 50% of
the surviving company after the transaction, or (iii) a person or group obtaining more than 50% of the voting power of the common stock.

The Company determined that an embedded conversion option existed in the Convertible Notes, prior to June 5, 2014, that was required to be separately
accounted for as a derivative under ASC 815 which required the Company to bifurcate the embedded conversion option and record it as a liability at fair value and
record a debt discount by an equal amount with changes in the fair value of the conversion derivative liability recorded in earnings and the discount on the debt
liability, together with the stated interest on the instrument, amortized to interest expense over the life of the debt using the effective interest method.

On June 5, 2014, the Company obtained shareholder approval to issue shares of common stock upon conversion of the Convertible Notes in an amount
that exceeded applicable New York Stock Exchange limits for issuances without shareholder approval. In accordance with ASC 815, the Company reclassified
the embedded conversion derivative liability to equity along with unamortized transaction costs proportionate to the allocation of the initial debt discount and the
principal amount of the Convertible Notes. The Convertible Notes are recorded at accreted value and will continue to be accreted up to the par value of the
Convertible Notes at maturity.
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The fair value of the conversion derivative liability was estimated at June 5, 2014 using a Black Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions:

 As of June 5, 2014

Expected Volatility 40.0%
Expected Term in Years 4.7
Risk Free Rate 1.5%

At June 5, 2014, the fair value of the conversion derivative liability was $23.7 million. In accordance with ASC 815, the Company reclassified this amount
along with $756,000 of unamortized transaction costs offset by deferred taxes of $8.8 million to stockholders’ equity. As of December 31, 2015, the carrying value
of the Notes was $58.6 million. The unamortized debt discount and origination cost of $12.1 million and $1.8 million, respectively, will be amortized over the
remaining life of the Convertible Notes, using the effective interest method.

The Company recorded $9.1 million of interest expense on the Convertible Notes, including $6.0 million, $2.7 million and $404,000 from interest, amortizing
debt discounts and issuance costs, respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2015.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recorded $7.5 million of interest expense on the Convertible Notes, including 5.2 million, $2.0 million
and $332,000 from interest, amortizing debt discounts and issuance costs, respectively.

During year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recorded a loss on the change in fair value of the conversion derivative liability of $6.8 million.

NOTE 11—12.875% SECURED NOTES

On November 10, 2014, the Company, as issuer, entered into an indenture with certain of its subsidiary companies, Harbordale, LLC, Imperial Finance &
Trading, LLC, Imperial Life and Annuity Services, LLC, Imperial Litigation Funding, LLC, Imperial Premium Finance, LLC, Red Reef Alternative Investments, LLC
and Washington Square Financial, LLC, as guarantors (the “Guarantors”), and Wilmington Trust Company, as indenture trustee. The indenture provided for the
issuance of up to $100.0 million in senior secured notes (the “Secured Notes), of which $25.0 million were issued by the Company on the Initial Closing Date.
The Secured Notes issued on the Initial Closing Date were issued at 96% of their face amount and were purchased under a note purchase agreement (the “Note
Purchase Agreement”) with the Company and the Guarantors by an affiliate of Indaba Capital Management, L.P. (the “Purchaser”) in a private transaction
pursuant to exemptions from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. On January 21, 2015, the Company issued an additional $25.0 million in
aggregate principal amount of Secured Notes, which were purchased by the Purchaser under the Note Purchase Agreement at 96% of their principal amount.
Fees and expenses paid by the Company in connection with the initial and subsequent issuances were approximately $1.8 million and $305,000, respectively.

Interest on issued Secured Notes accrued at 12.875% per annum and all Secured Notes issued under the indenture were scheduled to mature on
November 10, 2017.

The Secured Notes were guaranteed by the Guarantors and were secured by substantially all of the Company’s and Guarantors’ assets, other than those
securing the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, including cash on account as well as the Company’s life insurance policies that were not pledged as collateral
under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility. The Secured Notes were also secured by pledges of the equity interests of the Guarantors and by pledges of
65% of their first tier foreign subsidiary companies.

On July 16, 2015, the Company redeemed all of the outstanding Secured Notes and discharged the Secured Note indenture. The Secured Notes were
redeemed at 106% of their principal amount plus interest up to but excluding November 10, 2015. Effective as of the redemption of the Secured Notes, 159 of
the life insurance policies that served as collateral for the Secured Notes were sold to Red Falcon in an internal transfer and pledged as collateral under the Red
Falcon Revolving Credit Facility. Approximately $8.8 million was expensed as extinguishment related to the early repayment of the facility, in July 2015. This
includes $5.2 million, $171,000, $1.7 million and $1.7 million related to interest and prepayment penalties, unused fees, write off of debt discount and write off of
issuance costs, respectively.
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The Company recorded $4.0 million of interest expense on the Secured Notes, including $3.2 million, $265,000, $264,000 and $277,000 from interest,
unused fees, amortizing debt discounts and issuance costs, during the year ended December 31, 2015, respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recorded $694,000 of interest expense on the Secured Notes, including $592,000, $36,000 and
$66,000 from interest, amortizing debt discounts and issuance costs, respectively.

NOTE 12—FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Company carries life settlements and debt under the Revolving Credit Facilities at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets. Fair value is defined
as an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. As such, fair value is a market based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. Fair value measurements are classified based on the following fair value hierarchy:

Level 1—Valuation is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities that are accessible at the reporting date.
Since valuations are based on quoted prices that are readily and regularly available in an active market, valuation of these products does not entail a significant
degree of judgment.

Level 2—Valuation is determined from pricing inputs that are other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable
as of the reporting date. Observable inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or
liabilities in markets that are not active, and interest rates and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals.

Level 3—Valuation is based on inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable. Level 3 inputs include situations
where there is little, if any, market activity for the financial instrument. The inputs into the determination of fair value generally require significant
management judgement or estimation.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The balances of the Company’s assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2015, are as follows (in thousands):

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total Fair Value

Assets:        
Investment in life settlements $ —  $ —  $ 461,925  $ 461,925

 $ —  $ —  $ 461,925  $ 461,925

The balances of the Company’s liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2015, are as follows (in thousands):

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total Fair Value

Liabilities:        
White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility $ —  $ —  $ 169,131  $ 169,131
Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility —  —  $ 55,658  55,658

 $ —  $ —  $ 224,789  $ 224,789

The balances of the Company’s assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2014, are as follows (in thousands):
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 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total Fair Value

Assets:        
Investment in life settlements $ —  $ —  $ 388,886  $ 388,886
Structured settlement receivables —  —  384  384

 $ —  $ —  $ 389,270  $ 389,270

The balances of the Company’s liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2014, are as follows (in thousands):

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total Fair Value

Liabilities:        
White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility $ —  $ —  $ 145,831  $ 145,381

 $ —  $ —  $ 145,831  $ 145,381

The Company categorizes its investment in life settlement portfolio in two classes, non-premium financed and premium financed. In considering the
categories, it is generally believed that market participants would require a lower risk premium for policies that were non-premium financed, while a higher risk
premium would be required for policies that were premium financed although the Company believes that this risk premium has been declining.

($ in thousands) Quantitative Information about Level 3 Fair Value Measurements

 Fair Value at 12/31/15  
Aggregate death

benefit 12/31/2015  Valuation Technique (s)  Unobservable Input  
Range (Weighted

Average)

Non-premium financed $ 97,133  $ 339,183  Discounted cash flow  Discount rate  15.00% - 21.00%

       
Life expectancy

evaluation  6.4 years

Premium financed $ 364,792  $ 2,640,169  Discounted cash flow  Discount rate  16.00% - 24.50%

       
Life expectancy

evaluation  10.3 years

Life settlements $ 461,925  $ 2,979,352  Discounted cash flow  Discount rate  (17.02)%

       
Life expectancy

evaluation  9.9 years

       Discount rate  20.55%

White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility
$ 169,131  N/A  Discounted cash flow  

Life expectancy
evaluation  9.8 years

       Discount rate  11.65%

Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility
$ 55,658  N/A  Discounted cash flow  

Life expectancy
evaluation  9.3 years

Following is a description of the methodologies used to estimate the fair values of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and within
the fair value hierarchy.

Life settlements—The Company has elected to account for the life settlement policies it acquires using the fair value method. The Company uses a present
value technique to estimate the fair value of its life settlements, which is a Level 3 fair value measurement as the significant inputs are unobservable and require
significant management judgment or estimation. The Company currently uses a probabilistic method of valuing life insurance policies, which the Company
believes to be the preferred valuation method in the industry. The most significant assumptions are the estimates of life expectancy of the insured and the
discount rate.

The Company provides medical records for each insured to independent life expectancy providers (each, an “LE provider”). Each LE provider reviews and
analyzes the medical records and identifies all medical conditions it feels are relevant to the life expectancy determination of the insured. Debits and credits are
assigned by each LE provider to the individual’s health based on identified medical conditions. The debit or credit that an LE provider assigns to a medical
condition is derived from the experience of mortality attributed to this condition in the portfolio of lives that the LE provider

F-27

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



Table of Contents

monitors. The health of the insured is summarized by the LE provider into a life assessment of the individual’s life expectancy expressed both in terms of months
and in mortality factor. The mortality factor represents the degree to which the given life can be considered more or less impaired than a life having similar
characteristics (e.g. gender, age, smoking, etc.). For example, a standard insured (the average life for the given mortality table) would carry a mortality rating of
100%. A similar but impaired life bearing a mortality rating of 200% would be considered to have twice the chance of dying earlier than the standard life relative
to the LE provider’s population. Since each provider’s mortality factor is based on its own mortality table, the Company calculates its own factors to apply to the
table selected by the Company.

Since the quarter ended September 30, 2012, the Company has used a modified version of the 2008 Valuation Basic Table (“2008 VBT”), a mortality table
developed by the U.S. Society of Actuaries (the “SOA”). The mortality table is created based on the expected rates of death among groups categorized by
gender, age, and smoking status. Since the Company uses the 2008 VBT, the Company calculates its own mortality factor that, when applied to the 2008 VBT,
produces the same life expectancy provided by each LE provider. The resulting mortality factors are then blended to determine a factor for each insured.

To generate the best estimated probabilistic cash flow stream, a mortality curve is generated by calculating the probability of mortality for each period based
on the calculated mortality factors and the death rates from the 2008 VBT. The Company modifies the table by incorporating future mortality improvements to
better reflect the curves used by the LE providers.

A discounted present value calculation is then used to determine the value of the policy. If the insured dies earlier than expected, the return will be higher
than if the insured dies when expected or later than expected.

The calculation allows for the possibility that if the insured dies earlier than expected, the premiums needed to keep the policy in force will not have to be
paid. Conversely, the calculation also considers the possibility that if the insured lives longer than expected, more premium payments will be necessary. Based
on these considerations, each possible outcome is assigned a probability and the range of possible outcomes is then used to create a value for the policy.

During the third quarter of 2015, the SOA released tables for an updated Valuation Basic Table (the “2015 VBT”). The Company is continuing to monitor the
market reaction to the 2015 VBT. Additionally, the Company will continue to monitor its mortality experience to determine whether future adoption of the 2015
VBT would be an appropriate change to the Company’s valuation technique. The 2015 VBT would suggest a reduced probabilistic cash flow stream for us over
the next several years.

Future changes in the life expectancies could have a material effect on the fair value of the Company’s life settlements, which could have a material
adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations.

Life expectancy sensitivity analysis

If all of the insured lives in the Company’s life settlement portfolio live six months shorter or longer than the life expectancies provided by these third
parties, the change in estimated fair value would be as follows (dollars in thousands):

Life Expectancy Months Adjustment Value  Change in Value

+6 $ 388,776  $ (73,149)
- $ 461,925  —
-6 $ 540,821  $ 78,896

Discount rate

The discount rate incorporates current information about market interest rates, the credit exposure to the insurance company that issued the life insurance
policy and our estimate of the risk premium an investor in the policy would require.

The Company re-evaluates its discount rates at the end of every reporting period in order to reflect the estimated discount rates that could reasonably be
used in a market transaction involving the Company’s portfolio of life insurance policies. In doing so, the Company relies on management insight, engages third
party consultants to corroborate its assessment, engages in discussions with other market participants and extrapolates the discount rate underlying actual sales
of policies.

Due to the Company’s association with the USAO Investigation and certain civil litigation involving the Company, the Company believes that, when given
the choice to invest in a policy that was associated with the Company’s premium finance business and a similar policy without such an association, all else being
equal, an investor would have generally opted to invest
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in the policy that was not associated with the Company’s premium finance business. However, since the Company entered into a non-prosecution agreement,
investors have required less of a risk premium to transact in policies associated with the Company’s legacy premium finance business. In general, the Company
believes that the risk premium an investor would require to transact in a policy that has been premium financed versus a policy without premium financing is
lessening in the current market environment and further expects that, with the passage of time, investors will continue to require less of a risk premium to transact
in policies associated with its legacy premium finance business.

Credit exposure of insurance company

The Company considers the financial standing of the issuer of each life insurance policy. Typically, we seek to hold policies issued by insurance companies
that are rated investment grade by the top three credit rating agencies. At December 2015, the Company had 18 life insurance policies issued by 2 carriers that
were rated non-investment grade as of that date. In order to compensate a market participant for the perceived credit and challenge risks associated with these
policies, the Company applied an additional 300 basis point risk premium.

The following table provides information about the life insurance issuer concentrations that exceed 10% of total death benefit and 10% of total fair value of
our life settlements as of December 31, 2015:

Carrier
Percentage of Total Fair

Value  
Percentage of Total

Death Benefit  Moody’s Rating  S&P Rating

Lincoln National Life Insurance Company 22.5%  19.7%  A1  AA-
Transamerica Life Insurance Company 20.2%  20.6%  A1  AA-

Estimated risk premium

As of December 31, 2015, the Company owned 632 policies with an aggregate investment in life settlements of $461.9 million. Of these 632 policies, 544
were premium financed and are valued using discount rates that range from 16.00% to 24.50%. The remaining 88 policies, which are non-premium financed, are
valued using discount rates that range from 15.00% to 21.00%. As of December 31, 2015, the weighted average discount rate calculated based on death benefit
used in valuing the policies in our life settlement portfolio was 17.02%.

The discount rate incorporates current information about market interest rates, the credit exposure to the insurance company that issued the life insurance
policy and our estimate of the risk premium an investor in the policy would require. The extent to which the fair value could vary in the near term has been
quantified by evaluating the effect of changes in the weighted average discount rate on the death benefit used to estimate the fair value. If the weighted average
discount rate was increased or decreased by 1/2 of 1% and the other assumptions used to estimate fair value remained the same, the change in estimated fair
value would be as follows (dollars in thousands):

Market interest rate sensitivity analysis

Weighted Average Rate Calculated Based on Death Benefit Rate Adjustment  Value  Change in Value

16.52% -0.50 %  $ 473,585  $ (11,660)
17.02% —  $ 461,925  $ —
17.52% 0.50 %  $ 450,751  $ (11,174)

Future changes in the discount rates we use to value life insurance policies could have a material effect on our yield on life settlement transactions, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of our operations.

At the end of each reporting period we re-value the life insurance policies using our valuation model in order to update our estimate of fair value for
investments in policies held on our balance sheet. This includes reviewing our assumptions for discount rates and life expectancies as well as incorporating
current information for premium payments and the passage of time.

White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility debt —In connection with the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, 437 policies are pledged by White Eagle to serve
as collateral for its obligations under the facility. Absent an event of default under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, ongoing borrowings will be used to
pay the premiums on these policies and certain
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approved third party expenses. As more fully described in Note 8, the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility proceeds from the policies pledged as collateral will
be distributed pursuant to a waterfall with 50% of the proceeds remaining following the Excess LTV Payments and/or preference amount, as the case may be,
being directed to the lenders with the remainder paid to White Eagle. We have elected to account for this long-term debt, which includes the lender’s interest in
policy proceeds, using the fair value method. The fair value of the debt is the amount the Company would have to pay to transfer the debt to a market participant
in an orderly transaction. We calculated the fair value of the debt using a discounted cash flow model taking into account the stated interest rate of the White
Eagle Revolving Credit Facility and probabilistic cash flows from the pledged policies. Accordingly, our estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts
that we, or holders of the instruments, could realize in a current market exchange. The most significant assumptions are the estimates of life expectancy of the
insured and the discount rate. The use of different assumptions and/or estimation methodologies could have a material effect on the estimated fair values.

Life expectancy sensitivity analysis of the policies securing the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility

A considerable portion of the fair value of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility is determined by the timing of receipt of future policy proceeds. Should
life expectancies lengthen such that policy proceeds are collected further into the future, the fair value of this debt will decline. Conversely, should life
expectancies shorten, the fair value of this debt will increase. Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair value.

If all of the insured lives in the life settlement portfolio pledged under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility live six months shorter or longer than the life
expectancies used to calculate the estimated fair value of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility debt, the change in estimated fair value would be as follows
(dollars in thousands):

Life Expectancy Months Adjustment

Fair Value of White
Eagle Revolving Credit

Facility  Change in Value

+6 $ 141,010  $ (28,121)
- $ 169,131  —
-6 $ 198,707  $ 29,576

Future changes in the life expectancies could have a material effect on the fair value of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, which could have a
material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations.

Discount rate of the White Eagle  Revolving Credit Facility

The discount rate incorporates current information about market interest rates, credit exposure to insurance companies and the Company’s estimate of the
return a lender lending against the policies would require.

Market interest rate sensitivity analysis of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility

The extent to which the fair value of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility could vary in the near term has been quantified by evaluating the effect of
changes in the weighted average discount. If the weighted average discount rate were increased or decreased by 1/2 of 1% and the other assumptions used to
estimate fair value remained the same, the change in estimated fair value of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31, 2015 would be as
follows (dollars in thousands):

Discount Rate Rate Adjustment  

Fair Value of White
Eagle Revolving Credit

Facility  Change in Value

20.05% -0.50 %  $ 172,840  $ 3,709
20.55% —  $ 169,131  $ —
21.05% 0.50 %  $ 165,557  $ (3,574)

Future changes in the discount rates could have a material effect on the fair value of the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility, which could have a material
and adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of its operations.
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At December 31, 2015, the fair value of the debt was $169.1 million and the outstanding principal was approximately $172.0 million.

Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility—156 policies are pledged by Red Falcon to serve as collateral for its obligations under the Red Falcon Revolving
Credit Facility. Proceeds from the policies pledged as collateral under the Red Falcon Credit Facility are distributed pursuant to a waterfall with, subject to yield
maintenance provisions, 5% of policy proceeds directed to the lenders. Thereafter proceeds are directed to pay fees to service providers and premiums with any
remaining proceeds directed to pay outstanding interest and required amortization of 8% per annum on the loan. Generally, after payment of interest and required
amortization, a percentage of the collections from policy proceeds are to be paid to the lenders to repay the then outstanding principal balance, which will vary
depending on the then loan to value ratio as more fully described in Note 9,“Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility.” The Company has elected to account for this
long-term debt using the fair value method. The fair value of the debt is the amount the Company would have to pay to transfer the debt to a market participant in
an orderly transaction. The Company calculated the fair value of the debt using a discounted cash flow model taking into account the stated interest rate of the
Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility and probabilistic cash flows from the pledged policies. Accordingly, the Company’s estimates are not necessarily indicative
of the amounts that the Company, or holders of the instruments, could realize in a current market exchange. The most significant assumptions are the estimates
of life expectancy of the insured and the discount rate. The use of different assumptions and/or estimation methodologies could have a material effect on the
estimated fair values.

Life expectancy sensitivity analysis of the policies securing the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility

A considerable portion of the fair value of the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility is determined by the timing of receipt of future policy proceeds. Should
life expectancies lengthen such that policy proceeds are collected further into the future, the fair value of this debt will decline. Conversely, should life
expectancies shorten; the fair value of this debt will increase. Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair value.

If all of the insured lives in the life settlement portfolio pledged under the Red Falcon Credit Facility live six months shorter or longer than the life
expectancies used to calculate the estimated fair value of the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility, the change in estimated fair value would be as follows
(dollars in thousands):

Life Expectancy Months Adjustment

Fair Value of Red
Falcon

Revolving Credit
Facility  Change in Value

+6 $ 53,559  $ (2,099)
 $ 55,658  —
-6 $ 57,273  $ 1,615

Future changes in the life expectancies could have a material effect on the fair value of the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility, which could have a
material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations.

Discount rate of the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility

The discount rate incorporates current information about market interest rates, credit exposure to insurance companies and the Company’s estimate of the
return a lender lending against the policies would require.
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Market interest rate sensitivity analysis of the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility

The extent to which the fair value of the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility could vary in the near term has been quantified by evaluating the effect of
changes in the weighted average discount. If the weighted average discount rate were increased or decreased by 1/2 of 1% and the other assumptions used to
estimate fair value remained the same, the change in estimated fair value of the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31, 2015 would be as
follows (dollars in thousands):

Discount Rate Rate Adjustment  

Fair Value of Red
Falcon

Revolving Credit
Facility  Change in Value

11.15% -0.50 %  $ 56,489  $ 831
11.65% —  $ 55,658  $ —
12.15% +0.50 %  $ 54,848  $ (810)

Future changes in the discount rates could have a material effect on the fair value of the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility, which could have a material
adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of its operations.

At December 31, 2015, the fair value of the debt was $55.7 million and the outstanding principal was approximately $55.4 million.

Convertible Notes- The Company determined that an embedded conversion option in the Convertible Notes was required to be separately accounted for as
a derivative under Accounting Standards Codification 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”). ASC 815 required the Company to bifurcate the embedded
conversion option and record it as a liability at fair value and reduce the debt liability by a corresponding discount of an equivalent amount. The Company used a
Black Scholes pricing model that incorporates present valuation techniques and reflect both the time value and the intrinsic value of the embedded conversion
option to approximate the fair value of the conversion derivative liability at the end of each reporting period. This model required assumptions as to expected
volatility, dividends, terms, and risk free rates.

In accordance with ASC 815, upon receipt of shareholder approval on June 5, 2014, the Company reclassified the embedded derivative to stockholders’
equity along with unamortized transaction costs proportionate to the allocation of the initial debt discount and the principal amount of the Convertible Notes. The
Convertible Notes continue to be recorded at accreted value up to the par value of the Convertible Notes at maturity. See Note 10, “8.50% Senior Unsecured
Convertible Notes.” Although we believe our valuation method is appropriate, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value could
result in different fair values.

Changes in Fair Value

The following tables provide a roll-forward in the changes in fair value for the year ended December 31, 2015, for all assets and liabilities for which the
Company determines fair value using a material level of unobservable (Level 3) inputs (in thousands):

Life Settlements:  
Balance, January 1, 2015 $ 388,886
Purchase of policies 30,695
Change in fair value 46,717
Matured/lapsed/sold polices (69,296)
Premiums paid 64,923
Transfers into level 3 —
Transfers out of level 3 —
Balance, December 31, 2015 $ 461,925

Changes in fair value included in earnings for the period relating to assets held at December 31, 2015 $ (1,442)
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The following table provides a roll-forward in the changes in fair value for the year ended December 31, 2015, for the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility
for which the Company determines fair value using a material level of unobservable (Level 3) inputs (in thousands):

White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility:  
Balance, January 1, 2015 $ 145,831
Draws under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility 54,614
Payments on White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility (43,241)
Unrealized change in fair value 11,927
Transfers into level 3 —
Transfer out of level 3 —
Balance, December 31, 2015 $ 169,131
Changes in fair value included in earnings for the period relating to liabilities at December 31, 2015 $ 11,927

The following table provides a roll-forward in the changes in fair value for the year ended December 31, 2015, for the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility for
which the Company determines fair value using a material level of unobservable (Level 3) inputs (in thousands):

Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility:  
Balance, January 1, 2015 $ —
Initial advance under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility 54,000
Subsequent draws under the Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility 5,766
Payments on Red Falcon Revolving Credit Facility (4,378)
Unrealized change in fair value 270
Transfers into level 3 —
Transfer out of level 3 —
Balance, December 31, 2015 $ 55,658

Changes in fair value included in earnings for the period relating to liabilities held at December 31, 2015 $ 270

The following tables provide a roll-forward in the changes in fair value for the year ended December 31, 2014, for all assets and liabilities for which the
Company determines fair value using a material level of unobservable (Level 3) inputs (in thousands):

Life Settlements:  
Balance, January 1, 2014 $ 302,961
Purchase of policies 16,296
Change in fair value 44,128
Matured/lapsed/sold polices (29,957)
Premiums paid 55,458
Transfers into level 3 —
Transfers out of level 3 —
Balance, December 31, 2014 $ 388,886

Changes in fair value included in earnings for the period relating to assets held at December 31, 2014 $ 22,597

The following tables provide a roll-forward in the changes in fair value for the year ended December 31, 2014, for the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility
liabilities for which the Company determines fair value using a material level of unobservable (Level 3) inputs (in thousands):
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White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility:  
Balance, January 1, 2014 $ 123,847
Draws under the White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility 57,233
Payments on White Eagle Revolving Credit Facility (29,777)
Unrealized change in fair value (5,472)
Transfers into level 3 —
Transfer out of level 3 —
Balance, December 31, 2014 $ 145,831
Changes in fair value included in earnings for the period relating to liabilities at December 31, 2014 $ (5,472)

There were no transfers of financial assets between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.

Other Fair Value Considerations -  Carrying value of certificate of deposits, prepaid expenses and other assets, receivable for maturity of life settlements,
investment in affiliates, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to their short-term maturities and/or low credit risk.

NOTE 13—SEGMENT INFORMATION

On October 25, 2013, the Company sold its structured settlement business, which was previously reported as an operating segment. The operating results
related to the Company’s structured settlement business have been included in discontinued operations in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of
Operations for all periods presented and the Company has discontinued segment reporting.

NOTE 14—COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Lease Agreements

The Company leases office space under a lease that commenced on October 1, 2014. The lease expires on September 30, 2020. The annual base rent is
$231,900, with a provision for a 3% increase on each anniversary of the rent commencement date. Rent expense was approximately $423,000, $513,000 and
$438,000 for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Future minimum payments under operating leases for each of the five succeeding years subsequent to December 31, 2015 are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,  
2016 $ 234
2017 241
2018 248
2019 255
2020 196

 $ 1,174

Employment Agreements

The Company has entered into employment agreements with certain of its officers, including with its chief executive officer, whose agreement provides for
substantial payments in the event that the executive terminates his employment with the Company due to a material change in the geographic location where the
chief executive officer performs his duties or upon a material diminution of his base salary or responsibilities, with or without cause. These payments are equal to
three times the sum of the chief executive officer’s base salary and the average of the preceding three years’ annual cash bonus.
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The Company does not have any general policies regarding the use of employment agreements, but has and may, from time to time, enter into such a
written agreement to reflect the terms and conditions of employment of a particular named executive officer, whether at the time of hire or thereafter.

Separation Agreement

On April 26, 2012, the Company entered into a Separation Agreement and General Release of Claims (the “Separation Agreement”) with its former chief
operating officer, Jonathan Neuman. The Separation Agreement obligates the Company to
indemnify Mr. Neuman for his legal expenses, including expenses incurred as part of the USAO Investigation. The Company recognized indemnification
expenses of $8.5 million, $2.1 million and $2.8 million during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. On December 31, 2015, the
Company received a letter from the USAO indicating that the USAO had concluded the USAO Investigation. Accordingly, the Company does not expect to incur
advancement or indemnification expenses related to the USAO Investigation that are incurred after December 31, 2015.

Litigation

In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, the Company establishes an accrued liability for litigation and regulatory matters when those matters
present loss contingencies that are both probable and estimable. In such cases, there may be an exposure to loss in excess of any amounts accrued. When a
loss contingency is not both probable and estimable, the Company does not establish an accrued liability. As a litigation or regulatory matter develops, the
Company, in conjunction with any outside counsel handling the matter, evaluates on an ongoing basis whether such matter presents a loss contingency that is
probable and estimable. If, at the time of evaluation, the loss contingency related to a litigation or regulatory matter is not both probable and estimable, the matter
will continue to be monitored for further developments that would make such loss contingency both probable and estimable. When a loss contingency related to a
litigation or regulatory matter is deemed to be both probable and estimable, the Company will establish an accrued liability with respect to such loss contingency
and record a corresponding amount of litigation-related expense. The Company will then continue to monitor the matter for further developments that could affect
the amount of any such accrued liability.

Non-Prosecution Agreement & Indemnification Obligations

On September 27, 2011, the Company was informed that it was being investigated by the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District of New Hampshire in
connection with the Company’s now legacy premium finance loan business. On April 30, 2012, the Company entered into a Non-Prosecution Agreement (the
“Non-Prosecution Agreement”) with the USAO, which agreed not to prosecute the Company for its involvement in the making of misrepresentations on life
insurance applications in connection with its premium finance business or any potential securities fraud claims related to its now legacy premium finance
business.

The Non-Prosecution Agreement had a term of three years and expired in accordance with its terms on April 30, 2015. On December 31, 2015, the
Company received a letter from the USAO indicating that the USAO Investigation has formally concluded, that the Company fully complied with all of its
obligations under the Non-Prosecution Agreement and that the Company was released from any further obligations under the Non-Prosecution Agreement. While
the Non-Prosecution Agreement effectively resolved the USAO Investigation as it pertains to the Company, the Company had continuing cooperation obligations
to the USAO and, since entering the Non-Prosecution Agreement, the USAO had also been continuing to investigate certain individuals and entities formerly
associated with the Company’s legacy premium finance business. Settlements of certain civil litigation with the Company’s director and officer liability insurance
carriers related to the USAO Investigation and other contractual obligations require the Company to advance legal fees to and indemnify these individuals and
entities. On December 31, 2015, the USAO filed civil forfeiture complaints with respect to compensation received by three former employees of the Company in
the United States District Court for the District of New Hampshire. In each case, the former employees resolved the civil forfeiture actions without admitting any of
the allegations in the complaints. In connection with the foregoing, the Company made a $6.5 million payment pursuant to the Company’s indemnification
obligations on December 31, 2015.

USAO litigation-related fees (inclusive of indemnification and advancement expenses) of $17.0 million, $5.0 million and $4.5 million were recognized for the
years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The Company does not expect to indemnify any further amounts in connection with the USAO
Investigation.
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SEC Investigation

On February 17, 2012, the Company received an initial subpoena issued by the staff of the SEC seeking documents from 2007 through the date of the
subpoena, generally related to the Company’s premium finance business and corresponding financial reporting. The SEC is investigating whether any violations
of federal securities laws have occurred and the Company has been cooperating with the SEC regarding this matter. The Company is unable to predict what
action, if any, might be taken in the future by the SEC or its staff as a result of the investigation or what impact, if any, the cost of responding to the SEC might
have on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. The Company has not established any provision for losses in respect of this
matter.

Sun Life

On April 18, 2013, Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada (“Sun Life”) filed a complaint against the Company and several of its affiliates in the United
States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, entitled Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada v. Imperial Holdings, Inc., et al . (“Sun Life Case”),
asserting, among other things, that at least 28 life insurance policies issued by Sun Life and owned by the Company through certain of its subsidiary companies
were invalid. The Sun Life complaint, as amended, asserted the following claims: (1) violations of the federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations
(“RICO”) Act, (2) conspiracy to violate the RICO Act, (3) common law fraud, (4) aiding and abetting fraud, (5) civil conspiracy to commit fraud, (6) tortious
interference with contractual obligations, and (7) a declaration that the policies issued were void. Following the filing of a motion by the Company to dismiss the
Sun Life Case, on December 9, 2014, counts (2), (4), (5), (6) and (7) of the Sun Life Case were dismissed with prejudice. The Company then filed a motion for
summary judgment on the remaining counts. On February 4, 2015, the Court issued an order (the “Order”) granting the Company’s motion for summary
judgment on counts (1) and (3), resulting in the Company prevailing on all counts in the Sun Life Case.

On July 29, 2013, the Company filed a separate complaint against Sun Life in United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, entitled
Imperial Premium Finance, LLC v. Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada  (“Imperial Case”), which was subsequently consolidated with the Sun Life Case.
The Imperial complaint asserts claims against Sun Life for breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and fraud, and seeks a
judgment declaring that Sun Life is obligated to comply with the promises made by it in certain insurance policies. The complaint also seeks compensatory
damages of no less than $30.0 million in addition to an award of punitive damages. On August 23, 2013, Sun Life moved to dismiss the complaint, which was
denied by the Court as part of the Order. On February 26, 2015, Sun Life filed a Notice of Appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit
from the Order, which had denied Sun Life’s motion to dismiss. On December 17, 2015, after the matter was fully briefed, the Circuit Court issued an order
granting the Company’s motion to dismiss and sent the case back to the District Court. The District Court lifted the stay and ordered Sun Life to file its Answer to
the Imperial Case by January 22, 2016. On February 3, 2016, the District Court set a trial date of the Imperial Case for October 31, 2016.

The District Court has stayed the Imperial Case until Sun Life’s appeal is resolved by the Eleventh Circuit, which has been fully briefed by the parties.

IRS Investigation

The Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) Criminal Investigation Division notified the Company in February 2014 that it is conducting an investigation related to
the Company and its legacy structured settlements business. The Company believes that it has been cooperating with the investigation and is unable, at this
time, to predict what action, if any, might be taken in the future by the IRS. If the investigation results in a determination by the IRS that the Company has failed to
comply with any of its obligations under the Internal Revenue Code or regulations thereunder, the Company could incur additional tax liability, restitution payment
obligations, penalties, fines or other liabilities, including criminal penalties and fines and a reduction in the Company’s net operating losses, that could have a
material adverse effect on the Company, its personnel, its financial condition, cash flows and its results of operations. The Company has not established any
provision for losses related to this matter.
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Class Action Litigation

On January 20, 2015, a purported shareholder of the Company filed a putative class action complaint against the Company, and the individual members of
the Board of Directors, in the Circuit Court of the 15th Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, entitled Harry Rothenberg v. Imperial Holdings, Inc., et al.
(the “State Court Complaint”). The Rothenberg State Court Complaint alleged breaches of fiduciary duties of due care and sought to invalidate a by-law
amendment adopted by the Board of Directors on October 30, 2014, which requires current and former shareholders who wish to file a class or derivative action
against the Company, its directors or its officers to first obtain written consent from shareholders beneficially owning at least 3% of the outstanding shares of the
Company. On March 2, 2015, the Company filed a motion to dismiss and motion to strike certain allegations in the State Court Complaint.

On April 20, 2015, Mr. Rothenberg filed a Verified Shareholder Class Action and Derivative Complaint (the “Federal Court Complaint”) in the United States
District Court for the Southern District of Florida, which named the same defendants and asserted similar claims as in the State Court Complaint. The Federal
Court Complaint also alleged violations of Sections 14(a) and 20(a) of the 1934 Securities Act, and asserted derivative claims for breach of fiduciary duty, among
other claims, based on the previously disclosed IRS Investigation and allegations regarding the Company’s prior structured settlement business made in a case
styled Michael Lafontant v. Washington Square Financial, LLC, et al.  (“Lafontant Complaint”), which was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of New York. The Company moved to dismiss the Lafontant Complaint based on contractual arbitration provisions and on February 2, 2016 the District
Court stayed the case pending the outcome of arbitration. On April 21, 2015, Mr. Rothenberg voluntarily dismissed the State Court Complaint, without prejudice.
On June 9, 2015, Mr. Rothenberg filed an Amended Complaint. On June 29, 2015, the Company filed a motion to dismiss the Amended Complaint for lack of
subject matter jurisdiction due to lack of injury in fact and ripeness and failure to state a claim pursuant to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

On September 10, 2015, the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida issued an order (the “Order”) granting Plaintiff’s Unopposed
Motion for Approval of Dismissal of Shareholder’s Derivative Claims and Class Action Claims. As contemplated in the Order, the Federal Court Complaint was
dismissed with prejudice, and the case was closed on October 14, 2015.

Other Litigation

A complaint was filed against the Company’s subsidiary, styled Kenneth Jennings v. Washington Square Financial, LLC d/b/a Imperial Structured
Settlements (“Washington Square”), and is currently pending in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois. The plaintiff seeks, in a
purported class action, to represent all individuals who sold all or a part of a structured settlement annuity to Washington Square under the Illinois Structured
Settlement Protections Act (the “Illinois Act”), where the underlying annuity contract contained an anti-assignment clause, and where a court issued an order
under the Illinois Act approving the transaction. The complaint seeks, among other things, a declaration that all such transactions are void and compensatory and
punitive damages. The Company has not established any provision for losses in respect of this matter.

The Company is party to various other legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. Due to the inherent difficulty of predicting the
outcome of litigation and other legal proceedings, the Company cannot predict the eventual outcome of these matters, and it is reasonably possible that some of
them could be resolved unfavorably to the Company. As a result, it is possible that the Company’s results of operations or cash flows in a particular fiscal period
could be materially affected by an unfavorable resolution of pending litigation or contingencies. However, the Company believes that the resolution of these other
proceedings will not, based on information currently available, have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

NOTE 15—STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

During the second quarter of 2015, the Company commenced a rights offering and distributed one non-transferable subscription right for every four shares
of common stock owned by its shareholders of record at the close of business on May 26, 2015. Each right entitled its holder to subscribe for one share of
common stock at a price of $5.75 per share. Additionally, the Company allocated an additional 1,337,686 shares to honor over-subscription requests. The rights
offering was over-subscribed and the Company issued 6,688,433 shares of common stock.

The Company has reserved an aggregate of 2,700,000 shares of common stock under its Omnibus Plan, of which 774,394 options to purchase shares of
common stock granted to existing employees were outstanding as of December 31, 2015, and 103,112 shares of restricted stock had been granted to directors
under the plan with 41,259 shares subject to vesting.
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During 2014, upon receipt of shareholder approval, the Company reclassified the embedded derivative contained in its Convertible Notes to stockholders’
equity along with unamortized transaction costs proportionate to the allocation of the initial debt discount and the principal amount of the Convertible Notes. This
resulted in an increase to additional paid-in-capital of $14.1 million, net of taxes on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement of
stockholders’ equity as of December 31, 2014. See Note 10, 8.50% Senior Unsecured Convertible Notes ."

In connection with the settlement of derivative litigation, the Company issued 125,628 shares of the Company’s stock, which were issued in the first quarter
of 2014 and are included in stockholders’ equity.

In connection with the settlement of class litigation filing in connection with the USAO Investigation, the Company issued warrants to purchase two million
shares of the Company’s stock into an escrow account in April 2014 and were distributed in October 2014. The estimated fair value at the measurement date of
such warrants was $5.4 million, which is included in stockholder’s equity. The warrants have a five-year term from the date of their distribution with an exercise
price of $10.75. The Company is obligated to file a registration statement to register the shares underlying the warrants with the SEC if shares of the Company’s
common stock have an average daily trading closing price of at least $8.50 per share for a 45 day period. The warrants will be exercisable upon effectiveness of
the registration statement.

During 2014, the Company awarded 323,500 target performance shares for restricted common stock to its directors and certain employees, of which
150,000 shares were subject to shareholder approval of the Omnibus Plan, which was obtained at the Company’s 2015 annual meeting on May 28, 2015. During
2015, 4,000 of these shares were forfeited, with 319,500 remaining. The issuance of the performance shares is contingent on the Company’s financial
performance as well as the performance of the Company’s common stock through June 30, 2016, with the actual shares to be issued ranging between 0% –
150% of the target performance shares. As a result, the Company determined that it is not probable that the performance conditions will be achieved and no
related expense was recognized for the year ended December 31, 2015. If issued, the performance shares will be subject to a one year vesting period from the
date of issuance.

Exclusive of the 319,500 target performance shares awarded to its directors, named executive officers and certain employees, there were 1,808,735
securities remaining for future issuance under the Omnibus Plan as of December 31, 2015.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company adopted ASU No. 2013-11, resulting in an increase to additional paid-in-capital of $6.3 million on
the Company’s consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity as of December 31, 2014. See Note 18, "Income Taxes."

On September 1, 2015, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized a $10.0 million share and note repurchase program. The program
has a two-year expiration date, and authorizes the Company to repurchase up to $10.0 million of its common stock and/or its Convertible Notes due 2019. For
the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company purchased 608,000 shares for a total cost of approximately $2.5 million, which is an average cost of $4.17 per
share including transaction fees. As of December 31, 2015, the Company may purchase up to approximately $7.5 million of additional common stock or
Convertible Notes under its board authorized plan.

NOTE 16—EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

The Company has adopted a 401(k) plan that covers employees that have reached 18 years of age and completed three months of service. The plan
provides for voluntary employee contributions through salary deductions, as well as discretionary employer contributions. For the years ended December 31,
2015, 2014 and 2013, there were no employer contributions made.

NOTE 17—SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following tables set forth our unaudited consolidated financial data regarding continuing operations for each quarter of fiscal 2015 and 2014 (in
thousands). This information, in the opinion of management, includes all adjustments necessary, consisting only of normal and recurring adjustments, to state
fairly the information set forth therein. Certain amounts previously reported have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation. These reclassifications
had no net impact on the results of operations (in thousands).
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 Fiscal 2015  

 1st Quarter  2nd Quarter  3rd Quarter  4th Quarter  
Total income 12,980  28,034  2,769  3,108  
(Loss)/income from continuing operations before
taxes (6,102)  644  (18,212)  (15,429)  
Net (loss)/income from continuing operations (4,165) 966  (13,491)  (13,690)  
(Loss)/income per share from continuing
operations:         

Basic $ (0.19)  $ 0.04  $ (0.48)  $ (0.49) (1)
Diluted $ (0.19)  $ 0.04  $ (0.48)  $ (0.49) (1)

 Fiscal 2014  

 1st Quarter  2nd Quarter  3rd Quarter  4th Quarter  
Total income 13,602  8,996  (3,617)  24,835  
(Loss)/income from continuing operations before
income taxes 658  (10,474)  (6,499)  11,289  
Net (loss)/income from continuing operations (3,318) (2) (6,281)  (4,264)  8,712  
(Loss)/income per share from continuing
operations:         

Basic $ (0.16)  $ (0.29)  $ (0.20)  $ 0.41  
Diluted $ (0.16)  $ (0.29)  $ (0.20)  $ 0.32 (1)

(1) The sum of the basic and diluted earnings per share amounts for each quarter in fiscal year 2015 and the diluted for 2014 do not equal the amount presented
in the statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 due to the Company having a net loss for the years ended
December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 and therefore all common stock equivalents were antidilutive.

(2) The Company recorded an income tax expense of $3.7 million, in the first quarter of 2014 upon the adoption of ASU 2013-11.

NOTE 18—INCOME TAXES

The provision (benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations consisted of (in thousands):

 December 31, 2015  December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013

Continuing operations $ (8,719)  $ 125  $ 39
Discontinued operations —  (232)  —
Provision (benefit) for income taxes $ (8,719)  $ (107)  $ 39

Current      
Federal $ 10  $ —  $ —
State —  —  —

 $ 10  $ —  $ —
Deferred      

Federal (9,375)  5,214  17,182
State (3,869)  (2,522)  2,857

 (13,244)  2,692  20,039
Valuation allowance increase (decrease) 4,515  (2,567)  (20,000)

 $ (8,729)  $ 125  $ 39

      

Provision (benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations $ (8,719)  $ 125  $ 39
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U.S. and foreign components of income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes were as follows (in thousands):

 December 31, 2015  December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013

U.S. $ (51,749)  $ (10,824)  $ 51,862
Foreign 12,650  5,798  —

 $ (39,099)  $ (5,026)  $ 51,862

The Company’s actual provision (benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations differ from the Federal expected income tax provision as follows (in
thousands):

 2015  2014  2013

 Amount  Rate  Amount  Rate  Amount  Rate

Tax provision (benefit) at statutory rate $ (13,685)  35.00 %  $ (1,759)  35.00 %  $ 18,152  35.00 %
Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:            

State tax (net of federal benefit) (1,617)  4.14  (364)  7.24  1,857  3.58
Impact of rate changes 23  (0.06)  (1,851)  36.84  —  —
Litigation settlement 2,275  (5.82)  — — — —
Other permanent items 18  (0.05)  371  (7.40)  30.00  0.06
Adoption of ASU 2013-11 —  —  6,295  (125.26)  —  —
Valuation allowance (decrease) increase 4,267  (10.91)  (2,567)  51.08  (20,000)  (38.56)

Provision (benefit) for income taxes $ (8,719)  22.30 %  $ 125  (2.50)%  $ 39  0.08 %

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and tax liabilities were (in thousands):

 December 31, 2015  December 31, 2014

Deferred tax assets:    
Federal and State net operating loss carryforward $ 31,588  $ 28,864
Litigation reserves —  328
Revolving credit facility 8,973  1,735
Deferred gain 13,423  2,367
Other 1,960  1,592
Total gross deferred tax assets 55,944  34,886
Less valuation allowance (4,515)  —
Total deferred tax assets 51,429  34,886

Deferred tax liabilities:    
Unrealized gains on life and structured settlements 29,473  32,568
Gain on structured settlements deferred for tax purposes 4,607  4,443
Convertible debt discount 4,681  5,733

     Deferred income 12,668 870
Total deferred tax liabilities 51,429  43,614
Total net deferred tax asset (liability) $ —  $ (8,728)

The Company evaluates its deferred tax assets to determine if valuation allowances are required. In its evaluation, management considers taxable loss
carryback availability, expectations of sufficient future taxable income, trends in earnings, existence of taxable income in recent years, the future reversal of
temporary differences, and available tax planning strategies that could be implemented, if required. Valuation allowances are established based on the
consideration of all available evidence using a more likely than not standard. Based on the Company’s evaluation, a deferred tax valuation allowance was
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established against its net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2015. This valuation allowance was determined to be necessary as an offset to the full
amount of the federal and state deferred tax asset.

The Company recorded a deferred tax asset for the increase in tax basis associated with the transfer of assets to subsidiaries located in Ireland. The net
deferred asset with respect to these transactions is $13.4 million and $2.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively
that will serve as a tax benefit upon reversal as life settlements mature or are sold.

Generally, the amount of tax expense or benefit allocated to continuing operations is determined without regard to the tax effects of other categories of
income or loss, such as other comprehensive income. However, an exception to the general rule is provided when, in the presence of a valuation allowance
against deferred tax assets, there is a pretax loss from continuing operations and pretax income from other categories. In such instances, income from other
categories must offset the current loss from operations, the tax benefit of such offset being reflected in continuing operations. For the year ended December 31,
2013 we increased our deferred tax valuation allowance from continuing operations by $56,000 to reflect the taxable income associated with unrealized gains in
accumulated other comprehensive income.

The Federal and state net operating loss carryovers (“NOLs”) generated by the Company since its conversion to a corporation are approximately $88.0
million that expire beginning in 2031.

Prior to the Company’s initial public offering in 2011, one of the founding members entered into a reorganization that allowed the Company to assume the
corporate shareholder’s tax attributes. These tax attributes include approximately $11.2 million of NOLs. The utilization of the acquired NOLs is subject to an
annual limitation under Section 382 based on the value of the Company at the time they were acquired. These NOLs begin to expire in 2028.

Tax years prior to 2012 are no longer subject to IRS examination. Various state jurisdiction tax years remain open to examination.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in tax expense.

A reconciliation of the total amounts of unrecognized benefits at the beginning and end of the period was as follows (in thousands):

 December 31, 2015  December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013

Balance as of beginning of period $ 6,295  $ 6,295  $ 6,295
Additions based on tax positions taken in the current year —  —  —
Reductions of tax positions for prior years —  —  —

Balance as of end of period $ 6,295  $ 6,295  $ 6,295

The unrecognized benefit is reflected as a reduction of the deferred tax asset related to the Federal and State net operating loss carryforward. The
recognition of the unrecognized tax benefits would result in a $6.3 million decrease in the Company’s effective tax rate.

NOTE 19—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On March 11, 2016 (the “Initial Closing Date”), Emergent, as issuer, entered into an indenture with Wilmington Trust Company, as indenture trustee. The
indenture provides for the issuance of up to $30.0 million in senior secured notes (the “New Notes”), of which approximately $21.2 million was issued by
Emergent on the Initial Closing Date. The New Notes issued on the Initial Closing Date were purchased in a private transaction exempt from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended under note purchase agreements with certain accredited investors and non U.S. persons, including
certain members of Emergent's board of directors, management and their affiliates who purchased approximately $3.3 million of the New Notes issued on the
Initial Closing Date.

Interest on issued New Notes accrues at 15.0% per annum payable quarterly and all New Notes issued under the indenture will mature on September
14, 2018 (the “Maturity Date”). The New Notes may be optionally redeemed in full by Emergent at any time and must be redeemed in full upon additional
issuances of debt by Emergent Capital, Inc., in each case, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount redeemed plus (i) accrued and unpaid interest on the
New Notes redeemed up to
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the date of redemption, and (ii) the present value of all remaining interest payments through the Maturity Date using a discount rate equal to the yield to maturity
at the time of computation on the US treasury security with a constant maturity most nearly equal to the period from the redemption date to the Maturity Date plus
50 basis points. Upon a change of control, Emergent will be required to make an offer to holders of the New Notes to repurchase the New Notes at a price equal
to 107.5% of their principal amount.

The New Notes contain negative covenants restricting additional debt incurred by Emergent Capital, Inc., creation of liens on the collateral securing the
New Notes, and restrictions on dividends and stock repurchases. The New Notes may be used for general corporate purposes and are secured by settlement
proceeds, if any, received from certain litigation involving Emergent, certain notes issued to Emergent and pledges of 65% of the equity interests in Blue Heron
Designated Activity Company, OLIPP IV, LLC and Red Reef Alternative Investments, LLC.

F-42

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



Table of Contents

EXHIBIT INDEX

In reviewing the agreements included as exhibits to this report, please remember they are included to provide you with information regarding their terms and
are not intended to provide any other factual or disclosure information about the Company, its subsidiaries or other parties to the agreements. The Agreements
contain representations and warranties by each of the parties to the applicable agreement. These representations and warranties have been made solely for the
benefit of the other parties to the applicable agreement and:

• should not in all instances be treated as categorical statements of fact, but rather as a way of allocating the risk to one of the parties if those statements
prove to be inaccurate;

• have been qualified by disclosures that were made to the other party in connection with the negotiation of the applicable agreement, which disclosures are
not necessarily reflected in the agreement;

• may apply standards of materiality in a way that is different from what may be viewed as material to you or other investors; and

• were made only as of the date of the applicable agreement or such other date or dates as may be specified in the agreement and are subject to more
recent developments.

Accordingly, these representations and warranties may not describe the actual state of affairs as of the date they were made or at any other time. The
Company acknowledges that, notwithstanding the inclusion of the foregoing cautionary statements, it is responsible for considering whether additional specific
disclosures of material information regarding material contractual provisions are required to make the statements in this report not misleading. Additional
information about the Company may be found elsewhere in this report and the Company’s other public files, which are available without charge through the
SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov.

Exhibit
Number  Exhibit Description  Form  Exhibit  Filing Date  Filed Herewith

2.1
 

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 25, 2013, between Majestic Opco
L.L.C. and the Registrant.  

8-K
 

2.1
 

10/28/13
  

3.1  Articles of Incorporation of Registrant.  S-1/A  3.1  10/01/10   
3.2  Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of Registrant  8-K  3.1  09/01/15   
3.3  Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant.  8-K  3.2  09/01/15   
4.1  Form of Common Stock Certificate.  S-1/A  4.1  11/10/10   
4.2  Form of Warrant to purchase common stock  S-1/A  4.2  01/12/11   
4.3  Warrant Agreement related to Class Action Settlement        *
4.4

 
Indenture, dated as of February 21, 2014, by and among the Registrant and U.S.
Bank, National Association, as indenture trustee.  

8-K
 

4.4
 

02/19/14
  

4.5
 

Indenture, dated as of March 11, 2016, by and among the Registrant and Wilmington
Trust, National Association, as indenture trustee.        

*

10.1†
 

Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Antony Mitchell dated
November 8, 2010.  

S-1/A
 

10.1
 

11/10/10
  

10.2†
 

Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Richard O’Connell dated
December 31, 2013 and effective January 1, 2014.  

8-K
 

10.1
 

12/30/13
  

10.3†
 

Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Miriam Martinez dated
December 31, 2013 and effective January 1, 2014.  

8-K
 

10.2
 

12/30/13
  

10.4†
 

Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Michael Altschuler dated
December 31, 2013 and effective January 1, 2014.  

8-K
 

10.3
 

12/30/13
  

10.5†
 

Employment Agreement between the Registrant and David Sasso dated December
31, 2013 and effective January 1, 2014.  

10-Q
 

10.1
 

11/09/15
  

10.6
 

Separation Agreement and General Release of Claims between the Registrant and
Jonathan Neuman, dated April 26, 2012.  

8-K
 

10.2
 

04/30/12
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10.7†  Amended & Restated Imperial Holdings 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan.  Def 14A  A  04/08/15   
10.8†  2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan Form of Stock Option Award Agreement.  10-Q  10.7  08/13/13   
10.9†  2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan Form Performance Share Award Agreement.  8-K  10.1  06/09/14   
10.10

 

Master Trust Indenture dated as of September 24, 2010 by and among Imperial
Settlements Financing 2010, LLC as the Issuer, Portfolio Financial Servicing
Company as the Initial Master Servicer, and Wilmington Trust Company as the
Trustee and Collateral Trustee.  

S-1/A

 

10.15

 

11/10/10

  
10.11

 

Series 2010-1 Supplement dated as of September 24, 2010 to the Master Trust
Indenture dated as of September 24, 2010 by and among Imperial Settlements
Financing 2010, LLC as the Issuer, Portfolio Financial Servicing Company as the
Initial Servicer, and Wilmington Trust Company as the Trustee and Collateral
Trustee.  

S-1/A

 

10.16

 

11/10/10

  
10.12

 
Non-Prosecution Agreement between the Registrant and the United States
Attorney’s Office for the District of New Hampshire, dated April 30, 2012.  

8-K
 

10.1
 

04/30/12
  

10.12††

 

Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated May 16, 2014, among
White Eagle Asset Portfolio, L.P., as borrower, Imperial Finance & Trading, LLC, as
initial servicer, initial portfolio manager and guarantor, Lamington Road Bermuda
Ltd., as portfolio manager, LNV Corporation, as initial lender, and CLMG Corp, as the
administrative agent.  

10-Q

 

10.1

 

07/30/14

  
10.13

 

First Amendment, dated November 15, 2015, to Amended and Restated Loan and
Security Agreement, dated May 16, 2014, among White Eagle Asset Portfolio, L.P.,
as borrower, Imperial Finance & Trading, LLC, as initial servicer, initial portfolio
manager and guarantor, Lamington Road Bermuda Ltd., as portfolio manager, LNV
Corporation, as initial lender, and CLMG Corp, as the administrative agent.  

8-K

 

10.1

 

11/10/15

  
10.14††

 

Master Termination Agreement and Release, effective as of April 30, 2013, by and
among Lexington Insurance Company, Imperial Holding, Inc., Imperial PFC
Financing, LLC, Imperial PFC Financing II, LLC, Imperial Life Financing II, LLC,
Imperial Life & Annuity Services, LLC, Imperial Premium Finance, LLC and CTL
Holdings, LLC.  

10-Q

 

10.5

 

08/13/13

  
10.15††

 

Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of July 16, 2015, among Red Falcon Trust,
as borrower, Imperial Finance & Trading, LLC, as guarantor, Blue Heron Designated
Activity Company, as portfolio administrator, LNV Corporation, as initial lender, the
other lenders party thereto from time to time and CLMG Corp, as the administrative
agent

 

10-Q/A

 

10.1

 

12/15/15

  
10.16  Form of Purchase Agreement to purchase 15.0% Senior Secured Notes due 2018.        *
21.1  Subsidiaries of the Registrant.        *
23.1  Consent of Grant Thornton LLP.        *
31.1

 
Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.        

*

31.2
 

Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.        

*

32.1
 

Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.        

*

32.2
 

Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.        

*

101  Interactive Data Files.        *
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101.INS  XBRL Instance Document        *
101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document        *
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document        *
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document        *
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document 10.1 & 10.2        *
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document        *
†† Certain portions of the exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a confidential treatment order. An unredacted copy of the exhibit has been filed separately with

the United States Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the request for confidential treatment.
* Filed herewith.
† Management compensatory arrangement.
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WARRANT AGREEMENT

Dated as of

April 10, 2014

Between

IMPERIAL HOLDINGS, INC.

And

AMERICAN STOCK TRANSFER & TRUST COMPANY, LLC,

as Warrant Agent

____________________

Warrants for

Common Stock of

Imperial Holdings, Inc.

____________________
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WARRANT AGREEMENT

WARRANT AGREEMENT dated as of April 10, 2014 (this “Agreement”), between IMPERIAL HOLDINGS, INC., a Florida
corporation (the “Company”), and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, as Warrant Agent (the “Warrant Agent”).

The Company desires to issue the warrants (the “Warrants”) described herein. The Warrants will initially entitle the holders
thereof (the “Holders”) to purchase up to an aggregate of 2,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.01 per
share (the “Common Stock”) (the shares of Common Stock issuable on exercise of the Warrants being referred to herein as the
“Warrant Shares”). The Warrants are being issued in connection with the settlement of certain litigation previously pending against the
Company and other defendants in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida and the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit
Court of the State of Florida, in accordance with the Securities Class Action Settlement Agreement, dated as of July 29, 2013, between
the Company and the participants in such settlement (the “Settlement Agreement”) and pursuant to Section 3(a)(10) of the Securities
Act.

The Company desires the Warrant Agent to act on behalf of the Company in connection with the issuance of the Warrants as
provided herein and the Warrant Agent is willing to so act.

Each party agrees as follows for the benefit of the other party and for the equal and ratable benefit of the Holders of Warrants:

Article I  

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1.    Definitions

“Affiliate” of any Person means (i) any other Person which, directly or indirectly, is in control of, is controlled by or is under
common control with such Person, or (ii) any other Person who is a director or executive officer (A) of such Person, (B) of any
subsidiary of such person, or (C) of any Person described in clause (i) above. For purposes hereof, (a) “control” of a Person means the
power, direct or indirect, to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person whether by contract or
otherwise and (b) beneficial ownership of securities representing 10% or more of the voting power of all outstanding securities of a
Person shall be deemed to represent control of such Person; and the terms “controlling” and “controlled” have meanings correlative to
the foregoing.

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company or any committee thereof duly authorized to act on behalf of such Board
of Directors.

“Business Day” means each day that is not a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banking institutions are not required to be
open in the State of New York.

“Common Stock” means the common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company.
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“Current Market Value” per share of Common Stock at any date means the average of the daily Closing Prices for each
Business Day during the period commencing 45 Business Days before such date and ending on the date one Business Day prior to
such date. The Closing Price for each day (the “Closing Price”) shall be the last reported sales price or, in case no such reported sale
takes place on such date, the average of the reported closing bid and asked prices, in either case on The New York Stock Exchange
(the “NYSE”) or The Nasdaq National Market (the “NNM”), as applicable, or, if the Common Stock is not listed or admitted to trading on
the NYSE or the NNM, the principal national securities exchange or quotation system on which the Common Stock is quoted or listed
or admitted to trading or, if not quoted or listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange or quotation system, the
closing sales price or, in case no reported sale takes place, the average of the closing bid and asked prices, as furnished by any two
members of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. selected from time to time by the Company for that purpose. If no such
prices are available, the Current Market Price per share shall be the fair value of a share of Common Stock as reasonably determined
in good faith by the Board (which shall be evidenced by an Officers’ Certificate delivered to the Warrant Agent).

“Exchange Act” means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“Exercise Date” means, for a given Warrant, the day on which such Warrant is exercised pursuant to Section 3.4.

“Issue Date” means the date on which the Warrants are initially issued.

“Officer” means, with respect to any Person, the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, the Chief
Operating Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, any Vice President, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the Controller, or the
Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of such Person.

“Officers’ Certificate” means a certificate signed by two Officers.

“Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion from legal counsel who is reasonably acceptable to the Warrant Agent. Such
counsel may be an employee of or counsel to the Company or the Warrant Agent.

“Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, association, joint-stock
company, trust, unincorporated organization, government or any agency or political subdivision thereof or any other entity.

“SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Securities Act” means the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

“Warrant Certificates” mean the Warrants issued by the Company under this Agreement representing the Warrants.
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Section 1.2.    Other Definitions

Term Defined in Section
“Agreement” Recitals
“Agent Members” 2.01(b)
“Certificate Register” 2.03
“Common Stock” Recitals
“Company” Recitals
“Exercise Price” 3.01
“Expiration Date” 3.02(b)
“Holders” Recitals
“Reorganization” 4.04
“Shelf Registration Statement” 5.01
“Stock Transfer Agent” 3.05
“Warrant” Recitals
“Warrant Shares” Recitals
“Warrant Agent” Recitals

Section 1.3.    Rules of Construction Unless the text otherwise requires:

(i)    a defined term has the meaning assigned to it herein;

(ii)    an accounting term not otherwise defined has the meaning assigned to it in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles as in effect from time to time;

(iii)    “or” is not exclusive,

(iv)    “including” means including, without limitation; and

(v)    words in the singular include the plural and words in the plural include the singular.

ARTICLE II     

WARRANT CERTIFICATES

Section 2.1.    Form The Warrants shall be issued initially in definitive, fully registered form on the books of the Warrant Agent
(each, a Warrant), duly executed by the Company and countersigned by the Warrant Agent as hereinafter provided.
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Section 2.2.    Execution and Countersignature Two Officers shall sign the Warrant Certificates for the Company by manual or
facsimile signature.

If an Officer whose signature is on a Warrant Certificate no longer holds that office at the time the Warrant Agent countersigns
the Warrant Certificate, the Warrants evidenced by such Warrant Certificate shall be valid nevertheless.

The Warrant Agent shall initially countersign and deliver Warrant Certificates entitling the Holders thereof to purchase in the
aggregate not more than the total number of Warrant Shares purchasable for the total number of Warrants upon a written order of the
Company signed by two Officers of the Company.

The Warrant Agent may appoint an agent reasonably acceptable to the Company to countersign the Warrant Certificates.
Unless limited by the terms of such appointment, such agent may countersign Warrant Certificates whenever the Warrant Agent may
do so. Each reference in this Agreement to countersignature by the Warrant Agent includes countersignature by such agent. Such
agent will have the same rights as the Warrant Agent for service of notices and demands.

At any time and from time to time after the execution of this Agreement, the Warrant Agent or an agent reasonably acceptable
to the Company shall upon receipt of a written order of the Company signed by two Officers of the Company register on the Certificate
Register (as defined in Section 2.3) or issue a Warrant Certificate evidencing the number of Warrants specified in such order;
provided, however, that the Warrant Agent shall be entitled to receive an Officers’ Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel of the
Company that it may reasonably request in connection with such registration or countersignature of Warrants. Such order shall specify
the number of Warrants to be registered on the Certificate Register or evidenced on the Warrant Certificate to be countersigned, the
date on which such Warrant Certificate is to be registered or countersigned and the number of Warrants then authorized.

The Warrants (whether or not evidenced by a Warrant Certificate) shall not be valid until registered on the Certificate Register.

Section 2.3.    Certificate Register The Warrant Agent shall keep a register (the “Certificate Register”) of the Warrants (and
Warrant Certificates, if applicable) and of their transfer and exchange. The Certificate Register shall show the names and addresses of
the respective Holders and the date and number of Warrants owned by such Holders (as evidenced on the face of each of the Warrant
Certificates, if applicable). The Company and the Warrant Agent may deem and treat the Person in whose name a Warrant is
registered as the absolute owner of such Warrant for all purposes whatsoever and neither the Company nor the Warrant Agent shall
be affected by notice to the contrary.

Section 2.4.    Transfer and Exchange.

(a)    Transfer and Exchange of Warrants. The Warrant Agent shall register the transfer, from time to time, of any Warrant
upon the Certificate Register, upon surrender of such Warrant for transfer, properly endorsed with signatures properly guaranteed and
accompanied by
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the appropriate instructions for transfer. Upon any such transfer, a new Warrant(s) representing an equal aggregate number of
Warrants shall be issued and the transferred certificate shall be cancelled.

(b)    Obligations with Respect to Transfers and Exchanges of Warrants.

(i)    To permit registrations of transfers and exchanges, the Company shall execute and the Warrant Agent shall
register Warrants as required pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.2 and this Section 2.4.

(ii)    Any service charge for any registration of transfer or exchange, or any transfer tax, assessments, or similar
governmental charge payable in connection therewith, shall be paid by the Holder.

(iii)    Prior to the due presentation for registration of transfer of any Warrant, the Company and the Warrant Agent
may deem and treat the Person in whose name a Warrant is registered as the absolute owner of such Warrant, and neither the
Company nor the Warrant Agent shall be affected by notice to the contrary.

(iv)    All Warrants issued upon any transfer or exchange pursuant to the terms of this Agreement shall be the valid
obligations of the Company, entitled to the same benefits under this Agreement as the Warrants surrendered upon such transfer or
exchange.

(c)    No Obligation of the Warrant Agent. All notices and communications to be given to the Holders and all
payments to be made to Holders under the Warrants shall be given or made only to or upon the order of the registered Holders. The
Warrant Agent shall have no obligation or duty to monitor, determine or inquire as to compliance with any restrictions on transfer
imposed under this Agreement or under applicable law with respect to any transfer of any interest in any Warrant other than to require
delivery of such certificates and other documentation or evidence as are expressly required by, and to do so if and when expressly
required by, the terms of this Agreement, and to examine the same to determine substantial compliance as to form with the express
requirements hereof.

Section 2.5.    Replacement Certificates If a mutilated Warrant Certificate is surrendered to the Warrant Agent or if the Holder of
a Warrant Certificate claims that the Warrant Certificate has been lost, destroyed or wrongfully taken, the Company shall issue and the
Warrant Agent shall countersign a replacement Warrant Certificate if the reasonable requirements of the Warrant Agent and of Section
678.4051 of the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State of Florida are met. If required by the Warrant Agent or the
Company, such Holder shall furnish an indemnity bond sufficient in the judgment of the Company and the Warrant Agent to protect
the Company and the Warrant Agent from any loss which either of them may suffer if a Warrant Certificate is replaced. The Company
and the Warrant Agent may charge the Holder for their expenses in replacing a Warrant Certificate. Every replacement Warrant
Certificate evidences an additional obligation of the Company.

Section 2.6.    Outstanding Warrants Warrants outstanding at any time are all Warrants evidenced on all Warrant Certificates
authenticated by the Warrant Agent except for those canceled
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by it and those delivered to it for cancellation. A Warrant does not cease to be outstanding because an Affiliate of the Company holds
the Warrant. A Warrant ceases to be outstanding if the Company holds the Warrant.

If a Warrant Certificate is replaced pursuant to Section 2.5, the Warrants evidenced thereby cease to be outstanding unless the
Warrant Agent and the Company receive proof satisfactory to them that the replaced Warrant Certificate is held by a bona fide
purchaser.

Section 2.7.    Cancellation In the event the Company shall purchase or otherwise acquire Warrants, the same shall thereupon
be delivered to the Warrant Agent for cancellation. The Warrant Agent and no one else shall cancel all Warrant Certificates
surrendered for transfer, exchange, replacement, exercise or cancellation unless the Company directs the Warrant Agent to deliver
canceled Warrant Certificates to the Company. The Company may not issue new Warrant Certificates to replace Warrant Certificates
to the extent they evidence Warrants which have been exercised or Warrants which the Company has purchased or otherwise
acquired.

Section 2.8.    CUSIP Numbers The Company in issuing the Warrants may use “CUSIP” numbers (if then generally in use) and,
if so, the Warrant Agent may use “CUSIP” numbers in notices as a convenience to Holders; provided, however, that any such notice
may state that no representation is made as to the correctness of such numbers either as printed on the Warrant Certificates or as
contained in any notice and that reliance may be placed only on the other identification numbers printed on the Warrant Certificates.

ARTICLE III     

EXERCISE TERMS

Section 3.1.    Exercise Each Warrant shall initially entitle the Holder thereof, subject to adjustment pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement, to purchase one share of Common Stock for each Warrant evidenced thereby, at an exercise price (the “Exercise Price”)
of $10.75 per share.

Section 3.2.    Exercise Periods

(a)    Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Warrants shall be exercisable at any time and from time to
time on any Business Day after the Shelf Registration Statement is declared effective by the SEC; provided, however, that holders of
Warrants will be able to exercise their Warrants only if (i) the Shelf Registration Statement relating to the Warrant Shares is effective
and (ii) the Warrant Shares are qualified for sale or exempt from qualification under the applicable securities laws of the states or other
jurisdictions in which such holders reside.

(b)    No Warrant shall be exercisable after the fifth anniversary of the date on which they are distributed to members of
the class (the “Expiration Date”).

Section 3.3.    Expiration A Warrant shall terminate and become void as of the earlier of (i) the close of business on the
Expiration Date or (ii) the date such Warrant is exercised.
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Section 3.4.    Manner of Exercise To be included only if Warrants are in global form. Warrants may be exercised upon (i)
surrender to the Warrant Agent at the office of the Warrant Agent of the related Warrant Certificate, together with the form of election
attached thereto to purchase Common Stock on the reverse thereof duly filled in and signed by the Holder thereof, and (ii) payment to
the Warrant Agent, for the account of the Company, of the Exercise Price for each Warrant Share issuable upon the exercise of such
Warrants then exercised. Such payments shall be made in cash or by certified or official bank check payable to the order of the
Company or by wire transfer of funds to an account designated by the Company for such purpose. Subject to Section 3.2, the rights
represented by the Warrants shall be exercisable at the election of the Holders thereof either in full at any time or from time to time in
part and in the event that a Warrant Certificate is surrendered for exercise of less than all the Warrants represented by such Warrant
Certificate at any time prior to the Expiration Date, a new Warrant Certificate representing the remaining Warrants shall be issued. The
Warrant Agent shall countersign and deliver the required new Warrant Certificates, and the Company, at the Warrant Agent’s request,
shall supply the Warrant Agent with Warrant Certificates duly signed on behalf of the Company for such purpose.

Section 3.5.    Issuance of Warrant Shares Upon the surrender of Warrant Certificates and payment of the per share Exercise
Price, as set forth in Section 3.4, the Company shall issue and cause the Warrant Agent or, if appointed, a transfer agent for the
Common Stock (“Stock Transfer Agent”) to countersign and deliver to or upon the written order of the Holder and in such name or
names as the Holder may designate, a certificate or certificates for the number of shares of Common Stock constituting full Warrant
Shares so purchased upon the exercise of such Warrants or other securities to which it is entitled, registered or otherwise, to the
Person or Persons entitled to receive the same (including any depositary institution so designated by a Holder), together with cash as
provided in Section 3.6 in respect of any fractional Warrant Shares otherwise issuable upon such exercise. Such certificate or
certificates shall be deemed to have been issued, and any Person so designated to be named therein shall be deemed to have
become a holder of record of such Warrant Shares as of the date of the surrender of such Warrant Certificates and payment of the per
share Exercise Price, as aforesaid; provided, however, that if, at such date, the transfer books for the Warrant Shares shall be closed,
the certificates for the Warrant Shares in respect of which such Warrants are then exercised shall be issuable as of the date on which
such books shall next be opened and until such date the Company shall be under no duty to deliver any certificates for such Warrant
Shares; provided further, however, that such transfer books, unless otherwise required by law, shall not be closed at any one time for
a period longer than 20 calendar days.

Section 3.6.    Fractional Warrant Shares The Company shall not be required to issue fractional Warrant Shares on the exercise
of Warrants. If more than one Warrant shall be exercised in full at the same time by the same Holder, the number of full Warrant
Shares which shall be issuable upon such exercise shall be computed on the basis of the aggregate number of Warrant Shares which
may be purchasable pursuant thereto. If any fraction of a Warrant Share would, except for the provisions of this Section 3.6, be
issuable upon the exercise of any Warrant (or specified portion thereof), the Company shall pay an amount in cash equal to the
Current Market Value per Warrant Share, as determined on the day immediately preceding the date the Warrant is presented for
exercise, multiplied by such fraction, computed to the nearest whole cent.
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Section 3.7.    Reservation of Warrant Shares The Company shall at all times keep reserved out of its authorized shares of
Common Stock a number of shares of Common Stock sufficient to provide for the exercise of all outstanding Warrants. The registrar
for the Common Stock (the “Registrar”) shall at all times until the Expiration Date reserve such number of authorized shares as shall
be required for such purpose. The Company will keep a copy of this Agreement on file with the Stock Transfer Agent. The Company
will supply such Stock Transfer Agent with duly executed stock certificates for such purpose and will itself provide or otherwise make
available any cash which may be payable as provided in Section 3.6. The Company will furnish to such Stock Transfer Agent a copy of
all notices of adjustments (and certificates related thereto) transmitted to each Holder.

Before taking any action which would cause an adjustment pursuant to Article IV to reduce the Exercise Price below the then
par value (if any) of the Common Stock, the Company shall take any and all corporation action which may, in the opinion of its counsel,
be necessary in order that the Company may validly and legally issue fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock at the
Exercise Price as so adjusted.

The Company covenants that all Warrant Shares which may be issued upon exercise of Warrants shall, upon issue, be fully
paid, nonassessable, free of preemptive rights, and free from all liens, taxes, charges and security interests with respect to the issue
thereof.

Section 3.8. Compliance with Law

(a) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in no event shall a Holder be entitled to exercise a Warrant
unless (i) a registration statement filed under the Securities Act in respect of the issuance of the Warrant Shares is then effective or (ii)
in the opinion of counsel to the Company addressed to the Warrant Agent the exercise of such Warrants is exempt from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act and such securities are qualified for sale or exempt from qualification under the
applicable securities laws of the states or other jurisdictions in which such Holders reside.

(b) If any shares of Common Stock required to be reserved for purposes of the exercise of Warrants require, under any other
federal or state law or applicable governing rule or regulation of any national securities exchange, registration with or approval of any
governmental authority, or listing on any such national securities exchange, before such shares may be issued upon exercise, the
Company will use its reasonable best efforts to cause such shares to be duly registered or approved by such governmental authority
or listed on the relevant national securities exchange, as the case may be.

ARTICLE IV     

ADJUSTMENT AND NOTICE PROVISIONS

Section 4.1.    Adjustment of Exercise Price Subject to the provisions of this Article IV, the Exercise Price in effect from time to
time shall be subject to adjustment as follows:
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(c)    In case the Company shall (i) declare a dividend payable in stock or make some other distribution on the
outstanding shares of its Common Stock in shares of its Common Stock, (ii) subdivide or reclassify the outstanding shares of its
Common Stock into a greater number of shares or (iii) combine or reclassify the outstanding shares of its Common Stock into a smaller
number of shares, the Exercise Price, in effect immediately after the record date for such dividend or distribution or the effective date
of such division, reclassification or combination shall be proportionately adjusted by multiplying the then Exercise Price by a fraction,
the numerator of which shall be the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to such event and the
denominator of which shall be the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after such event, and the product so
obtained shall thereafter be the Exercise Price then in effect. Such adjustment shall be made successively whenever any event
specified above shall occur.

(d)    All calculations under this Section 4.1 shall be made to the nearest thousandth of a cent.

Section 4.2.    No Adjustment to Exercise Price No adjustment in the Exercise Price in accordance with the provisions of
paragraph (a) of Section 4.1 hereof need be made if such adjustment would amount to a change in such Exercise Price of less than
ten cents; provided, however, that the amount by which any adjustment is not made by reason of the provision of this Section 4.2 shall
be carried forward and taken into account at the time of any subsequent adjustment in the Exercise Price.

Section 4.3.    Adjustment to Number of Shares Upon each adjustment of the Exercise Price pursuant to Paragraph (a) of
Section 4.1, each Warrant shall thereupon evidence the right to purchase that number of shares of Common Stock (calculated to the
nearest hundredth of a share) obtained by multiplying the number of shares of Common Stock purchasable immediately prior to such
adjustment upon exercise of the Warrant by the Exercise Price in effect immediately prior to such adjustment and dividing the product
so obtained by the Exercise Price in effect immediately after such adjustment.

Section 4.4.    Reorganizations

(a)    Except as provided in Section 4.4(b), in case of any capital reorganization, consolidation or merger of the Company
which occurs after the Shelf Registration Statement relating to the Warrant Shares is effective (other than in the cases referred to in
Section 4.1 hereof or the consolidation or merger of the Company with or into another corporation in which the Company is the
continuing corporation and which does not result in any reclassification of the outstanding shares of Common Stock or the conversion
of such outstanding shares of Common Stock into shares of other stock or other securities or property), or the sale of all or
substantially all of the Company’s assets (a “Reorganization”), the Holders of Warrants which have not been exercised (or otherwise
expired or been terminated) shall have the right to receive, upon exercise of the Warrants and payment of the Exercise Price, the kind
and amount of shares of stock and other securities and property receivable upon such Reorganization by a Holder of the number of
shares of Common Stock into which such Warrants so exercised might have been exercised immediately prior to such Reorganization.
Unless paragraph (b) is applicable to a Reorganization, or unless the surviving or
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acquiring Person in such Reorganization automatically assumes the Company’s obligations hereunder as a matter of law, the
Company shall provide that the surviving or acquiring Person in such Reorganization will enter into an agreement with the Warrant
Agent confirming the Holders’ rights pursuant to this Section 4.4(a) and providing for adjustments, which shall be as nearly equivalent
as may be practicable to the adjustments provided for in the Article IV.

(b)    In the event of a Reorganization where consideration to the holders of Common Stock in exchange for their shares
is payable solely in cash in an amount per share greater than the Exercise Price, the Holders of the Warrants shall be entitled to
receive, upon surrender of their Warrant Certificates, such cash distributions on an equal basis with the holders of Common Stock or
other securities issuable upon exercise of the Warrants, as if the Warrants had been exercised immediately prior to such event, less
the Exercise Price.

(c)    In the event of a Reorganization, the Company shall at its sole expense mail by first class mail, postage prepaid, to
each Holder, notice of the execution of any such agreement. In the event of sale or conveyance or other transfer of all or substantially
all of the assets of the Company as a part of a plan for liquidation of the Company, all rights to exercise any Warrant shall terminate 30
days after the Company gives written notice to each Holder that such sale or conveyance or other transfer has been consummated in
the manner specified in Section 7.04 hereof.

Section 4.5.    Exercise Price Not Less Than Par Value In no event shall the Exercise Price be adjusted below the par value per
share of the Common Stock (if any).

Section 4.6.    Notice of Certain Action In the event the Company shall:

(a)    declare any dividend payable in stock to the holders of its Common Stock or make any other distribution in property
other than cash to the holders of its Common Stock; or

(b)    offer to the holders of its Common Stock as such rights to subscribe for or purchase any shares of any class of
stock or any other rights or opinions; or

(c)    effect any reclassification of its Common Stock (other than a reclassification involving merely the subdivision or
combination of outstanding shares of Common Stock), Reorganization or the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company; ,

then, in each such case, the Company shall cause notice of such proposed action to be given to the Warrant Agent. Such notice shall
specify the date on which the books of the Company shall close, or a record be taken, for determining holders of Common Stock
entitled to receive such stock dividend or other distribution or such rights or options, or the date on which such reclassification,
reorganization, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer, other disposition, liquidation, dissolution or winding up shall take place or
commence, as the case may be, and the date as of which it is expected that holders shall be entitled to receive securities or other
property deliverable upon such action, if any such date has been fixed. The Company shall also cause the Warrant Agent to mail
copies of such notice to each Holder of a Warrant Certificate in the manner specified in Section 7.4 hereof unless such notice is
otherwise available on the SEC’s Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval System or similar system. Such notice shall be
mailed, in the case of any action covered
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by Section 4.6(a) or 4.6(b) above, at least ten days prior to the record date for determining holders of the Common Stock for purposes
of receiving such payment or offer, and in the case of any action covered by Section 4.6(c) above, at least ten days prior to the earlier
of the date upon which such action is to take place or any record date to determine holders of Common Stock entitled to receive such
securities or other property.

Section 4.7.    Notice of Adjustments Whenever any adjustment is made pursuant to this Article IV, the Company shall cause
notice of such adjustment to be mailed to the Warrant Agent within fifteen days thereafter, such notice to include in reasonable detail
(i) the events precipitating the adjustment, (ii) the computation of any adjustments, and (iii) the Exercise Price, the number of shares or
the securities or other property purchasable upon exercise of each Warrant after giving effect to such adjustment. The Warrant Agent
shall be entitled to rely on such notice and any adjustment therein contained and shall not be deemed to have knowledge of any such
adjustment unless and until it shall have received such notice. The Warrant Agent shall within fifteen days after receipt of such notice
from the Company (which notice must specifically direct the Warrant Agent to perform the mailing) cause a similar notice to be mailed
to each Holder.

Section 4.8.    Adjustment to Warrant Certificate The form of Warrant Certificate need not be changed because of any
adjustment made pursuant to this Article IV, and Warrant Certificates issued after such adjustment may state the same Exercise Price
and the same number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Warrants as are stated in the Warrant Certificates
initially issued pursuant to this Agreement. The Company, however, may at any time in its sole discretion make any change in the form
of Warrant Certificate that it may deem appropriate to give effect to such adjustments and that does not affect the substance of the
Warrant Certificate, and any Warrant Certificate thereafter issued or countersigned, whether in exchange or substitution for an
outstanding Warrant Certificate or otherwise, may be in the form as so changed.

ARTICLE V     

REGISTRATION RIGHTS

Section 5.1.    Effectiveness of Registration Statement Subject to Section 5.2, if prior to the Expiration Date the Company’s
Common Stock has a Current Market Value of $8.50 per share, no later than 60 days from such date, the Company shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to cause to be filed pursuant the Securities Act, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to
cause to be effective, a registration statement covering the issuance of Warrant Shares to the Holders upon exercise of the Warrants
by the Holders thereof (the “Shelf Registration Statement”). The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the
Shelf Registration Statement to remain effective until the earlier of (i) such time as all Warrants have been exercised and (ii) the
Expiration Date. The Company shall promptly inform the Warrant Agent of any change in the status of the effectiveness or availability
of the Shelf Registration Statement.

Section 5.2.    Suspension The Company shall be entitled to suspend the availability of the Shelf Registration Statement from
time to time during any consecutive 365-day period for a total not to exceed 90 days during such consecutive 365-day period if the
Board determines in the exercise
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of its reasonable judgment that such suspension is necessary in order to comply with applicable laws and provides notice that such
determination was made to the Holders of the Warrants; provided, however, that (i) if the Company exercises such right in the 45
consecutive-day period immediately prior to the Expiration Date, the Expiration Date shall be delayed by the number of days during
such 45-day period for which the availability of the Shelf Registration Statement was suspended and (ii) in no event shall the
Company be required to disclose the business purpose for such suspension if the Company determines in good faith that such
business purpose must remain confidential.

Section 5.3.    Blue Sky The Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to register or qualify the Warrant Shares under all
applicable securities laws, blue sky laws or similar laws of all jurisdictions in the United States in which any holder of Warrants may or
may be deemed to purchase Warrant Shares upon the exercise of Warrants and shall use its reasonable best efforts to maintain such
registration or qualification for so long as it is required to cause the Shelf Registration Statement to remain effective under the
Securities Act pursuant to Section 5.1; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to qualify generally to do business
in any jurisdiction where it would not otherwise be required to qualify but for this Section 5.3 or to take any action which would subject
it to general service of process or to taxation in any such jurisdiction where it is not then so subject.

Section 5.4.    Additional Acts If the issuance or sale of any Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of the Warrants requires
registration or approval of any governmental authority (other than the registration requirements under the Securities Act), or the taking
of any other action under the laws of the United States or any political subdivision thereof before such securities may be validly offered
or sold in compliance with such laws, then the Company covenants that it will, in good faith and as expeditiously as reasonably
possible, use its reasonable best efforts to secure and maintain such registration or approval or to take such other action, as the case
may be. If applicable, the Company shall promptly notify the Warrant Agent in writing when (i) the Company has obtained all such
governmental approvals and authorizations and (ii) such approvals and authorizations thereafter cease to be in effect.

Section 5.5.    Expenses All expenses incident to the Company’s performance of or compliance with its obligations under this
Article V relating to the issuance of the Warrant Shares will be borne by the Company, including without limitation: (i) all SEC, stock
exchange or FINRA registration and filing fees, (ii) all reasonable fees and expenses incurred in connection with the compliance with
state securities or blue sky laws, (iii) all expenses of any Persons incurred by or on behalf of the Company in preparing or assisting in
preparing, printing and distributing the Shelf Registration Statement or any other registration statement, prospectus, any amendments
or supplements thereto and other documents relating to the performance of and compliance with this Article V, (iv) the fees and
disbursements of counsel for the Company and the Warrant Agent as agreed and (v) the fees and disbursements of the independent
public accountants of the Company, including the expenses of any special audits or comfort letters required by or incident to such
performance and compliance.
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ARTICLE VI     

WARRANT AGENT

Section 6.1.    Appointment of Warrant Agent The Company hereby appoints the Warrant Agent to act as agent for the Company
in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and the Warrant Agent hereby accepts such appointment.

Section 6.2.    Rights and Duties of Warrant Agent

(d)    Agent for the Company. In acting under this Warrant Agreement and in connection with the Warrant Certificates, the
Warrant Agent is acting solely as agent of the Company and does not assume any obligation or relationship or agency or trust for or
with any of the holders of Warrant Certificates or beneficial owners of Warrants. All fees and expenses due the Warrant Agent shall be
paid to the Warrant Agent by the Company. The Warrant Agent shall have no duty to determine which costs, if any, under this
Agreement shall be borne by the Holders or by the Company.

(e)    Counsel. The Warrant Agent may consult with counsel satisfactory to it (who may be counsel to the Company), and
the advice of such counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect of any action taken, suffered or omitted
by it hereunder in good faith and in accordance with the advice of such counsel.

(f)    Documents. The Warrant Agent shall be protected and shall incur no liability for or in respect of any action taken or
thing suffered by it in reliance upon any Warrant Certificate, notice, direction, consent, certificate, affidavit, statement or other paper or
document reasonably believed by it to be genuine and to have been presented or signed by the proper parties.

(g)    No Implied Obligations. The Warrant Agent shall be obligated to perform only such duties as are specifically set
forth herein and in the Warrant Certificates, and no implied duties or obligations of the Warrant Agent shall be read into this
Agreement or the Warrant Certificates against the Warrant Agent. The Warrant Agent shall not be under any obligation to take any
action hereunder which may tend to involve it in any expense or liability for which it does not receive indemnity if such indemnity is
reasonably requested. The Warrant Agent shall not be accountable or under any duty or responsibility for the use by the Company of
any of the Warrant Certificates countersigned by the Warrant Agent and delivered by it to the Holders or on behalf of the Holders
pursuant to this Agreement or for the application by the Company of the proceeds of the Warrants. The Warrant Agent shall have no
duty or responsibility in case of any default by the Company in the performance of its covenants or agreements contained herein or in
the Warrant Certificates or in the case of the receipt of any written demand from a Holder with respect to such default, including any
duty or responsibility to initiate or attempt to initiate any proceedings at law or otherwise.

(h)    Not Responsible for Adjustments or Validity of Stock. The Warrant Agent shall not at any time be under any duty or
responsibility to any Holder to determine whether any facts exist that may require an adjustment of the number of shares of Common
Stock issuable upon
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exercise of each Warrant or the Exercise Price, or with respect to the nature or extent of any adjustment when made, or with respect
to the method employed, or herein or in any supplemental agreement provided to be employed, in making the same. The Warrant
Agent shall not be accountable with respect to the validity or value of any shares of Common Stock or of any securities or property
which may at any time be issued or delivered upon the exercise of any Warrant or upon any adjustment pursuant to Article IV, and it
makes no representation with respect thereto. The Warrant Agent shall not be responsible for any failure of the Company to make any
cash payment or to issue, transfer or deliver any shares of Common Stock or stock certificates upon the surrender of any Warrant
Certificate for the purpose of exercise or upon any adjustment pursuant to Article IV, or to comply with any of the covenants of the
Company contained in Article IV.

Section 6.3.    Individual Rights of Warrant Agent The Warrant Agent and any stockholder, director, officer or employee of the
Warrant Agent may buy, sell or deal in any of the Warrants or other securities of the Company or its Affiliates or become pecuniarily
interested in transactions in which the Company or its Affiliates may be interested, or contract with or lend money to the Company or
its Affiliates or otherwise act as fully and freely as though it were not the Warrant Agent under this Agreement. Nothing herein shall
preclude the Warrant Agent from acting in any other capacity for the Company or for any other legal entity.

Section 6.4.    Warrant Agent’s Disclaimer The Warrant Agent shall not be responsible for and makes no representation as to
the validity or adequacy of this Agreement or the Warrant Certificates and it shall not be responsible for any statement in this
Agreement or the Warrant Certificates other than its countersignature thereon.

Section 6.5.    Compensation and Indemnity The Company agrees that the Warrant Agent is entitled, from time to time,
reasonable compensation for its services as agreed and to reimbursement for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by it,
including the reasonable compensation and expenses of the Warrant Agent’s agents and counsel as agreed. The Company shall
indemnify the Warrant Agent, its officers, directors, agents and counsel against any loss, liability or expense (including reasonable
agents’ and attorneys’ fees and expenses) incurred by it without gross negligence or bad faith on its part arising out of or in connection
with the acceptance or performance of its duties under this Agreement. The Warrant Agent shall notify the Company promptly of any
claim for which it may seek indemnity. The Company need not reimburse any expense or indemnify against any loss or liability
incurred by the Warrant Agent through willful misconduct, gross negligence or bad faith. The Company’s payment obligations pursuant
to this Section 6.5 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

Section 6.6.    Successor Warrant Agent

(a)    The Company To Provide and Maintain Warrant Agent. The Company agrees for the benefit of the Holders that
there shall at all times be a competent and reputable Warrant Agent hereunder until all the Warrants have been exercised or are no
longer exercisable.

(b)    Resignation and Removal. The Warrant Agent may at any time resign by giving written notice to the Company of
such intention on its part, specifying the date on which its desired resignation shall become effective; provided, however, that such
date shall not be less than
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60 days after the date on which such notice is given unless the Company otherwise agrees. The Warrant Agent hereunder may be
removed at any time by the filing with it of an instrument in writing signed by or on behalf of the Company and specifying such removal
and the date when it shall become effective, which date shall not be less than 60 days after such notice is given unless the Warrant
Agent otherwise agrees. Any removal under this Section 6.6 shall take effect upon the appointment by the Company as hereinafter
provided of a successor Warrant Agent (which shall be a bank or trust company authorized under the laws of the jurisdiction of its
organization to exercise corporate trust powers) and the acceptance of such appointment by such successor Warrant Agent.

(c)    The Company To Appoint Successor. In the event that at any time the Warrant Agent shall resign, or shall be
removed, or shall become incapable of acting, or shall be adjudged a bankrupt or insolvent, or shall commence a voluntary case
under the Federal bankruptcy laws, as now or hereafter constituted, or under any other applicable U.S. Federal or state bankruptcy,
insolvency or similar law or shall consent to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, custodian, liquidator, assignee,
trustee, sequestrator (or other similar official) of the Warrant Agent or its property or affairs, or shall make an assignment for the
benefit of creditors, or shall admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due, or shall take corporate action in
furtherance of any such action, or a decree or order for relief by a court having jurisdiction in the premises shall have been entered in
respect of the Warrant Agent in an involuntary case under the Federal bankruptcy laws, as now or hereafter constituted, or any other
applicable Federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law, or a decree or order by a court having jurisdiction in the premises
shall have been entered for the appointment of a receiver, custodian, liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator (or similar official) of
the Warrant Agent or of its property or affairs, or any public officer shall take charge or control of the Warrant Agent or of its property or
affairs for the purpose of rehabilitation, conservation, winding up or liquidation, a successor Warrant Agent, qualified as aforesaid,
shall be appointed by the Company by an instrument in writing, filed with the successor Warrant Agent. Upon the appointment as
aforesaid of a successor Warrant Agent and acceptance by the successor Warrant Agent of such appointment, the Warrant Agent
shall cease to be Warrant Agent hereunder; provided, however, that in the event of the resignation of the Warrant Agent under this
subsection (c), such resignation shall be effective on the earlier of (i) the date specified in the Warrant Agent’s notice of resignation
and (ii) the appointment and acceptance of a successor Warrant Agent hereunder.

(d)    Successor To Expressly Assume Duties. Any successor Warrant Agent appointed hereunder shall execute,
acknowledge and deliver to its predecessor and to the Company an instrument accepting such appointment hereunder, and thereupon
such successor Warrant Agent, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become vested with all the rights and obligations of
such predecessor with like effect as if originally named as Warrant Agent hereunder, and such predecessor, upon payment of its
charges and disbursements then unpaid, shall thereupon become obligated to transfer, deliver and pay over, and such successor
Warrant Agent shall be entitled to receive, all monies, securities and other property on deposit with or held by such predecessor, as
Warrant Agent hereunder.

(e)    Successor by Merger. Any corporation into which the Warrant Agent hereunder may be merged or consolidated, or
any corporation resulting from any merger or
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consolidation to which the Warrant Agent shall be a party, or any corporation to which the Warrant Agent shall sell or otherwise
transfer all or substantially all of its assets and business; provided, however, that it shall be qualified as aforesaid, shall be the
successor Warrant Agent under this Agreement without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the
parties hereto.

ARTICLE VII     

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 7.1.    Persons Benefiting Nothing in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any Person other
than the Company, the Warrant Agent and the Holders any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or any part
hereof.

Section 7.2.    Rights of Holders Holders of unexercised Warrants are not entitled to (i) receive dividends or other distributions,
(ii) receive notice of or vote at any meeting of the shareholders, (iii) consent to any action of the shareholders, (iv) receive notice of any
other proceedings of the Company, (v) exercise any preemptive right or (vi) exercise any other rights whatsoever as shareholders of
the Company.

Section 7.3.    Amendment This Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto without the consent of any Holder for the
purpose of curing any ambiguity, or of curing, correcting or supplementing any defective provision contained herein or adding or
changing any other provisions with respect to matters or questions arising under this Agreement as the Company and the Warrant
Agent may deem necessary or desirable (including without limitation any addition or modification to provide for compliance with the
transfer restrictions set forth herein); provided, however, that such action shall not adversely affect the rights of any of the Holders.
Any amendment or supplement to this Agreement that has an adverse effect on the interests of the Holders shall require the written
consent of the Holders of a majority of the then outstanding Warrants. The consent of each Holder affected shall be required for any
amendment pursuant to which the Exercise Price would be increased or the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of
Warrants would be decreased (other than pursuant to adjustments provided herein). In determining whether the Holders of the
required number of Warrants have concurred in any direction, waiver or consent, Warrants owned by the Company shall be
disregarded and deemed not to be outstanding, except that, for the purpose of determining whether the Warrant Agent shall be
protected in relying on any such direction, waiver or consent, only Warrants which the Warrant Agent knows are so owned shall be so
disregarded. Also, subject to the foregoing, only Warrants outstanding at the time shall be considered in any such determination.

Section 7.4.    Notices Any notice or communication shall be in writing and delivered in Person or mailed by first-class mail
addressed as follows:
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if to the Company:

Imperial Holdings, Inc.
701 Park of Commerce Blvd., Suite 301
Boca Raton, Florida 33487
Attention: Michael Altschuler, General Counsel

with a copy to:

Foley & Lardner LLP
One Independent Drive, Suite 1300
Jacksonville, Florida 32202
Attention: Michael B. Kirwan, Esq.

if to the Warrant Agent:

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC
10150 Mallard Creek Road, Suite 207
Charlotte, North Carolina 28262
Attention: Ted Wiener

The Company or the Warrant Agent by notice to the other may designate additional or different addresses for subsequent
notices or communications.

Any notice or communication mailed to a Holder shall be mailed to the Holder at the Holder’s address as it appears on the
Certificate Register and shall be sufficiently given if so mailed within the time prescribed.

Failure to mail a notice or communication to a Holder or any defect in it shall not affect its sufficiency with respect to other
Holders. If a notice or communication is mailed in the manner provided above, it is duly given, whether or not the addressee receives
it.

Section 7.5.    Governing Law The laws of the State of Florida shall govern this Agreement and the Warrant Certificates.

Section 7.6.    Successors All agreements of the Company in this Agreement and the Warrant Certificates shall bind its
successors. All agreements of the Warrant Agent in this Agreement shall bind its successors.

Section 7.7.    Multiple Originals The parties may sign any number of copies of this Agreement. Each signed copy shall be an
original, but all of them together represent the same agreement. One signed copy is enough to prove this Agreement.

Section 7.8.    Table of Contents The table of contents and headings of the Articles and Sections of this Agreement have been
inserted for convenience of reference only, are not intended to be considered a part hereof and shall not modify or restrict any of the
terms or provisions hereof.
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Section 7.9.    Severability The provisions of this Agreement are severable, and if any clause or provision shall be held invalid,
illegal or unenforceable in whole or in part in any jurisdiction, then such invalidity or unenforceability shall affect in that jurisdiction only
such clause or provision, or part thereof, and shall not in any manner affect such clause or provision in any other jurisdiction or any
other clause or provision of this Agreement in any jurisdiction.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Warrant Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first written
above.

IMPERIAL HOLDINGS, INC.

By:     /s/ Richard S. O’Connell        
Name: Richard S. O’Connell
Title: Chief Financial Officer

 
 

AMERICAN STOCK TRANSFER & TRUST
COMPANY, LLC, as Warrant Agent

By:     /s/ Michael A. Nespoli        
Name: Michael A. Nespoli
Title: Executive Director
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EXHIBIT A

[FORM OF WARRANT CERTIFICATE]

No. [ ] Certificate for [ ] Warrants

WARRANTS TO PURCHASE COMMON STOCK OF 
IMPERIAL HOLDINGS, INC.

THIS CERTIFIES THAT [ ], or its registered assigns, is the registered holder of the number of Warrants set forth above (the
“Warrants”). Each Warrant entitles the holder thereof (the “Holder”), at its option and subject to the provisions contained herein and in
the Warrant Agreement referred to below, to purchase from IMPERIAL HOLDINGS, INC., a Florida corporation (“the Company”), [ ]
shares of common stock, par value of $0.01 per share, of the Company (the “Common Stock”) at the per share exercise price of
$10.75 (the “Exercise Price”). This Warrant Certificate shall terminate and become void as of the close of business on [ ], 2019 (the
“Expiration Date”) or upon the exercise hereof as to all the shares of Common Stock subject hereto. The number of shares issuable
upon exercise of the Warrants and the Exercise Price per share shall be subject to adjustment from time to time as set forth in the
Warrant Agreement.

This Warrant Certificate is issued under and in accordance with a Warrant Agreement dated as of April 10, 2014 (the “Warrant
Agreement”), between the Company and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company (the “Warrant Agent”, which term includes any
successor Warrant Agent under the Warrant Agreement), and is subject to the terms and provisions contained in the Warrant
Agreement, to all of which terms and provisions the Holder of this Warrant Certificate consents by acceptance hereof. The Warrant
Agreement is hereby incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. Reference is hereby made to the Warrant Agreement
for a full statement of the respective rights, limitations of rights, duties and obligations of the Company, the Warrant Agent and the
Holders of the Warrants. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Warrant
Agreement. A copy of the Warrant Agreement may be obtained for inspection by the Holder hereof upon written request to the Warrant
Agent, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, Attention: Corporate Trust Department.

Subject to the terms of the Warrant Agreement, the Warrants may be exercised in whole or in part by presentation of this
Warrant Certificate with the Election to Purchase attached hereto duly executed and with the simultaneous payment of the Exercise
Price in cash (subject to adjustment) to the Warrant Agent for the account of the Company at the office of the Warrant Agent and
payment by the Holder to the Warrant Agent of any exercise fee associated with the exercise of such Warrants. Payment of the
Exercise Price in cash shall be made by certified or official bank check payable to the order of the Company or by wire transfer of
funds to an account designated by the Company for such purpose.

As provided in the Warrant Agreement and subject to the terms and conditions therein set forth, the Warrants shall be
exercisable at any time and from time to time on any Business Day after
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the Issue Date; provided, however, that Holders of Warrants will be able to exercise their Warrants only if the Shelf Registration
Statement relating to the Common Stock underlying the Warrants is effective and such securities are qualified for sale or exempt from
qualification under the applicable securities laws of the states or other jurisdictions in which such Holders reside; provided further,
however, that no Warrant shall be exercisable after [ ], 2019.

The Company covenants that it will, in good faith and as expeditiously as reasonably possible, use commercially reasonable
efforts to secure, and maintain until the Expiration Date, the effectiveness of such registration relating to the Common Stock underlying
the Warrants, and to provide that such securities are qualified for sale or exempt from qualification under the applicable securities laws
of the states or other jurisdictions in which such Holders reside.

As provided in the Warrant Agreement, the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of the Warrants and
the Exercise Price are subject to adjustment upon the happening of certain events.

Upon any partial exercise of the Warrants, there shall be countersigned and issued to the Holder hereof a new Warrant
Certificate representing those Warrants which were not exercised. This Warrant Certificate may be exchanged at the office of the
Warrant Agent by presenting this Warrant Certificate properly endorsed with a request to exchange this Warrant Certificate for other
Warrant Certificates evidencing an equal number of Warrants. No fractional Warrant Shares will be issued upon the exercise of the
Warrants, but the Company shall pay an amount in cash equal to the Current Market Value per Warrant Share on the day immediately
preceding the date the Warrant is exercised, multiplied by the fraction of a Warrant Share that would be issuable on the exercise of
any Warrant.

All shares of Common Stock issuable by the Company upon the exercise of the Warrants shall, upon such issue, be duly and
validly issued and fully paid and non-assessable.

The holder in whose name the Warrant Certificate is registered may be deemed and treated by the Company and the Warrant
Agent as the absolute owner of the Warrant Certificate for all purposes whatsoever and neither the Company nor the Warrant Agent
shall be affected by notice to the contrary.

The Warrants do not entitle any Holder hereof to any of the rights of a stockholder of the Company.
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This Warrant Certificate shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose until it shall have been countersigned by the Warrant
Agent.

IMPERIAL HOLDINGS, INC.

By:                        
Name:
Title:

AMERICAN STOCK TRANSFER & TRUST
COMPANY, LLC, as Warrant Agent,

By:                        
Name:
Title:

DATED:

Countersigned:
  
AMERICAN STOCK TRANSFER &
TRUST COMPANY, LLC
As Warrant Agent

By:                    
Authorized Signatory

Exhibit A – Page 3
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FORM OF ELECTION TO PURCHASE WARRANT SHARES 
(to be executed only upon exercise of Warrants)

IMPERIAL HOLDINGS, INC.

The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to exercise Warrants to acquire shares of Common Stock, par value $0.01 per
share, of IMPERIAL HOLDINGS, INC., at an exercise price per share of Common Stock of $10.75 and otherwise on the terms and
conditions specified in the within Warrant Certificate and the Warrant Agreement therein referred to, surrenders this Warrant
Certificate and all right, title and interest therein to IMPERIAL HOLDINGS, INC. and directs that the shares of Common Stock
deliverable upon the exercise of such Warrants be registered or placed in the name and at the address specified below and delivered
thereto.

Date:                
                        

(Signature of Owner)

                        
(Street Address)

                        
(City) (State) (Zip Code)

Medallion Guarantee by:
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Securities and/or check to be issued to:

Please insert social security or identifying number:

Name:
Street Address:
City, State and Zip Code:

A new Warrant Certificate evidencing any unexercised Warrants evidenced by the within Warrant Certificate is to be issued to:

Please insert social security or identifying number:

Name:
Street Address:
City, State and Zip Code:

Exhibit A – Page 5
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FORM OF WARRANT TRANSFER

For value received, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto ____________________ the right to purchase
_________________________ (________) Warrant Shares representing shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of
Imperial Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) pursuant to the attached Warrant Certificate and does hereby irrevocably constitute and
appoint __________________________ attorney to transfer the Warrant, or such portion as is transferred hereby, on the books of the
Company with full power of substitution in the premises. The undersigned requests said attorney to issue to the transferee a Warrant
Certificate evidencing such transfer and to issue to the undersigned a new Warrant Certificate evidencing the right to purchase
Warrant Shares for the balance not so transferred, if any.

Date:            
                        

(Signature of Owner)

                        
(Street Address)

                        
(City) (State) (Zip Code)
      
Medallion Guarantee by:

                        
 
Name in which new Warrant(s) should be registered:

                        
(Name)

                        
(Street Address)

                        
(City) (State) (Zip Code)

(social security or identifying number)
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EXECUTION VERSION

EXHIBIT 4.5

EMERGENT CAPITAL, INC., 

as Issuer, 

15.0% Senior Secured Notes due 2018 

________________________ 

INDENTURE 

Dated as of March 11, 2016 

________________________ 

WILMINGTON TRUST, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 
as Indenture Trustee 
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INDENTURE dated as of March 11, 2016 between Emergent Capital, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Issuer”) and Wilmington
Trust, National Association, as indenture trustee (as more fully defined in Section 1.01, the “Indenture Trustee”).

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Issuer has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Indenture to provide for the issuance of its 15.0% senior
secured notes due September 14, 2018 to be issued pursuant to this Indenture in an aggregate amount not to exceed $30,000,000. All
covenants and agreements made by the Issuer herein are for the benefit and security of the Holders and the Indenture Trustee
(collectively, the “Secured Parties”). The Issuer has entered into this Indenture, and the Indenture Trustee has accepted the trusts
created hereby, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which have been and are hereby acknowledged by
the parties hereto.

All things necessary to make the Notes, whenever the Notes are (or have been) executed by the Issuer and authenticated and
delivered by the Indenture Trustee hereunder and duly issued by the Issuer, the valid and legally binding obligations of the Issuer
enforceable in accordance with their terms, and to make this Indenture a valid and legally binding agreement of the Issuer enforceable
in accordance with its terms, have been done.

GRANTING CLAUSE
The Issuer hereby Grants to the Indenture Trustee, for the benefit and security of the Secured Parties, all of its right, title and

interest, whether now owned or hereafter acquired in, to and under the following property (collectively, the “Trust Estate”):

(i) Litigation Proceeds;

(ii) (a) 65% of the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of Red Reef, (b) 65% of the issued and outstanding Equity
Interests of OLIPP IV and Blue Heron and (c) the Pledged Irish Profit Participating Note, representing 65% of the Irish
Profit Participating Notes (the “Pledged Collateral”);

(iii) (a) 65% of any dividends and distributions of OLIPP IV and Blue Heron and (b) 65% of any dividends and distributions of
Red Reef;

(iv) the deposit accounts listed on Schedule 1.01(A) (the “Pledged Deposit Accounts”);
and

(v) all Proceeds (as defined in the Uniform Commercial Code) of and from any of the
foregoing.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, for the avoidance of doubt, (i)the Trust Estate shall not include any Excluded Property and the
Grant by the Issuer of its right, title and interest to the Trust Estate and Collateral hereunder shall not include a Grant of any interest in
the Excluded Property; and (ii) the Grant by Issuer of its right, title and interest to the Litigation Proceeds shall be subject to any
security interest in Life Policies now or hereafter granted to the lenders under the Credit
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Facilities and accordingly the security interest in the Litigation Proceeds may constitute a second priority Lien.

Such Grant is made, however, in trust, to secure the Notes equally and ratably without prejudice, priority or distinction between
any Note and any other Note by reason of difference in time of issuance or otherwise, except as expressly provided in this Indenture,
and to secure, subject to and in accordance with the priorities set forth herein, the Secured Obligations.

Until payment in full of the Secured Obligations and except to the extent otherwise provided in this Indenture, the Issuer does
hereby constitute and irrevocably appoint the Indenture Trustee the true and lawful attorney of the Issuer, with full power (in the name
of the Issuer or otherwise), to exercise all rights of the Issuer with respect to the Trust Estate, and to ask, require, demand, receive,
settle, compromise, compound and give acquittance for any and all moneys and claims for moneys due and to become due under or
arising out of any of the Trust Estate, to indorse any checks or other instruments or orders in connection therewith and to file any
claims or take any action or institute any proceedings which the Indenture Trustee may deem to be necessary or advisable. The power
of attorney granted pursuant to this Indenture and all authority hereby conferred are granted and conferred solely to protect the
Indenture Trustee’s interest in the Trust Estate, and shall not impose any duty upon the Indenture Trustee to exercise any power. This
power of attorney shall be irrevocable as one coupled with an interest prior to the payment in full of all the Secured Obligations.

This Indenture shall constitute a security agreement under the laws of the State of New York. In addition to any other rights
available under this Indenture or any property included in the Trust Estate, or otherwise available at law or in equity, the Indenture
Trustee shall have all rights and remedies of a secured party under the laws of the State of New York and other applicable law to
enforce the security interest granted herein in the manner and at the times specified herein and, in addition, shall have the right,
subject to compliance with any mandatory requirements of applicable law, to sell or apply any item of the Trust Estate in accordance
with the terms hereof at public or private sale.

It is expressly agreed that anything therein contained to the contrary notwithstanding, the Issuer shall remain liable under any
instruments or other agreements included in the Trust Estate to perform all the obligations assumed by it thereunder, all in accordance
with and pursuant to the terms and provisions thereof, and except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the Indenture Trustee shall
not have any obligations or liabilities under such instruments or other agreements by reason of or arising out of this Indenture, nor
shall the Indenture Trustee be required or obligated in any manner to perform or fulfill any obligations of the Issuer under or pursuant
to such instruments or other agreements or to make any payment, to make any inquiry as to the nature or sufficiency of any payment
received by it, to present or file any claim, or to take any action to collect or enforce the payment of any amounts which may have been
assigned to it or to which it may be entitled at any time or times.

The Indenture Trustee acknowledges such Grant, accepts the trusts hereunder in accordance with the express provisions
hereof, and agrees to perform its duties herein pursuant to the express terms hereof.
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GENERAL COVENANT
AND IT IS HEREBY COVENANTED AND DECLARED that the Notes are to be authenticated and delivered by the Indenture

Trustee, that the Trust Estate is to be held by or on behalf of the Indenture Trustee and that monies in the Trust Estate are to be
applied by the Indenture Trustee for the benefit of the Holders, subject to the further covenants, conditions and trusts hereinafter set
forth, and the Issuer does hereby represent and warrant, and covenant and agree, to and with the Indenture Trustee, for the equal and
proportionate benefit and security of each Holder, as follows:

Article 1 

DEFINITIONS AND INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

SECTION 1.01.    Definitions.

“Account Control Agreement” means collectively, each Litigation Proceeds Account Control Agreement, each Deposit Account
Control Agreement and each New Issuer Deposit Account Control Agreement.

“Additional Issue Date” means, with respect to any Additional Notes, the date such Additional Notes are authenticated and
delivered to the applicable Holder in accordance with Article 2.

“Additional Notes” means additional 15.0% senior secured notes due September 14, 2018 (other than the Initial Notes) issued
under this Indenture in accordance with Section 2.02 hereof after the date hereof, as part of the same series as the Initial Notes;
provided, however, that the aggregate principal amount of the Additional Notes may not exceed $30.0 million less the aggregate
principal amount of the Initial Notes. The Additional Notes will be treated as a single class with the Initial Notes for all purposes,
including waivers, amendments, redemptions and offers to purchase.

“Affiliate” of any specified Person means any other Person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by or under direct or
indirect common control with such specified Person. For purposes of this definition, “control” (including, with correlative meanings, the
terms “controlling,” “controlled by” and “under common control with”), as used with respect to any Person, means the possession,
directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of such Person, whether through the
ownership of voting securities, by agreement or otherwise.

“Applicable Premium” means, with respect to any Note on any redemption date, the present value as of such redemption date
of all remaining interest payments on such Note to the Maturity Date (excluding accrued but unpaid interest to the applicable
redemption date), computed using a discount rate equal to the Treasury Rate as of such redemption date plus 50 basis points.
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“Blue Heron” means Blue Heron Designated Activity Company, a wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Issuer, incorporated in Ireland.

“Board of Directors” means, as to any Person, the Board of Directors or Board of Managers, as applicable, of such Person (or, if
such Person is a partnership, the board of directors or other governing body of the general partner of such Person) or any duly
authorized committee thereof. References in this Indenture to directors (on a Board of Directors) shall also be deemed to refer to
managers (on a Board of Managers).

“Business Day” means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which banking institutions are authorized or
required by law to close in New York City or the city in which the Indenture Trustee’s Corporate Trust Office is located.

“Capital Stock” means:

(1)    in the case of a corporation, corporate stock or shares;

(2)    in the case of an association or business entity, any and all shares, interests, participations, rights or other
equivalents (however designated) of corporate stock;

(3)    in the case of a partnership or limited liability company, partnership or limited liability company interests (whether
general or limited); and

(4)    any other interest or participation that confers on a Person the right to receive a share of the profits and losses of, or
distributions of assets of, the issuing Person;

in each case to the extent treated as equity in accordance with GAAP.

“Cash Equivalents” means:

(1)    U.S. dollars or such other local currencies held by it from time to time in the ordinary course of business;

(2)    securities issued or directly and fully guaranteed or insured by the U.S. government or any agency or instrumentality of
the United States (provided that the full faith and credit of the United States, as applicable, is pledged in support thereof), having
maturities of not more than one year from the date of acquisition;

(3)    marketable general obligations issued by any state of the United States or any political subdivision of any such province or
state or any public instrumentality thereof maturing within one year from the date of acquisition and, at the time of acquisition, having a
credit rating of “A” or better from either Standard & Poor’s Rating Services (“S&P”) or Moody’s Investors Services, Inc. (“Moody’s”), or
carrying an equivalent rating by a nationally recognized rating agency, if both S&P and Moody’s cease publishing ratings of
investments;

(4)    certificates of deposit, time deposits, overnight bank deposits or bankers’ acceptances having maturities of not more than
one year from the date of acquisition thereof issued by any
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commercial bank the long-term debt of which is rated at the time of acquisition thereof at least “A-” or the equivalent thereof by S&P, or
“A3” or the equivalent thereof by Moody’s, or carrying an equivalent rating by a nationally recognized rating agency, if both S&P and
Moody’s cease publishing ratings of investments, and having combined capital and surplus in excess of $500.0 million;

(5)    repurchase obligations for underlying securities of the types described in clauses (2), (3) and (4) entered into with any
bank meeting the qualifications specified in clause (4) above;

(6)    commercial paper rated at the time of acquisition thereof at least “A-2” or the equivalent thereof by S&P or “P-2” or the
equivalent thereof by Moody’s, or carrying an equivalent rating by a nationally recognized rating agency, if both S&P and Moody’s
cease publishing ratings of investments, and in any case maturing within one year after the date of acquisition thereof; and

(7)    interests in any investment company which invests 95% or more of its assets in instruments of the type specified in
clauses (1) through (6) above or a money market fund having a credit rating of “AA” or better from either S&P or Moody’s or carrying
an equivalent rating by a nationally recognized rating agency, if both S&P and Moody’s cease publishing ratings of investments.

“Change of Control” means the occurrence of any of the following events:

(i)    the direct or indirect sale, lease, transfer, conveyance or other disposition (other than by way of merger or
consolidation, including any merger or consolidation involving an Affiliate of the Issuer, any Significant Subsidiary or any
Pledged Subsidiary solely for the purpose of reincorporating the Issuer, any Significant Subsidiary or any Pledged Subsidiary in
another jurisdiction), in one or a series of related transactions, of all or substantially all of the properties or assets of the Issuer,
any Significant Subsidiary or any Pledged Subsidiary to any “person” or “group” (as each such term is used in Section 13(d) or
14(d) of the Exchange Act or any successor provision thereto); or

(ii)    the consummation of any transaction (including, without limitation, any merger, consolidation or other business
combination), the result of which is that any “person” or “group” (as defined above) is or becomes the “beneficial owner” (as
such term is used in Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act ), directly or indirectly, of more than 50% of the total voting power of the
Voting Stock of the Issuer, any Significant Subsidiary or any Pledged Subsidiary;

(iii)    the first day on which individuals who on the Initial Issue Date constituted the Board of Directors of the Issuer, any
Significant Subsidiary or any Pledged Subsidiary (together with any new directors whose election by the Board of Directors of
the Issuer, any Significant Subsidiary or any Pledged Subsidiary, or whose nomination for election by the shareholders of the
Issuer, any Significant Subsidiary or any Pledged Subsidiary, was approved or ratified by a vote of a majority of the directors of
the Issuer, any Significant Subsidiary or any Pledged Subsidiary at the time of such nomination or election, then still in office
who were either directors on the Initial Issue Date or whose election or nomination
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was so approved or ratified) cease for any reason to constitute a majority of the Board of Directors of the Issuer, any Significant
Subsidiary or any Pledged Subsidiary, then in office;

(iv)    the adoption of a plan relating to the liquidation or dissolution of the Issuer, any Significant Subsidiary or any
Pledged Subsidiary;

(v)    the Issuer, any Significant Subsidiary or any Pledged Subsidiary consolidates with, or merges with or into, any
Person, or any Person consolidates with, or merges with or into, the Issuer, any Significant Subsidiary or any Pledged
Subsidiary, in any such event pursuant to a transaction in which any of the outstanding Voting Stock of the Issuer, any
Significant Subsidiary or any Pledged Subsidiary or such other Person is converted into or exchanged for cash, securities or
other property, other than any such transaction where the Voting Stock of the Issuer, any Significant Subsidiary or any Pledged
Subsidiary outstanding immediately prior to such transaction is converted into or exchanged for Voting Stock of the surviving or
transferee Person constituting a majority of the outstanding shares of such Voting Stock of such surviving or transferee Person
(immediately after giving effect to such issuance); or

(vi)    the direct or indirect sale, transfer, conveyance or other disposition of any Irish Profit Participating Note or any
Equity Interest in any Pledged Subsidiary to a Person that is not an Affiliate of the Issuer.

“Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Collateral” means the Trust Estate and all other property subject, or purported to be subject from time to time, to a Lien under
any Security Documents.

“Contingent Obligations” means, with respect to any Person, any obligation of such Person guaranteeing any leases, dividends
or other obligations that do not constitute Indebtedness (“primary obligations”) of any other Person (the “primary obligor”) in any
manner, whether directly or indirectly, including, without limitation, any obligation of such Person, whether or not contingent:

(1)    to purchase any such primary obligation or any property constituting direct or indirect security therefor,

(2)    to advance or supply funds:

(a)    for the purchase or payment of any such primary obligation; or

(b)    to maintain working capital or equity capital of the primary obligor or otherwise to maintain the net worth or
solvency of the primary obligor; or

(3)    to purchase property, securities or services primarily for the purpose of assuring the owner of any such primary
obligation of the ability of the primary obligor to make payment of such primary obligation against loss in respect thereof.
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“Corporate Trust Office” with respect to the Indenture Trustee, means the office of the Indenture Trustee at which at any
particular time its corporate trust business shall be administered, which office on the date of this Indenture is located at 300 Park
Street, Suite 390 Birmingham, Michigan 48009 (Attention: Capital Markets Insurance Services, Facsimile: (248) 723-5424, Telephone:
(248) 723-5422) or at such other address as the Indenture Trustee may designate from time to time by notice to the Holders and the
Issuer, or the principal corporate trust office of any successor Indenture Trustee (the address of which the successor Indenture
Trustee will notify the Holders and the Issuer).

“Credit Facilities” means the White Eagle Credit Facility and the Red Falcon Credit Facility.

“Default” means any event which is, or after notice or passage of time or both would be, an Event of Default.

“Deposit Account Control Agreement” means an agreement, among the Issuer, the banking institution with respect to a Pledged
Deposit Account, and the Indenture Trustee with respect to collection and control of all deposits and balances held in such account
maintained by the Issuer with such banking institution in accordance with clause (i) of Section 4.11, Section 5.05 and the penultimate
and last sentences of Section 5.03.

“Equity Interests” means Capital Stock and all warrants, options or other rights to acquire Capital Stock (but excluding any debt
security that is convertible into, or exchangeable for, Capital Stock), including Capital Stock resulting from a stock split, revision,
reclassification or other exchange therefor, and any subscriptions, warrants, rights or options issued to the holder of, or otherwise in
respect of the Equity Interests.

“Exchange Act” means the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations of the
SEC promulgated thereunder.

“Excluded Property” means:

(a)    any distributions from Blue Heron, OLIPP IV or Red Reef not derived from the Pledged Collateral;

(b)    any distributions from the Non-Pledged Irish Profit Participating Note; and

(c)    any property or assets owned by the Issuer or any of its Affiliates, including rights to any Litigation Proceeds, that, if
included as part of the Collateral, would result in a default or event of default under either of the Credit Facilities.

“FATCA” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code and any current or future regulations promulgated thereunder or
official interpretations thereof, and including any agreements entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b) of the Code or applicable
intergovernmental agreements.

“FATCA Withholding Tax” means any withholding taxes imposed on or in respect of any Note pursuant to FATCA.
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“Financial Officer” of any Person shall mean the Chief Financial Officer, principal accounting officer, Treasurer, Assistant
Treasurer or Controller of such Person.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of
the Accounting Principles Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board or in such other statements by such other entity as have been approved by a significant
segment of the accounting profession. For the purposes of this Indenture, the term “consolidated” with respect to any Person shall
mean such Person consolidated with its Subsidiaries.

“Governmental Authority” means the government of the United States, or of any political subdivision thereof, whether state or
local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative,
judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government.

“Grant” means to mortgage, pledge, bargain, sell, warrant, alienate, demise, convey, assign, transfer, grant a security interest
in, create a right of setoff against, deposit, set over and confirm. A Grant of any item of Collateral shall include all rights, powers and
options (but none of the obligations) of the granting party thereunder, including without limitation the immediate and continuing right to
claim for, collect, receive and give receipt for principal and interest payments in respect of such item of Collateral and all other monies
and proceeds payable thereunder, to give and receive notices and other communications, to make waivers or other agreements, to
exercise all rights and options, to bring proceedings in the name of the granting party or otherwise, and generally to do and receive
anything which the granting party is or may be entitled to do or receive thereunder or with respect thereto.

“Group Companies” means the Issuer and the Pledged Subsidiaries.

“guarantee” means a guarantee (other than by endorsement of negotiable instruments for collection in the Ordinary Course of
Business), direct or indirect, in any manner (including, without limitation, by way of a pledge of assets or through letters of credit or
reimbursement agreements in respect thereof), of all or any part of any Indebtedness or other obligations (whether arising by virtue of
partnership arrangements, or by agreements to keep-well, to purchase assets, goods, securities or services, to take or pay or to
maintain financial statement conditions or otherwise).

“Hedging Obligations” means, with respect to any Person, the obligations of such Person under:

(1)    currency exchange, interest rate or commodity swap agreements, currency exchange, interest rate or commodity
cap agreements and currency exchange, interest rate or commodity collar agreements; and

(2)    other agreements or arrangements designed to protect such Person against fluctuations in currency exchange,
interest rates or asset prices.
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“Holder” means the Person in whose name a Note is registered on the Note Registrar’s books.

“Incur” means issue, assume, guarantee, incur or otherwise become liable for; provided, however, that any Indebtedness or
Capital Stock of a Person existing at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary (whether by merger, amalgamation, consolidation,
acquisition or otherwise) shall be deemed to be Incurred by such Person at the time it becomes a Subsidiary.

“Indebtedness” means, with respect to any Person, the principal and premium (if any) of any indebtedness of such Person,
whether or not contingent, (a) in respect of borrowed money, (b) evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures or similar instruments or
letters of credit or bankers’ acceptances (or, without duplication, reimbursement agreements in respect thereof), (c) representing the
deferred and unpaid purchase price of any property or services (except (i) any such balance that constitutes a trade payable or similar
obligation to a trade creditor Incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business and (ii) any liabilities accrued in the Ordinary Course of
Business), which purchase price is due more than six months after the date of placing the property in service or taking delivery and
title thereto or such services are completed, (d) in respect of capitalized lease obligations or net rental payments in respect of sale and
leaseback transactions, or (e) representing any Hedging Obligations, if and to the extent that any of the foregoing indebtedness (other
than letters of credit and Hedging Obligations and net rental payments in respect of sale and leaseback transactions) would appear as
a liability on a balance sheet (excluding the footnotes thereto) of such Person prepared in accordance with GAAP; provided, however,
that notwithstanding the foregoing, Indebtedness shall be deemed not to include (1) Contingent Obligations incurred in the Ordinary
Course of Business and not in respect of borrowed money; (2) deferred or prepaid revenues; (3) purchase price holdbacks in respect
of a portion of the purchase price of an asset to satisfy warranty or other unperformed obligations of the respective seller; (4) any
retained death benefit payouts on a Life Policy; or (5) any earn-out obligations, purchase price adjustments, deferred purchase money
amounts, milestone and/or bonus payments (whether performance or time-based), and royalty, licensing, revenue and/or profit sharing
arrangements, in each case, characterized as such and arising expressly out of purchase and sale contracts, development
arrangements or licensing arrangements.

“Indenture” means this Indenture as amended or supplemented from time to time.

“Indenture Trustee” means the party named as such in this Indenture until a successor replaces it in accordance with the
applicable provisions of this Indenture and, thereafter, means such successor.

“Initial Issue Date” means March 11, 2016.

“Initial Note Balance” means, for any Note, the principal amount stated on the face of such Note at the time it is issued.

“Initial Notes” means the 15.0% senior secured notes due September 14, 2018 issued under this Indenture on the Initial Issue
Date.

9

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



“Interest Period” means for (i) the Initial Notes, the period from and including the Initial Issue Date to but excluding the initial
Payment Date, and thereafter each period from and including a Payment Date to but excluding the following Payment Date (or the
Maturity Date, in the case of the last Interest Period) and (ii) any Additional Notes, the period from and including the applicable
Additional Issue Date to but excluding the next Payment Date, and thereafter each period from and including a Payment Date to but
excluding the following Payment Date (or the Maturity Date, in the case of the last Interest Period).

“Irish Profit Participating Notes” means collectively, the Non-Pledged Irish Profit Participating Note and the Pledged Irish Profit
Participating Note, and any Additional PPNs (as such term is defined in the Pledge Agreement).

“Irish Share Charge” means the share charge to be entered into by and between the Issuer and the Indenture Trustee with
respect to the charge by the Issuer of 65% of the share capital of Blue Heron.

“Issuer Order” means a written request or order signed in the name of the Issuer by an Officer of the Issuer.

“Lien” means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, lien, security assignment, pledge, charge, security interest or
encumbrance of any kind in respect of such asset, whether or not filed, recorded or otherwise perfected under applicable law
(including any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any lease in the nature thereof, any option or other agreement to sell
or give a security interest in and any filing of or agreement to give any financing statement under the Uniform Commercial Code (or
equivalent statutes of any jurisdiction); provided that in no event shall (i) any interest (whether beneficial, contractual or ownership) in
any life insurance policy possessed or retained by one or more third parties upon any Life Policy’s acquisition by an Affiliate of the
Issuer where such retention was contemplated in connection with the acquisition of such life insurance policy constitute a Lien and (ii)
an operating lease be deemed to constitute a Lien.

“Life Policy” means any life insurance policy exclusive of any interest (whether beneficial, contractual or ownership) in such
policy possessed or retained by one or more third parties upon such policy’s acquisition by an Affiliate of the Issuer where such
retention was contemplated in connection with the acquisition of such policy.

“Litigation Proceeds” means any settlement proceeds or damages award arising out of claims asserted in the Sun Life Litigation
(including amounts arising out of any commercial tort claims), actually received by the Issuer after giving effect to any amounts due
under the Credit Facilities in respect of the Life Policies that are the subject of the Sun Life Litigation.

“Litigation Proceeds Account” mean a deposit account established and maintained by the Issuer with a banking institution into
which Litigation Proceeds are deposited.

“Litigation Proceeds Account Control Agreement” means an agreement, among the Issuer, a banking institution with respect to
the Litigation Proceeds Account, and the Indenture Trustee with respect to collection and control of all deposits and balances held in
such account maintained
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by the Issuer with such banking institution in accordance with clause (ii) Section 4.11, Section 5.05 and the penultimate and last
sentences of Section 5.03.

“Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on (a) the business, property, operations or condition (financial or
otherwise) of (i) the Issuer, or (ii) the Issuer and its Significant Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (b) the validity or enforceability of this
Indenture or any of the other Transaction Documents or the rights or remedies of the Indenture Trustee or the Holders hereunder or
thereunder or of the Liens created by any of the Security Documents, (c) the value of the Collateral, taken as a whole, or (d) the ability
of the Issuer to perform its obligations under the Transaction Documents.

“Maturity Date” means September 14, 2018.

“Net Proceeds” means the aggregate cash proceeds received by the Issuer in respect of any public offering or private
placement of any Indebtedness of the Issuer or bank or other borrowings of Indebtedness by the Issuer, in each case, that is not
Permitted Indebtedness and, net of the direct costs relating to the incurrence of such Indebtedness (including, without limitation, legal,
accounting and investment banking fees, and brokerage and sales commissions), and any taxes paid or payable as a result thereof
(after taking into account any available tax credits or deductions and any tax sharing arrangements to the extent related thereto).

“New Issuer Deposit Account” means a deposit account established with a banking institution in the Issuer’s name after the
Initial Issue Date.

“New Issuer Deposit Account Control Agreement” means an agreement, among the Issuer, a banking institution with which a
New Issuer Deposit Account is established, and the Indenture Trustee with respect to collection and control of all deposits and
balances held in such account maintained by the Issuer with such banking institution in accordance with clause (ii) Section 4.11,
Section 5.05 and the penultimate and last sentences of Section 5.03.

“Non-Pledged Irish Profit Participating Note” means the Profit Participating Notes due 2055 issued to the Issuer by Blue Heron
in a principal amount of $5,501,622.37, which represent 35% of the Irish Profit Participating Notes.

“Non-Recourse Indebtedness” means Indebtedness:

(1)    as to which neither the Issuer nor any Pledged Subsidiaries (a) provides credit support of any kind (including any
undertaking, agreement or instrument that would constitute Indebtedness), (b) is directly or indirectly liable as a guarantor or
otherwise, or (c) constitutes the lender; and

(2)    no default with respect to which would permit upon notice, lapse of time or both any holder of any other
Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Pledged Subsidiaries to declare a default on such other Indebtedness or cause the payment of the
Indebtedness to be accelerated or payable prior to its stated maturity.
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“Notes” means the Initial Notes and any Additional Notes.

“Note Balance” means, with respect to any Note, as of any date, the Initial Note Balance of such Note less any principal
previously paid on such Note and subject to transfer or exchange of all or any portion thereof.

“Noteholder FATCA Information” means information sufficient to eliminate the imposition of, or determine the amount of, U.S.
withholding tax under FATCA.

“Noteholder Tax Identification Information” means properly completed and signed tax certifications (generally, in the case of
U.S. Federal Income Tax, IRS Form W-9 (or applicable successor form) in the case of a person that is a “United States Person” within
the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code or the appropriate IRS Form W-8 (or applicable successor form) in the case of a
person that is not a “United States Person” within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code).

“Note Interest Rate” means 15.0% per annum.

“Note Purchase Agreement” means any Note Purchase Agreement between the Issuer and the purchaser(s) named therein
providing for the sale of Notes by the Issuer to such purchaser(s).

“Officer” means, as it pertains to any Group Company, the Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer, President, any Executive Vice President, Senior Vice President or Vice President, the Treasurer or the Secretary of such
Group Company or of the Issuer, as managing member of such Group Company; provided, however, that as it pertains to any Issuer
Order issued in connection with the regularly scheduled payment of interest, “Officer” shall also include the Director of Accounting of
the Issuer.

“Officers’ Certificate” means a certificate signed on behalf of the Issuer by two Officers of the Issuer, one of whom must be the
principal executive officer, the principal financial officer, the treasurer or the principal accounting officer of the Issuer that meets the
requirements set forth in this Indenture.

“OLIPP IV” means OLIPP IV, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, the sole member of which is the Issuer.

“Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion from legal counsel who is acceptable to the Indenture Trustee. If such counsel is
otherwise acceptable to the Indenture Trustee, such counsel may be an employee of or counsel to the Issuer or the Indenture Trustee.

“Ordinary Course of Business” means an action taken by a Person will be deemed to have been taken in the Ordinary Course
of Business only if that action: (i) is consistent in nature, scope and magnitude with the past practices of such Person and is taken in
the ordinary course of the normal, day-to-day operations of such Person; (ii) does not require authorization by the board of directors or
shareholders of such Person (or by any Person or group of Persons exercising similar authority) and does not require any other
separate or special authorization of any nature (other than
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as specifically required by this Indenture); and (iii) is similar in nature, scope and magnitude to actions customarily taken, without any
separate or special authorization, in the ordinary course of the normal, day-to-day operations of other Persons that are in the same
line of business as such Person.

“Payment Date” means the 15th day of March, June, September and December of each calendar year, with the initial Payment
Date being June 15, 2016.

“Permitted Indebtedness” means

(i) the Notes;

(ii) Indebtedness existing on the Initial Issue
Date;

(iii) Indebtedness now or hereafter incurred under the Credit Facilities;
and

(iv) Permitted Refinancing
Indebtedness.

“Permitted Liens” means, with respect to any person:

(1)    pledges or deposits by such Person under workers’ compensation laws, unemployment insurance laws, pension
laws or similar legislation, or good faith deposits in connection with bids, tenders, contracts (other than for the payment of
Indebtedness) or leases to which such Person is a party, or deposits to secure public or statutory obligations of such Person or
deposits of cash or United States government bonds to secure surety or appeal bonds to which such Person is a party, or
deposits as security for contested taxes or import or customs duties or for the payment of rent, in each case Incurred in the
ordinary course of business;

(2)    Liens imposed by law, including carriers’, warehousemen’s, mechanics’, materialmen’s and repairmen’s Liens,
Incurred in the ordinary course of business;

(3)    Liens for taxes, assessments or other governmental charges not yet subject to penalties for non-payment or that are
being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings provided appropriate reserves required pursuant to GAAP have been
made in respect thereof;

(4)    judgment Liens not giving rise to an Event of Default;

(5)    Liens securing the Notes; and

(6)    Liens in favor of the Issuer.

“Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness” means any Indebtedness of the Issuer issued in exchange for, or the net proceeds of
which are used to renew, refund, refinance, replace, defease or discharge other Indebtedness of the Issuer or any of its Pledged
Subsidiaries existing on the Initial Issue Date; provided that:
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(1)    the principal amount of such Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness does not exceed the principal amount, or if
greater, the committed amount of the Indebtedness renewed, refunded, refinanced, replaced, defeased or discharged (plus all
accrued interest on the Indebtedness and the amount of all fees and expenses, including premiums, incurred in connection
therewith); and

(2)    such Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness has a final maturity date later than the final maturity date of, and has a
Weighted Average Life to Maturity equal to or greater than the Weighted Average Life to Maturity of, the Indebtedness being
renewed, refunded, refinanced, replaced, defeased or discharged; and

(3)    if the Indebtedness being renewed, refunded, refinanced, replaced, defeased or discharged is subordinated in right
of payment to the Notes, such Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness has a final maturity date later than the final maturity date of,
and is subordinated in right of payment to, the Notes on terms at least as favorable to the Holders as those contained in the
documentation governing the Indebtedness being renewed, refunded, refinanced, replaced, defeased or discharged.

“Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association, joint-stock
company, trust, unincorporated organization, government or any agency or political subdivision thereof or any other entity.

“Pledge Agreement” means the pledge and security agreement, dated as of the date hereof, entered into by the Issuer in favor
of the Indenture Trustee as secured party.

“Pledged Irish Profit Participating Note” means the Profit Participating Notes due 2055 issued to the Issuer by Blue Heron in a
principal amount of $10,217,297, which represent 65% of the Irish Profit Participating Notes.

“Pledged Irish Profit Participating Note Assignment” means, collectively, the deed of security assignment to be entered by and
between the Issuer and the Indenture Trustee with respect to the Pledged Irish Profit Participating Note, and the notice of contract
assignment to be delivered by the Issuer to Blue Heron with respect to such deed of security assignment.

“Pledged Subsidiaries” means Blue Heron, Red Reef and OLIPP IV, as more particularly described on Schedule 1.01(B).

“Protected Purchaser” has the meaning specified in Section 8-303 of the Uniform Commercial Code.

“Record Date” means, with respect to any Payment Date and any Note, the fifth (5th) Business Day preceding the related
Payment Date.

“Red Falcon” means Red Falcon Trust, a Delaware statutory trust.

“Red Falcon Credit Facility” means the Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of July 16, 2015, by and between Red Falcon,
as borrower, the financial institutions party thereto as lenders,
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the other loan parties party thereto, and CLMG Corp., as administrative agent, together with the “Transaction Documents” as defined
in such Loan and Security Agreement.

“Red Reef” means Red Reef Alternative Investments, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, the sole member of which is
the Issuer.

“Required Holders” means the Holders of more than 50% in principal amount of Notes then outstanding, voting as a single
class.

“Requirements of Law” means, as to any Person, any law, treaty, rule or regulation or determination of an arbitrator or a court
or other Governmental Authority, in each case applicable to or binding upon such Person or any of its property or to which such
Person or any of its property is subject.

“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Secured Obligations” means all principal, interest, premiums, penalties, fees, charges, expenses, indemnifications,
reimbursements, damages, obligations, liabilities and indebtedness of every kind, nature and description owing by the Issuer to any
Secured Party, however evidenced, whether as principal, surety, endorser, guarantor or otherwise, arising under any of the
Transaction Documents, whether now existing or hereafter arising, whether arising before, during or after the initial or any renewal
term of the Transaction Documents or after the commencement of any case with respect to the Issuer under any Bankruptcy Law or
any other insolvency or liquidation proceeding (and including, without limitation, any principal, interest, fees, costs, expenses and other
amounts, which would accrue and become due but for the commencement of such case, whether or not such amounts are allowed or
allowable in whole or in part in such case or similar proceeding), whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, joint or several, due
or not due, primary or secondary, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured.

“Securities Act” means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations of the SEC
promulgated thereunder.

“Security Documents” means this Indenture, the Pledge Agreement, the Irish Share Charge, the Pledged Irish Profit
Participating Note Assignment, any Account Control Agreement, and any other security agreement of any kind, as amended,
supplemented, restated, renewed, refunded, replaced, restructured, repaid, refinanced or otherwise modified from time to time,
creating security interests in the Collateral as contemplated by this Indenture.

“Significant Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary that would be a “Significant Subsidiary” of the Issuer within the meaning of
Rule 1-02 under Regulation S-X promulgated by the SEC (or any successor provision).

“Similar Business” means a business, the majority of whose revenues are derived from the activities of the Group Companies
as of the Initial Issue Date or any business or activity that is reasonably similar or complementary thereto or a reasonable extension,
development or expansion thereof or ancillary thereto.
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“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, (1) any corporation, association or other business entity (other than a
partnership, joint venture or limited liability company) of which more than 50% of the total voting power of shares of Capital Stock
entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees thereof is at the
time of determination owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that Person
or a combination thereof, and (2) any partnership, joint venture or limited liability company of which (x) more than 50% of the capital
accounts, distribution rights, total equity and voting interests or general and limited partnership interests, as applicable, are owned or
controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that Person or a combination thereof,
whether in the form of membership, general, special or limited partnership interests or otherwise, and (y) such Person or any
Subsidiary of such Person is a controlling general partner or otherwise controls such entity. For purposes of clarity, a Subsidiary of a
Person shall not include any Person that is under common control with the first Person solely by virtue of having directors, managers
or trustees in common and shall not include any Person that is solely under common control with the first Person (i.e., a sister
company with a common parent). Unless the context otherwise requires, each reference to Subsidiaries herein shall be a reference to
Subsidiaries of the Issuer.

“Sun Life Litigation” means the litigation proceeding in the Southern District of Florida styled as Imperial Premium Finance, LLC
v. Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada, Case No. 13-CV-80385-Brannon (consolidated with Case No. 13-CV-80730).

“Transaction Documents” means, collectively, this Indenture, the Notes, the Note Purchase Agreement, the Security
Documents and the other documents related hereto and thereto.

“Treasury Rate” means as of any redemption date of the Notes the yield to maturity at the time of computation on the U.S.
Treasury security with a constant maturity (as compiled and published in the most recent Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15
(519) that has become publicly available at least two Business Days prior to the redemption date (or, if such Statistical Release is no
longer published, any publicly available source or similar market data)) most nearly equal to the period from the redemption date to the
Maturity Date; provided, however, that if the period from the redemption date to the Maturity Dateis not equal to the constant maturity
of a U.S. Treasury security for which a weekly average yield is given, the Treasury Rate shall be obtained by linear interpolation
(calculated to the nearest one-twelfth of a year) from the weekly average yields of U.S. Treasury securities for which such yields are
given, except that if the period from the redemption date to the Maturity Date is less than one year, the weekly average yield on
actually traded U.S. Treasury securities adjusted to a constant maturity of one year will be used.

16

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



“Trust Officer” means any officer within the corporate trust department of the Indenture Trustee, including any vice president,
assistant vice president, assistant secretary, assistant treasurer, trust officer or any other officer of the Indenture Trustee (a) who
customarily performs functions similar to those performed by the Persons who at the time shall be such officers, respectively, or to
whom any corporate trust matter is referred because of such Person’s knowledge of and familiarity with the particular subject, and (b)
who shall have direct responsibility for the administration of this Indenture.

“Uniform Commercial Code” means the New York Uniform Commercial Code as in effect from time to time.

“Voting Stock” of any Person as of any date means the Capital Stock of such Person that is at the time entitled to vote in the
election of the Board of Directors of such Person.

“Weighted Average Life to Maturity” means, when applied to any Indebtedness at any date, the number of years obtained by
dividing:

(1) the sum of the products obtained by multiplying (a) the amount of each then remaining installment, sinking fund, serial
maturity or other required payments of principal, including payment at final maturity, in respect of the Indebtedness, by (b)
the number of years (calculated to the nearest one-twelfth) that will elapse between such date and the making of such
payment; by

(2) the then outstanding principal amount of such
Indebtedness.

“White Eagle” means White Eagle Asset Portfolio, LP.

“White Eagle Credit Facility” means the Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2014, and
amended on November 10, 2015, by and between White Eagle, as borrower, the financial institutions party thereto as lenders, the
other loan parties party thereto, and CLMG Corp., as administrative agent, together with (i) the “Transaction Documents” as defined in
such Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement and (ii) the documents related to the conversion of White Eagle Asset
Portfolio, LLC to White Eagle Asset Portfolio, LP on May 16, 2014.

SECTION 1.02.     Other Definitions.
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Term Defined in Section
  

“Applicable Regulations” 2.09
“Authenticating Agent” 2.02(b)
“Bankruptcy Law” 5.01
“Change of Control Offer” 3.07
“Change of Control Offer Period” 3.07
“Claim Notice” 6.06
“consolidated” “GAAP” definition
“custodian” 5.01
“Event of Default” 5.01
“Indemnified Person” 6.06
“Issuer” Preamble
“Note Registrar” 2.04(a)
“Note Register” 2.04(a)
“Payment Account” 2.08
“Pledged Collateral” Granting Clause
“Pledged Deposit Accounts” Granting Clause
“primary obligations” “Contingent Obligations” definition
“primary obligor” “Contingent Obligations” definition
“Restricted Payments 4.12
“Retained Counsel” 6.06
“Secured Parties” Preamble
“Selection Notice” 6.06
“Site” 6.02(y)
“Trust Estate” Granting Clause
  

SECTION 1.03.    Rules of Construction. For all purposes of this Indenture, except as otherwise expressly provided or
unless the context otherwise requires:

(a)    the terms defined in this Article have the meanings assigned to them in this Article and include the plural as well as
the singular;

(b)     all accounting terms not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to them in accordance with GAAP;

(c)    the word “including” shall be construed to be followed by the words “without limitation”; the word “or” shall not be
deemed to be exclusive;

(d)    article and section headings are for the convenience of the reader and shall not be considered in interpreting this
Indenture or the intent of the parties hereto;
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(e)    the words “herein,” “hereof” and “hereunder” and other words of similar import refer to this Indenture as a whole and
not to any particular article, section or other subdivision;

(f)    the pronouns used herein are used in the masculine and neuter genders but shall be construed as feminine,
masculine or neuter, as the context requires;

(g)    a reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person’s successors and permitted assigns;

(h)    a reference to any statute, regulation, proclamation, ordinance or law includes all statutes, regulations,
proclamations, ordinances or laws varying, consolidating or replacing the same from time to time, and a reference to a statute
includes all regulations, policies, protocols, codes, proclamations and ordinances issued or otherwise applicable under that
statute unless, in any such case, otherwise expressly provided in any such statute;

(i)    a definition of or reference to any document, instrument or agreement includes an amendment or supplement to, or
restatement, replacement, modification or novation of, any such document, instrument or agreement unless otherwise specified
in such definition or in the context in which such reference is used;

(j)    terms used herein that are defined in the New York Uniform Commercial Code and not otherwise defined herein
shall have the meanings set forth in the New York Uniform Commercial Code, unless the context requires otherwise; and

(k)    to the extent any provision of this Indenture conflicts with the express provisions of any other Transaction
Documents, the provisions of this Indenture shall govern and be controlling.

ARTICLE 2     

THE SECURITIES

SECTION 2.01.    Forms; Denominations.

Each Note shall be issued in physical, registered form only in initial denominations of not less than $25,000 and in
integral multiples of $1,000 in excess thereof. The Notes will be substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A; provided that
any of the Notes may be issued with appropriate insertions, omissions, substitutions and variations as are required or permitted by this
Indenture, and may have imprinted or otherwise reproduced thereon such legend or legends, not inconsistent with the provisions of
this Indenture, as may be required to comply with any Requirements of Law or any other applicable law or with rules or regulations
pursuant thereto, or with the rules of any securities market in which the Notes are admitted to trading, or to conform to general usage.
The maximum principal amount of Notes to be issued hereunder is $30,000,000.
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SECTION 2.02.    Execution, Authentication, Delivery and Dating.

(l)    The Notes shall be executed by manual or facsimile signature on behalf of the Issuer by any Officer of the Issuer.
Notes bearing the manual or facsimile signatures of individuals who were at any time the Officers of the Issuer shall be entitled
to all benefits under this Indenture, subject to the following sentence, notwithstanding that such individuals or any of them have
ceased to hold such offices prior to the authentication and delivery of such Notes. No Note shall be entitled to any benefit under
this Indenture, or be valid for any purpose, however, unless there appears on such Note a certificate of authentication
substantially in the form provided for herein executed by the Indenture Trustee by manual signature, and such certificate of
authentication upon any Note shall be conclusive evidence, and the only evidence, that such Note has been duly authenticated
and delivered hereunder. All Notes shall be dated the date of their authentication. Upon the initial issuance of any Note, such
Note shall be authenticated by the Indenture Trustee pursuant to, and upon the Indenture Trustee’s receipt of, an Issuer Order.

(m)    The Indenture Trustee may appoint one or more agents (each an “Authenticating Agent”) with power to act on its
behalf and subject to its direction in the authentication of Notes in connection with transfers and exchanges under Section 2.04
and mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Notes under Section 2.05, as fully to all intents and purposes as though each such
Authenticating Agent had been expressly authorized by those Sections to authenticate the Notes. For all purposes of this
Indenture, the authentication of Notes by an Authenticating Agent shall be deemed to be the authentication of Notes “by the
Indenture Trustee”.

Any corporation, bank, trust company or association into which any Authenticating Agent may be merged or converted
or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation, bank, trust company or association resulting from any merger, consolidation
or conversion to which any Authenticating Agent shall be a party, or any corporation, bank, trust company or association succeeding
to the corporate trust business of an Authenticating Agent, shall be the successor of such Authenticating Agent hereunder, without the
execution or filing of any further act on the part of the parties hereto or such Authenticating Agent or such successor corporation, bank,
trust company or association.

Any Authenticating Agent may at any time resign by giving written notice of resignation to the Indenture Trustee and the
Issuer. The Indenture Trustee may at any time terminate the agency of any Authenticating Agent by giving written notice of termination
to such Authenticating Agent and the Issuer. Upon receiving such notice of resignation or upon such a termination, the Indenture
Trustee may but shall not be obligated to appoint a successor Authenticating Agent, and, upon such appointment, the Indenture
Trustee will give written notice of such appointment to the Issuer and the Holders. In the event such a successor is not appointed by
the Indenture Trustee, the role of Authenticating Agent will revert to the Indenture Trustee.

Each Authenticating Agent shall be entitled to all of the protections, privileges, limitations on liability, rights of
reimbursement and indemnities that the Indenture Trustee is entitled to hereunder as fully as if it were the Indenture Trustee.
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SECTION 2.03.    Interest, Payment of Note Balance of Outstanding Notes.

(a)    Each Note will accrue interest during each Interest Period on its Note Balance at the Note Interest Rate calculated
based on the actual number of days elapsed and a 360-day year.

(b)    Accrued interest will be due and payable in cash on each Payment Date, or following declaration of acceleration
pursuant to Section 5.02, on demand.

(c)    The Note Balance of each Note plus any accrued interest is due and payable on the Maturity Date, unless the Note
Balance and accrued interest of the Note is subject to earlier payment (whether by declaration of acceleration, voluntary or
mandatory redemption or otherwise).

(d)    The Notes may be prepaid in whole, but not in part, together with all accrued interest as set forth in Section 3.02,
and are subject to mandatory redemption in whole, as set forth in Section 3.06, and are subject to mandatory redemption, in
whole, but not in part, (at the election of each Holder), as set forth in Section 3.07.

(e)    The Issuer will pay interest (including post-petition interest in any proceeding under the Bankruptcy Law whether or
not a claim for post-petition interest is allowable as a claim in any such proceeding) on overdue principal and premium, if any,
at the rate equal to the then applicable interest rate on the Notes to the extent lawful; it will pay interest (including post-petition
interest in any proceeding under the Bankruptcy Law whether or not a claim for post-petition interest is allowable as a claim in
any such proceeding) on overdue installments of interest without regard to any applicable grace period at the rate equal to
2.0% per annum to the extent lawful.

(f)    If the Issuer defaults in a payment of interest on the Notes, it shall pay the defaulted interest in any lawful manner
plus, to the extent lawful, interest payable on the defaulted interest, to the Holders on a subsequent special record date, in
each case at the rate provided in the Notes and in Section 2.03(e). The Issuer shall notify the Indenture Trustee in writing of
the amount of defaulted interest proposed to be paid on each Note and the date of the proposed payment, and at the same
time the Issuer shall deposit with the Indenture Trustee an amount of money equal to the aggregate amount proposed to be
paid in respect of such defaulted interest or shall make arrangements reasonably satisfactory to the Indenture Trustee for such
deposit prior to the date of the proposed payment, such money when deposited to be held in trust in the Payment Account for
the benefit of the Holders entitled to such defaulted interest as provided in this Section 2.03(f). The Issuer shall fix or cause to
be fixed each such special record date and payment date; provided that no such special record date shall be less than five (5)
days prior to the related payment date for such defaulted interest. At least fifteen (15) days before the special record date, the
Issuer (or, upon the written request of the Issuer, the Indenture Trustee in the name and at the expense of the Issuer) shall
send, or cause to be sent, to each Holder a notice that states the special record date, the related payment date and the amount
of such interest to be paid to such Holder.
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SECTION 2.04.    Registration of Transfer and Exchange of Notes.

(a)    At all times during the term of this Indenture, there shall be maintained at the office of a registrar appointed by the
Issuer (the “Note Registrar”) a register (the “Note Register”) in which, subject to such reasonable regulations as the Note
Registrar may prescribe, the Note Registrar shall provide for the registration of Notes and of transfers and exchanges of Notes
as herein provided. The Indenture Trustee is hereby initially appointed (and hereby agrees to act in accordance with the terms
hereof) as Note Registrar for the purpose of registering Notes and transfers and exchanges of Notes as herein provided. If the
Indenture Trustee resigns or is removed in accordance with the terms hereof, the successor Indenture Trustee shall
immediately succeed to its predecessor’s duties as Note Registrar, absent appointment of any other bank or trust company to
act as Note Registrar.

(b)    No transfer, sale, pledge or other disposition of any Note or interest therein shall be made unless that transfer, sale,
pledge or other disposition is exempt from the registration and/or qualification requirements of the Securities Act, regulations
promulgated thereunder and any applicable state securities laws, or is otherwise made in accordance with the Securities Act,
regulations promulgated thereunder and such state securities laws. The Notes shall be transferable only upon the surrender of
a Note for registration of transfer and delivery and the duly completed and executed certification substantially in the form of
Exhibit B-1 hereto and a duly completed and executed representation substantially the form of Exhibit B-2 hereto. None of the
Issuer, the Indenture Trustee or the Note Registrar is obligated to register or qualify any Notes under the Securities Act,
regulations promulgated thereunder or any other securities law or to take any action not otherwise required under this Indenture
to permit the transfer of any Note or interest. Any Holder desiring to effect a transfer of Notes or interests therein shall, and is
hereby deemed to have agreed to, indemnify and hold harmless the Issuer, the Indenture Trustee and the Note Registrar
against costs, damages, or any other liability that may result if the transfer is not so exempt or is not made in accordance with
such federal and state laws.

(c)    The Note Registrar shall refuse to register any requested transfer unless it receives (and upon receipt, may
conclusively rely upon) a certification from the transferring Holder in substantially the form of Exhibit B-1 hereto, and a
representation letter from the transferee, in substantially the form of Exhibit B-2 hereto, and shall have no duty to determine
whether such transfer is so exempt or complies with such federal and state laws.

(d)    Any purported transfer of a Note to a Person that does not comply with the requirements of this Section 2.04 will be
null and void ab initio and the transferor (or the last preceding Holder of such Note (or interest therein)) that was not so
disqualified shall be restored to all rights as a Holder thereof retroactively to the date of transfer of such Note by such
disqualified transferee. None of the Indenture Trustee, the Note Registrar or any other Person shall be obligated to register or
otherwise recognize such purported transfer of a Note that does not comply with the requirements of this Section 2.04. Without
limiting the express obligations of the Note Registrar and Indenture Trustee otherwise set forth in this Section 2.04, nothing
herein shall impose an
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affirmative duty on the Note Registrar or Indenture Trustee to investigate or make other inquiries as to whether a purported
transferee has complied with the requirements set forth in this Section 2.04.

(e)    If a Person is acquiring any Note or interest therein as a fiduciary or agent for one or more accounts, such Person
shall be required to deliver to the Note Registrar a certification to the effect that it has (i) sole investment discretion with respect
to each such account and (ii) full power to make the foregoing acknowledgments, representations, warranties, certifications and
agreements with respect to each such account as set forth in this Section 2.04 (and upon receipt, the Note Registrar may
conclusively rely upon such certification) and shall have no duty to determine whether the Person acquiring such Note or
interest therein is such a fiduciary or agent, or has such discretion or power, as the case may be.

(f)    Subject to the preceding provisions of this Section 2.04, upon surrender for registration of transfer of any Note at the
offices of the Note Registrar maintained for such purpose, the Issuer shall execute and the Indenture Trustee shall authenticate
and deliver, in the name of the designated transferee or transferees (and, to the extent that only a portion of the transferring
Holder’s Note Balance is being transferred, to the transferring Holder), one or more new Notes of authorized denominations, of
a like aggregate Note Balance of the surrendered Note.

(g)    At the option of any Holder, its Notes may be exchanged for other Notes of a like aggregate Note Balance of the
surrendered Notes upon surrender of the Notes to be exchanged at the offices of the Note Registrar maintained for such
purpose. Whenever any Notes are so surrendered for exchange, the Issuer shall execute and the Indenture Trustee shall
authenticate and deliver the Notes of a like aggregate Note Balance of the surrendered Notes which the Holder making the
exchange is entitled to receive.

(h)    Every Note presented or surrendered for transfer or exchange shall (if so required by the Note Registrar) be duly
endorsed by, or be accompanied by a written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory to the Note Registrar duly executed by,
the Holder thereof or its attorney duly authorized in writing. The Note Registrar may require any Holder, among other things, to
furnish any appropriate endorsements and transfer documents, and to have signatures guaranteed by an “eligible guarantor
institution” that is a member or participant in a recognized “signature guarantee program” (e.g., the securities Transfer Agents
Medallion Program, the Stock Exchange Medallion Program or the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. Medallion Signature
Program).

(i)    No service charge shall be imposed for any transfer or exchange of Notes, but the Indenture Trustee or the Note
Registrar may require payment from the Holder of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be
imposed in connection with any transfer or exchange of Notes.
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(j)    All Notes surrendered for transfer and exchange shall be physically canceled by the Note Registrar, and the Note
Registrar shall dispose of such canceled Notes in accordance with its standard procedures.

(k)    The Note Registrar shall provide to the Issuer or the Indenture Trustee, upon reasonable prior written request, and
at the expense of the Issuer, an updated copy of the Note Register. The Issuer and the Indenture Trustee shall have the right to
obtain a copy thereof within a reasonable amount of time after receipt of notice by the Note Registrar, and to rely conclusively
upon a certificate of the Note Registrar as to the information set forth in the Note Register.

(l)    Neither the Note Registrar nor the Indenture Trustee shall be under any duty to monitor or determine compliance
with any federal, state or other securities or tax laws that may be applicable; provided, however, that the Note Registrar or the
Indenture Trustee, as the case may be, shall be under a duty to receive and to examine to determine whether the certificate in
substantially the form of Exhibit B-1 or the representation letter in substantially the form of Exhibit B-2 specifically required by
the express terms of this Section 2.04 has been delivered to the Note Registrar or the Indenture Trustee as a requirement of the
registration of a transfer of a Note.

(m)    The Note Registrar shall be entitled to all of the protections, privileges, limitations on liability, rights of
reimbursement and indemnities that the Indenture Trustee is entitled to hereunder as fully as if it were the Indenture Trustee.

SECTION 2.05.    Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost or Stolen Notes.

If any mutilated Note is surrendered to the Note Registrar, the Issuer shall execute and the Indenture Trustee shall
authenticate and deliver, in exchange therefor, a new Note of the same tenor and denomination, registered in the same manner, dated
the date of its authentication and bearing a number not contemporaneously outstanding.

If there shall be delivered to the Issuer, the Indenture Trustee and the Note Registrar (i) evidence to their satisfaction of
the destruction (including mutilation tantamount to destruction), loss or theft of any Note and the ownership thereof and (ii) such
security or indemnity as may be reasonably required by them to hold each of them, and any agent of any of them harmless, then, in
the absence of notice received by the Issuer or a Trust Officer that such Note has been acquired by a Protected Purchaser, the Issuer
shall execute and the Indenture Trustee shall authenticate and deliver, in lieu of any such destroyed, lost or stolen Note, a new Note of
the same tenor and denomination registered in the same manner, dated the date of its authentication and bearing a number not
contemporaneously outstanding.

Upon the issuance of any new Note under this Section 2.05, the Indenture Trustee and the Note Registrar may require
the payment by the Holder of an amount sufficient to pay or discharge any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in
relation thereto and any other reasonable expenses, but no service charge.
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Every new Note issued pursuant to this Section 2.05 in lieu of any destroyed, mutilated, lost or stolen Note shall
constitute an original additional contractual obligation of the Issuer, whether or not the destroyed, mutilated, lost or stolen Note shall be
at any time enforceable by the Holder thereof, and such new Note shall be entitled to all the benefits of this Indenture equally and
proportionately with any and all other Notes duly issued hereunder.

The provisions of this Section 2.05 are exclusive and shall preclude (to the extent permitted by applicable law) all other
rights and remedies with respect to the replacement or payment of mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Notes.

SECTION 2.06.    Holder Lists.

The Note Registrar shall preserve in as current a form as is reasonably practicable the most recent list available to it of
the names and addresses of Holders, which list, upon request, will be made available to the Indenture Trustee insofar as the Indenture
Trustee is no longer the Note Registrar. Upon written request of any Holder made for purposes of communicating with other Holders
with respect to their rights under this Indenture (which purpose the Note Registrar shall have no duty to determine or inquire about),
the Note Registrar shall within five (5) Business Days after its receipt of such written request furnish such Holder with a list of the other
Holders of record identified in the Note Register at the time of the request. Every Holder, by receiving such access, agrees with the
Note Registrar that the Note Registrar will not have any liability or be held accountable in any way by reason of the disclosure of any
information as to the names and addresses of any Holder regardless of the source from which such information was derived.

SECTION 2.07.    Persons Deemed Owners.

Prior to due presentment for the registration of a transfer of any Note, the Issuer, the Indenture Trustee, the Note
Registrar and any agents of any of them, may treat the Person in whose name a Note is registered as the owner of such Note (subject
to the Record Date and special record date provisions of the Notes) and for all other purposes whatsoever, whether or not such Note
shall be overdue, and none of the Issuer, the Indenture Trustee, the Note Registrar or any agents of any of them, shall be affected by
notice to the contrary.

SECTION 2.08.    Payments on the Notes.

(a)    With respect to each Payment Date, any interest, payable on the Notes shall be paid to the Person that is the
registered Holder thereof at the close of business on the related Record Date (subject to the special record date provisions of
the Notes). Principal, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes shall be payable at the office or agency of the Issuer
maintained for such purpose. Payments of interest, principal and other amounts on the Notes shall be made by wire transfer to
such account as such Holder shall designate by written instruction received by the Indenture Trustee not later than five
Business Days prior to the applicable Payment Date. Such payments shall be in such coin or currency of the United States of
America as at the time of payment is legal tender for payment of public and private debts.
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(b)    If a Note is issued in exchange for any other Note during the period commencing after close of business at the
office of the Note Registrar where such exchange occurs on any Record Date and ending before the opening of business at
such office of the Note Registrar on the related Payment Date, no interest, principal or other amounts will be payable on such
Payment Date in respect of such new Note, but will be payable on such Payment Date only in respect of the prior Note to the
Person that is the registered Holder thereof at the close of business on the related Record Date.

(c)    The Issuer shall pay to the Indenture Trustee funds in an amount sufficient to pay in full all amounts of interest,
principal, and if any, premium due on any Payment Date, redemption date, the Maturity Date, or otherwise prior to 1:00 p.m.
Eastern time on such date.

(d)    The Indenture Trustee shall pay each Note in full as provided herein on the Maturity Date, in immediately available
funds, no later than 3:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Maturity Date (to the extent such amounts are received from the
Issuer in accordance with Section 2.08(c)). Such payment to the Holder of each Note shall be made on the Maturity Date of
such Note and such Holder shall present the Note promptly thereafter.

The Indenture Trustee is hereby directed to establish and maintain pursuant to the terms of this Section 2.08, a non-interest bearing
trust account in the name of the Issuer (such account and any successor account, even if renumbered, the “Payment Account”). All
payments to be made on the Notes to or by the Indenture Trustee pursuant to this Indenture shall, as applicable, be made into, or out
of, the Payment Account. Funds on deposit in the Payment Account will be disbursed by the Indenture Trustee pursuant to Issuer
Order to make payments to the Holders in respect of principal or interest or redemption price or other amounts in respect of the
Secured Obligations. The Issuer shall deliver such Issuer Orders to the Indenture Trustee at least one (1) Business Day prior to any
payment date. For purposes of causing the application of funds in accordance with this Section 2.08(e), the Indenture Trustee shall be
entitled to rely exclusively upon any Issuer Order provided by the Issuer with respect to any payments to be made pursuant to this
Section, and shall have no duty to independently determine, verify or calculate any information therein, including with respect to the
amounts or recipients set forth in or delivered together with any such Issuer Order, except as expressly required hereby. Cash held in
the Payment Account shall not be invested. Subject to any applicable abandoned property or escheat law, any money deposited with
the Indenture Trustee in trust for the payment of the Notes and remaining unclaimed for two years after such payment has become
due and payable shall be paid to the Issuer on its request, and the Holder of such Note shall thereafter look only to the Issuer for
payment thereof, and all liability of the Indenture Trustee with respect to such trust money shall thereupon cease.

SECTION 2.09.    Compliance with Withholding and Other Requirements.

The Indenture Trustee shall comply with all backup withholding tax and information reporting requirements that it is
required to comply with under applicable law (including the Code and the U.S. Treasury regulations issued thereunder) in respect of
any payment on, or in respect of, the Notes.
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By acceptance of any Note issued hereunder, unless otherwise prohibited by law, each Holder is deemed to agree to
provide to the Issuer or Indenture Trustee any information or certification that may be required under applicable law with respect to
withholding, backup withholding or information reporting (including the Noteholder Tax Identification Information, and, to the extent any
FATCA Withholding Tax is applicable, the Noteholder FATCA Information), and update or replace such form, information or
certification in accordance with its terms or its subsequent amendments to the extent necessary. Failure of a Holder to provide the
Indenture Trustee and the Issuer with required tax certificates and information may result in amounts of tax being withheld from the
payment to such Holder (without any corresponding gross-up). If the Issuer has knowledge that FATCA Withholding Tax applies, the
Issuer will notify the Indenture Trustee thereof.

In order to comply with the laws, rules, regulations and executive orders in effect from time to time applicable to banking
institutions, including those relating to the funding of terrorist activities and money laundering (collectively, “Applicable Regulations”),
the Indenture Trustee, is required to obtain, verify and record certain information relating to individuals and entities which maintain a
business relationship with the Indenture Trustee. Accordingly, each of the parties hereto and each Holder agrees to provide the
Indenture Trustee, upon its request from time to time, such identifying information and documentation as may be necessary in order to
enable the Indenture Trustee to comply with such Applicable Regulations. It is expressly agreed that the Indenture Trustee shall have
no duty to perform any services hereunder for, on behalf of or for the benefit of, any Person not having furnished such information as
the Indenture, in its sole discretion, determines to be necessary to comply with the Applicable Regulations.

SECTION 2.10.    Cancellation.

The Issuer may at any time deliver to the Note Registrar for cancellation any Notes previously authenticated and
delivered hereunder which the Issuer may have acquired in any manner whatsoever, and all Notes so delivered shall, in accordance
with an Issuer Order, be promptly canceled by the Note Registrar.

All Notes delivered to the Indenture Trustee for payment shall be forwarded by the Indenture Trustee to the Note
Registrar. All such Notes and all Notes surrendered for transfer and exchange in accordance with the terms hereof shall be canceled
and disposed of by the Note Registrar in accordance with its customary procedures. The Issuer may not issue new Notes to replace
Notes that it has paid in full and have been delivered to the Note Registrar for cancellation.

SECTION 2.11.    Lien of the Indenture.

This Indenture shall evidence a continuing Lien on and security interest in the Trust Estate to secure the Secured
Obligations, including the full payment of the principal, interest and other amounts on all the Notes, which shall in all respects be
equally and ratably secured hereby without preference, priority or distinction on account of the actual time or times of the
authentication and delivery of the Notes.

SECTION 2.12.    Acknowledgment of Trustee.
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The Indenture Trustee acknowledges and agrees that it holds each item of Collateral within its possession or control on
behalf of and for the benefit of the Secured Parties. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture, the Indenture Trustee shall
not hold any item of Collateral through an agent or nominee except as expressly permitted by the Transaction Documents to which it is
a party. The Collateral delivered to the Indenture Trustee pursuant to the Pledge Agreement shall be held by the Indenture Trustee at
all times during which such Collateral is in its possession pursuant to the Indenture Trustee’s internal policies and procedures relating
to holding property of the type substantially similar to such Collateral.

ARTICLE 3     

REDEMPTION

SECTION 3.01.    Applicability of Article. Redemption of Notes at the election of the Issuer or otherwise, as permitted or
required by any provision of this Indenture, shall be made in accordance with such provision and this Article 3.

SECTION 3.02.    Optional Redemption; Notices to Indenture Trustee.

(g)    The Issuer may elect to redeem the Notes, in whole, but not in part, at any time at a redemption price in cash equal
to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus (A) the Applicable Premium, if any, and (B) accrued and unpaid interest on the
Notes, to, but not including, the date of redemption.

(h)    If the Issuer redeems the Notes pursuant to this Article 3 (whether such redemption is optional or mandatory), it
shall notify the Indenture Trustee and the Holders in writing of (i) the Section of this Indenture pursuant to which the redemption
shall occur, (ii) the redemption date, (iii) the principal amount of Notes to be redeemed, and (iv) the redemption price. The
Issuer shall provide notice to the Indenture Trustee and the Holders provided for in this Section 3.02(b) at least three (3)
Business Days before a redemption date unless a shorter period is acceptable to all of the Holders, as evidenced by each such
Holder’s written consent. Such notice shall be accompanied by an Officers’ Certificate to the effect that such redemption will
comply with the conditions herein. Any such notice may be canceled at any time prior to notice of such redemption being
mailed to any Holder and shall thereby be void and of no effect.

SECTION 3.03.    Effect of Notice of Redemption. Once notice of redemption is mailed in accordance with
Section 3.02(b), Notes called for redemption become due and payable on the redemption date and at the redemption price stated in
the notice, subject to the satisfaction or waiver of any conditions precedent in the notice of redemption and the last sentence of
Section 3.02(b), as applicable. Such Notes shall be paid at the redemption price stated in the notice, plus accrued interest, to, but not
including, the redemption date; provided, however, that if the redemption date is after a Record Date and on or prior to the related
Payment Date, the accrued interest shall be payable to the Holder of the redeemed Notes registered on such Record Date. Failure to
give notice or any defect in the notice to any Holder shall not affect the validity of the notice to any other Holder.
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SECTION 3.04.    Payment of Redemption Price. Pursuant to Section 2.08(c), the Issuer shall pay to the Indenture
Trustee by deposit to the Payment Account money sufficient to pay the redemption price of and accrued interest on all Notes to be
redeemed on the redemption date other than Notes previously called for redemption that have been delivered by the Issuer to the
Indenture Trustee for cancellation.

SECTION 3.05.    Reserved.

SECTION 3.06.    Mandatory Redemption. Within 10 Business Days of receipt of Net Proceeds from any Indebtedness
(other than Permitted Indebtedness) and upon notice given as provided in Section 3.02(b), the Issuer shall redeem each Holder’s
Notes in full at a redemption price in cash equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus the Applicable Premium as of, and
accrued and unpaid interest, to, but not including, the date of redemption.

SECTION 3.01.    Redemption Upon a Change of Control. Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control and upon notice
given as provided in Section 3.02(b), the Issuer shall make an offer (a “Change of Control Offer”) to each Holder to redeem such
Holder’s Notes in full at a redemption price in cash equal to 107.5% of such Note Balance thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest to,
but not including, the date of redemption. The Change of Control Offer will remain open for a period of at least 15 days following its
commencement and not more than 30 days, except to the extent that a longer period is required by applicable law (the “Change of
Control Offer Period”). No later than 30 Business Days after the termination of the Change of Control Offer Period, the Issuer will
purchase all Notes tendered in response to the Change of Control Offer.

ARTICLE 4     

COVENANTS

SECTION 4.01.    Deposit and Payment of Notes. The Issuer shall promptly pay the principal of and interest on the Notes
on the dates and in the manner provided in the Notes and in this Indenture.

SECTION 4.02.    Reports and Other Information.

(n)    Annual Financials. The Issuer shall post on the SEC EDGAR website, as soon as available, but in any event within
120 days (or such earlier date on which the Issuer is required to file a Form 10-K under the Exchange Act, if applicable) after
the end of each fiscal year of the Issuer, beginning with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2015, a consolidated and
consolidating balance sheet of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries as of the end of such fiscal year, and the related consolidated
and consolidating statements of income, cash flows and stockholder’s equity for such fiscal year, setting forth in each case in
comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all prepared in accordance with GAAP, with such consolidated and
consolidating financial statements to be audited and accompanied by a report and opinion of the Issuer’s independent certified
public accounting firm of recognized national standing (which report and opinion shall be prepared in accordance with GAAP),
stating that such financial statements fairly present, in all material
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respects, the consolidated financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Issuer as of the dates and for the
periods specified in accordance with GAAP. Such consolidated and consolidating financial statements shall be certified by a
Financial Officer as fairly presenting the consolidated and consolidating financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries as of the dates and for the periods specified in accordance with GAAP consistently
applied.

(o)    Quarterly Financials. The Issuer shall post on the SEC EDGAR website, as soon as available, but in any event
within 60 days (or such earlier date on which the Issuer is required to file a Form 10-Q under the Exchange Act, if applicable)
after the end of each of the first three fiscal quarters of each fiscal year of the Issuer, beginning with the fiscal quarter ending
March 31, 2016, a consolidated and consolidating balance sheet of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries as of the end of such fiscal
quarter, and the related consolidated and consolidating statements of income, cash flows and stockholder’s equity for such
fiscal quarter and (in respect of the second and third fiscal quarters of such fiscal year) for the then-elapsed portion of the
Issuer’s fiscal year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the comparable period or periods in the
previous fiscal year, all prepared in accordance with GAAP, with such consolidated and consolidating financial statements to
be certified by a Financial Officer as fairly presenting the consolidated and consolidating financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries as of the dates and for the periods specified in accordance with
GAAP consistently applied, and on a basis consistent with the audited consolidated financial statements referred to under
Section 4.02(a), subject to normal year-end audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes.

(p)    Information During Event of Default. The Issuer shall deliver to the Indenture Trustee, promptly, such additional
information regarding the business or financial affairs of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries, or compliance with the terms of
this Indenture, as the Indenture Trustee, any Holder or any holder of beneficial interests in the Notes may from time to time
reasonably request during the existence of any Event of Default (subject to reasonable requirement of confidentiality, including
requirements imposed by law or contract; and provided that the Issuer shall not be obligated to disclose any information that is
reasonably subject to the assertion of attorney-client privilege). The Issuer shall further inform the Indenture Trustee that such
additional information is being delivered pursuant to this Section 4.02(c). The Indenture Trustee will within three (3) Business
Days of receipt notify the Holders by electronic mail of receipt of such information.

(q)    Rule 144A Information. The Issuer shall deliver to the Holders and any prospective purchaser of the Notes
designated by a Holder, promptly upon the request of any such Person, the information required to be delivered pursuant to
Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act.

(r)    Notice of Default. The Issuer shall deliver to the Indenture Trustee promptly, and in any event within 10 Business
Days after the occurrence thereof, notice of any Default or Event of Default and specifying the nature thereof in reasonable
detail. The Indenture
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Trustee will promptly (and, in any event, within five (5) Business Days of receipt) notify the Holders by electronic mail of receipt
of any such notice of Default or Event of Default.

SECTION 4.03.    Further Instruments and Acts. Upon request of the Indenture Trustee, the Issuer shall execute and
deliver such further instruments and do such further acts as may be reasonably necessary or proper to carry out more effectively the
purpose of this Indenture.

SECTION 4.04.    Liens on Pledged Subsidiaries or Collateral. The Issuer shall not Incur or suffer to exist any Liens
(other than Permitted Liens) on (i) any Equity Interests of the Issuer in the Pledged Subsidiaries or (ii) any Collateral.

SECTION 4.05.    Maintenance of Office or Agency. (a) The Issuer shall maintain an office or agency (which may be an
office of the Indenture Trustee or an affiliate of the Indenture Trustee or Note Registrar) where Notes may be surrendered for
registration of transfer or for exchange and where notices and demands to or upon the Issuer in respect of the Notes and this
Indenture may be served. The Issuer shall give prompt written notice to the Indenture Trustee of the location, and any change in the
location, of such office or agency. If at any time the Issuer shall fail to maintain any such required office or agency or shall fail to
furnish the Indenture Trustee with the address thereof, such presentations and surrenders may be made at the corporate trust place of
payment and notices and demands may be made or served at the Corporate Trust Office of the Indenture Trustee as set forth in
Section 10.01.

(b)    The Issuer may also from time to time designate one or more other offices or agencies where the Notes may be
presented or surrendered for any or all such purposes and may from time to time rescind such designations; provided,
however, that no such designation or rescission shall in any manner relieve the Issuer of its obligation to maintain an office or
agency for such purposes. The Issuer shall give prompt written notice to the Indenture Trustee of any such designation or
rescission and of any change in the location of any such other office or agency.

(c)    The Issuer hereby designates the Corporate Trust Office of the Indenture Trustee or its agent as such office or
agency of the Issuer in accordance with Section 2.04.

SECTION 4.06.    Amendment of Security Documents. The Issuer shall not amend, modify or supplement, or permit or
consent to any amendment, modification or supplement of, the Security Documents except as described in Article 9 or as permitted in
Article 8.

SECTION
4.01.

Limitation of Incurrence of Indebtedness.

(i)    The Issuer shall not directly Incur any Indebtedness.

(j)    The limitations set forth in Section 4.07(a) shall not apply to any Permitted Indebtedness:
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(k)    Notwithstanding Section 4.07(a), Indebtedness not permitted by Section 4.07(b) may be incurred or issued by the
Issuer provided that the proceeds thereof are applied to redeem the Notes in full in accordance with Section 3.06.

(l)    For purposes of determining compliance with this Section 4.07, in the event an item of Indebtedness Incurred by the
Issuer meets the criteria of more than one of the categories listed in the definition of “Permitted Indebtedness”, the Issuer will
be permitted to classify such item of Indebtedness on the date of its incurrence, or later reclassify all or a portion of such item
of Indebtedness, in any manner that complies with Section 4.07.

SECTION 4.02.    Maintenance of Existence; Compliance. The Issuer shall (a) (i) preserve, renew and keep in full force
and effect its organizational existence and (ii) take all reasonable action to maintain all rights, privileges and franchises necessary or
desirable in the normal conduct of its business, except, in the case of clause (ii) above, to the extent that failure to do so could not
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; and (b) comply with all contractual obligations and Requirements of Law
except to the extent that failure to comply therewith could not, in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect.

SECTION 4.03.    Maintenance of Property; Insurance. The Issuer shall (i)  keep all property useful and necessary in its
business in good working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted and (ii) maintain with financially sound and reputable
insurance companies insurance on all its property in at least such amounts and against at least such risks (but including in any event
public liability, product liability and business interruption) as are usually insured against in the same general area by companies
engaged in the same or a Similar Business.

SECTION 4.04.    Inspection of Property; Books and Records; Discussions. The Issuer shall (i) keep proper books of
records and account in which full, true and correct entries in conformity with GAAP and all Requirements of Law shall be made of all
dealings and transactions in relation to its business and activities and (ii) following the occurrence and during the continuation of an
Event of Default, permit representatives of the Indenture Trustee or any Holder to visit and inspect any of its properties and examine
and make abstracts from any of its books and records at any reasonable time and as often as may reasonably be desired and to
discuss the business, operations, properties and financial and other condition of the Issuer with officers and employees of the Issuer
and with their independent certified public accountants.

SECTION 4.05.    Post-Closing Obligations. Within (i) 30 days after the date of this Indenture (unless such time period is
extended by the Required Holders in their sole discretion, pursuant to written notice delivered to the Issuer (copies of which the Issuer
shall forward upon receipt to the Indenture Trustee)), the Issuer shall (A) deliver or cause to be delivered to the Indenture Trustee the
Irish Share Charge and the Pledged Irish Profit Participating Note Assignment, and (B) cause to be delivered to the Indenture Trustee
a Deposit Account Control Agreement with respect to each Pledged Deposit Account, and (ii) 10 Business Days after receipt by the
Issuer of any Litigation Proceeds, if ever, the Issuer shall establish and maintain a Litigation Proceeds Account, deposit any such
Litigation Proceeds therein and cause to be delivered to the Indenture Trustee a Litigation Proceeds Account Control Agreement. At
the time of delivery of the Irish Share Charge,
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the Pledged Irish Profit Participating Note Assignment, any Deposit Account Control Agreement and any Litigation Proceeds Account
Control Agreement, the Issuer shall deliver an Opinion of Counsel to the Indenture Trustee that such agreement creates an
enforceable perfected security interest in favor of the Indenture Trustee against the applicable Collateral under applicable law.

SECTION 4.01.    Restricted Payments.

(m)    The Issuer shall not (i) declare or pay any dividend or make any distribution on or with respect to its Capital Stock,
other than dividends or distributions payable solely in Equity Interests; or (ii) purchase, redeem, retire or otherwise acquire for
value any Capital Stock of the Issuer except under any equity incentive plan maintained by the Issuer ((all such payments set
forth in clauses (i) through (ii) being collectively referred to as “Restricted Payments”), if, at the time of, and after giving effect
to, the proposed Restricted Payment the Issuer’s aggregate cash and Cash Equivalents are less than $20,000,000; provided,
however, that nothing in this Section 4.12 shall be deemed to prohibit the Issuer from paying principal, interest or other sums
payable in respect of any Indebtedness of the Issuer convertible into Capital Stock or from issuing Capital Stock upon exercise
of the conversion rights set forth therein.

(n)    Notwithstanding Section 4.12(a), the Issuer may make Restricted Payments if:

(i)     at the time of, and after giving effect to, any such proposed Restricted Payment the Issuer’s aggregate cash
and Cash Equivalents are at least equal to $25,000,000 and such Restricted Payment, together with the aggregate
amount of all other Restricted Payments over the preceding 12 months does not exceed $5,000,000;

(ii)    at the time of, and after giving effect to, any such proposed Restricted Payment the Issuer’s aggregate cash
and Cash Equivalents are at least equal to $30,000,000 and such Restricted Payment, together with the aggregate
amount of all other Restricted Payments over the preceding 12 months does not exceed $10,000,000; or

(iii)    at the time of, and after giving effect to, any such proposed Restricted Payment the Issuer’s aggregate cash
and Cash Equivalents are at least equal to an amount equal to the outstanding principal amount of the Notes plus the
then Applicable Premium, and such Restricted Payment, together with the aggregate amount of all other Restricted
Payments over the preceding 12 months does not exceed $15,000,000;

provided, however, that in no event may the aggregate amount of Restricted Payments permitted under this Section
4.12(b) exceed $30,000,000.

SECTION 4.01.    Additional Deposit Accounts. If a New Issuer Deposit Account has a balance in excess of $100,000 at
any time, the Issuer shall within ten (10) Business Days
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thereafter (i) transfer from such New Issuer Deposit Account the amount by which the deposits in such account are in excess of
$100,000 to a Pledged Deposit Account, or (ii) cause to be delivered to the Indenture Trustee a New Issuer Deposit Account Control
Agreement with respect to such New Issuer Deposit Account. At the time of delivery of any New Issuer Deposit Account Control
Agreement, the Issuer shall deliver an Opinion of Counsel to the Indenture Trustee that such agreement creates an enforceable
perfected security interest against the applicable Collateral under applicable law.

ARTICLE 5     

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES

SECTION 5.01.    Events of Default. An “Event of Default” occurs if:

(s)    the Issuer fails to pay interest on any Note when due, whether on any Payment Date, at its Maturity Date, upon
redemption, upon declaration of acceleration or otherwise and such failure continues for five Business Days,

(t)    the Issuer fails to pay principal or premium, if any on any Note when due, whether on any Payment Date, at its
Maturity Date, upon redemption, upon declaration of acceleration or otherwise,

(u)    the Issuer fails to comply with (i) the agreements contained in Section 4.04, Section 4.07 or Section 4.12 or (ii) any
of its other agreements in the Notes or this Indenture (other than those referred to elsewhere in this Section 5.01) and, in the
case of this clause (ii), such failure continues for 45 days,

(v)    a representation or warranty of the Issuer set forth in the Note Purchase Agreement or any other Transaction
Document is shown to be false in any material respect when made, and if capable of cure, such breach remains uncured for
45 days,

(w)    the Issuer, any Significant Subsidiary or any Pledged Subsidiary fails to pay any Indebtedness (other than
Indebtedness (i) owing to a Subsidiary or (ii) that is Non-Recourse Indebtedness) within any applicable grace period after final
maturity or the acceleration of any such Indebtedness by the holders thereof because of a default, in each case, if the total
amount of such Indebtedness unpaid or accelerated exceeds $5,000,000 or its foreign currency equivalent,

(x)    the Issuer, any Significant Subsidiary or any Pledged Subsidiary pursuant to or within the meaning of any
Bankruptcy Law:

(i)    commences a voluntary case;

(ii)    consents to the entry of an order for relief against it in an involuntary case;

34

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



(iii)    consents to the appointment of a custodian of it or for any substantial part of its property; or

(iv)    makes a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors or takes any comparable action under any foreign
laws relating to insolvency,

(y)    a court of competent jurisdiction enters an order or decree under any Bankruptcy Law that:

(i)    is for relief against the Issuer, any Significant Subsidiary or any Pledged Subsidiary in an involuntary case;

(ii)    appoints a custodian of the Issuer, any Significant Subsidiary or any Pledged Subsidiary or for any substantial
part of its property; or

(iii)    orders the winding up or liquidation of the Issuer, any Significant Subsidiary or any Pledged Subsidiary;

and the order or decree remains unstayed and in effect for 120 days;

(z)    the Issuer, any Significant Subsidiary or any Pledged Subsidiary fails to pay final judgments aggregating in excess
of $5,000,000 or its foreign currency equivalent (net of any amounts which are covered by enforceable insurance policies
issued by solvent carriers), which judgments are not discharged, waived or stayed for a period of 120 days following the entry
thereof,

(aa)    the Issuer shall assert, in any pleading in any court of competent jurisdiction, that any Lien created under any
Security Document is invalid or unenforceable, or

(bb)    (i) any security interest created by any Security Document ceases to be in full force and effect (except as
permitted by the terms of the Indenture or the Security Documents) or (ii) the breach or repudiation by the Issuer or any of its
Pledged Subsidiaries of any of their obligations under any Security Document.

The foregoing shall constitute Events of Default whatever the reason for any such Event of Default and whether it is voluntary or
involuntary or is effected by operation of law or pursuant to any judgment, decree or order of any court or any order, rule or regulation
of any administrative or governmental body.

The term “Bankruptcy Law” means Title 11, United States Code, or any similar U.S. federal or state law for the relief of
debtors (or their foreign equivalents). The term “custodian” means any receiver, trustee, assignee, liquidator, custodian or similar
official under any Bankruptcy Law.

SECTION 5.02.    Acceleration. If an Event of Default (other than an Event of Default specified in Section 5.01 (f) or (g))
occurs and is continuing, the Indenture Trustee or the Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes by
notice to the Issuer may, and
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if such notice is given by such Holders such notice shall be given to the Issuer and the Indenture Trustee, declare that the principal of,
and the premium, if any, and accrued but unpaid interest on, all Notes is due and payable. Upon such a declaration, such principal and
interest shall be due and payable immediately. If an Event of Default specified in Section 5.01(f) or (g) occurs, the principal of, and the
premium, if any, and accrued but unpaid interest on, all the Notes shall ipso facto become and be immediately due and payable,
without any declaration or other act on the part of the Indenture Trustee or any Holders. The Required Holders by written notice to the
Indenture Trustee may rescind an acceleration and its consequences if such Required Holders determine that the rescission would
not conflict with any judgment or decree and if all existing Events of Default (except nonpayment of principal, interest or premium that
has become due solely because of the acceleration) have been cured or waived.

SECTION 5.03.    Other Remedies. If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Indenture Trustee, after notice to
the Holders and receipt of specific written direction from the Required Holders as to how to proceed, may pursue any available remedy
at law or in equity to collect the payment of principal of or interest on the Notes or to enforce the performance of any provision of the
Notes or this Indenture.

The Indenture Trustee may maintain a proceeding even if it does not possess any of the Notes or does not produce any
of them in the proceeding. A delay or omission by the Indenture Trustee or any Holder in exercising any right or remedy accruing upon
an Event of Default shall not impair the right or remedy or constitute a waiver of or acquiescence in the Event of Default. No remedy is
exclusive of any other remedy. To the extent required by law, all available remedies are cumulative.

Following an Event of Default, the Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may instruct
the Indenture Trustee to deliver a notice (including a “Notice of Exclusive Control”) giving the Indenture Trustee exclusive control over
any securities account or deposit account covered by an Account Control Agreement. The Indenture Trustee may give such notice
only upon an Event of Default.

SECTION 5.04.    Waiver of Past Defaults. Provided the Notes are not then due and payable by reason of a declaration of
acceleration, the Required Holders by written notice to the Indenture Trustee may waive an existing Default or an Event of Default and
its consequences except (a) a Default or an Event of Default in the payment of the principal of or interest on a Note, (b) a Default or an
Event of Default arising from the failure to redeem or purchase any Note when required pursuant to the terms of this Indenture or (c) a
Default or an Event of Default in respect of a provision that under Section 8.02 cannot be amended without the consent of each Holder
affected. When a Default or an Event of Default is waived, it is deemed cured and the Issuer, the Indenture Trustee and the Holders
will be restored to their former positions and rights under this Indenture, but no such waiver shall extend to any subsequent or other
Default or an Event of Default or impair any consequent right. Any past Default or an Event of Default or compliance with any
provisions may be waived with the consent of the Required Holders.

SECTION 5.05.    Control by Specified Percentage of Holders. The Required Holders (or such other percentage as
expressly provided for herein) may direct the time, method
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and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Indenture Trustee or of exercising any trust or power
conferred on the Indenture Trustee. However, the Indenture Trustee may refuse to follow any direction that conflicts with law or this
Indenture or that the Indenture Trustee determines is unduly prejudicial to the rights of any other Holder or that would involve the
Indenture Trustee in personal liability. Prior to taking any action under this Indenture, the Indenture Trustee shall be entitled to
indemnification satisfactory to it in its sole discretion against all losses and expenses caused by taking or not taking such action. The
Holders understand and agree that in fulfilling its role as Indenture Trustee under any Account Control Agreement, the Pledge
Agreement, the Irish Share Charge and the Pledged Irish Profit Participating Note Assignment, the Indenture Trustee shall act solely in
accordance with the written direction of the Required Holders, except as expressly set forth in Section 5.03 and 5.06(a)(ii). Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, by accepting delivery of a Note or any portion thereof the Holders hereby authorize and direct
the Indenture Trustee to execute and deliver the Pledge Agreement, in the form presented to it by the Issuer or its purported counsel
or other representative on the date hereof. The delivery to the Indenture Trustee of an Opinion of Counsel as described in Section
4.11 with respect to each of the Irish Share Charge, the Pledged Irish Profit Participating Note Assignment, any Deposit Account
Control Agreement or any Litigation Proceeds Account Control Agreement or as described in Section 4.13 with respect to any New
Issuer Deposit Account Control Agreement shall be deemed to be conclusive authorization by the Holders on which the Indenture
Trustee may exclusively rely, and by its receipt of such an Opinion of Counsel the Indenture Trustee shall be fully protected, in
executing and delivering each such agreement and any document or instrument contemplated thereby, without any obligation to
determine or confirm the advisability or suitability thereof on behalf of the Holders.

SECTION 5.06.    Limitation on Suits. (a) Except to enforce the right to receive payment of principal, premium (if any) or
interest when due, no Holder may pursue any remedy with respect to this Indenture or the Notes unless:

(i)    the Holder gives the Indenture Trustee written notice stating that an Event of Default is continuing;

(ii)    the Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes make a written request to the
Indenture Trustee to pursue the remedy;

(iii)    such Holder or Holders offer to the Indenture Trustee security or indemnity satisfactory to it against any loss,
liability or expense; and

(iv)    the Indenture Trustee does not comply with the request within 30 days after receipt of the request and the
offer of security or indemnity.

(b)    A Holder may not use this Indenture to prejudice the rights of another Holder or to obtain a preference or priority
over another Holder.

SECTION 5.07.    Rights of the Holders to Receive Payment. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture, the
right of any Holder to receive payment of principal of and interest on the Notes held by such Holder, on or after the respective due
dates expressed or provided
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for in this Indenture or in the Notes, or to bring suit for the enforcement of any such payment on or after such respective dates, shall
not be impaired or affected without the consent of such Holder.

SECTION 5.08.    Collection Suit by Indenture Trustee. If an Event of Default specified in Section 5.01(a) or (b) occurs
and is continuing, the Indenture Trustee may recover judgment in its own name and as trustee of an express trust against the Issuer
for the whole amount then due and owing (together with interest on overdue principal and (to the extent lawful) on any unpaid interest
at the rate provided for in the Notes) and the amounts provided for in Section 6.06.

SECTION 5.09.    Indenture Trustee May File Proofs of Claim. The Indenture Trustee may file such proofs of claim and
other papers or documents as may be necessary or advisable in order to have the claims of the Indenture Trustee (including any claim
for reasonable compensation, expenses disbursements and advances of the Indenture Trustee (including counsel, accountants,
experts or such other professionals as the Indenture Trustee deems necessary, advisable or appropriate)) and the Holders allowed in
any judicial proceedings relative to the Issuer, its creditors or its property, shall be entitled to participate as a member, voting or
otherwise, of any official committee of creditors appointed in such matters and, unless prohibited by law or applicable regulations, may
vote on behalf of the Holders in any election of a trustee in bankruptcy or other Person performing similar functions and be a member
of a creditors’ or other similar committee, and any custodian in any such judicial proceeding is hereby authorized by each Holder to
make payments to the Indenture Trustee and, in the event that the Indenture Trustee shall consent to the making of such payments
directly to the Holders, to pay to the Indenture Trustee any amount due it for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements
and advances of the Indenture Trustee, its agents and its counsel, and any other amounts due the Indenture Trustee under
Section 6.06.

SECTION 5.10.    Priorities. If the Indenture Trustee collects any money or property pursuant to this Article 5, it shall pay
out such money or property in the following order:

FIRST: to the Indenture Trustee for amounts due under Section 6.06;

SECOND: to the Holders for amounts due and unpaid on the Notes for interest, ratably, without preference or priority of
any kind, according to the amounts due and payable on the Notes for interest;

THIRD: to the Holders for amounts due and unpaid on the Notes for principal, and premium, if any, ratably, without
preference or priority of any kind, according to the amounts due and payable on the Notes for principal and, if any, premium; and

FOURTH: to the Issuer.

The Indenture Trustee may fix a record date and payment date for any payment to the Holders pursuant to this Section
5.10. At least 15 days before such record date, the Indenture Trustee shall mail to each Holder and the Issuer a notice that states the
record date, the payment date and amount to be paid.

38

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



SECTION 5.11.    Waiver of Stay or Extension Laws. The Issuer shall not (to the extent it may lawfully do so) at any time
insist upon, or plead, or in any manner whatsoever claim or take the benefit or advantage of, any stay or extension law wherever
enacted, now or at any time hereafter in force, which may affect the covenants or the performance of this Indenture; and the Issuer (to
the extent that it may lawfully do so) hereby expressly waives all benefit or advantage of any such law, and shall not hinder, delay or
impede the execution of any power herein granted to the Indenture Trustee, but shall suffer and permit the execution of every such
power as though no such law had been enacted.

ARTICLE 6     

TRUSTEE

SECTION 6.01.    Duties of Indenture Trustee. (a) The Issuer and each Holder authorizes and directs the Indenture
Trustee to enter into the Transaction Documents to which it is a party and to perform its obligations and exercise its rights thereunder
in accordance therewith.

(b)    Notwithstanding any provision of this Indenture or any other Transaction Document to the contrary:

(i)    the Indenture Trustee undertakes to perform such duties and only such duties as are specifically set forth in
this Indenture and each Transaction Document to which it is a party and no implied duties, covenants or obligations shall
be read into this Indenture or such Transaction Document against the Indenture Trustee (it being agreed that the
permissive right of the Indenture Trustee to do things enumerated in this Indenture or any Transaction Document shall
not be construed as a duty); and

(ii)    in the absence of bad faith on its part, the Indenture Trustee may conclusively rely, as to the truth of the
statements and the correctness of the opinions expressed therein, upon certificates or opinions furnished to the
Indenture Trustee and conforming to the requirements of this Indenture. The Indenture Trustee shall be under no duty to
make any investigation as to any statement contained in any such instance, but may accept the same as conclusive
evidence of the truth and accuracy of such statement or the correctness of such opinions. However, in the case of
certificates or opinions required by any provision hereof to be provided to it, the Indenture Trustee shall examine the
certificates and opinions to determine whether or not they conform to the requirements of this Indenture.

(c)    The Indenture Trustee may not be relieved from liability for its own grossly negligent action, its own grossly
negligent failure to act or its own willful misconduct, except that:

(i)    this paragraph does not limit the effect of paragraph (b) of this Section 6.01;
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(ii)    the Indenture Trustee shall not be liable for any error of judgment made in good faith by a Trust Officer
unless it is proved that the Indenture Trustee was grossly negligent in ascertaining the pertinent facts;

(iii)    the Indenture Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action it takes or omits to take in good faith in
accordance with a direction received by it pursuant to Section 5.05; and

(iv)    no provision of this Indenture or any other Transaction Document shall require the Indenture Trustee to
expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur financial liability in the performance of any of its duties hereunder or in the
exercise of any of its rights or powers.

(d)    Every provision of this Indenture or any other Transaction Document that in any way relates to the Indenture
Trustee is subject to this Section 6.01.

(e)    The Indenture Trustee shall not be liable for interest on any money received by it except as the Indenture Trustee
may agree in writing with the Issuer.

(f)    Money held in trust by the Indenture Trustee need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required
by law.

(g)    Every provision of this Indenture or any other Transaction Document relating to the conduct or affecting the liability
of or affording protection to the Indenture Trustee shall be subject to the provisions of this Section.

SECTION 6.02.    Rights of Indenture Trustee. (a) The Indenture Trustee may conclusively rely on any document
believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper person. The Indenture Trustee need not investigate
any fact or matter stated in the document. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the following provisions of this Section 6.02
shall apply notwithstanding any provision of this Indenture or any other Transaction Document to the contrary.

(b)    Before the Indenture Trustee acts or refrains from acting, it may require, at the expense of the Issuer, an Officers’
Certificate or an Opinion of Counsel or both. The Indenture Trustee shall not be liable for any action it takes or omits to take in
good faith in reliance on any Officers’ Certificate or Opinion of Counsel.

(c)    The Indenture Trustee may act through agents and shall not be responsible for the misconduct or negligence of any
agent appointed with due care.

(d)    The Indenture Trustee shall not be liable for any action it takes or omits to take in good faith which it believes to be
authorized or within its rights or powers; provided, however, that the Indenture Trustee’s conduct does not constitute willful
misconduct or gross negligence.
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(e)    The Indenture Trustee may, at the expense of Issuer, consult with counsel of its own selection and the advice or
opinion of counsel with respect to legal matters relating to this Indenture, the Notes, or any other Transaction Documents or
any Opinion of Counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection from liability in respect of any action taken,
omitted or suffered by it hereunder in good faith and in accordance with the advice or opinion of such counsel or Opinion of
Counsel.

(f)    The Indenture Trustee shall not be bound to make any investigation into the facts or matters stated in any
resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, consent, order, approval, bond, debenture, note
or other paper or document unless requested in writing to do so by the Required Holders, but the Indenture Trustee, in its
discretion, may make such further inquiry or investigation into such facts or matters as it may see fit, and, if the Indenture
Trustee shall determine to make such further inquiry or investigation, it shall be entitled to examine the books, records and
premises of the Issuer, personally or by agent or attorney, at the expense of the Issuer and shall incur no liability of any kind by
reason of such inquiry or investigation.

(g)    The Indenture Trustee shall be under no obligation to exercise any of the rights or powers vested in it by this
Indenture or any other Transaction Document at the request or direction of any of the Holders pursuant to this Indenture,
unless such Holders shall have offered to the Indenture Trustee security or indemnity satisfactory to the Indenture Trustee in
its sole discretion against the costs, expenses and liabilities which might be incurred by it in compliance with such request or
direction.

(h)    The rights, privileges, protections, immunities and benefits given to the Indenture Trustee, including its right to be
compensated, reimbursed and indemnified as provided in Section 6.06, are extended to, and shall be enforceable by, the
Indenture Trustee in each of its capacities hereunder, and each agent, custodian and other Person employed to act hereunder.

(i)    The Indenture Trustee shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted by it in good faith at the direction of the
Required Holders or the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the Notes, including, without limitation, any action with
respect to the time, method and place of conducting any proceedings for any remedy available to the Indenture Trustee or the
exercising of any power conferred by this Indenture or any other Transaction Document.

(j)    Any action taken, or omitted to be taken, by the Indenture Trustee in good faith pursuant to this Indenture or any
other Transaction Document upon the request or authority or consent of any Person who, at the time of making such request or
giving such authority or consent, is the Holder of any Note shall be conclusive and binding upon future Holders of Notes and
upon Notes executed and delivered in exchange therefor or in place thereof.

(k)    In no event shall the Indenture Trustee be responsible or liable for any failure or delay in the performance of its
obligations hereunder arising out of or caused by, directly
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or indirectly, forces beyond its control, including, without limitation, any force majeure event, or strikes, work stoppages,
accidents, acts of war or terrorism, civil or military disturbances, nuclear or natural catastrophes or acts of God, and
interruptions, loss or malfunctions of utilities, communications or computer (software and hardware) services; it being
understood that the Indenture Trustee shall use commercially reasonable efforts which are consistent with accepted practices
in the banking industry to resume performance as soon as practicable under the circumstances.

(l)    In the event the signature of the Indenture Trustee is required in connection with any sale of any portion of the
Collateral, the Issuer, or if during or after an Event of Default, the Holders, shall ensure that the language set forth in Exhibit C
shall be included in any document where such signature(s) may be required. The failure of such language to be so included
shall excuse the Indenture Trustee from being required to join in the execution of such documents, without regard to any
consequences that may result therefrom.

(m)    Any request or direction of the Issuer mentioned herein shall be sufficiently evidenced by an Issuer Order.

(n)    As a condition to the taking or omitting of any action by it hereunder, the Indenture Trustee may at the expense of
the Issuer consult with counsel and the advice of such counsel or any opinion of counsel shall be full and complete
authorization and protection in respect of any action taken or omitted by it hereunder in good faith and in reliance thereon. The
Indenture Trustee shall not be required to take any action hereunder or otherwise if it shall have reasonably determined, on the
advice of counsel, that such action is likely to result in liability on the part of the Indenture Trustee for which it has not received
adequate indemnity or is contrary to the terms hereof or is otherwise contrary to law.

(o)    Whenever this Indenture or any other Transaction Document provides that an action may be taken or not taken at
the option, election or in the discretion of the Indenture Trustee, the Indenture Trustee shall have no obligation or duty to
exercise such option, make such election, or exercise such discretion except upon the reasonable written instructions of the
Issuer or the Required Holders. The Indenture Trustee shall have no liability to any party for carrying out any such direction.

(p)    The permissive rights of the Indenture Trustee to take or refrain from taking any action enumerated in this
Indenture or any other Transaction Document shall not be treated as a duty.

(q)    Notwithstanding anything contained herein or in any other Transaction Document to the contrary, the Indenture
Trustee (as such and in its individual capacity) shall have no duty or responsibility to perform any calculations for, or make any
determinations as to the amounts, times, recipients, or other particulars of, any payments and/or transfers to be made by the
Indenture Trustee or any other Person under this Indenture
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or any other Transaction Document, except as expressly required by the terms of this Indenture.

(r)    The Indenture Trustee shall not be responsible for or in respect of and makes no representation as to the validity or
sufficiency of any provision of this Indenture or for the due execution hereof by the Issuer or for the form, character,
genuineness, sufficiency, value or validity of any of the Collateral, and the Indenture Trustee shall in no event assume or incur
any liability, duty or obligation to the Issuer, to any Holders, or to any other Person other than as expressly provided for herein.

(s)    The Indenture Trustee shall not be required to give any bond or surety in respect of the execution of this Indenture
or any other Transaction Document or otherwise.

(t)    Whether or not therein expressly so provided, every provision of this Indenture or any other Transaction Document
(including, without limitation, the Pledge Agreement and the Irish Share Charge) relating to the conduct, rights, powers, duties
obligations or affecting the liability of or affording protection to the Indenture Trustee shall be subject to the provisions of this
Section 6.02.

(u)    The Issuer hereby agrees and, as evidenced by its acceptance of any benefits hereunder, each Holder agrees that
the Indenture Trustee in any capacity has not provided and will not provide in the future, any advice, counsel or opinion
regarding the tax, financial, investment or insurance implications and consequences of the preservation, funding, ongoing
administration or otherwise with respect to the Collateral. By accepting delivery of a Note or any portion thereof, each of the
Holders will be deemed to have acknowledged that it has conducted its own thorough investigation and exercised its own due
diligence before considering an investment in the Notes, and acknowledged that the decision to purchase a Note or any portion
thereof is its own and that it has not and will not rely on the Indenture Trustee for such purpose. The Indenture Trustee
assumes no responsibility whatsoever as to the advisability of purchasing the Notes or any portion thereof.

(v)    The Indenture Trustee shall be under no obligation to institute, conduct or defend any litigation under this Indenture
or in relation to this Indenture or any other Transaction Document, at the request, order or direction of any of the Holders,
pursuant to the provisions of this Indenture or any other Transaction Document, unless such Holders shall have offered to the
Indenture Trustee reasonable security or indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities that may be incurred therein or
thereby.

(w)    If the Indenture Trustee believes inconsistent alternative courses of action are permitted or required by the terms of
this Indenture or any of the Transaction Documents, to which the Indenture Trustee is a party, believes that the terms of the
Indenture or any of the Transaction Documents, to which the Indenture Trustee is a party are ambiguous, or is unsure as to the
application, intent, interpretation or meaning of any provision of this Indenture or any other Transaction Document to which it is
a party, the Indenture Trustee after reasonable diligence and consultation with counsel, shall take such action which, in its
view, is in the best interest of the Holders and consistent with this Indenture unless it
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otherwise receives written direction from the Required Holders prior to such action, and notwithstanding any provision of this
Indenture or any Transaction Document, or otherwise, the Indenture Trustee shall have no liability to any Person for any such
action or following such direction.

(x)    The receipt by the Indenture Trustee of any reports, information or other documents that are provided to the
Indenture Trustee for purposes of enabling the sending party to comply with its document delivery requirements hereunder
shall not constitute constructive or actual notice of any information contained therein or determinable from any information
contained therein, including any other Person’s compliance with any of its covenants, representations or warranties hereunder,
unless otherwise specifically set forth in this Indenture.

(y)    The parties hereto hereby agree that to the extent that any security or instrument issued by the Issuer is rated by a
nationally recognized statistical rating organization, Wilmington Trust, National Association, whether in its capacity as
Indenture Trustee or any other capacity hereunder, shall have no duty or obligation to (i) maintain any password-protected web
site within the meaning of 17 CFR 240.17g-5 (a “Site”), or (ii) upload any information required to be maintained on such Site.

(z)    The Indenture Trustee assumes no responsibility for the performance of any obligations of the Issuer or any other
Person, or for the enforceability of the Transaction Documents, the Notes, or any other instruments or other documents
executed or delivered in connection herewith (or the suitability or advisability thereof for any particular purpose). The Indenture
Trustee may assume performance by all such Persons of their obligations under the Transaction Documents absent written
notice or actual knowledge of a Trust Officer to the contrary.

SECTION 6.03.    Individual Rights of Indenture Trustee. The Indenture Trustee in its individual or any other capacity may
become the owner or pledgee of Notes and may otherwise deal with the Issuer or its Affiliates with the same rights it would have if it
were not Indenture Trustee. The Indenture Trustee and its affiliates have engaged, currently are engaged and may in the future
engage in financial or other transactions with the Issuer and its affiliates in the Ordinary Course of Business. Any Note Registrar may
do the same with like rights.

SECTION 6.04.    Indenture Trustee’s Disclaimer. The Indenture Trustee shall not be responsible for and makes no
representation as to the validity or adequacy of this Indenture, any guarantee, the Notes, any Security Documents or any other
Transaction Documents, it shall not be accountable for the Issuer’s use of the proceeds from the Notes, and it shall not be responsible
for any statement of the Issuer in this Indenture or in any document issued in connection with the sale of the Notes or in the Notes
other than the Indenture Trustee’s certificate of authentication. The Indenture Trustee shall not be charged with knowledge of any
Default or Event of Default or of the identity of any Significant Subsidiary unless either (a) a Trust Officer shall have actual knowledge
thereof or (b) a Trust Officer shall have received written notice thereof in accordance with Section 10.01 hereof from the Issuer or any
Holder.
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SECTION 6.05.    Reserved.

SECTION 6.06.    Compensation and Indemnity. The Issuer shall pay to the Indenture Trustee from time to time
reasonable compensation for its services as set forth in a separate instrument. The Indenture Trustee’s compensation shall not be
limited by any law on compensation of a trustee of an express trust. The Issuer shall reimburse the Indenture Trustee upon request for
all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred or made by it, including costs of collection, in addition to the compensation for its
services. Such expenses shall include the reasonable compensation and expenses, disbursements and advances of the Indenture
Trustee’s agents, counsel, accountants and experts. The Issuer shall indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless the Indenture
Trustee, and each of its officers, directors, shareholders, employees and agents (collectively, the “Indemnified Persons”) against any
and all loss, liability, claim, damage or expense (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) incurred by such Person or in
connection with the acceptance or administration of this trust and the performance of its duties hereunder and under any other
Transaction Document, including, without limitation, the costs and expenses of (i) enforcing this Indenture or any other Transaction
Document against the Issuer (including this Section 6.06), (ii) indemnifying, defending, holding harmless or otherwise reimbursing any
party to any Account Control Agreement pursuant to the terms thereof and (iii) defending itself against or investigating any claim
(whether asserted by the Issuer, any Holder or any other Person). The obligation to pay such amounts shall survive the payment in full
or defeasance of the Notes or the removal or resignation of the Indenture Trustee. The Indenture Trustee shall notify the Issuer of any
claim for which it may seek indemnity promptly upon obtaining actual knowledge thereof (such notice, the “Claim Notice”); provided,
however, that any failure so to notify the Issuer shall not relieve the Issuer of its indemnity obligations hereunder. The Issuer need not
reimburse any expense or indemnify against any loss, liability or expense incurred by an indemnified party through such party’s own
willful misconduct, gross negligence or bad faith.

To secure the Issuer’s payment obligations in this Section 6.06, the Indenture Trustee shall have a Lien prior to the
Notes on all money or property held or collected by the Indenture Trustee other than money or property held in trust to pay principal of
and interest on particular Notes.

The Issuer’s payment obligations pursuant to this Section 6.06 shall survive the satisfaction or discharge of this
Indenture, any rejection or termination of this Indenture under any bankruptcy law or the resignation or removal of the Indenture
Trustee. Without prejudice to any other rights available to the Indenture Trustee under applicable law, when the Indenture Trustee
incurs expenses after the occurrence of a Default specified in Section 5.01(f) or Section 5.01(g) with respect to the Issuer, the
expenses are intended to constitute expenses of administration under the Bankruptcy Law.

No provision of this Indenture shall require the Indenture Trustee to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur any
financial liability in the performance of any of its duties hereunder, or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers, if repayment of such
funds or adequate indemnity against such risk or liability is not assured to its satisfaction.
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The Issuer may assume the defense of such proceeding, with a nationally recognized (or regionally recognized, if local
counsel is necessary in such jurisdiction) counsel of its choosing, by delivering written notice of the Issuer’s election to do so to the
Indemnified Person (the “Selection Notice”); provided, that, without limiting the generality of subsections (i)-(iii) of this paragraph, such
counsel shall not assume the defense of any Indemnified Person if such Indemnified Person objects to the appointment of such
counsel within a commercially reasonable time period after its receipt of the Selection Notice. The parties hereto hereby agree that for
purposes of the proviso immediately preceding this sentence, a “commercially reasonable time period” shall include a minimum of
fifteen (15) business days after the Indenture Trustee’s receipt of the Selection Notice. After delivery of the Selection Notice and the
retention of such counsel by the Issuer without objection by the Indenture Trustee as provided in this Section 6.06 (the “Retained
Counsel”), the Issuer shall not be liable to the Indemnified Person under this Indenture for any fees or expenses of counsel
subsequently incurred by the Indemnified Person with respect to the same proceeding, provided that if (i) the employment of counsel
other than the Retained Counsel has been previously authorized by the Issuer in writing with respect to the loss, liability or expense
described in the Claim Notice, (ii) the Indemnified Person shall have reasonably concluded that there may be a conflict of interest
between the Issuer and the Indemnified Person in the conduct of any such defense after providing prior written notice to the Issuer of
the Indemnified Person’s reasonable conclusion of a conflict of interest and providing the Issuer a reasonable opportunity, and the
Indemnified Person’s reasonable cooperation, to cure such conflict, if practicable, or (iii) the Issuer shall not, in fact, within a
commercially reasonable amount of time after its receipt of the Claim Notice, have employed counsel to assume the defense of such
proceeding, then the reasonable fees and expenses of the Indemnified Person’s counsel shall be borne by the Issuer in accordance
with this Section 6.06. For the avoidance of doubt, the Indemnified Person shall have the right to employ their own counsel in any
proceeding for which a Claim Notice has been received by the Issuer, at the Indemnified Person’s sole cost and expense, in which
event the Issuer shall have no further obligation or liability to the Indemnified Person under this Indenture for any fees or expenses of
counsel subsequently incurred by the Indemnified Person with respect to such proceeding. Neither the Issuer nor the Indemnified
Person will unreasonably withhold its or their consent to any proposed settlement of a claim for which it may seek indemnity pursuant
to Section 6.06, provided, however, that any such consent will be without prejudice to the right of the Indemnified Person to receive
indemnification hereunder.

SECTION 6.07.    Replacement of Indenture Trustee. (a) The Indenture Trustee may resign at any time by so notifying
the Issuer. The Required Holders may remove the Indenture Trustee by so notifying the Indenture Trustee and may appoint a
successor Indenture Trustee. The Issuer shall remove the Indenture Trustee if:

(i)    the Indenture Trustee fails to comply with Section 6.09;

(ii)    the Indenture Trustee is adjudged bankrupt or insolvent;

(iii)    a receiver or other public officer takes charge of the Indenture Trustee or its property; or

(iv)    the Indenture Trustee otherwise becomes incapable of acting.
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(b)    If the Indenture Trustee resigns or is removed by the Issuer or by the Required Holders and such Required Holders
do not reasonably promptly appoint a successor Indenture Trustee, or if a vacancy exists in the office of Indenture Trustee for
any reason (the Indenture Trustee in such event being referred to herein as the retiring Indenture Trustee), the Issuer shall
promptly appoint a successor Indenture Trustee.

(c)    A successor Indenture Trustee shall deliver a written acceptance of its appointment to the retiring Indenture Trustee
and to the Issuer. Thereupon the resignation or removal of the retiring Indenture Trustee shall become effective, and the
successor Indenture Trustee shall have all the rights, powers and duties of the Indenture Trustee under this Indenture. The
successor Indenture Trustee shall mail a notice of its succession to the Holders. The retiring Indenture Trustee shall promptly
transfer all property held by it as Indenture Trustee to the successor Indenture Trustee, subject to the Lien provided for in
Section 6.06.

(d)    If a successor Indenture Trustee does not take office within 60 days after the retiring Indenture Trustee resigns or
is removed, the retiring Indenture Trustee or the Holders of 10% in principal amount of the Notes may petition at the expense
of the Issuer any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Indenture Trustee.

(e)    Notwithstanding the replacement of the Indenture Trustee pursuant to this Section 6.07, the Issuer’s obligations
under Section 6.06 shall continue for the benefit of the retiring Indenture Trustee.

SECTION 6.08.    Successor Indenture Trustee by Merger. If the Indenture Trustee consolidates with, merges with or
converts into, or transfers all or substantially all its corporate trust business or assets to, another corporation or banking association,
the resulting, surviving or transferee corporation or banking association without any further act shall be the successor Indenture
Trustee.

In case at the time such successor or successors by merger, conversion or consolidation to the Indenture Trustee shall
succeed to the trusts created by this Indenture any of the Notes shall have been authenticated but not delivered, any such successor
to the Indenture Trustee may adopt the certificate of authentication of any predecessor trustee, and deliver such Notes so
authenticated; and in case at that time any of the Notes shall not have been authenticated, any successor to the Indenture Trustee
may authenticate such Notes either in the name of any predecessor hereunder or in the name of the successor to the Indenture
Trustee; and in all such cases such certificates shall have the full force which it is anywhere in the Notes or in this Indenture provided
that the certificate of the Indenture Trustee shall have.

SECTION 6.09.    Eligibility; Disqualification. The Indenture Trustee shall have a combined capital and surplus of at least
$100,000,000 as set forth in its most recent published annual report of condition.
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ARTICLE 7     

SATISFACTION AND DISCHARGE

SECTION 7.01.    Satisfaction and Discharge of Indenture.

(aa)    This Indenture shall cease to be of further effect except as to (i) any surviving rights herein expressly provided for
and (ii) in the case of clause (1)(B) below, the rights of the Holders hereunder to receive payment of the Note Balance of and
interest on the Notes and any other rights of the Holders hereunder, when

(1)    either (A) all Notes theretofore authenticated and delivered to Holders (other than (i) Notes which have been
mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen and which have been replaced or paid as provided in Section 2.05, and (ii) Notes for
which payment of money has theretofore been deposited in trust pursuant to Section 2.08 and thereafter repaid to the
Issuer) have been delivered to the Note Registrar for cancellation; or (B) all such Notes not theretofore delivered to the
Note Registrar for cancellation have been paid in full;

(2)    the Issuer has paid or caused to be paid all other sums payable hereunder or reasonably expected to
become payable hereunder and the other Transaction Documents (including amounts associated with the termination
thereof) by the Issuer hereunder and thereunder; and

(3)    the Issuer has delivered to the Indenture Trustee an Officers’ Certificate stating that all conditions precedent
herein provided for relating to the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture have been complied with.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the rights, privileges, protection and immunities afforded the Indenture Trustee under
Article 6, the obligations of the Issuer to the Indenture Trustee under Section 6.06 shall survive satisfaction and discharge of this
Indenture.

(bb)    Upon payment of all the outstanding Notes in full, the Indenture Trustee shall (i) deliver or cause to be delivered to
the Issuer any releases or termination statements prepared by the Issuer which the Issuer reasonably requests to evidence
discharge of the lien hereof as to the Trust Estate; and (ii) deliver or cause to be delivered all other items reasonably requested
by the Issuer, and take all other actions reasonably requested by the Issuer, in order to cause transfer of any portion of the
Collateral to the Issuer or its designee.

(cc)    Upon the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture pursuant to the foregoing, the Indenture Trustee shall pay, in
accordance with an Issuer Order all amounts, if any, previously received from the Issuer and not otherwise disbursed.

SECTION 7.02.    Application of Trust Money.

All cash paid to the Indenture Trustee pursuant to this Indenture shall be applied by the Indenture Trustee in accordance
with Section 2.08 or Section 5.10, as applicable, to pay the
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Persons entitled thereto, the interest, principal and other amounts payable on the Notes and to pay or reimburse the Indenture Trustee
pursuant to Section 6.06.

ARTICLE 8     

AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS

SECTION 8.01.    Without Consent of the Holders. The Issuer and the Indenture Trustee may amend this Indenture, the
Notes or the Security Documents without notice to or consent of any Holder:

(v)    to cure any ambiguity, omission, mistake, defect or inconsistency;

(vi)    to add to the covenants of the Issuer for the benefit of the Holders or to surrender any right or power herein
conferred upon the Issuer;

(vii)    to make any change that does not adversely affect the rights of any Holder;

(viii)    to add additional assets as Collateral to secure the Notes;

(ix)    to release Collateral from the Lien pursuant to this Indenture and the Security Documents when permitted or
required by this Indenture or the Security Documents; or

(x)    to issue Additional Notes in accordance with this Indenture.

After an amendment under this Section 8.01 becomes effective, the Issuer shall mail to the Holders a notice briefly describing
such amendment. The failure to give such notice to all Holders, or any defect therein, shall not impair or affect the validity of an
amendment under this Section 8.01.

SECTION 8.02.    With Consent of the Holders. (e) The Issuer and the Indenture Trustee may amend this Indenture, the
Notes and the Security Documents with the written consent of the Required Holders. However, without the consent of each Holder of
an outstanding Note affected, an amendment may not:

(i)    reduce the amount of Notes whose Holders must consent to an amendment,

(ii)    reduce the rate of or extend the time for payment of interest on any Note,

(iii)    reduce the principal of or change the Maturity Date of any Note,

(iv)    reduce the premium payable upon the redemption of any Note or change the time at which any Note may be
redeemed in accordance with Article 3,
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(v)    make any Note payable in money other than that stated in such Note,

(vi)    expressly subordinate the Notes to any other Indebtedness of the Issuer,

(vii)    impair the right of any Holder to receive payment of principal of or premium, if any, and interest on such
Holder’s Notes on or after the due dates therefor or to institute suit for the enforcement of any payment on or with
respect to such Holder’s Notes,

(viii)    make any change in this Section  8.02, or

(ix)    release all or substantially all of the Collateral from the Lien of this Indenture and the Security Documents,
except as otherwise provided in this Indenture or the Security Documents.

It shall not be necessary for the consent of the Holders under this Section 8.02 to approve the particular form of any proposed
amendment, but it shall be sufficient if such consent approves the substance thereof.

(f)    After an amendment under this Section 8.02 becomes effective, the Issuer shall mail to the Holders a notice briefly
describing such amendment. The failure to give such notice to all Holders, or any defect therein, shall not impair or affect the
validity of an amendment under this Section 8.02.

SECTION 8.03.    Revocation and Effect of Consents and Waivers.

(c)    A consent to an amendment or a waiver by a Holder of a Note shall bind the Holder and every subsequent Holder
of that Note or portion of the Note that evidences the same debt as the consenting Holder’s Note, even if notation of the
consent or waiver is not made on the Note. However, any such Holder or subsequent Holder may revoke the consent or waiver
as to such Holder’s Note or portion of the Note if the Indenture Trustee receives the notice of revocation before the date on
which the Indenture Trustee receives an Officers’ Certificate from the Issuer certifying that the requisite principal amount of
Notes have consented. After an amendment or waiver becomes effective, it shall bind every Holder. An amendment or waiver
becomes effective upon the (i) receipt by the Issuer or the Indenture Trustee of consents by the Holders of the requisite
principal amount of Notes, (ii) satisfaction of conditions to effectiveness as set forth in this Indenture and any indenture
supplemental hereto containing such amendment or waiver, (iii) execution of such amendment or waiver (or supplemental
indenture) by the Issuer and the Indenture Trustee and (iv) delivery to the Indenture Trustee of each Officers’ Certificate and
Opinion of Counsel required under Section 8.05 and Article 10 hereof.

(d)    The Issuer may, but shall not be obligated to, fix a record date for the purpose of determining the Holders entitled
to give their consent or take any other action described above or required or permitted to be taken pursuant to this Indenture. If
a record date is

50

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



fixed, then notwithstanding Section 8.03(a), those Persons who were Holders at such record date (or their duly designated
proxies), and only those Persons, shall be entitled to give such consent or to revoke any consent previously given or to take
any such action, whether or not such Persons continue to be Holders after such record date. No such consent shall be valid or
effective for more than 120 days after such record date.

SECTION 8.04.    Notation on or Exchange of Notes. If an amendment, supplement or waiver changes the terms of a
Note, the Issuer may require the Holder of the Note to deliver it to the Indenture Trustee. The Indenture Trustee may place an
appropriate notation on the Note regarding the changed terms and return it to the Holder. Alternatively, if the Issuer or the Indenture
Trustee so determines, the Issuer in exchange for the Note shall issue and the Indenture Trustee, in accordance with an Issuer Order,
shall authenticate a new Note that reflects the changed terms. Failure to make the appropriate notation or to issue a new Note shall
not affect the validity of such amendment, supplement or waiver.

SECTION 8.05.    Indenture Trustee to Sign Amendments. The Indenture Trustee shall sign any amendment, supplement
or waiver authorized pursuant to this Article 8 if the amendment does not adversely affect the rights, duties, liabilities or immunities of
the Indenture Trustee. If it does, the Indenture Trustee may but need not sign it. In signing any amendment, the Indenture Trustee
shall be entitled to receive indemnity reasonably satisfactory to it and shall be provided with, and shall be fully protected in relying
exclusively and conclusively upon, an Officers’ Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel stating that such amendment, supplement or
waiver (i) is authorized or permitted by this Indenture, (ii) is the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Issuer, enforceable against
them in accordance with its terms, subject to customary exceptions, (iii) and has been authorized by the requisite principal amount of
Notes, and (iv) complies with the provisions hereof (including Section 8.03).

SECTION 8.06.    Reserved.

SECTION 8.01.    Additional Voting Terms; Calculation of Principal Amount. All Notes issued under this Indenture shall
vote and consent together on all matters (as to which any of such Notes may vote) as one class. Determinations as to whether Holders
of the requisite aggregate principal amount of Notes have concurred in any direction, waiver or consent shall be made in accordance
with this Article 8.

SECTION 8.01.    Payment for Consent. The Issuer shall not, directly or indirectly, pay or cause to be paid any
consideration to or for the benefit of any Holder for or as an inducement to any consent, waiver or amendment of any of the terms or
provisions of this Indenture or the Notes unless such consideration is offered to be paid and is paid to all Holders that consent, waive
or agree to amend in the time frame set forth in the solicitation documents relating to consent, waiver or amendment.

ARTICLE 9     
SECURITY DOCUMENTS
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SECTION 9.01.    Collateral and Security Documents. The due and punctual payment of the principal of, premium and
interest on the Notes when and as the same shall be due and payable, whether on a Payment Date, at the Maturity Date, or by
acceleration, repurchase, redemption or otherwise, and interest on the overdue principal of, premium and interest on the Notes to the
Holders or the Indenture Trustee under this Indenture, the Notes and the other Security Documents, and all other amounts in respect
of the Secured Obligations according to the terms hereunder or thereunder, shall be secured by a security interest in the Collateral as
provided in the Security Documents, which define the terms of the Liens that secure the Secured Obligations. The Issuer hereby
acknowledges and agrees that the Indenture Trustee holds the Collateral in trust for the benefit of the Holders, pursuant to the terms of
the Security Documents. Each Holder, by accepting a Note, consents and agrees (subject to Section 4.11) to the terms of the Security
Documents (including the provisions providing for the possession, use, release and foreclosure of Collateral) as the same may be in
effect or may be amended from time to time in accordance with their respective terms and this Indenture, and authorizes and directs
the Indenture Trustee to enter into the Security Documents and, subject to the provisions of this Indenture, to perform its obligations
and exercise its rights thereunder in accordance herewith and therewith. The Issuer shall take any and all actions reasonably required
to cause the Security Documents to create and maintain at all times, as security for the Secured Obligations of the Issuer hereunder, a
valid and enforceable perfected Lien on all of the Collateral, in favor of the Indenture Trustee for the benefit of the Holders under the
Security Documents.

The Issuer hereby covenant (A) to perform and observe its obligations under the Security Documents and (B) take any and all
commercially reasonable actions (including without limitation the covenants set forth in the Security Documents and in this Article 9)
required to cause the Security Documents to create and maintain, as security for the Secured Obligations contained in this Indenture,
the Notes and the other Security Documents, valid and enforceable, perfected (except as expressly provided herein or therein)
security interests in and on all the Collateral, in favor of the Indenture Trustee, superior to and prior to the rights of all third Persons,
and subject to no other Liens, in each case, except as expressly permitted herein or therein.

The Issuer shall do or cause to be done, at its sole cost and expense, all such actions and things as may be necessary, or as
may be required by the provisions of the Security Documents, to confirm to the Indenture Trustee the security interests in the
Collateral contemplated hereby and by the Security Documents, as from time to time constituted, so as to render the Collateral
available for the security and benefit of this Indenture and of the Notes secured hereby, according to the intent and purpose herein and
therein expressed.

SECTION 9.01.    Recording and Opinions.

(a)    The Issuer shall, at its sole cost and expense, take or cause to be taken all commercially reasonable action
required to perfect (except as expressly provided in the Security Documents), maintain (with the priority required under the
Security Documents), preserve and protect the security interests in the Collateral granted by the Security Documents, including
(i) the filing of financing statements, continuation statements, collateral assignments and any instruments of further assurance,
in such manner and in
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such places as may be required by law to preserve and protect fully the rights of the Holders and the Indenture Trustee under
this Indenture and the Security Documents to all property comprising the Collateral pursuant to the terms of the Security
Documents, and (ii) the delivery of the certificates, if any, evidencing the certificated securities pledged under the Security
Documents, duly endorsed in blank or accompanied by undated stock powers or other instruments of transfer executed in
blank. The Issuer shall from time to time promptly pay all financing and continuation statement recording and/or filing fees,
charges and recording and similar taxes relating to this Indenture, the Security Documents and any amendments hereto or
thereto and any other instruments of further assurance required pursuant thereto. The Issuer will not be permitted to take any
action, or omit to take any action, which action or omission might or would have the result of materially impairing the security
interest with respect to the Collateral for the benefit of the Indenture Trustee or the Holders except as expressly set forth herein
or the Security Documents. The Indenture Trustee shall have no obligation to file or monitor any financing statements (or
amendments of financing statements, continuation statements, collateral assignments or any instruments of further assurance).

(b)    If property of a type constituting Collateral is acquired by the Issuer that is not automatically subject to a Lien or
perfected security interest under the Security Documents, then the Issuer will, as soon as reasonably practicable after such
property’s acquisition and in any event within 10 Business Days, grant Liens on such property in favor of the Indenture
Trustee, and deliver certain certificates (including in the case of real property title insurance) and any filings or other
documentation in respect thereof as required by this Indenture or the Security Documents and take all necessary steps to
perfect the security interest represented by such Liens.

SECTION 9.02.    Release of Collateral. (a) Subject to 8.01 and Section 8.02 hereof, the Collateral may be released from
the Lien and security interest created by the Security Documents at any time or from time to time in accordance with the provisions of
the Security Documents or as provided hereby. The Issuer will be entitled to a release of assets included in the Collateral from the
Liens securing the Notes, and the Indenture Trustee shall release the same from such Liens at the Issuer’s sole cost and expense,
under one or more of the following circumstances:

(1)    to enable the Issuer or any Subsidiary to sell, exchange or otherwise dispose of any of the Collateral to the extent
permitted by this Indenture and each other Security Document; or

(2)    pursuant to an amendment or waiver in accordance with Article 8 of this Indenture.

Upon receipt of an Officers’ Certificate (and upon receipt, the Indenture Trustee may conclusively rely upon such
Officers’ Certificate and shall have no duty to make any determination or investigation with respect to the contents thereof) certifying
that all conditions precedent under this Indenture and the Security Documents, if any, to such release have been met and any
necessary or proper instruments of termination, satisfaction or release have been prepared by the Issuer, the Indenture Trustee shall
execute, deliver or acknowledge (at the Issuer’s expense) such instruments
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or releases to evidence the release of any Collateral permitted to be released pursuant to this Indenture and the Security Documents

(b)    At any time when an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and the maturity of the Notes has been
accelerated (whether by declaration or otherwise), no release of Collateral pursuant to the provisions of this Indenture or the
Security Documents will be effective as against the Holders.

SECTION 9.03.    Permitted Releases Not To Impair Lien. The release of any Collateral from the terms hereof and of the
Security Documents or the release of, in whole or in part, the Liens created by the Security Documents, will not be deemed to impair
the security under this Indenture in contravention of the provisions hereof if and to the extent the Collateral or Liens are released
pursuant to the applicable Security Documents and the terms of this Article 9. Each of the Holders acknowledges that a release of
Collateral or a Lien in accordance with the terms of the Security Documents and of this Article 9 will not be deemed for any purpose to
be in contravention of the terms of this Indenture.

SECTION 9.04.    Suits To Protect the Collateral. Subject to the provisions of Article 6 hereof, the Indenture Trustee in its
sole discretion and without the consent of the Holders, on behalf of the Holders, may take all actions it deems necessary or appropriate
in order to:

(a)    enforce any of the terms of the Security Documents; and

(b)    collect and receive any and all amounts payable in respect of the Secured Obligations of the Issuer hereunder.

Subject to the provisions of the Security Documents, the Indenture Trustee shall have power (but not the obligation) to institute
and to maintain such suits and proceedings as it may deem expedient to prevent any impairment of the Collateral by any acts which
may be unlawful or in violation of any of the Security Documents or this Indenture, and such suits and proceedings as the Indenture
Trustee, in its sole discretion, may deem expedient to preserve or protect its interests and the interests of the Holders in the Collateral
(including power to institute and maintain suits or proceedings to restrain the enforcement of or compliance with any legislative or
other governmental enactment, rule or order that may be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid if the enforcement of, or compliance
with, such enactment, rule or order would impair the Lien on the Collateral or be prejudicial to the interests of the Holders or the
Indenture Trustee).

SECTION 9.05.    Authorization of Receipt of Funds by the Indenture Trustee Under the Security Documents. The
Indenture Trustee is authorized to receive any funds for the benefit of the Holders distributed under the Security Documents, and to
make further distributions of such funds to the Holders according to the provisions of this Indenture.

SECTION 9.06.    Purchaser Protected. In no event shall any purchaser in good faith of any property purported to be
released hereunder be bound to ascertain the authority of the Indenture Trustee to execute the release or to inquire as to the
satisfaction of any conditions required by the provisions hereof for the exercise of such authority or to see to the application of any
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consideration given by such purchaser or other transferee; nor shall any purchaser or other transferee of any property or rights
permitted by this Article 9 to be sold be under any obligation to ascertain or inquire into the authority of the Issuer to make any such
sale or other transfer.

SECTION 9.07.    Powers Exercisable by Receiver or Indenture Trustee. In case the Collateral shall be in the possession
of a receiver or trustee, lawfully appointed, the powers conferred in this Article 9 upon the Issuer with respect to the release, sale or
other disposition of such property may be exercised by such receiver or trustee, and an instrument signed by such receiver or trustee
shall be deemed the equivalent of any similar instrument of the Issuer or of any officer or officers thereof required by the provisions of
this Article 9; and if the Indenture Trustee shall be in the possession of the Collateral under any provision of this Indenture, then such
powers may be exercised by the Indenture Trustee.

SECTION 9.08.    Release Upon Termination of the Issuer’s Obligations. In the event that the Issuer delivers to the
Indenture Trustee, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Indenture Trustee, an Officers’ Certificate (and upon receipt,
the Indenture Trustee may conclusively rely upon such Officers’ Certificate and shall have no duty to make any determination or
investigation with respect to the contents thereof) certifying that (i) payment in full of the principal of, together with accrued and unpaid
interest on, the Notes and all other Secured Obligations under this Indenture and the Security Documents that are due and payable at
or prior to the time such principal, together with accrued and unpaid interest (including additional interest, if any), are paid, or (ii) all the
obligations under this Indenture, the Notes and the Security Documents have been satisfied and discharged by complying with the
provisions of Article 7, the Indenture Trustee shall deliver to the Issuer a notice stating that the Indenture Trustee, on behalf of the
Holders, disclaims and gives up any and all rights it has in or to the Collateral, and any rights it has under the Security Documents,
and upon delivery of such notice, the Indenture Trustee shall be deemed not to hold a Lien in the Collateral on behalf of the Holders
and shall do or cause to be done all acts reasonably necessary to release such Lien as soon as is reasonably practicable.

ARTICLE 10     

MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 10.01.    Notices. (c) Any notice or communication required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and
delivered in person, via facsimile, via overnight courier or via first-class mail addressed as follows:

if to the Issuer:

Emergent Capital, Inc.
5355 Town Center Road, Suite 701 
Boca Raton, FL 33486
Attention of: Office of the General Counsel 
Facsimile: (561) 995-4207
Telephone: (561) 995-4206

55

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



if to the Indenture Trustee:

Wilmington Trust, N.A., as Indenture Trustee
300 Park Street, Suite 390
Birmingham, Michigan 48009
Attention: Capital Markets Insurance Services
Facsimile: (248) 723-5424
Telephone: (248) 723-5422
E-mail: SpecializedInsurance@wilmingtontrust.com

The Issuer or the Indenture Trustee by notice to the other may designate additional or different addresses for subsequent notices or
communications.

(d)    Any notice or communication mailed to a Holder shall be mailed, first class mail, to the Holder at the Holder’s
address as it appears on the registration books of the Note Registrar and shall be sufficiently given if so mailed within the time
prescribed.

(e)    Failure to mail a notice or communication to a Holder or any defect in it shall not affect its sufficiency with respect to
other Holders. If a notice or communication is mailed in the manner provided above, it is duly given, whether or not the
addressee receives it, except that notices to the Indenture Trustee are effective only if received.

SECTION 10.02.    Certificate and Opinion as to Conditions Precedent. Upon any request or application by the Issuer to
the Indenture Trustee to take or refrain from taking any action under this Indenture, the Issuer shall furnish to the Indenture Trustee at
the request of the Indenture Trustee an Officers’ Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel, each in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to the Indenture Trustee stating that, in the opinion of the signers, all conditions precedent, if any, provided for in this
Indenture relating to the proposed action have been complied with, and the Indenture Trustee shall be fully protected in relying
exclusively and conclusively upon such Officers’ Certificate and Opinion of Counsel in taking or refraining from taking any action.

SECTION 10.03.    Statements Required in Certificate. Each certificate or opinion with respect to compliance with a
covenant or condition provided for in this Indenture shall include:

(c)    a statement that the individual making such certificate or opinion has read such covenant or condition;

(d)    a brief statement as to the nature and scope of the examination or investigation upon which the statements or
opinions contained in such certificate or opinion are based;

(e)    a statement that, in the opinion of such individual, he or she has made such examination or investigation as is
necessary to enable him or her to express an informed opinion as to whether or not such covenant or condition has been
complied with; and
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(f)    a statement as to whether or not, in the opinion of such individual, such covenant or condition has been complied
with; provided, however, that with respect to matters of fact an Opinion of Counsel may rely on an Officers’ Certificate or
certificates of public officials.

SECTION 10.04.    When Notes Disregarded. In determining whether the Holders of the required principal amount of
Notes have concurred in any direction, waiver or consent, Notes owned by or on behalf of the Issuer shall be disregarded and
deemed not to be outstanding, except that, for the purpose of determining whether the Indenture Trustee shall be protected in relying
on any such direction, waiver or consent, only Notes with respect to which the Indenture Trustee has actual knowledge are so owned
shall be so disregarded. Subject to the foregoing, only Notes outstanding at the time shall be considered in any such determination.
On the Initial Issue Date and on any Additional Issue Date, the Issuer shall identify in writing to the Indenture Trustee which, if any,
Notes are owned by or on behalf of the Issuer.

SECTION 10.05.    Rules by Indenture Trustee and Note Registrar. The Indenture Trustee may make reasonable rules
for action by or a meeting of the Holders. The Note Registrar may make reasonable rules for their functions.

SECTION 10.06.    Legal Holidays. If a Payment Date is not a Business Day, payment shall be made on the next
succeeding day that is a Business Day, and no interest shall accrue on any amount that would have been otherwise payable on such
Payment Date if it were a Business Day for the intervening period. If a Record Date is not a Business Day, the Record Date shall not
be affected.

SECTION 10.07.    GOVERNING LAW; SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION; WAIVER OF IMMUNITY. THIS
INDENTURE, THE SECURITIES, THE SECURITY DOCUMENTS, OR ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY
OR THEREBY, THE RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES HERETO AND THE INTERPRETATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF THE
RIGHTS AND DUTIES OF THE PARTIES HERETO SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT REGARD TO PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAW (OTHER THAN
SECTIONS 5-1401 AND 5-1402 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW) EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT THAT LOCAL
LAW GOVERNS THE CREATION, PERFECTION, PRIORITY OR ENFORCEMENT OF SECURITY INTERESTS. The Issuer the
Indenture Trustee, and, by its acceptance of a Note, each Holder (and holder of beneficial interests in a Note) hereby submit to the
non-exclusive jurisdiction of the federal and state courts of competent jurisdiction in the Borough of Manhattan in The City of New York
in any suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Indenture or the transactions contemplated hereby.

SECTION 10.08.    Successors. All agreements of the Issuer in this Indenture and the Notes shall bind its successors. All
agreements of the Indenture Trustee in this Indenture shall bind its successors.
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SECTION 10.09.    Multiple Originals. The parties may sign any number of copies of this Indenture. Each signed copy
shall be an original, but all of them together represent the same agreement. One signed copy is enough to prove this Indenture.

SECTION 10.10.    Table of Contents; Headings. The table of contents and headings of the Articles and Sections of this
Indenture have been inserted for convenience of reference only, are not intended to be considered a part hereof and shall not modify
or restrict any of the terms or provisions hereof.

SECTION 10.11.    Indenture Controls. If and to the extent that any provision of the Notes limits, qualifies or conflicts with
a provision of this Indenture, such provision of this Indenture shall control.

SECTION 10.12.    Severability. In case any provision in this Indenture shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the
validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby and such provision
shall be ineffective only to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Indenture to be duly executed as of the date first written above.

EMERGENT CAPITAL, INC.

By: /s/ Michael Altschuler______________
Name: Michael Altschuler    
Title: General Counsel and Secretary    

[Indenture Signature Page]
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WILMINGTON TRUST, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Indenture Trustee

By:/s/ Robert
Donaldson            
Name: Robert Donaldson
Title: Vice President

KL2 2868828.12
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Schedule 1.01(A)

Pledged Deposit Accounts
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Schedule 1.01(B)

Pledged Subsidiaries

Company Name Jurisdiction of 
Organization

Organizational 
Identification 
Number

Federal Identification 
Number

Red Reef Alternative Investments,
LLC* Delaware

  

OLIPP IV, LLC*
Delaware

  

Blue Heron Designated Activity
Company*

Ireland

  

*65% Pledge

S-1
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EXECUTION VERSION

EXHIBIT 10.16

EMERGENT CAPITAL, INC., 

as Issuer, 

 

15.0% Senior Secured Notes due September 14, 2018 

________________________ 

FORM OF NOTE PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

Dated as of _________, 2016 

________________________ 
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NOTE PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of ______________, 2016, by and among EMERGENT
CAPITAL, INC., a Florida corporation (the “Issuer”), and the purchasers who have executed this Agreement (collectively, the
“Purchaser” unless context refers to each Purchaser separately).

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, the Issuer proposes to sell to the Purchaser 15.0% senior secured notes due September 14, 2018 (the
“Notes”) in aggregate principal amount of up to U.S. $30,000,000;

WHEREAS, the Notes will be issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated March 11, 2016, by and among the Issuer and
Wilmington Trust, National Association, as indenture trustee (capitalized terms used in this Agreement and not defined have the
meanings specified in the Indenture; rules of construction set forth in Section 1.03 of the Indenture apply equally to this Agreement);
and

WHEREAS, the Notes are being offered and sold to the Purchaser without being registered under the U.S. Securities
Act, in reliance on an exemption therefrom;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby expressly acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

SECTION I. PURCHASE AND SALE; ISSUE DATE

Section 1.1        Purchase and Sale.

(a)    On and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Indenture, on the Initial Issue Date or any
Additional Issue Date, as applicable, the Issuer agrees to issue and sell to the Purchaser, the Note with an Initial Note Balance set
forth opposite the Purchaser’s name on Schedule 1, and (i) to deliver such Note to the Indenture Trustee as agent for the Purchaser
on, or before, the Closing Time, and (ii) to cause the Indenture Trustee to deliver the Note to the Purchaser, the following business day
of the Initial Issue Date or Additional Issue Date, as applicable, by overnight courier in accordance with the delivery instructions set
forth in the executed Purchaser Letter (as defined in Section 3.2(d) below) delivered to the Issuer at the Closing Time (as defined in
Section 1.2 below). On the basis of the representations and warranties of the Issuer set forth in this Agreement and the other
Transaction Documents, and subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and therein, the Purchaser hereby agrees to purchase
such Note on the Initial Issue Date or Additional Issue Date, as applicable, from the Issuer in accordance with the terms set forth
herein, and hereby appoints the Indenture Trustee as its agent for the limited purpose of accepting delivery of the Note.
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(b)    The purchase price for each Note, whether issued on the Initial Issue Date or on an Additional Issue Date, is 100%
of its Initial Note Balance (the “Purchase Price”).

Section 1.2    Closing.

(a)    Delivery and sale of the Notes and payment of the Purchase Price (for the Notes) will be completed (the "Closing")
at 11:00 a.m. (Eastern time) on the Initial Issue Date or Additional Issue Date, as applicable, (the "Closing Time"). If, on or prior to the
Closing Time, the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents have been complied with to
the satisfaction of the Purchaser, or waived by the Purchaser pursuant to Section 2.3, the Purchaser shall deliver to the Issuer, at the
Closing Time, an executed copy of this Agreement and will cause the delivery to the Issuer, at the Closing Time, payment of the
Purchase Price (for the Notes) in U.S. Dollars, either by wire transfer to the Deposit Account of the Issuer identified on Schedule 2
hereto or by certified check or bank draft, as determined by the Issuer and the Purchaser, for the Notes purchased pursuant to this
Agreement against delivery of physically certificated Notes representing the Initial Note Balance as identified on Schedule 1 hereto,
and such other documentation as may be required pursuant to this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents. If, prior to the
Closing Time, the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents have not been complied
with to the satisfaction of the Purchaser, or waived by the Purchaser, the Purchaser and the Issuer will have no further obligations
under this Subscription Agreement.

SECTION II. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

Section 2.1    Conditions to Purchase. The following shall be conditions precedent to the purchase of the Note
on the Initial Issue Date or any Additional Issue Date:

(a)    The Notes shall have been duly authorized, executed, authenticated, delivered and issued and, upon payment of
the Purchase Price, shall be entitled to the benefits of the Indenture. This Agreement and each of the other Transaction Documents
shall have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the respective parties thereto and shall be in full force and effect, and all
conditions precedent contained in the Transaction Documents shall have been satisfied.

(b)    The Purchaser shall have received a written legal opinion under United States and New York State law, in form and
substance satisfactory to the Purchaser, from Foley & Lardner LLP, in a form as is usual and customary for financings of this type,
including, without limitation, corporate authorization, enforceability, non-contravention of material agreements, perfection, non-
contravention of law, no registration under United States federal and state securities laws, Investment Company Act and such other
matters as the Purchaser may reasonably request.
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(c)    The Purchaser and the Indenture Trustee shall have each received signature and incumbency certificates executed
by the authorized officers of the Issuer, to enable each of them to enter into the Transaction Documents to which such entity is a party.

(d)    The Purchaser and the Indenture Trustee shall have received a closing certificate from Issuer, containing (i) the
certificate of incorporation or articles of organization of the Issuer, (ii) certified bylaws, (iii) a good standing certificate from its
jurisdiction of organization and (iv) resolutions of the board of directors authorizing and approving the execution, delivery and
performance of the Transaction Documents and the obligations thereunder to which the Issuer is a party and the transactions
contemplated thereby.

(e)    The representations and warranties of the Issuer set forth in Section 3.1 hereof and in the other Transaction
Documents shall be true and correct on the date hereof.

(f)    No Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.

(g)    All corporate and other proceedings in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and the other
Transaction Documents, and all documents, opinions and certificates incident thereto shall be satisfactory in form and in substance to
the Purchaser.

(h)    All governmental and third party approvals necessary in connection with the continuing operations of the Issuer and
the transactions contemplated hereby shall have been obtained and be in full force and effect.

(i)    The Indenture Trustee shall have received the certificates representing the Pledged Collateral as defined in and
pledged pursuant to the Pledge Agreement and the Indenture. UCC financing statements contemplated by the Security Documents
shall have been recorded in the appropriate filing office.

(j)    The Issuer shall have delivered to the Indenture Trustee on, or before, the Closing Time the Purchaser’s Notes for
delivery of the Note to the Purchaser in compliance with Section 1.1 hereof.

Section 2.2        Issuer’s Acceptance. The Issuer’s acceptance of the Purchase Price for the Note issued on
the Initial Issue Date or Additional Issue Date, as applicable, shall be the Issuer’s acknowledgement to the Purchaser that
the conditions to closing set forth in Section 2.1 have been complied with or otherwise waived as of such date.

Section 2.3        Purchaser’s Waiver of Compliance. The Purchaser may in its sole discretion waive
compliance with any conditions to the obligations of the Purchaser set forth in Section 2.1 hereof.
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SECTION III. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Section 3.1        Representations and Warranties of the Issuer. The Issuer hereby represents and warrants to
the Indenture Trustee and the Purchaser that as of the Initial Issue Date or any Additional Issue Date, as applicable:

(a)    Organization and Good Standing. Each of the Issuer and its Significant Subsidiaries has been duly formed and is
validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its state of organization or incorporation, as applicable, with all requisite
corporate or other power and authority to own, lease and use its properties (whether real, personal, tangible or intangible or of any
kind whatsoever) and to conduct its business as presently conducted and has the power and authority to own and convey all of its
properties(whether real, personal, tangible or intangible or of any kind whatsoever) and to execute and deliver this Agreement and the
Transaction Documents to which it is a party and to perform the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. Each of the Issuer and
its Significant Subsidiaries is duly qualified and authorized to do business as a foreign corporation (or other business entity) in each
jurisdiction where the character of its assets or the nature of its activities makes such qualification and authorization necessary except
where failure to be so qualified or be in good standing could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. For the
purpose of this Agreement, “Material Adverse Effect” shall mean a material adverse effect on (a) the condition (financial or otherwise),
business, performance, operations or properties of the Issuer or the Issuer and its Significant Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (b) the
ability of the Issuer to perform its obligations under this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, (c) the validity or
enforceability of the Transaction Documents or the rights or remedies of the Purchaser hereunder or thereunder or of the Liens
created by any of the Security Documents, or (d) the value of the Collateral, taken as a whole.

(b)    Binding Obligation. Execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to
which the Issuer is a party have each been duly executed and delivered on behalf of the Issuer by its duly authorized officers and this
Agreement and each other Transaction Document to which the Issuer is a party constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the
Issuer enforceable against the Issuer in accordance with their respective terms except as enforcement thereof may be limited by
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights and by general principles of equity. No
Consent Required. No consent of, or other action by, and no notice to or filing with, any Governmental Authority or any other party, is
required for the due execution, delivery and performance by the Issuer of this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents
or for the perfection of or the exercise by the Indenture Trustee or the Purchaser of any of their rights or remedies thereunder which
have not been duly obtained. For the purpose of this Agreement, “Governmental Authority” shall mean (i) the government of the United
States of America; (ii) any other international, multinational, national, federal, provincial, state, regional, municipal, local or other
government, governmental or public department, central bank, court, tribunal, arbitral body, commission, board, bureau, ministry,
agency or instrumentality, domestic or foreign; (iii) any subdivision or authority of any of the above; (iv) any quasi-governmental or
private body exercising any regulatory,
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expropriation or taxing authority under or for the account of any of the foregoing; or (iv) any stock exchange.

(c)    No Violation. Execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which
the Issuer is party and the consummation of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement and the Indenture, including the issuance
of the Notes, and the fulfillment of the terms hereof is within the Issuer’s corporate power and does not conflict with, result in any
material breach of any of the terms and provisions of, nor constitute (with or without notice or lapse of time) a default under, the
organizational documents of the Issuer, or any indenture, agreement or other instrument to which the Issuer is a party or by which it is
bound; nor violate any law, treaty, rule or regulation or determination of an arbitrator or a court or other Governmental Authority; nor
result in the creation or imposition of any Lien upon any of its properties pursuant to the terms of any such indenture, agreement or
other instrument (other than pursuant to the Security Documents).

(d)    No Proceedings. There is no pending or, to such Issuer’s knowledge, threatened action, suit or proceeding,
including without limitation, any bankruptcy proceeding or governmental investigation, nor any injunction, writ, restraining order or
other order of any nature (each, a “Proceeding”) pending or threatened against or affecting the Issuer, its officers or directors, or the
property of the Issuer, in any court or tribunal, or before any arbitrator of any kind or before or by any Governmental Authority (i)
asserting the invalidity of this Agreement or any of the Transaction Documents, (ii) seeking to prevent the pledge of any of the
Collateral or the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated thereby, (iii) seeking any determination or ruling that might
materially and adversely affect (A) the performance by the Issuer of this Agreement or any of the Transaction Documents or the
interests of the Purchaser in the Collateral or (B) the validity or enforceability of this Agreement or any of the Transaction Documents
or (iv) asserting a claim for payment of money adverse to the Issuer or the conduct of its business or which is inconsistent with the due
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any of the Transaction Documents, in each case, other than any
Proceeding that is disclosed in the Issuer’s filings posted on the SEC Edgar website, in the draft 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2015 that has been furnished to the Purchaser (the “Draft 10-K”), or that would not reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.

(e)    Issuer Not Insolvent. The Issuer, as of the date hereof, is and after giving effect to the consummation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, will be, solvent, able to pay its indebtedness as it
matures and will have capital sufficient to carry on its businesses and all business in which it is about to engage. The Issuer does not
intend to nor does management of the Issuer believe the Issuer will incur debts beyond its ability to pay as they mature. The Issuer
does not contemplate filing a petition in bankruptcy or for an arrangement or reorganization under the Bankruptcy Code or any similar
law of any jurisdiction now or hereafter in effect relating to the Issuer, nor does the Issuer have any knowledge of any threatened
bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings against the Issuer..
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(f)    Name. The legal name of the Issuer is as set forth in the signature page of this Agreement and the Issuer does not
have any tradenames, fictitious names, assumed names or “doing business as” names.

(g)    Financial Statements. The audited consolidated balance sheets of the Issuer as at December 31, 2014 and
December 31 2013, and the related consolidated statements of income and of cash flows for the fiscal years ended on such dates,
reported on by and accompanied by an unqualified report from Grant Thornton LLP, present fairly the consolidated financial condition
of the Issuer as at such date, and the consolidated results of its operations and its consolidated cash flows for the respective fiscal
years then ended. The unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Issuer as at December 31, 2015, and the related unaudited
consolidated statements of income and cash flows for the 12-month period ended on such date in the Draft 10-K, present fairly the
consolidated financial condition of the Issuer as at such date, and the consolidated results of its operations and its consolidated cash
flows for the twelve-month period then ended. All such financial statements, including the related schedules and notes thereto, have
been prepared in accordance with GAAP applied consistently throughout the periods involved (except as approved by the
aforementioned firm of accountants and disclosed therein).

(h)    No Change. Except as disclosed in the Issuer’s filings posted on the SEC Edgar website or in the Draft 10-K, since
December 31, 2015, there has been no development or event that has had or could reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect. Since December 31, 2015, there has been no material adverse change in the business, operations, condition,
property or prospects (financial or otherwise) of the Issuer or the Issuer and its Significant Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. To the best
knowledge of the Issuer, as of the Initial Issue Date or Additional Issue Date, as applicable, (i) the Issuer does not have any material
contingent obligations (including any liability for taxes) not disclosed by or reserved against in the consolidated financial statements to
be included in the Draft 10-K, and (ii) there are no unrealized or anticipated losses from any present commitment of the Issuer which
contingent obligations and losses in the aggregate could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect

(i)    Ownership of Properties; Liens. The Issuer has good title to, or a valid leasehold interest in, (i) all Collateral owned
by it and (ii) all of its property that is essential to its business as conducted on the Initial Issue Date or Additional Issue Date, as
applicable, and none of such Collateral or other property is subject to any Lien except as contemplated by the Security Documents.

(j)    Taxes. The Issuer has filed or caused to be filed all Federal, state and other material tax returns that are required to
be filed and has paid all United States federal, state, local and other taxes that have become due and payable on said returns or on
any tax assessments made against it or any of its property and all other taxes, fees or other charges imposed on it or any of its
property by any Governmental Authority (other than any the amount or validity of which are currently being contested in good faith by
appropriate proceedings and with respect to which reserves in conformity with GAAP have been provided on the books of the Issuer);
no tax Lien has been filed, and, to the knowledge of the Issuer, no claim is being asserted, with respect to any such tax,
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fee or other charge, except as disclosed in the Issuer’s filings posted on the SEC Edgar website or in the Draft 10-K.

(k)    Federal Regulations. No part of the proceeds of the sale of any Notes, will be used for “buying” or “carrying” any
“margin stock” within the respective meanings of each of the quoted terms under Regulation U as now and from time to time hereafter
in effect for any purpose that violates the provisions of the regulations of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the
United States (or any successor) (the “Board”). If requested by the Purchaser or the Indenture Trustee, the Issuer will furnish to the
Indenture Trustee and each Holder a statement to the foregoing effect in conformity with the requirements of FR Form G-3 or FR Form
U-1, as applicable, referred to in Regulation U.

(l)    Public Company. The common stock of the Issuer is publicly traded on The New York Stock Exchange under the
symbol “EMG.” The Issuer has timely filed with or furnished to the SEC all reports required to be filed or submitted by it with the SEC
or mailed to its shareholders pursuant to the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “U.S. Securities Act”), the United
States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “U.S. Exchange Act”) or rules promulgated thereunder (“Issuer SEC
Reports”). As of their respective dates (or, if any of the Issuer SEC Reports were amended, as of the date such amendment was filed
with the SEC), each Issuer SEC Report, including any financial statements or schedules included therein and as amended, if
amended, (i) complied in all material respects with all applicable requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and the U.S. Exchange Act,
as the case may be, and the applicable rules promulgated thereunder and (ii) did not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. No event or fact known to the Issuer since the date of the last Issuer SEC
Report, other than as set forth in the Draft 10-K to be filed with the SEC, has occurred that would require the Issuer to file a Current
Report on Form 8-K other than the execution of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents or that could reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Issuer or the Issuer and its Significant Subsidiaries. The Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer of the Issuer have made all certifications (without qualification or exception to the matters certified) required by,
and would be able to make such certifications (without qualification or exception to the matters certified) if required to do so as of such
dates pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) and any related rules and regulations promulgated by
the SEC, and the statements contained in any such certifications are complete and correct and is otherwise in compliance in all
material respects with all applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the applicable rules of the New York Stock Exchange.

(m)    Investment Company Act; Other Regulations. The Issuer is not, and after receipt of the proceeds from the Notes
will not be, an “investment company”, or a company “controlled” by an “investment company”, within the meaning of the Investment
Company Act of 1940, as amended. The Issuer is not subject to regulation under any Requirement of Law (other than Regulation X of
the Board) that limits its ability to incur Indebtedness.

(n)    Accuracy of Information. No statement or information contained in this Agreement, any other Transaction Document,
the Draft 10-K or any other document, certificate or
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statement furnished by or on behalf of the Issuer to the Indenture Trustee or the Purchaser, or any of them, for use in connection with
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents, contained as of the date such statement,
information, document or certificate was so furnished, any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements contained herein or therein not misleading.

(o)    Security Documents. Each of the Indenture and each Security Document is effective to create in favor of the
Indenture Trustee, for the benefit of the Purchaser, a legal, valid and enforceable security interest in the Collateral described therein
and proceeds thereof. In the case of the Pledged Collateral described in the Pledge Agreement and the Indenture, when certificates
representing such Collateral are delivered to the Indenture Trustee (together with a properly completed and signed power or
endorsement), combined with the filing of financing statements in appropriate form and the delivery of a notice of assignment by way of
security to Blue Heron (“Blue Heron”) in respect of the PPNs (as defined on Exhibit A to the Pledge Agreement), in the case of the
deposit account into which the Litigation Proceeds are to be deposited, when an account control agreement meeting the requirements
of Section 9-104(a)(2) of the UCC has been entered into by the Indenture Trustee, the depository bank and the account holder with
respect to such deposit account, and in the case of the other Collateral described herein and the Security Documents, when financing
statements and other filings in appropriate form are filed, the Indenture and each Security Document shall constitute a fully perfected
Lien on, and security interest in, all right, title and interest of the Issuer in such Collateral and the proceeds thereof, as security for the
Secured Obligations.

(p)    No Solicitation. No form of “general solicitation” or “general advertising” (as such terms are defined in Regulation D
under the U.S. Securities Act) was used by the Issuer or its representatives in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes. Neither
the Issuer nor any of its representatives has taken or will take any action that would constitute a public offering of the Notes in the
United States within the meaning of Section 4(a)(2) of the U.S. Securities Act. Neither the Issuer nor any of its representatives has
engaged in or will engage in any “directed selling efforts” (as such term is defined in Rule 902(c) of Regulation S under the U.S.
Securities Act) or has taken or will take any action that would cause the exemption afforded by Rule 506(b) of Regulation D under the
U.S. Securities Act or the exclusion from registration afforded by Rule 903 of Regulation S to be unavailable for offers and sales of
Notes in accordance with this Agreement. No investors were solicited or otherwise approached by the Issuer or any representative of
the Issuer for the purpose of offering the Notes for sale who were not institutional investors. The Issuer has not issued or sold any
Notes within the six-month period immediately preceding the date hereof or securities that could be integrated with the Notes other
than Initial Notes under the Indenture. Neither the Issuer nor any representative on its behalf has offered or sold, nor will any of them
offer or sell, any Notes in any manner that would render the issuance and sale of the Notes a violation of the U.S. Securities Act or
any state securities or “Blue Sky” laws, or require registration pursuant thereto, nor has any of them authorized, nor will any authorize,
any Person to act in such manner.

(q)    Registration Exemption. The offer and sale of the Notes to the Purchaser in the manner contemplated by this
Agreement will offered and sold pursuant to available exemptions from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and
accordingly will be exempt from
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the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and it is not necessary to qualify an indenture in respect of the Notes. The
Indenture is not required to be qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 (15 U.S.C. Sections 77aaa-77bbbb) as in effect on the
date of this Agreement.

(r)    Third Party Beneficiary. The Issuer acknowledges and agrees that the Indenture Trustee is a third-party beneficiary
of this Section 3.1 and the other provisions of this Agreement related hereto (including, without limitation, Section IV) and shall have
the right to enforce such third-party beneficiary rights.

(s)    Bad-Actor Requirements. With respect to the Notes to be offered and sold in the United States in reliance on Rule
506(b) of Regulation D under the U.S. Securities Act hereunder, none of the Issuer, any of its predecessors, any affiliated issuer, any
director, executive officer, other officer of the Issuer participating in the offering, any beneficial owner of 20% or more of the Issuer’s
outstanding voting equity securities, calculated on the basis of voting power, nor any promoter (as that term is defined in Rule 405
under the U.S. Securities Act) connected with the Issuer in any capacity at the time of sale (each, an "Issuer Covered Person" and,
together, "Issuer Covered Persons") is subject to any of the "Bad Actor" disqualifications described in Rule 506(d)(1)(i) to (viii) of
Regulation D under the U.S. Securities Act (a "Disqualification Event"), except for a Disqualification Event covered by Rule 506(d)(2)
or (d)(3) of Regulation D. The Issuer has exercised reasonable care to determine whether any Issuer Covered Person is subject to a
Disqualification Event.

(t)    Filings. With respect to Notes that are offered and sold in the United States in reliance on Rule 506(b) of Regulation
D, the Issuer will complete and file with the SEC a Notice on Form D within 15 days after the first sale of Notes pursuant to Rule
506(b) of Regulation D, and will make such filings with any applicable state securities commission as may be required by state law.
With respect to Notes that are offered and sold outside of the United States, the Issuer will complete and file all necessary filings with
any applicable Government Authority as may be required by any law, rule, regulation or order of any such applicable Government
Authority.

(u)    Availability of Regulation D.     The Issuer has not been subject to any order, judgment or decree of any court of
competent jurisdiction temporarily, preliminarily or permanently enjoining such person for failure to comply with Rule 503 of Regulation
D under the U.S. Securities Act.

(v)    Integration. The Issuer has not offered or sold, for a period of six months prior to the commencement of the offering
of the Notes, and will not offer or sell, any securities in a manner that would be integrated with the offer and sale of the Notes and
would cause the exemption from registration provided by Rule 506 of Regulation D under the U.S. Securities Act (“Regulation D”) to
be unavailable for offers and sales of the Notes in accordance with this Agreement.

(w)    General Solicitation or Advertising. None of the Issuer or its Significant Subsidiaries or any person acting on any of
their behalf has offered or will offer to sell, or has solicited or will solicit offers to buy Notes in the United States by means of any form
of “general solicitation” or “general advertising” (as such terms are defined in Regulation D) or has taken or
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will take any action that would constitute a public offering of the Notes in the United States within the meaning of Section 4(a)2 of the
U.S. Securities Act.

(x)    Directed Selling Efforts. During the period in which Notes are offered for sale, none of the Issuer, its Significant
Subsidiaries, or any person acting on any of their behalf has engaged in or will engage in any “directed selling efforts,” as such term is
defined in Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act (“Regulation S”) or has taken or will take any action that would cause the
exclusion from registration afforded by Rule 903 of Regulation S to be unavailable for offers and sales of Notes in accordance with this
Agreement.

(y)    Use of Proceeds. The Issuer will not access, use or withdraw the proceeds of the Notes until such time as (i) the
Lien on, and security interest in, all right, title and interest of the Issuer in the Collateral (other than the Litigation Proceeds and the
Pledged Deposit Accounts), as security for the Secured Obligations, has been perfected and constitutes and creates a fully perfected
Lien; (ii) an Opinion of Counsel has been delivered to the Indenture Trustee that the Security Documents (other than the Account
Control Agreement) are valid and enforceable against the Issuer and constitute and create a fully perfected Lien on, and security
interest in, all right, title and interest of the Issuer in the Collateral (other than the Litigation Proceeds and the Pledged Deposit
Accounts), as security for the Secured Obligations; and (iii) the Issuer has complied with its other obligations under Section 4.11 of the
Indenture (other than with respect to the Account Control Agreement).

(z)    Deposit of Proceeds. The Issuer will deposit the proceeds from the issuance of any Notes into (i) a Pledged Deposit
Account or (ii) a New Issuer Deposit Account with respect to which a New Issuer Deposit Account Control Agreement is in effect. As of
the Initial Issue Date, the Issuer does not have any deposit accounts established with a banking institution in the Issuer’s name with a
balance of $100,000 or more other than the Pledged Deposit Accounts.

Section 3.2        Representations and Warranties of the Purchaser. The Purchaser hereby represents and
warrants to the Issuer, on behalf of itself, and not on behalf of or jointly and severally with any other Purchaser, that as of the
date hereof:

(a)    Due Authorization. This Agreement has been duly authorized by the Purchaser and, on the Initial Issue Date or
Additional Issue Date, as applicable, will have been duly executed and delivered by the Purchaser.

(b)    Binding Obligation. Assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery thereof by the other parties thereto, this
Agreement constitutes a valid and legally binding obligation of the Purchaser, enforceable in accordance with its respective terms,
subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium and similar laws of general applicability relating to or
affecting creditors’ rights and to general equity principles.

(c)    No Violation. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Purchaser and compliance with the
terms and provisions hereof will not result in a breach or violation of any of the terms and provisions of, or constitute a default under or
conflict with, (i) any statute, rule, regulation or order of any governmental agency or body or any court, domestic
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or foreign, having jurisdiction over the Purchaser or any of its properties, (ii) any agreement or instrument to which the Purchaser is a
party or by which the Purchaser is bound or to which any of the properties of the Purchaser is subject, or (iii) the organizational
documents of the Purchaser.

(d)    Purchaser Letter. The Purchaser hereby delivers a letter in the form of Exhibit A hereto (a “Purchaser Letter”) to the
Issuer and makes the representations and warranties set forth in the Purchaser Letter to the Issuer.

(e)    U.S. Securities Act. The Purchaser represents and warrants that it is either (i) in the United States or a U.S. Person
(as defined in Rule 902(k) of Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act) and purchasing the Notes as an “accredited investor”, as
defined in Rule 501(a) of Regulation D under the U.S. Securities Act, or (ii) or a non-“U.S. Person” (as such term is defined in
Rule 902(k) of Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act) and, in either case, that it will transfer interests in any Note only in
accordance with the Indenture and applicable law.

SECTION IV.    INDEMNIFICATION

The Issuer agrees to indemnify and hold harmless each of the Purchaser and its affiliates (including, without limitation,
controlling persons) and each member, partner, director, officer, employee, shareholder, advisor, agent, affiliate, successor, partner,
representative and assign of each of the forgoing (each an “Indemnified Person”) from and against any and all actions (including
shareholder actions, derivative or otherwise), suits, investigation, inquiry, claims, losses, damages, liabilities, joint or several,
expenses or proceedings of any kind or nature whatsoever which may be incurred by or asserted against or involve any such
Indemnified Person as a result of or arising out of or in any way related to or resulting from the Transaction Documents, the use of
proceeds thereof or the other transactions contemplated thereby (regardless of whether any such Indemnified Person is a party
thereto and regardless of whether such matter is initiated by a third party or otherwise) (any of the foregoing, a “Proceeding”), and the
Issuer jointly and severally agrees to reimburse each Indemnified Person upon demand for any legal or other out-of-pocket expenses
incurred in connection with investigating, defending, preparing to defend or participating in any such Proceeding; provided, however,
that no Indemnified Person will be indemnified for any such cost, expense or liability to the extent determined by a final,
nonappealable judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction to have resulted solely from the gross negligence, bad faith or willful
misconduct of such Indemnified Person. In the case of any Proceeding to which the indemnity in this paragraph applies, such
indemnity and reimbursement obligations shall be effective, whether or not such Proceeding is brought by the Issuer or its
securityholders or creditors, an Indemnified Person or any other person, or an Indemnified Person is otherwise a party thereto and
whether or not any aspect of the Transaction Documents or the transactions thereunder are consummated. Notwithstanding any other
provision of the Transaction Documents, (i) no Indemnified Person shall be responsible or liable for damages arising from the
unauthorized use by others of information or other materials obtained through internet, electronic, telecommunications or other
information transmission and (ii) no Indemnified Person shall have any liability (whether direct or indirect, in contract, tort or otherwise)
to the Issuer, or any its securityholders or creditors arising out of, related
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to or in connection with the Transaction Documents or the other transactions contemplated thereby, except to the extent of direct (as
opposed to special, indirect, consequential or punitive) damages determined in a final, nonappealable judgment by a court of
competent jurisdiction to have resulted solely from such Indemnified Person’s gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct, and it
is further agreed that the Purchaser shall have liability (if any) only to the Issuer (as opposed to any other Person) and that the
Purchaser shall be liable solely in respect of its own commitment under the Transaction Documents on a several, and not joint, basis
with any other Purchaser.

The Issuer will not, without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Person, settle, compromise, consent to the entry
of any judgment in or otherwise seek to terminate any Proceeding in respect of which indemnification may be sought hereunder
(whether or not any Indemnified Person is a party thereto) unless such settlement, compromise, consent or termination (i) includes an
unconditional release of each Indemnified Person from all liability arising out of such Proceeding and (ii) does not include a statement
as to, or an admission of, fault, culpability, or a failure to act by or on behalf of such Indemnified Person.

SECTION V.    MISCELLANEOUS

Section 5.1        Amendments and Waivers. This Agreement may only be amended in writing by all of the
parties hereto (other than as expressly set forth in Section 2.3 hereof).

Section 5.2        Notices. All notices, requests and demands to or upon the respective parties hereto to be
effective shall be in writing, and, unless otherwise expressly provided herein, shall be deemed to have been duly given or
made when delivered by hand, or, in the case of mail notice, when received, addressed as follows in the case of the Issuer
and in the case of the Purchaser, as set forth on the signature page or, to such other address as may be hereafter notified to
the Indenture Trustee by the respective parties hereto:

The Issuer: Emergent Capital,
Inc.
5355 Town Center Road, Suite 701 
Boca Raton, FL 33486
Attention of: Office of the General Counsel

Section 5.3        No Waiver; Cumulative Remedies. No failure to exercise and no delay in exercising, on the
part of any party hereto, any right, remedy, power or privilege under any of the Transaction Documents shall operate as a
waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege under any of the Transaction
Documents preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, remedy, power or privilege. The
rights, remedies, powers and privileges provided in the Transaction Documents are cumulative and not exclusive of any
rights, remedies, powers and privileges provided by law.
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Section 5.4        Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
Issuer and the Purchaser, and their respective successors and assigns, provided that the Issuer may not assign its rights
hereunder without prior written consent from the Purchaser.

Section 5.5        Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed by the parties to this Agreement on any
number of separate counterparts, and all of said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the
same instrument.

Section 5.6        Severability. Any provisions of this Agreement which are prohibited or unenforceable in any
jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating
the remaining provisions hereof, and any such prohibition or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render
unenforceable such provisions in any other jurisdiction.

Section 5.7    Governing Law. THIS AGREEMENT, OR ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED
HEREBY OR THEREBY, THE RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES HERETO AND THE INTERPRETATION AND
ENFORCEMENT OF THE RIGHTS AND DUTIES OF THE PARTIES HERETO SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND
CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT
GIVING EFFECT TO PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAW OTHER THAN SECTIONS 5-1401 AND 5-1402 OF THE
GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

Section 5.8        Termination. This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect until the payment in full of the
principal of and interest on the Notes and all other amounts payable to the Purchaser or the Indenture Trustee under the
Transaction Documents.

Section 5.9        Limited Recourse; No Proceedings. The obligations of the Issuer under this Agreement are
solely the obligations of the Issuer. No recourse shall be had for the payment of any fee or other obligation or claim arising
out of or relating to this Agreement or any other agreement, instrument, document or certificate executed and delivered or
issued by the Issuer, or any officer of it in connection therewith, against any partner, member, stockholder, employee,
officer, director or incorporator of the Issuer.

Section 5.10    Legal Counsel. Foley & Lardner LLP is acting as legal counsel to the Issuer in connection with
this Agreement and the offering contemplated herein. Purchaser hereby consents to such representation and acknowledges
that Foley & Lardner LLP will not and has not represented the Purchaser in connection with this Agreement and the offering
contemplated herein and that the Purchaser has been advised to obtain independent legal counsel with respect to such
matters.
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Section 5.11    Survival of Representations and Warranties and Indemnification. All representations and
warranties made and indemnification provided hereunder and in any document, certificate or statement delivered pursuant
hereto or in connection herewith shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents, the purchase or transfer by the Purchaser of any Note or portion thereof or interest therein, the payment of any
Note and the termination of this Agreement and shall continue in full force and effect notwithstanding the termination of or
under this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents. All statements contained in any certificate or other instrument
delivered by or on behalf of the Issuer pursuant to this Agreement shall be deemed representations and warranties of the
Issuer under this Agreement.

Section 5.12    Submission to Jurisdiction; Waivers. THE ISSUER AND THE PURCHASER HEREBY
IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY:

(1)    SUBMITS FOR ITSELF AND ITS PROPERTY IN ANY LEGAL ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO THIS
AGREEMENT TO WHICH IT IS A PARTY, OR FOR RECOGNITION AND ENFORCEMENT OF ANY JUDGMENT IN
RESPECT THEREOF, TO THE NON-EXCLUSIVE GENERAL JURISDICTION OF THE COURTS OF THE STATE OF
NEW YORK AND THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK LOCATED
IN NEW YORK COUNTY, AND APPELLATE COURTS FROM ANY THEREOF;

(2)    CONSENTS THAT ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING MAY BE BROUGHT IN SUCH COURTS AND
WAIVES ANY OBJECTION THAT IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE VENUE OF ANY SUCH ACTION
OR PROCEEDING IN ANY SUCH COURT OR THAT SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING WAS BROUGHT IN AN
INCONVENIENT COURT AND AGREES NOT TO PLEAD OR CLAIM THE SAME;

(3)    AGREES THAT SERVICE OF PROCESS IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING MAY BE EFFECTED BY
MAILING A COPY THEREOF BY REGISTERED OR CERTIFIED MAIL (OR ANY SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR FORM
OF MAIL), POSTAGE PREPAID, TO SUCH PARTY AT ITS ADDRESS SET FORTH IN SECTION 5.2 OR AT SUCH
OTHER ADDRESS OF WHICH THE INDENTURE TRUSTEE SHALL HAVE BEEN NOTIFIED PURSUANT THERETO;
AND

(4)    AGREES THAT NOTHING HEREIN SHALL AFFECT THE RIGHT TO EFFECT SERVICE OF PROCESS IN
ANY OTHER MANNER PERMITTED BY LAW OR SHALL LIMIT THE RIGHT TO SUE IN ANY OTHER
JURISDICTION.
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Section 5.13    WAIVERS OF JURY TRIAL. THE ISSUER AND THE PURCHASER HEREBY IRREVOCABLY
AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE
TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY TO THIS
AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER DOCUMENT OR INSTRUMENT RELATED HERETO AND FOR ANY COUNTERCLAIM
THEREIN.

Section 5.14    Authorization for Indenture Trustee. The delivery to the Indenture Trustee and the Purchasers
of an opinion of counsel as described in Section 4.11 of the Indenture with respect to each of the Irish Share Charge, the
Pledged Irish Profit Participating Note Assignment, any Deposit Account Control Agreement or any Litigation Proceeds
Account Control Agreement shall be deemed to be conclusive authorization by the Purchasers on which the Indenture
Trustee may exclusively rely, and by its receipt of such an opinion of counsel the Indenture Trustee shall be fully protected,
in executing and delivering each such agreement and any document or instrument contemplated thereby, without any
obligation to determine or confirm the advisability or suitability thereof on behalf of the Purchasers.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective officers
as of the day and year first above written.

EMERGENT CAPITAL, INC., as Issuer

By:    
Name:    
Title:    

[Note Purchase Agreement Signature Page ]
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PURCHASER:

By:            
Name:    
Title:    

Address for Section 5.2 Notices:
                        
________________________________________
________________________________________
________________________________________
________________________________________

    

    

[Note Purchase Agreement Signature Page – Purchaser ]
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Exhibit 21.1.

Subsidiaries of Emergent Capital, Inc., a Florida corporation

Entity                            Jurisdiction
Blue Heron Designated Activity Company        Ireland
Golden Sparrow, LLC                    Delaware
Harbordale, LLC                    Delaware
Imperial Finance & Trading, LLC            Florida
Imperial Life Settlements, LLC            Delaware
Imperial Premium Finance, LLC            Florida
Imperial Settlements Financing 2010, LLC        Georgia
Lamington Road Bermuda Ltd.            Bermuda
Lamington Road Limited                Ireland
Markley Asset Portfolio, LLC                Delaware
OLIPP IV, LLC                    Delaware
Red Falcon Trust                    Delaware
Red Reef Alternative Investments, LLC        Delaware
Washington Square Financial, LLC            Georgia
White Eagle Asset Portfolio, LP            Delaware
White Eagle General Partner, LLC            Delaware
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our reports dated March 14, 2016, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and Internal Control over financial reporting included in
the Annual Report of Emergent Capital, Inc. and its subsidiaries on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015. We hereby consent to the incorporation by
reference of said reports in the Registration Statements of Emergent Capital, Inc. on Forms S-3 (File No. 333-198659, effective September 24, 2014 and File No.
333-198658, effective February 3, 2015) and on Form S-8 (File No. 333-172114, effective February 8, 2011).

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

Fort Lauderdale, Florida
March 14, 2016
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Antony Mitchell, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Emergent Capital, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

/s/ Antony Mitchell

Antony Mitchell
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
 

March 14, 2016
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Richard S. O’Connell, Jr., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Emergent Capital, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

/s/ Richard S. O’Connell, Jr.

Richard S. O’Connell, Jr.
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Credit Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
 

March 14, 2016
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Exhibit 32.1

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Emergent Capital, Inc. (the Registrant) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2015 as filed with the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report), I, Antony Mitchell, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant, certify to
the best of my knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.

/s/ Antony Mitchell

Antony Mitchell
Chief Executive Officer and Director
 

March 14, 2016
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Exhibit 32.2

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Emergent Capital, Inc. (the Registrant) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2015 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report), I, Richard S. O’Connell, Jr., Chief Financial Officer and Chief Credit Officer of the
Registrant, certify to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.

/s/ Richard S. O’Connell, Jr.

Richard S. O’Connell, Jr.
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Credit Officer
 

March 14, 2016
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